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Uranerz Energy Corporation is a US-based company focused on near-
term uranium production. Uranerz is listed on the NYSE Amex Exchange 
and the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol “URZ”. Uranerz is 
also listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange under the symbol “U9E”. 

The Uranerz management team has specialized expertise in the in-situ 
recovery (“ISR”) uranium mining method. The Company controls large 
strategic land positions in the Powder River Basin (“PRB”), a well-
known uranium mining district of Wyoming, U.S.A. 

The Company’s most advanced 100%–owned Nichols Ranch and Hank 
projects are both awaiting the fi nal permits necessary to commence 
construction of an ISR uranium mining operation. Uranerz has 
submitted both the federal and state mining applications to build 
and operate the Nichols Ranch ISR Project, which is planned to consist 
of a central processing facility at the Nichols Ranch property and a 
satellite facility at the Hank property. Commencement of production at 
the Nichols Ranch ISR Project is dependent on receipt of the required 
regulatory approvals and production start-up is projected for late 2011.
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Uranerz Energy Corporation had a very successful 2009, 

during which several key milestones were achieved, 

positioning the Company to become one of North 

America’s next in-situ recovery (“ISR”) uranium producers. 

The 2009 highlights include:

•	 Receipt	of	Air	Quality	Permit	from	Wyoming	DEQ	and	a	
“positive” draft EIS from the NRC for the Nichols Ranch 
ISR Project 

•	 Signed	long-term	uranium	sales	contracts	with	two	of	
the largest nuclear utilities in the U.S.

•	 Exploration	drilling	significantly	increased	the	Wyoming	
uranium resource base

•	 Raised	US$17	million	in	equity	capital

•	 Addition	of	Uranerz	to	the	Russell	Group	of	Indexes

         

Message FroM 
the President 
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Two imperative permitting milestones were 
attained in late 2009. The fi rst milestone was 
reached in October when the Company received 
its	Air	Quality	Permit	from	the	Wyoming	
Department	of	Environmental	Quality	(DEQ).	
This was the fi rst operational permit for 
construction of the Nichols Ranch ISR Project, 
demonstrating advancement in the permitting 
process for uranium production in Wyoming.

In December, Uranerz received a positive 
draft Environmental Impact Statement (“EIS”) 
from the United States Nuclear Regulatory 
Commission (“NRC”) for the Nichols Ranch ISR 
Project. The issuance of this draft represents 
signifi cant progress in the Source Material 
License application process for the planned 
central processing facility at the Nichols Ranch 
Unit and ancillary satellite facility at the Hank 
Unit. The main facility is being licensed for 
production capacity of 2 million pounds of U3O8 
annually. The Nichols Ranch and Hank units are 
anticipated to produce in the range of 600,000 
to 800,000 pounds of yellowcake per year. 
Additional feed for the Nichols Ranch facility is 
expected to be sourced from development of 
other advanced stage Uranerz projects in the 
Powder River Basin area. With both the draft EIS 
and	Air	Quality	Permit,	Uranerz	moves	two	steps	
closer towards production.

Two other major achievements in 2009 included 
the securing of separate long-term uranium 
sales agreements with two of United States’ 
largest nuclear operators, one of them being 
Exelon, which operates the largest nuclear fl eet 
in the U.S. and the third largest in the world. 
Uranerz is one of the few near-term producers 
in North America with such sales contracts 
already secured. These agreements provide a 
solid fl oor price for Uranerz’s future production 
while leaving some production open to upside 
benefi ts if spot uranium prices rise, as predicted 
by many market analysts.

During 2009 Uranerz completed successful 
drill campaigns on its Powder River Basin 
properties which served to identify new uranium 
mineralization trends and further delineated 
known trends. These exploration results can 
be used to generate data for permitting and 
eventual production operations in favorably 
identifi ed areas. A technical report update 
was issued on the Nichols Ranch property that 
included a 31.8% increase in the uranium 
resource. The Company also announced an 
initial resource report for its South Doughstick 
property, the fi rst new resources to be 
announced in this area of Wyoming in over 
thirty years.

Message FroM the President Message FroM the President 
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In October 2009, Uranerz closed an equity 
fi	nancing	for	gross	proceeds	of	US$17	million.	
These funds signifi cantly bolstered the 
Company’s treasury which at year end was over 
$29	million.	The	funds	will	be	used	primarily	for	
continuing development of commercial mining 
facilities at the Nichols Ranch ISR Project, which 
includes site and infrastructure preparations, 
fi nalization of mine design and further 
exploration on Powder River Basin properties. 
Funds will also be used for completion of the 
permitting process, including advancement 
of the Nichols Ranch federal and state mining 
license applications. 

In June of last year Uranerz was inducted into 
the Russell family of indexes, including the 
Russell 3000® Index, the Russell 2000® Index, 
the Russell Microcap® Index, and the Russell 
Global	Index.	The	Russell	Indexes	are	widely	
used by investment managers and institutional 
investors for index funds and for benchmarking 
an	industry-leading	$4	trillion	in	assets.	

The long term fundamentals for nuclear energy 
remain strong. The demand for uranium far 
exceeds mined supply. As climate change and 

environmental concerns continue garnering 
increased world attention, industry analysts 
predict that the demand for uranium, as a safe, 
clean and sustainable energy source, should rise 
in response to growing global consumption.

In closing, I would like to thank all our 
stakeholders, including  shareholders, fi nanciers, 
and employees, for their continued support 
and contribution towards building a successful 
uranium company. I particularly want to thank 
our fi eld employees for performing their jobs 
in a safe and environmentally friendly manner. 
With this continued support I am confi dent that 
Uranerz will meet its objective of becoming an 
economic producer of uranium for fuel utilized 
in nuclear power plants.

Sincerely,

Glenn	Catchpole
President & CEO

Message FroM the President Message FroM the President 

Back (Left to right): Gerhard Kirchner, Richard Holmes, Peter Bell, Kurtis Brown, Arnold Dyck, Paul Saxton, Doug Hirschman.
Front (Left to right): Ben Leboe, Sandra MacKay, Glenn Catchpole, Dennis Higgs, George Hartman



Annual Report 20094 Annual Report 20094

in-sitU recoVerY (“isr”) Mining Process

In-situ recovery (“ISR”) mining is a low-cost process 
that uses a “leaching” solution to extract uranium 
from underground ore bodies. The leaching agent, 
which contains an oxidant such as oxygen with CO2 

and sodium bicarbonate (commonly known as baking 
soda), is injected through wells into the ore body 
in a confi ned aquifer to dissolve the uranium. This 
solution is then pumped via other wells to the surface 

for processing – resulting in a cost-effi cient and 
environmentally friendly mining process.

ISR operations are basically water treatment plants; 
oxygenated water is pumped through the sandstone 
to dissolve the trapped uranium. The uranium is 
recovered and then processed in a nearby facility.

•	Low	Capital	Costs	for	Mine	Development

•	Environmentally	Friendly

•	No	Waste	Rock,	No	Tailings	Pond

•	Profi	table	on	Lower	Grade	Uranium	Deposits

•	Small	Work	Force	(low	labor	costs)		

isr Mining advantages:

soda), is injected through wells into the ore body 
in a confi ned aquifer to dissolve the uranium. This 
solution is then pumped via other wells to the surface 

to dissolve the trapped uranium. The uranium is 
recovered and then processed in a nearby facility.
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Uranium is a silvery-gray metallic chemical element in the 
actinide series of the periodic table that has the symbol U and 
atomic number 92. Uranium has the highest atomic weight of 
the naturally occurring elements. Uranium is approximately 
70%	denser	than	lead,	but	not	as	dense	as	gold	or	tungsten.	It	is	
weakly radioactive. It occurs naturally in low concentrations 
(a few parts per million) in soil, rock and water.

Uranerz Energy Corporation’s goal is to become a producer 
of uranium which will be utilized as fuel in nuclear electrical 
generating facilities. “Uranium” used in this context refers to U3O8. 

“U3O8”, also called yellowcake, is triuranium octoxide produced 
from uranium ore and is the most actively traded uranium-
related commodity. Its primary use is as fuel for nuclear reactors. 
The New York Mercantile Exchange provides fi nancially-settled 
uranium futures contracts where the size of each contract is 
250 pounds of “uranium” as U3O8 and prices are quoted in U.S. 
dollars and cents.
 
U3O8 is one of the most kinetically and thermodynamically stable 
forms of uranium and it is the form of uranium found in nature.

FUeL cYcLe

What is Uranium?

FUeL FaBrication
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Act.		Yes	    No 
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Securities	Exchange	Act	of	1934	during	the	preceding	12	months	(or	for	such	shorter	period	that	the	registrant	was	
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Indicate	by	check	mark	whether	the	Registrant	has	submitted	electronically	and	posted	on	its	corporate	Web	site,	
if	any,	every	Interactive	Data	File	required	to	be	submitted	and	posted	pursuant	to	Rule	405	of	Regulation	S-T	(§	
229.405	of	this	chapter)	during	the	preceding	12	months	(or	for	such	shorter	period	that	the	registrant	was	required	
to	submit	and	post	such	files).	Yes	    No 

Indicate	by	checkmark	if	disclosure	of	delinquent	filers	pursuant	to	Item	405	of	Regulation	S-K	is	not	contained	
herein,	and	will	not	be	contained,	to	the	best	of	the	registrant’s	knowledge,	in	definitive	proxy	or	information	
statements	incorporated	by	reference	in	Part	III	of	this	Form	10-K	or	any	amendment	to	the	Form	10-K.	  

Indicate	by	check	mark	whether	the	registrant	is	a	large	accelerated	filer,	an	accelerated	filer,	or	a	non-accelerated	
filer.	See	definition		of	“Accelerated	filer	and	large	accelerated	filer”	in	Rule	12b-2	of	the	Exchange	Act	(Check	one):	 
Large	Accelerated	Filer.	 						Accelerated	Filer.	 							Non-Accelerated	File.	 						Smaller	Reporting	Company	  

Indicate	by	check	mark	whether	the	registrant	is	a	shell	company	(as	defined	in	Rule	12b-2	of	the	Act).	Yes	    No 

State	the	aggregate	market	value	of	the	voting	and	non-voting	common	equity	held	by	non-affiliates	computed	by	
reference	to	the	price	at	which	the	common	equity	was	last	sold,	or	the	average	bid	and	asked	price	of	such	common	
equity,	as	of	the	last	business	day	of	the	registrant’s	most	recently	completed	second	fiscal	quarter:		$86,000,000	

The	number	of	shares	of	the	Registrant’s	Common	Stock	outstanding	as	of	March	1,	2010	was	64,194,887.	

Documents	Incorporated	by	Reference:	To	the	extent	herein	specifically	reference	in	Part	III,	portions	of	the	
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See	Part	III.	
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K and the exhibits attached hereto contain “forward-looking statements” within 
the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such forward-looking statements concern the 
Company’s anticipated results and developments in the Company’s operations in future periods, planned exploration 
and, if warranted, development of its properties, plans related to its business and other matters that may occur in the 
future. These statements relate to analyses and other information that are based on forecasts of future results, estimates 
of amounts not yet determinable and assumptions of management. 

Any statements that express or involve discussions with respect to predictions, expectations, beliefs, plans, projections, 
objectives, assumptions, future events or performance (often, but not always, using words or phrases such as “expects” 
or “does not expect”, “is expected”, “anticipates” or “does not anticipate”, “plans”, “estimates” or “intends”, or stating 
that certain actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved) are 
not statements of historical fact and may be forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are subject to 
a variety of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which could cause actual events or results to 
differ from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements, including, without limitation: 

risks related to our limited operating history; •	
risks related to the probability that our properties contain reserves; •	
risks related to our past losses and expected losses in the near future; •	
risks related to our need for qualified personnel for exploring for, starting and operating a mine; •	
risks related to our lack of known reserves; •	
risks related to the fluctuation of uranium prices; •	
risks related to environmental laws and regulations and environmental risks; •	
risks related to using our in-situ recovery mining process; •	
risks related to exploration and, if warranted, development of our properties; •	
risks related to our ability to acquire necessary mining licenses or permits; •	
risks related to our ability to make property payment obligations; •	
risks related to the competitive nature of the mining industry; •	
risks related to our dependence on key personnel; •	
risks related to requirements for new personnel; •	
risks related to securities regulations; •	
risks related to stock price and volume volatility; •	
risks related to dilution; •	
risks related to our lack of dividends; •	
risks related to our ability to access capital markets; •	
risks related to recent market events; •	
risks related to our issuance of additional shares of common stock; •	
risks related to acquisition and integration issues; and •	
risks related to defects in title to our mineral properties. •	

This list is not exhaustive of the factors that may affect our forward-looking statements. Some of the important 
risks and uncertainties that could affect forward-looking statements are described further under the section headings 
“Item 1. Description of the Business”, “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and “Item 6. Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of this Annual Report. Although we have attempted to identify 
important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those described in forward-looking 
statements, there may be other factors that cause results not to be as anticipated, estimated or intended. Should one 
or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results 
may vary materially from those anticipated, believed, estimated or expected. We caution readers not to place undue 
reliance on any such forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date made. Except as required by law, we 
disclaim any obligation subsequently to revise any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after 
the date of such statements or to reflect the occurrence of anticipated or unanticipated events.

We qualify all the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report by the foregoing cautionary 
statements. 
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PART 1
ITEM 1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Corporate Background

Uranerz Energy Corporation (“Uranerz” or the “Company”) was incorporated under the laws of the State of 
Nevada on May 26, 1999. On July 5, 2005, we changed our name from Carleton Ventures Corp. to Uranerz Energy 
Corporation. Our executive and operations office is located at 1701 East “E” Street, P.O. Box 50850, Casper, 
Wyoming USA 82605-0850. Our administrative office is located at Suite 1410 – 800 West Pender Street, Vancouver, 
British Columbia, Canada V6C 2V6. The telephone number for our executive office is (307) 265-8900. The telephone 
number for our administrative office is (604) 689-1659.

Our common stock is traded on the NYSE Amex Equities and the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol “URZ” 
and on the Frankfurt Exchange under the symbol U9E. 

History

Uranerz was relatively inactive from 1999 until 2005 when it acquired mineral prospecting permits in Saskatchewan, 
mineral licenses in Mongolia and mining claims and leases in Wyoming. Exploration commenced in 2005 and has 
continued through 2009. In 2007 we filed uranium mining applications for a project in Wyoming. In 2008 and 2009 
we acquired additional mineral properties and conducted exploration drilling while pursuing mining permits in 
Wyoming. We have increased our personnel and operational consultants to move some of our Wyoming properties 
into the mine planning and permitting stage; activities which continue.

Our Business

We are an exploration stage company engaged in the acquisition, exploration and, if warranted, development of 
uranium properties. We have an interest in the properties described below. 

We are principally focused on the exploration of our properties in the Powder River Basin area of Wyoming. We are 
exploring these properties with the objective of assessing their viability for commercial in-situ recovery (which we 
refer to as ISR) uranium mining projects. ISR is a mining process that uses a “leaching solution” to extract uranium 
from underground ore bodies. We also own interests in properties in the Great Divide Basin area of Wyoming, in 
Texas and in Saskatchewan, Canada. 

We have applied for mine operating permits on two of our properties in the Powder River Basin area of Wyoming 
that we feel have the potential, based on data in our possession, of being developed into commercial in-situ recovery 
uranium mines. We are also assembling baseline data to permit additional properties in the Powder River Basin area 
of Wyoming which appear to have potential for development.

Recent Corporate Developments

The following significant corporate developments occurred during our fiscal year ended December 31, 2009:

1. We issued 242,500 common shares upon the exercise of stock options for gross cash proceeds of $166,125; 

2. We completed a public offering of 8,500,000 units, comprised of 8,500,000 common shares and 4,250,000 
common share purchase warrants, at $2.00 per unit, for gross cash proceeds of $17,000,000; 

3. We continued our exploration program in Wyoming – see details under the section heading “Item 2 – 
Description of Properties”

4. We completed the design of our proposed Nichols Ranch and Hank mining and processing facilities; 

5. Our applications to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission and the Land Quality Division of the Wyoming 
Department of Environmental Quality for licenses and permits to construct and operate in-situ recovery 
uranium facilities on our Nichols Ranch and Hank projects located in the central Powder River Basin of 
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Wyoming continue to be evaluated as scheduled. For more details of our permitting plans see the discussion 
below under the section heading “Item 2 – Description of Properties – Wyoming Properties – Environmental 
Permitting”; and 

6. We leased an additional 320 acres of mineral properties in the Powder River Basin of Wyoming, USA. 

Competition

Our industry is highly competitive. We compete with other mining and exploration companies in connection with 
the acquisition of uranium mineral properties and the equipment, materials and personnel necessary to explore and 
develop such properties. There is competition for the limited number of uranium acquisition opportunities, some of 
which is with other companies having substantially greater financial resources, staff and facilities than we do. As a 
result, we may have difficulty acquiring attractive exploration properties, staking claims related to our properties, and 
exploring and developing our properties.

ISR Mining Process

We plan to use the process of in-situ recovery mining (which we refer to as ISR), a process that uses a ‘leaching’ 
solution to extract uranium from underground ore bodies. The ‘leaching’ agent, which contains an oxidant such as 
oxygen with sodium bicarbonate (commonly known as baking soda), is added to the native groundwater and injected 
through wells into the ore body in a sandstone aquifer to dissolve the uranium. This solution is then pumped via other 
wells to the surface for processing – resulting in a cost-efficient and environmentally friendly mining process. 

The ISR mining process differs dramatically from conventional mining techniques in that ISR mining leaves the rock 
matrix in place. The ISR technique avoids the movement and milling of rock and ore as well as mill tailing waste 
associated with more traditional mining methods.

Minerals Exploration Regulation

Our uranium mineral exploration and development activities are, and our production activities (if and when they 
occur) will be subject to extensive laws and regulations governing exploration, development, production, exports, 
taxes, labor standards, occupational health, waste disposal, protection and remediation of the environment, protection 
of endangered and protected species, mine safety, toxic substances and other matters. Uranium minerals exploration 
is also subject to risks and liabilities associated with pollution of the environment and disposal of waste products 
occurring as a result of mineral exploration and production.

Compliance with these laws and regulations may impose substantial costs on us and will subject us to significant 
potential liabilities. Changes in these regulations could require us to expend significant resources to comply with 
new laws or regulations or changes to current requirements and could have a material adverse effect on our business 
operations. 

Minerals exploration operations are subject to comprehensive regulation which may cause substantial delays or 
require capital outlays in excess of those anticipated, causing an adverse effect on our business operations. Minerals 
exploration operations are subject to federal and state, laws relating to the protection of the environment, including 
laws regulating removal of natural resources from the ground and the discharge of materials into the environment. 
Minerals exploration operations are also subject to federal and state laws and regulations which seek to maintain 
health and safety standards by regulating the design and use of drilling methods and equipment. Various permits 
from government bodies are required for drilling operations to be conducted; no assurance can be given that such 
permits will be received. Environmental standards imposed by federal and state authorities may be changed and any 
such changes may have material adverse effects on our activities. As of the date of this annual report, other than with 
respect to the posting of a performance bond, we have not been required to spend material amounts on compliance 
with environmental regulations. However, we may be required to do so in future and this may affect our ability to 
expand or maintain our operations. Environmental regulation is discussed in further detail in the following section.

Environmental Regulation

Exploration, development and production activities are subject to certain environmental regulations which may prevent 
or delay the commencement or continuance of our operations. In general, our exploration and production activities are 
subject to certain federal and state laws and regulations relating to environmental quality and pollution control. Such 
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laws and regulations increase the costs of these activities and may prevent or delay the commencement or continuance 
of a given operation. Compliance with these laws and regulations has not had a material effect on our operations or 
financial condition to date. Specifically, we are subject to legislation regarding emissions into the environment, water 
discharges, and storage and disposition of hazardous wastes. In addition, legislation has been enacted which requires 
well and facility sites to be abandoned and reclaimed to the satisfaction of state and federal authorities. 

Waste Disposal

The Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA”), and comparable state statutes, affect minerals exploration 
and production activities by imposing regulations on the generation, transportation, treatment, storage, disposal 
and cleanup of hazardous wastes and on the disposal of non-hazardous wastes. Under the auspices of the EPA, the 
individual states administer some or all of the provisions of RCRA, sometimes in conjunction with their own, more 
stringent requirements. 

CERCLA

The federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (“CERCLA”) imposes joint 
and several liability for costs of investigation and remediation and for natural resource damages, without regard to fault 
or the legality of the original conduct, on certain classes of persons with respect to the release into the environment of 
substances designated under CERCLA as hazardous substances (“Hazardous Substances”). These classes of persons 
or potentially responsible parties include the current and certain past owners and operators of a facility or property 
where there is or has been a release or threat of release of a Hazardous Substance and persons who disposed of or 
arranged for the disposal of the Hazardous Substances found at such a facility. CERCLA also authorizes the EPA 
and, in some cases, third parties to take actions in response to threats to the public health or the environment and to 
seek to recover the costs of such action. We may also in the future become an owner of facilities on which Hazardous 
Substances have been released by previous owners or operators. We may in the future be responsible under CERCLA 
for all or part of the costs to clean up facilities or property at which such substances have been released, and for natural 
resource damages. 

Air Emissions

Our operations are subject to state and federal regulations for the control of emissions of air pollution. Major sources 
of air pollutants are subject to more stringent, federally imposed permitting requirements. Administrative enforcement 
actions for failure to comply strictly with air pollution regulations or permits are generally resolved by payment of 
monetary fines and correction of any identified deficiencies. Alternatively, regulatory agencies could require us to 
forego construction, modification or operation of certain air emission sources. 

Clean Water Act

The Clean Water Act (“CWA”) imposes restrictions and strict controls regarding the discharge of wastes, including 
mineral processing wastes, into waters of the United States, a term broadly defined. Permits must be obtained to 
discharge pollutants into federal waters. The CWA provides for civil, criminal and administrative penalties for 
unauthorized discharges of hazardous substances and other pollutants. It imposes substantial potential liability for 
the costs of removal or remediation associated with discharges of oil or hazardous substances. State laws governing 
discharges to water also provide varying civil, criminal and administrative penalties, and impose liabilities in the 
case of a discharge of petroleum or its derivatives, or other hazardous substances, into state waters. In addition, the 
EPA has promulgated regulations that require us to obtain permits to discharge storm water runoff. In the event of an 
unauthorized discharge of wastes, we may be liable for penalties and costs. 

Underground Injection Control (“UIC”) Permits 

The federal Safe Drinking Water Act creates a nationwide regulatory program protecting groundwater. This act is 
administered by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”). However, to avoid the burden of 
dual federal and state (or Indian tribal) regulation, the Safe Drinking Water Act allows for the UIC permits issued by 
states (and Indian tribes determined eligible for treatment as states) to satisfy the UIC permit required under the Safe 
Drinking Water Act under two conditions. First, the state’s program must have been granted primacy. Second, the 
EPA must have granted, upon request by the state, an aquifer exemption. The EPA may delay or decline to process the 
state’s application if the EPA questions the state’s jurisdiction over the mine site.
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Segment Information

Segment information relating to the Company is provided in Note 15 to our financial statements under the section 
heading “Item 7. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” below. 

Employees

Currently we have eleven full-time employees, seven full time operational consultants and one part-time operational 
consultant. We operate in established mining areas, which we believe have sufficient available personnel for our 
business plans.

Available Information

Detailed information about us is contained in our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, 
current reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements and other reports, and amendments to those reports, that we file 
with or furnish to the SEC. These reports are available free of charge on our website, www.uranerz.com, as soon as 
reasonably practicable after we electronically file such reports with or furnish such reports to the SEC. However, our 
website and any contents thereof should not be considered to be incorporated by reference into this document. We 
will furnish copies of such reports free of charge upon written request to our Investor Relations department. You can 
contact our Investor Relations department at: 

Uranerz Energy Corporation 
Investor Relations 
Suite 1410 – 800 West Pender Street 
Vancouver, BC, Canada V6C 2V6 

Additionally, our corporate governance guidelines, code of ethics and the charters of each of our Board of Directors 
standing committees are available on our website. We will furnish copies of such information free of charge upon 
written request to our Investor Relations department. 

 
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Readers should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below before deciding whether to invest in 
shares of our common stock.

Our failure to successfully address the risks and uncertainties described below would have a material adverse effect on 
our business, financial condition and/or results of operations, and the trading price of our common stock may decline 
and investors may lose all or part of their investment. We cannot assure you that we will successfully address these 
risks or other unknown risks that may affect our business. 

Risks Related to Our Business

Our future performance is difficult to evaluate because we have a limited operating history. 

We were incorporated in 1999 and we began to implement our current business strategy in the uranium industry in 
the beginning of 2005. Our operating cash flow needs have been financed primarily through issuances of our common 
stock. As a result, we have little historical financial and operating information available to help you evaluate our 
performance or an investment in our common stock and warrants. 

Because the probability of an individual prospect ever having reserves is remote, our properties may not contain 
any reserves, and any funds spent on exploration may be lost.

We have no uranium producing properties and have never generated any revenue from our operations. Because the 
probability of an individual prospect ever having reserves is remote, our properties may not contain any reserves, 
and any funds spent on exploration may be lost. Notwithstanding our disclosures to Canadian authorities under 
National Instrument 43-101, we do not know with certainty that economically recoverable uranium exists on any of 
our properties. We may never discover uranium in commercially exploitable quantities and any identified deposit 
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may never qualify as a commercially mineable (or viable) reserve. We will continue to attempt to acquire the surface 
and mineral rights on lands that we think are geologically favorable or where we have historical information in our 
possession that indicates uranium mineralization might be present.

The exploration and development of mineral deposits involves significant financial and other risks over an extended 
period of time, which even a combination of careful evaluation, experience and knowledge may not eliminate. While 
discovery of a uranium, precious or base metal deposit may result in substantial rewards, few properties which are 
explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. Major expenditures are required to establish reserves by 
drilling and to construct mining and processing facilities at a site. Our uranium properties are all at the exploration 
stage and do not contain any reserves at this time. It is impossible to ensure that the current or proposed exploration 
programs on properties in which the Company has an interest will result in the delineation of mineral deposits or in 
profitable commercial operations. Our operations are subject to the hazards and risks normally incident to exploration, 
development and production of uranium, precious and base metals, any of which could result in damage to life or 
property, environmental damage and possible legal liability for such damage. While we may obtain insurance against 
certain risks, the nature of these risks is such that liabilities could exceed policy limits or could be excluded from 
coverage. There are also risks against which we cannot insure or against which we may elect not to insure. The potential 
costs which could be associated with any liabilities not covered by insurance, or in excess of insurance coverage, or 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations may cause substantial delays and require significant capital outlays, 
adversely affecting our future earnings and competitive position and, potentially our financial viability.

We have a limited operating history and have losses which we expect to continue into the future. As a result, we 
may have to suspend or cease exploration activities.

We were incorporated in 1999 and are engaged in the business of mineral exploration. We have not realized any 
revenue from our operations. We have a relatively limited exploration history upon which an evaluation of our 
future success or failure can be made. We have incurred losses since inception. Our ability to achieve and maintain 
profitability and positive cash flow is dependent upon:

 • our ability to locate a profitable mineral property;
 • our ability to generate revenues;
 • our ability to control costs.

Based upon current plans, we expect to incur operating losses in future periods. This will happen because there are 
expenses associated with the research and exploration of our mineral properties plus development costs to produce 
saleable product. We cannot guarantee we will be successful in generating revenues in the future. Failure to generate 
revenues may cause us to go out of business.

Because some of our officers and directors do not have technical training or experience in exploring for, starting, 
and operating a mine, we may have to hire qualified personnel. If we can’t locate qualified personnel, we may have 
to suspend or cease exploration activity which may result in the loss of your investment.

Some, but not all, of our officers and directors do have experience with exploring for, starting, and operating a mine. 
Because some of our officers and directors are inexperienced with exploring for, starting, and operating a mine, 
we may have to hire qualified persons to perform surveying, exploration, and water management of our properties. 
Some of our officers and directors have no direct training or experience in these areas and as a result may not be fully 
aware of many of the specific requirements related to working within the industry. Their decisions and choices would 
typically take into account standard engineering or managerial approaches mineral exploration companies commonly 
use. However, our exploration activities, earnings and ultimate financial success could suffer irreparable harm due to 
certain of management’s decisions. As a result we may have to suspend or cease exploration activities, or any future 
warranted development activities, which would likely result in the loss of your investment. 

Our future profitability will be dependent on uranium prices.

Because a significant portion of our anticipated revenues are expected to be derived from the sale of  uranium, our 
net earnings, if any, can be affected by the long- and short-term market price of U3O8. Uranium prices are subject to 
fluctuation. The price of uranium has been and will continue to be affected by numerous factors beyond our control. 
With respect to uranium, such factors include the demand for nuclear power, political and economic conditions in 
uranium producing and consuming countries, uranium supply from secondary sources, uranium production levels 
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and costs of production. Spot prices for U3O8 were at $20.00  per pound U3O8 in December 2004, and then, to $35.25 
per pound in December 2005 and $72.00 per pound in December 2006. During 2007 the spot price reached a high of 
$138.00 per pound. The U.S. monthly spot price of U3O8 was approximately $90.00 per pound in December 2007. 
The spot price declined during 2008, reaching a low of $44.00 per pound in October. In 2009, the U.S. monthly spot 
price of U3O8 had a high of $51.50 (June) and a low of $42.00 (March). The U.S. monthly spot price of U3O8 was 
approximately $44.50 per pound and the long term price was approximately $61.00 per pound in December 2009. 

Our operations are subject to environmental regulation and environmental risks.

We are required to comply with applicable environmental protection laws and regulations and permitting requirements, 
and we anticipate that we will be required to continue to do so in the future. The material laws and regulations within 
the U.S. that the Company must comply with are the National Environmental Protection Act (NEPA), Atomic 
Energy Act, Uranium Mill Tailings Radiation Control Act of 1978 (UMTRCA), Clean Air Act, Clean Water Act, 
Safe Drinking Water Act, Federal Land Policy Management Act, National Park System Mining Regulations Act, and 
the State Mined Land Reclamation Acts or State Department of Environmental Quality regulations, as applicable. 
We also are required to comply with environmental protection laws in Canada. We are required to comply with the 
Atomic Energy Act, as amended by UMTRCA, by applying for and maintaining a Source Material license from the 
US Nuclear Regulatory Commission. Uranium operations must conform to the terms of such license, which include 
provisions for protection of human health and the environment from endangerment due to radioactive materials. The 
license encompasses protective measures consistent with the Clean Air Act and the Clean Water Act. We intend to 
utilize specific employees and consultants in order to comply with and maintain our compliance with the above laws 
and regulations. 

The uranium industry is subject not only to the worker health and safety and environmental risks associated with 
all mining businesses, but also to additional risks uniquely associated with uranium mining and processing. The 
possibility of more stringent regulations exists in the areas of worker health and safety, the disposition of wastes, 
the decommissioning and reclamation of exploration and in-situ recovery mining sites, and other environmental 
matters, each of which could have a material adverse effect on the costs or the viability of a particular project. We 
cannot predict what environmental legislation, regulation or policy will be enacted or adopted in the future or how 
future laws and regulations will be administered or interpreted. The recent trend in environmental legislation and 
regulation, generally, is toward stricter standards and this trend is likely to continue in the future. This recent trend 
includes, without limitation, laws and regulations relating to air and water quality, mine reclamation, waste handling 
and disposal, the protection of certain species and the preservation of certain lands. These regulations may require 
the acquisition of permits or other authorizations for certain activities. These laws and regulations may also limit or 
prohibit activities on certain lands. Compliance with more stringent laws and regulations, as well as potentially more 
vigorous enforcement policies or stricter interpretation of existing laws, may necessitate significant capital outlays, 
may materially affect our results of operations and business, or may cause material changes or delays in our intended 
activities.

Our operations may require additional analysis in the future including environmental and social impact and other related 
studies. Certain activities require the submission and approval of environmental impact assessments. Environmental 
assessments of proposed projects carry a heightened degree of responsibility for companies and directors, officers, 
and employees. There can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain or maintain all necessary permits that may be 
required to continue operations or exploration of properties or, if feasible, to commence development, construction or 
operation of mining facilities at such properties at economically justifiable costs. 

We intend to extract uranium from our properties using the in-situ recovery mining process which may not be 
successful.

We intend to extract uranium from our properties using in-situ recovery mining, which is suitable for extraction of 
certain types of uranium deposits. This process requires in-situ recovery mining equipment and trained personnel. 
Competition and unforeseen limited sources of supplies in the industry could result in occasional spot shortages of 
supplies, and certain equipment such as drilling rigs and other equipment that we might need to conduct exploration 
and, if warranted, development. We will attempt to locate additional products, equipment and materials as needed. 
If we cannot find the products and equipment we need, we will have to suspend our exploration and, if warranted, 
development plans until we do find the products and equipment we need.
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We face risks related to exploration and development, if warranted, on our properties. 

Our level of profitability, if any, in future years will depend to a great degree on uranium prices and whether any of our 
exploration stage properties can be brought into production. The exploration for and development of mineral deposits 
involves significant risks. It is impossible to ensure that the current and future exploration programs and/or feasibility 
studies on our existing properties will establish reserves. Whether a uranium ore body will be commercially viable 
depends on a number of factors, including, but not limited to: the particular attributes of the deposit, such as size, grade 
and proximity to infrastructure; uranium prices, which cannot be predicted and which have been highly volatile in the 
past; mining, processing and transportation costs; perceived levels of political risk and the willingness of lenders and 
investors to provide project financing; labor costs and possible labor strikes; and governmental regulations, including, 
without limitation, regulations relating to prices, taxes, royalties, land tenure, land use, importing and exporting 
materials, foreign exchange, environmental protection, employment, worker safety, transportation, and reclamation 
and closure obligations. 

We are subject to the risks normally encountered in the mining industry, such as:

the discovery of unusual or unexpected geological formations; •	

accidental fires, floods, earthquakes, volcanic eruptions, and other natural disasters; •	

unplanned power outages and water shortages; •	

controlling water and other similar mining hazards; •	

operating labor disruptions and labor disputes; •	

the ability to obtain suitable or adequate machinery, equipment, or labor; •	

our liability for pollution or other hazards; and •	

other known and unknown risks involved in the conduct of exploration, the operation of mines and the •	
market for uranium. 

The development of mineral properties is affected by many factors, including, but not limited to: the cost of operations, 
variations in the grade of ore, fluctuations in metal markets, costs of extraction and processing equipment, availability 
of equipment and labor, labor costs and possible labor strikes, and government regulations, including without 
limitation, regulations relating to taxes, royalties, allowable production, importing and exporting of minerals, foreign 
exchange, employment, worker safety, transportation, and environmental protection. Depending on the price of 
uranium, we may determine that it is impractical to commence, or, if commenced, continue, commercial production. 
Such a decision would negatively affect our profits and may affect the value of your investment. 

Because we may be unable to meet property payment obligations or be able to acquire or maintain necessary 
mining licenses, we may lose interests in our exploration properties.

The agreements pursuant to which we acquired our interests in some of our properties provide that we must make 
a series of cash payments over certain time periods, expend certain minimum amounts on the exploration of the 
properties or contribute our share of ongoing expenditures. If we fail to make such payments or expenditures in a 
timely fashion, we may lose our interest in those properties. Further, even if we do complete exploration activities, we 
may not be able to obtain the necessary licenses to conduct mining operations on the properties, and thus would realize 
no benefit from our exploration activities on the properties.

Our mineral properties may be subject to defects in title. 

We own, lease, or have under option, unpatented and patented mining claims, mineral claims or concessions and fee 
mineral leases which constitute our property holdings. The ownership and validity or title of unpatented mining claims 
and concessions are often uncertain and may be contested. We also may not have, or may not be able to obtain, all 
necessary surface rights to develop a property. We have not conducted title research in relation to many of our mining 
claims and concessions to ensure clean title. We cannot guarantee that title to our properties will not be challenged. 
Title insurance is generally not available for mineral properties and our ability to ensure that we have obtained secure 
claim to individual mineral properties or mining concessions may be severely constrained. Our mineral properties 
may be subject to prior unregistered agreements, transfers or claims, and title may be affected by, among other things, 



Annual Report 200918

undetected defects. We may incur significant costs related to defending the title to our properties. A successful claim 
contesting our title to a property may cause us to compensate other persons or perhaps reduce our interest in the 
affected property or lose our rights to explore and, if warranted, develop that property. This could result in us not 
being compensated for our prior expenditures relating to the property. Also, in any such case, the investigation and 
resolution of title issues would divert our management’s time from ongoing exploration and development programs.

Because we may be unable to secure access rights, we may be unable to explore and/or develop our properties.

Our mineral rights do not always include rights of access or use of the surface of lands. We require agreements with 
land owners for these rights which may be difficult to obtain and which may require cash payments. 

Because mineral exploration and development activities are inherently risky, we may be exposed to environmental 
liabilities. If such an event were to occur it may result in a loss of your investment.

The business of mineral exploration and extraction involves a high degree of risk. Few properties that are explored 
are ultimately developed into production. At present, none of our properties has a known body of commercial ore. 
Unusual or unexpected formations, formation pressures, fires, power outages, labor disruptions, flooding, explosions 
and the inability to obtain suitable or adequate machinery, equipment or labor are other risks involved in extraction 
operations and the conduct of exploration programs. Although we intend to carry liability insurance with respect to 
our mineral exploration operations, we may become subject to liability for damage to life and property, environmental 
damage or hazards against which we cannot insure or against which we may elect not to insure. Previous mining 
operations may have caused environmental damage at certain of our properties. It may be difficult or impossible to 
assess the extent to which such damage was caused by us or by the activities of previous operators, in which case, any 
indemnities and exemptions from liability may be ineffective. If any of our properties is found to have commercial 
quantities of ore, we would be subject to additional risks respecting any development and production activities. Most 
exploration projects do not result in the discovery of commercially mineable deposits of ore.

Because we have not put a mineral deposit into production before, we may have to acquire outside expertise. If we 
are unable to acquire such expertise we may be unable to put our properties into production and you may lose your 
investment.

The Board of Directors includes six individuals, two of whom are in operational management, that have technical 
or financial experience in placing mining projects into production. However, we will be dependent upon using the 
services of appropriately experienced personnel or entering into agreements with other companies that can provide 
such expertise. There can be no assurance that we will have available to us the necessary expertise when and if we 
place mineral deposit properties into production.

Acquisitions and integration issues may expose us to additional risks which could have a material adverse effect 
on our business. 

Our business strategy includes making targeted acquisitions. Any acquisition that we make may be of a significant 
size, may change the scale of our business and operations, and may expose us to new geographic, political, operating, 
financial and geological risks. The success of our acquisition activities depends on our ability to identify suitable 
acquisition candidates, negotiate acceptable terms for any such acquisition and integrate the acquired operations 
successfully with our own. Any acquisitions would be accompanied by risks which could have a material adverse 
effect on our business. For example, there may be significant decreases in commodity prices after we have committed 
to complete the transaction and have established the purchase price or exchange ratio; a material ore body may 
prove to be below expectations; we may have difficulty integrating and assimilating the operations and personnel of 
any acquired companies, realizing anticipated synergies and maximizing the financial and strategic position of the 
combined enterprise and maintaining uniform standards, policies and controls across the organization; the integration 
of the acquired business or assets may disrupt our ongoing business and our relationships with employees, customers, 
suppliers and contractors; and the acquired business or assets may have unknown liabilities which may be significant. 
If we choose to use equity securities as consideration for such an acquisition, existing stockholders may suffer 
dilution. Alternatively, we may choose to finance any such acquisition with our existing resources. There can be no 
assurance that we would be successful in overcoming these risks or any other problems encountered in connection 
with such acquisitions. 
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The mining industry is highly competitive.

The business of the acquisition, exploration, and development of uranium properties is intensely competitive. We will 
be required to compete, in the future, directly with other corporations that may have better access to potential uranium 
resources, more developed infrastructure, more available capital, and better access to necessary financing, and more 
knowledgeable and available employees than us. We may encounter competition in acquiring uranium properties, 
hiring mining professionals, obtaining mining resources, such as manpower, drill rigs, and other mining equipment. 
Such competitors could outbid us for potential projects or produce minerals at lower costs. Increased competition 
could also affect our ability to attract necessary capital funding or acquire suitable producing properties or prospects 
for uranium exploration in the future.

Risks Related to Corporate and Financial Structure 

We are dependent upon key management employees. 

The success of our operations will depend upon numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control, including (i) 
our ability to enter into strategic alliances through a combination of one or more joint ventures, mergers or acquisition 
transactions; and (ii) our ability to attract and retain additional key personnel in sales, marketing, technical support 
and finance. We currently depend upon our management employees to seek out and form strategic alliances and 
find and retain additional employees. There can be no assurance of success with any or all of these factors on which 
our operations will depend. We have relied and may continue to rely, upon consultants and others for operating 
expertise.

Our growth will require new personnel, which we will be required to recruit, hire, train and retain. 

We expect significant growth in the number of our employees if we determine that a mine at any of our properties is 
commercially feasible, we are able to raise sufficient funding and we elect to develop the property. This growth will 
place substantial demands on us and our management. Our ability to assimilate new personnel will be critical to our 
performance. We will be required to recruit additional personnel and to train, motivate and manage employees. We 
will also have to adopt and implement new systems in all aspects of our operations. This will be particularly critical in 
the event we decide not to use contract miners at any of our properties. We have no assurance that we will be able to 
recruit the personnel required to execute our programs or to manage these changes successfully. 

New legislation, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, may make it difficult for us to retain or attract officers 
and directors. 

We may be unable to attract and retain qualified officers, directors and members of board committees required 
to provide for our effective management as a result of the recent and currently proposed changes in the rules and 
regulations which govern publicly-held companies. Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has resulted in a series of rules and 
regulations by the Securities and Exchange Commission that increased responsibilities and liabilities of directors and 
executive officers. The increased personal risk associated with these changes may deter qualified individuals from 
accepting these roles. 

Stock market price and volume volatility.

The market for our common shares may be highly volatile for reasons both related to the performance of the Company 
or events pertaining to the industry (i.e. mineral price fluctuation/high production costs/accidents) as well as factors 
unrelated to the Company or its industry. In particular, market demand for uranium fluctuates from one business 
cycle to the next, resulting in change of demand for the mineral and an attendant change in the price for the mineral.  
Our common shares can be expected to be subject to volatility in both price and volume arising from market 
expectations, announcements and press releases regarding our business, and changes in estimates and evaluations 
by securities analysts or other events or factors. In recent years, the securities markets in the United States have 
experienced a high level of price and volume volatility, and the market price of securities of many companies, 
particularly small-capitalization companies, have experienced wide fluctuations that have not necessarily been related 
to the operations, performances, underlying asset values, or prospects of such companies. For these reasons, the price 
of our common shares can also be expected to be subject to volatility resulting from purely market forces over which 
we will have no control. 
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Dilution through the granting of options.

Because the success of the Company is highly dependent upon its respective employees, we may in the future grant 
to some or all of our key employees, directors and consultants, options to purchase our common shares as non-cash 
incentives. Those options may be granted at exercise prices equal to market prices at times when the public market is 
depressed. To the extent that significant numbers of such options may be granted and exercised, the interests of the 
other stockholders of the Company may be diluted.

The issuance of additional shares of common stock may negatively impact the trading price of our shares of 
common stock. 

We have issued equity securities in the past and may continue to issue equity securities to finance our activities in the 
future, including to finance future acquisitions, or as consideration for acquisitions of businesses or assets. In addition, 
outstanding options and warrants to purchase shares of common stock may be exercised, resulting in the issuance of 
additional shares of common stock. The issuance by us of additional shares of common stock would result in dilution 
to our stockholders, and even the perception that such an issuance may occur could have a negative impact on the 
trading price of our shares of common stock. 

You may lose your entire investment in our shares.

An investment in our common stock is highly speculative and may result in the loss of your entire investment. Only 
investors who are experienced investors in high risk investments and who can afford to lose their entire investment 
should consider an investment in us. 

In the event that your investment in our shares is for the purpose of deriving dividend income or in expectation of 
an increase in market price of our shares from the declaration and payment of dividends, your investment may be 
compromised because we do not intend to pay dividends in the foreseeable future. 

We have never paid a dividend to our shareholders, and we intend to retain our cash for the continued development of 
our business. We do not intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. As a result, your 
return on investment will be solely determined by your ability to sell your shares in a secondary market. 

We depend on our ability to successfully access the capital and financial markets. Any inability to access the capital 
or financial markets may limit our ability to execute our business plan or pursue investments that we may rely on 
for future growth. 

We rely on access to long-term capital markets as a source of liquidity for capital and operating requirements. If we 
are not able to access financial markets at competitive rates, our ability to implement our business plan and strategy 
may be affected. Certain market disruptions may increase our cost of borrowing or affect our ability to access one or 
more financial markets. Such market disruptions could result from: 

adverse economic conditions; •	

adverse general capital market conditions; •	

poor performance and health of the uranium industry in general; •	

bankruptcy or financial distress of unrelated uranium companies or marketers; •	

significant decrease in the demand for uranium; •	

adverse regulatory actions that affect our exploration and development plans; and •	

terrorist attacks on our potential customers. •	

Recent market events and conditions, including disruptions in the U.S. and international credit markets and other 
financial systems and the deterioration of the U.S. and global economic conditions, could, among other things, 
impede access to capital or increase the cost of capital, which would have an adverse effect on our ability to fund 
our working capital and other capital requirements.
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In 2007 and 2008, the U.S. credit markets experienced serious disruption due to a deterioration in residential 
property values, defaults and delinquencies in the residential mortgage market (particularly, subprime and non-prime 
mortgages) and a decline in the credit quality of mortgage backed securities. These problems led to a slow-down in 
residential housing market transactions, declining housing prices, delinquencies in non-mortgage consumer credit and 
a general decline in consumer confidence. These negative conditions peaked in 2008, causing a loss of confidence in 
the broader U.S. and global credit and financial markets and resulting in the collapse of, and government intervention 
in, major banks, financial institutions and insurers and creating a climate of greater volatility, less liquidity, widening 
of credit spreads, a lack of price transparency, increased credit losses and tighter credit conditions. Various actions 
by the U.S. and foreign governments are targeting general conditions of the capital markets, financial instruments, 
banks, investment banks, insurers and other financial institutions to stabilize and improve the broader credit and stock 
markets. The general economic indicators, including low consumer sentiment, high unemployment and low economic 
growth indicate continued economic uncertainty.

These unprecedented disruptions in the current credit and financial markets have had a significant material adverse 
impact on a number of financial institutions and have limited access to capital and credit for many companies.  
These disruptions could, among other things, make it more difficult for us to obtain, or increase our cost of obtaining, 
capital and financing for our operations. Our access to additional capital may not be available on terms acceptable to 
us or at all.

 
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

We do not have any unresolved comments from the SEC staff regarding our periodic or current reports under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

 
ITEM 2. DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTIES

Overview

We are an exploration stage company engaged in the acquisition, exploration and, if warranted, development of 
uranium properties. “Uranium” used in this context refers to U3O8. U3O8, also called yellowcake, is triuranium 
octoxide produced from uranium ore and is the most actively traded uranium-related commodity.

We are principally focused on the exploration of our properties in the Powder River Basin area of Wyoming. We are 
exploring these properties with the objective of assessing their viability for commercial ISR uranium mining. ISR is a 
low cost mining process that uses a “leaching solution” to extract uranium from underground ore bodies. 

Concurrent with our exploration activities, we continue to progress permitting activities associated with our plan 
to construct a commercial ISR project, which we refer to as our Nichols Ranch ISR Project. We have applied for 
mine operating permits on two of our properties in the Powder River Basin area of Wyoming, known as the Nichols 
Ranch and Hank properties, that we feel have the potential, based on data in our possession, of being developed 
into commercial ISR uranium mines. These permits, if received, should allow us to produce uranium yellowcake 
concentrate, which can be sold directly to utilities for fuel used in nuclear electrical generating facilities. Because of 
the long lead times for environmental permitting of mining operations in North America, we filed applications to the 
State of Wyoming (WDEQ) and the US Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) for permits for the Nichols Ranch 
Uranium ISR Project in December 2007. The status of our permitting activities is described more fully below under 
the heading “Nichols Ranch ISR Project”.

Our Powder River Basin properties include:

our 100% owned properties, which totaled 29,251 acres as of December 31, 2009; •	

properties of Arkose Mining Venture, in which we hold an 81% interest, which totaled 88,367 acres as of •	
December 31, 2009; and 

additional properties that we have acquired in the Powder River Basin area totaling 1,694 acres as of •	
December 31, 2009. 
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We completed a substantial exploration program on our Powder River Basin properties in 2009. A total of 565 drill 
holes and 15 wells were completed in 2009, representing approximately 377,642 feet of drilling at an average depth 
of 668 feet per hole. Uranium trend and delineation holes were drilled utilizing three drill rigs and two electric log 
probing units.

The objective of the 2009 drilling program was to find previously unknown or little-known uranium mineralization 
trends and to delineate known trends, which would provide data for permitting and eventual production operations in 
favorably identified areas. During the 2009 drilling program, approximately 11.5 miles of uranium roll front trends 
were investigated. Approximately 3 miles of the 11.5 miles of trends had favorable uranium mineralization. Uranium 
mineralization ranged from less than 0.01% eU3O8 to 1.18% eU3O8. Approximately 36% of the 565 holes drilled 
during 2009 met or exceeded our minimum cut-off grade of 0.03% eU3O8 (eU3O8 is equivalent natural uranium, U3O8, 
as determined from down-hole radiometric probing rather than by chemical analysis). 

Our 2009 drilling program lead to the preparation and filing of three National Instrument 43-101 Technical Reports, 
which are described in more detail below under “2009 Drilling Program”.

In anticipation of receiving all the approvals necessary to mine in 2010, we have commenced a marketing program for 
conditional sales of uranium from our Nichols Ranch ISR Project. In July of 2009, we entered into a sales agreement 
with Exelon Generation Company, LLC for the sale of uranium over a five-year period. In August of 2009 we entered 
into a second contract for the sale of uranium to another U.S. utility, also over a five-year period. 

Our plan of operations during 2010 is to:

continue with our exploration of our Powder River Basin Properties as detailed below under “2010 •	
Exploration Program”; 

continue with our permitting, mine planning and design efforts in connection with the Nichols Ranch ISR •	
Project, as detailed below under “Nichols Ranch ISR Project”; and 

once permitting has been achieved, to commence construction of our Nichols Ranch ISR Project. •	

We have sufficient financing to continue our exploration and permitting activities and design and early stage 
construction activities over the next twelve months. However, we will require additional financing in order to 
complete construction of our Nichols Ranch ISR Project. There is no assurance that we will be able to obtain the 
necessary financing to complete construction or carry out mining activities, if mining is warranted.

All of our projects are at the exploration stage and there can be no assurance that a commercially viable 
mineral deposit, or reserve, exists on any of our properties until appropriate exploratory work is done 
and a comprehensive evaluation based on such work concludes legal and economic feasibility. Further 
exploration will be required before a final evaluation as to the economic, technical and legal feasibility of 
mining of any of our properties is determined. There is no assurance that further exploration will result 
in a final evaluation that a commercially viable mineral deposit exists on any of our mineral properties.  
Operations

Our exploration program in the Wyoming Powder River Basin is directed by Mr. Kurtis Brown, Senior Vice-President 
Exploration and is supervised by Mr. George Hartman, our Executive Vice-President and Chief Operating Officer. We 
engage contractors to carry out our exploration programs under Mr. Brown’s supervision. Contractors that we plan 
to engage include project geologists, drilling companies and geophysical logging companies, each according to the 
specific exploration program on each property.

Our management will make determinations as to whether to proceed with the additional exploration of our Wyoming 
Powder River Basin mineral properties based on the results of the preliminary exploration that we undertake. 
In completing these determinations, we will make an assessment as to whether the results of the exploration are 
sufficiently positive for us to proceed with more advanced exploration.
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Wyoming Properties

We have several properties in two distinct geographical areas known as the Great Divide and Powder River Basins of 
Wyoming as shown in the map below:

 
Uranerz Energy Corporation – Wyoming Property Locations – March 2010
Source: Uranerz Energy Corporation 2010
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We plan to maintain, explore and, if warranted, develop our properties in the Powder River Basin area of Wyoming.

At this time we do not have immediate plans for further exploration or development activities on our Great Divide 
Basin properties, which are not considered material at present.

Powder River Basin Properties

As of December 31, 2009, our Powder River Basin properties include both our 100% owned properties and those 
properties included within the Arkose Mining Venture. These principal properties comprise in total approximately 
117,618 acres and consist of a combination of federal mining claims, state mineral leases and private fee mineral 
leases. We have also acquired additional properties in the Powder River Basin area which total approximately 1,694 
acres and are discussed below under “Other Powder River Basin Projects”. A map showing the location of our 100% 
owned Powder River Basin and Arkose Mining Venture properties is provided below:

Uranerz Energy Corporation – Powder River Basin – March 2010 
Source: Uranerz Energy Corporation 2010

 

Uranerz Claims Arkose Claims
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An additional map showing the location of our properties within the general Powder Basin property area and our key 
property units is presented below: 

Uranerz Energy Corporation – Powder River Basin – Property Units – March 2010 
Source: Uranerz Energy Corporation 2010

URANERZ ENERGY CORPORATION

ARKOSE MINING VENTURES
(URANERZ ENERGY 81% UNITED NUCLEAR LLC 19%)

CAMECO RESOURCES

URANIUM ONE
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Ownership Interests

Our ownership interests in the properties within the Powder River Basin are summarized as follows:

100% Owned Properties

Our 100% owned properties are comprised of unpatented lode mining claims, state leases and fee (private) mineral 
leases, as summarized as follows: 

 Property Composition
Ownership 
Interest (1) 

Number of 
Claims/Leases  

Acreage  
(Approximate) 

Unpatented Lode Mining Claims 100% 1,076 21,520 acres 

State Leases 100% 7 6,480 acres 

Fee (private) Mineral Leases 100% 5 1,251 acres 

Total     29,251 acres 

   (1 ) Subject	to	royalties,	as	discussed	further	below.	 

These	100%	owned	properties	in	the	Powder	River	Basin	include	the	following	core	property	units:	

Property No. Claims Approximate Acreage 

Doughstick 22 440 

Collins Draw 38 760 

North Rolling Pin 65 1,300 

Hank 66 1,320 

Nichols Ranch 36 720 

C-Line 40 800 

Willow Creek 11 220 

West North-Butte 145 2,900 

East Nichols 44 880 

North Nichols 107 2,140 

TOTAL 574 11,480 

 
We	continue	to	look	for	more	prospective	lands	in	the	Powder	River	Basin	and	as	a	result	may	locate,	purchase	or	lease	
additional	unpatented	lode	mining	claims;	and/or	purchase	or	lease	additional	fee	mineral	(private)	lands	during	the	
next	twelve	months,	however	there	is	no	assurance	any	additional	properties	will	be	acquired.
 
Arkose Mining Venture

The	Arkose	Mining	Venture	properties	are	comprised	of	unpatented	mineral	lode	claims,	state	leases	and	fee	(private)	
mineral	leases,	as	summarized	as	follows:

Property 
Composition 

Ownership 
Interest (1) 

Number of  
Claims/Leases 

Acreage 
(Approximate) 

Unpatented Mineral Lode Claims 81% 4,109 67,221 acres 

State Leases 81% 3 2,080 acres 

Fee (private) Mineral Leases 81% 69 19,066 acres 

Total     88,367 acres 

  (1 ) Subject	to	royalties,	as	discussed	further	below.	

We	completed	the	acquisition	of	an	undivided	81%	interest	in	the	Arkose	Mining	Venture	mineral	properties	on	January	
15,	2008.	This	acquisition	was	completed	pursuant	to	a	purchase	and	sale	agreement	with	mining	venture	previously	
announced	on	September	19,	2007	between	Uranerz,	and	NAMMCO,	Steven	C.	Kirkwood,	Robert	W.	Kirkwood	and	
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Stephen	L.	Payne	(collectively,	the	“NAMMCO	Sellers”).	The	total	purchase	price	that	we	paid	to	acquire	this	81%	
interest	in	the	Arkose	Mining	Venture	included	cash	of	$5,757,000	and	5,750,000	shares	of	our	common	stock	issued	
to	the	NAMMCO	Sellers.	The	NAMMCO	Sellers	entered	into	a	voting	agreement	with	us	effective	January	15,	2008	
pursuant	to	which	each	of	such	sellers	granted	to	our	management	or	our	appointed	agent	the	right	to	vote	fifty	percent	
(50%)	of	the	outstanding	and	currently	held	shares	issued	as	consideration	for	the	acquisition,	whether	held	directly	or	
indirectly	by	such	sellers,	for	a	period	of	three	(3)	years	following	the	date	of	the	issuance.	

In	 connection	with	 our	 acquisition	 of	 an	 81%	 interest	 in	 the	Arkose	Mining	Venture,	we	 entered	 into	 a	 venture	
agreement	dated	as	of	January	15,	2008	(the	“Venture	Agreement”)	with	United	Nuclear,	LLC	(“United	Nuclear”),	
a	 limited	 liability	 company	wholly	 owned	 by	 the	 NAMMCO	 Sellers	 and	 their	 designee	 under	 the	 purchase	 and	 
sale	 agreement.	 Under	 the	 Venture	 Agreement,	 we	 agreed	 that	 United	 Nuclear	 will	 hold	 (and	 contribute	 to)	 its	
nineteen	percent	(19%)	working	interest	in	the	Arkose	Mining	Venture,	and	we	will	operate	and	be	the	manager	of	
the	Arkose	Mining	Venture	under	the	name	“Arkose	Mining	Venture”.	We	and	United	Nuclear	agreed	to	contribute	
funds	to	programs	and	budgets	approved	under	the	Arkose	Mining	Venture	in	accordance	with	our	respective	interests	
in	the	Venture.

The	Venture	Agreement	provides	 that	we,	as	manager,	will	have	management	and	control	over	operations	carried	
out	by	the	Venture.	We	are	obligated	to	present	proposed	programs	and	budgets	to	the	management	committee	of	the	
Venture	on	an	annual	basis.	The	proposed	programs	and	budgets	may	include	exploration	programs,	pre-feasibility	
studies,	 feasibility	 studies,	 development,	 mining,	 and	 expansion	 or	 modification	 of	 operation	 plans.	 Proposed	
programs	and	budgets	are	reviewed	by	the	management	committee	appointed	under	the	Venture	which	includes	at	
least	 two	members	 from	each	 company	 appointed	by	Uranerz	 and	United	Nuclear	 respectively.	Unless	 otherwise	
provided	 in	 the	Venture	Agreement,	 the	vote	of	 the	participant	with	a	participating	 interest	greater	 than	50%	will	
determine	decisions	of	the	management	committee.	A	participant	may	elect	to	participate	in	an	approved	program	and	
budget	either	(i)	in	proportion	to	the	participant’s	respective	interest	in	the	Venture,	or	(ii)	not	at	all.	In	the	event	that	a	
participant	elects	not	to	participate	in	a	program	and	budget,	then	its	participating	interest	in	the	Venture	Agreement	is	
subject	to	recalculation	in	accordance	with	the	Venture	Agreement	to	reflect	the	decision	not	to	participate.

This	overview	of	the	Venture	Agreement	does	not	provide	a	full	discussion	of	all	terms	and	conditions	of	the	Venture	
Agreement.	Investors	are	encouraged	to	read	the	entire	copy	of	the	Venture	Agreement	that	was	filed	with	the	SEC	as	
an	exhibit	to	our	Current	Report	on	Form	8-K	filed	on	January	22,	2008.	

The	Arkose	Mining	Venture	includes	the	following	property	units	on	which	we	have	conducted	exploration:	

	 •	 South	Doughstick	
	 •	 Cedar	Canyon	
	 •	 East	Buck	
	 •	 South	Collins	Draw	
	 •	 Sand	Rock	
	 •	 Little	Butte	
	 •	 House	Creek	
	 •	 Beecher	Draw	
	 •	 Lone	Bull
  
Other Powder River Basin Projects

Through	a	combination	of	claim	staking,	purchasing,	and	leasing,	we	also	have	acquired	interests	in	several	projects	
that	 lie	within	 the	Powder	River	Basin	but	outside	of	 the	project	 areas	discussed	above.	These	properties	 include	
the	Verna	Ann,	Niles	Ranch,	North	Reno	Creek,	and	South	Reno	Creek	projects	which	cover	approximately	1,694	
acres.	In	general,	these	projects	are	located	in	sandstone	basins	of	Tertiary	age	with	known	uranium	mineralization.	
However,	due	to	our	focused	approach	we	have	not	yet	initiated	exploration	work	on	these	projects.	Additional	leasing	
in	the	North	Reno	Creek	Project	has	prompted	us	to	look	into	acquiring	past	exploration	and	development	data	for	
this	area	in	an	attempt	to	support	a	future	National	Instrument	43-101	report.	If	warranted,	environmental	base	line	
work	may	begin	thereafter	with	the	goal	of	submitting	an	environmental	permit	application	for	ISR	facilities	as	soon	
as	possible.	
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Forfeiture of certain Powder River Basin and Great Divide Basin interests 

During	August	2009,	we	decided	to	forfeit	our	interests	in	certain	mining	claims	in	the	Powder	River	Basin	and	the	
Great	Divide	which	we	 determined,	 based	 on	 the	 review,	 analysis	 and	 recommendations	 of	 our	 geological	 staff,	
did	not	merit	further	exploration	and	accordingly	were	no	longer	of	strategic	interest	or	value	to	the	Company.	The	
claims,	which	were	forfeited,	effective	September	1,	2009,	when	the	annual	renewal	fee	would	have	become	due,	were	
comprised	of:	285	claims	in	which	we	had	held	a	100%	interest	in	the	Streeter,	Collins	Draw,	East	Nichols,	North	
Nichols,	Eagle	and	Cyclone	Rim	project	areas	and	132	claims	in	the	Little	Butte	and	South	Collins	project	areas,	in	
which	we	held	an	81%	interest	through	the	Arkose	Mining	Venture.	We	will	continue	to	review	our	property	portfolio	
and	may	decide	to	forfeit	other	interests	in	the	future	if	we	determine	that	they	are	no	longer	of	strategic	interest.	

 
NI 43-101 Technical Reports

We	have	obtained	technical	reports	on	the	following	material	properties:

Name of Report Authors of Technical Report Date of Report 

Technical Report, Doughstick  
Project, Campbell County,  
Wyoming, U.S.A. 

TREC, Inc., 341 East “E”  
Street, Suite 200, Casper  
Wyoming 82601  

January 26, 2010 

Technical Report, South  
Doughstick Property, Campbell  
and Johnson Counties, Wyoming,  
U.S.A. 

TREC, Inc., 341 East “E”  
Street, Suite 200, Casper  
Wyoming 82601 

February 25, 2010  
(Amended)  

October 12, 2009 

Technical Report, Nichols Ranch  
Property, Johnson and Campbell  
Counties, Wyoming, U.S.A. 

Kurtis J. Brown, P.G., Senior  
Vice President, Uranerz Energy  
Corporation, 1701 East “E”  
Street, Casper Wyoming 82605 

June 5, 2009  

Technical Report –  
West North-Butte Satellite Properties,  
Campbell County, Wyoming, U.S.A.

TREC, Inc., 341 East “E”  
Street, Suite 200, Casper  
Wyoming 82601  

December 9, 2008 

 Don R. Woody, P.G, Woody  
Enterprises, 9005 Sypes  
Canyon Road, Bozeman,  
Montana 58715

 

      

Preliminary Assessment – Nichols  
Ranch Uranium In-Situ Recovery  
Project, Powder River Basin,  
Wyoming, U.S.A 

TREC, Inc., 341 East “E”  
Street, Suite 200, Casper  
Wyoming 82601 

July 25, 2008  
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Name of Report Authors of Technical Report Date of Report 

Technical Report – The Hank Unit  
Property, Campbell Country,  
Wyoming, U.S.A. 

TREC, Inc., 341 East “E”  
Street, Suite 200, Casper  
Wyoming 82601 

May 1, 2008 

Don R. Woody, P.G, Woody  
Enterprises, 9005 Sypes  
Canyon Road, Bozeman,  
Montana 58715

      

Technical Report on the Arkose  
Mining Venture Project, Campbell  
and Johnson Counties, Wyoming,  U.S.A

TREC, Inc., 341 East “E”  
Street, Suite 200, Casper  
Wyoming 82601  

February 27, 2008 

 Don R. Woody, P.G, Woody  
Enterprises, 9005 Sypes  
Canyon Road, Bozeman,  
Montana 58715

 

      

Nichols Ranch Uranium Project,  
Campbell and Johnson Counties,  
Wyoming, U.S.A. 

Douglas Beahm, PE, PG  
Andrew Anderson, PE, PG  
BRS Inc. 

October 26, 2007 

Cautionary	Note	to	United	States	Investors	

As	a	company	listed	on	the	TSX,	we	are	required	by	Canadian	law	to	provide	disclosure	in	accordance	with	Canadian	Securities	Administrators’	
National	Instrument	43-101	–	Standards	of	Disclosure	for	Mineral	Projects	(“NI	43-101”).	This	required	disclosure	includes	the	preparation	and	
filing	of	technical	reports	on	our	material	mineral	properties	with	Canadian	securities	commissions	under	NI	43-101.	These	technical	reports	are	
furnished	by	us	to	the	U.S.	Securities	and	Exchange	Commission	(the	“SEC”)	on	Form	8-K	in	order	to	satisfy	our	“public	disclosure”	obligations	
under	SEC	Regulation	FD	and	are	not	filed	with	the	SEC.	U.S.	reporting	requirements	for	disclosure	of	mineral	properties,	including	disclosure	
required	in	this	Annual	Report	on	Form	10-K,	are	governed	by	the	Industry	Guide	7	(“SEC	Guide	7”)	of	the	SEC.	The	standards	of	disclosure	of	
mineral	properties	under	NI	43-101	and	SEC	Guide	7	are	substantially	different.	All	mineral	resources	disclosed	in	our	NI	43-101	technical	reports	
referenced	herein	have	been	estimated	 in	 accordance	with	 the	definition	 standards	on	mineral	 resources	 and	mineral	 reserves	of	 the	Canadian	
Institute	of	Mining,	Metallurgy	and	Petroleum	referred	to	in	National	Instrument	43-101,	commonly	referred	to	as	“NI	43-101”.	The	terms	“mineral	
reserve”,	“proven	mineral	reserve”	and	“probable	mineral	reserve”	are	Canadian	mining	terms	as	defined	in	accordance	with	NI	43-101.	These	
definitions	differ	from	the	definitions	in	SEC	Guide	7.	Under	SEC	Guide	7	standards,	a	“final”	or	“bankable”	feasibility	study	is	required	to	report	
reserves,	the	three-year	historical	average	price	is	used	in	any	reserve	or	cash	flow	analysis	to	designate	reserves	and	the	primary	environmental	
analysis	or	report	must	be	filed	with	the	appropriate	governmental	authority.	

The	NI	43-101	technical	reports	referenced	herein	use	the	terms	“mineral	resource,”	“measured	mineral	resource,”	“indicated	mineral	resource”	
and	“inferred	mineral	resource”.	We	advise	investors	that	these	terms	are	defined	in	and	required	to	be	disclosed	by	NI	43-101;	however,	these	
terms	are	not	defined	terms	under	SEC	Guide	7	and	are	normally	not	permitted	to	be	used	in	reports	and	registration	statements	filed	with	the	SEC.	
Investors	are	cautioned	not	to	assume	that	any	part	or	all	of	mineral	deposits	in	these	categories	will	ever	be	converted	into	SEC	Guide	7	reserves.	
“Inferred	mineral	resources”	have	a	great	amount	of	uncertainty	as	to	their	existence,	and	great	uncertainty	as	to	their	economic	and	legal	feasibility.	
It	cannot	be	assumed	that	all	or	any	part	of	an	inferred	mineral	resource	will	ever	be	upgraded	to	a	higher	category.	Under	Canadian	rules,	estimates	
of	inferred	mineral	resources	may	not	form	the	basis	of	feasibility	or	pre-feasibility	studies,	except	in	rare	cases.	Investors	are	cautioned	not	to	
assume	that	all	or	any	part	of	any	mineral	resource	exists	or	is	economically	or	legally	mineable.	Disclosure	of	“contained	pounds”	in	a	resource	is	
permitted	disclosure	under	Canadian	regulations;	however,	the	SEC	normally	only	permits	issuers	to	report	mineralization	that	does	not	constitute	
“reserves”	by	SEC	standards	as	in-place	tonnage	and	grade	without	reference	to	unit	measures.	
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The	 following	 information	 regarding	 our	 ownership	 interests	 in	 our	 material	 properties,	 their	 geology	 and	 their	
exploration	history	is	taken	from	these	technical	reports.	

Hank Unit and Nichols Ranch Unit 

Within	the	Nichols	Ranch	Unit	we	have	36	unpatented	lode	mining	claims,	two	fee	surface	and	mineral	leases,	and	
one	 surface	 use	 agreement.	 There	 is	 an	 overriding	 royalty	 interest	 in	 favor	 of	 Excalibur	 Industries	 on	 all	 federal	
unpatented	 lode	mining	 claims	 that	were	 acquired	 by	us	 from	Excalibur	 Industries.	Many	of	 the	 unpatented	 lode	
mining	claims	located	at	the	Hank	Unit	and	at	the	Nichols	Ranch	Unit	have	an	associated	gross	royalty	payable	to	
Excalibur	Industries	of	6	percent	when	the	spot	price	of	uranium	is	less	than	$45.00	per	pound	and	of	8	percent	if	
the	uranium	spot	price	is	$45.00	per	pound	or	higher.	In	addition,	there	is	a	portion	of	the	Nichols	Ranch	Unit	that	
includes	 private	 (fee)	mineral	 that	 is	 subject	 to	 the	 above	Excalibur	 Industries	 royalty,	 plus	 an	 additional	 royalty	
payable	to	the	fee	mineral	owner	under	the	fee	leases	(equaling	a	12	percent	or	16	percent	royalty	depending	upon	the	
spot	price	of	uranium).

Within	the	Hank	Unit,	we	have	66	unpatented	lode	mining	claims,	two	fee	surface	and	mineral	leases,	and	one	surface	
use	agreement.	The	Hank	Unit	permit	boundary	encompasses	approximately	2,250	acres.	Within	the	permit	boundary,	
we	have	 the	 right	 to	mine	approximately	1,393	acres	of	mineral	 rights.	Of	 the	66	unpatented	 lode	mining	claims	
comprising	 the	Hank	Unit,	56	of	 the	claims	have	a	royalty	 interest	burden,	payable	 to	Excalibur	Industries,	of	six	 
or	eight	percent	depending	on	the	selling	price	of	uranium.	This	royalty	interest	is	based	on	uranium	produced	from	
these	claims.	

West North-Butte Satellite Properties

The	West	North-Butte	property	covers	approximately	2,360	acres	of	land	and	is	comprised	of	145	unpatented	lode	
mining	claims	and	one	surface	use	agreement,	of	which	6	unpatented	 lode	mining	claims	are	 subject	 to	a	 royalty	
interest	burden,	payable	to	Excalibur	Industries,	of	six	or	eight	percent	depending	on	the	price	of	uranium.	

The	east	portion	of	the	West	North-Butte	property	covers	approximately	325	acres	of	land	and	is	comprised	of	17	
unpatented	lode	mining	claims	and	one	surface	use	agreement.	None	of	the	claims	in	this	property	are	subject	to	a	
royalty.	

The	Willow	Creek	property	covers	approximately	220	acres	of	land	and	is	comprised	of	11	unpatented	lode	mining	
claims	and	one	surface	use	agreement,	all	of	which	unpatented	lode	mining	claims	are	subject	to	a	royalty	interest	
burden,	payable	to	Excalibur	Industries,	of	six	or	eight	percent	depending	on	the	price	of	uranium.	

Arkose Mining Venture

The	Arkose	Mining	Venture	properties	consist	of	unpatented	lode	mining	claims,	fee	mineral	leases,	and	state	mineral	
leases.	The	land	surface	consists	of	private,	federal	and	state	lands.	There	are	4,109	unpatented	lode	mining	claims	
included	in	the	Arkose	Property	which	comprise	67,221	acres	and	69	fee	mineral	leases	and	3	state	leases	included	in	
the	Arkose	Property	which	comprise	21,146	acres.	All	of	the	unpatented	lode	mining	claims	are	owned	by	us	subject	
to	the	beneficial	interests	of	the	participants	in	the	Arkose	Mining	Venture.

Of	the	4,109	unpatented	lode	mining	claims,	1,218	unpatented	lode	mining	claims	have	an	overriding	royalty	interest	
burden	of	0.25%.	This	overriding	royalty	interest	is	based	on	production	of	uranium	on	these	claims.

The	title	of	the	Arkose	Mining	Venture	to	the	leased	property	included	in	the	Arkose	Property	is	a	leasehold	interest	
subject	to	the	various	terms	as	set	forth	in	the	applicable	leases	(the	“Arkose	Leases”).	The	Arkose	Leases	are	mineral	
leases	only	and	the	Arkose	Mining	Venture	obtained	surface	use	agreements	with	the	various	surface	owners	of	said	
lands	prior	to	commencing	any	activities.	The	majority	of	the	Arkose	Leases	(other	than	the	three	state	leases,	which	
are	paid	annually)	are	paid	up	for	either	five	or	ten	years.	The	five-year	paid-up	leases	have	an	option	to	extend	for	a	
second	five-year	term,	and	for	so	long	thereafter	as	the	property	under	the	lease	is	in	production.	The	Arkose	Leases	
only	cover	uranium	and	other	fissionable	minerals.	Commingling	of	ores	from	adjacent	lands	is	allowable	under	the	
fee	mineral	leases.	
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Royalties	under	the	fee	mineral	leases	are	variable	and	can	range	from	a	flat	4%	on	uranium	production	to	a	sliding	
scale	of	2-10%	with	different	intermediate	break	points	with	the	10%	rate	applying	to	sales	prices	of	$100	per	pound	
of	uranium	and	greater.

Unpatented Lode Mining Claims

Our	unpatented	lode	mining	claims,	including	those	subject	to	the	Arkose	Mining	Venture,	are	located	on	minerals	
owned	by	the	federal	government	and	open	to	location,	with	the	surface	being	owned	either	by	the	federal	government	
or	private	individuals.	In	addition,	the	unpatented	lode	mining	claims	are	recorded	in	the	appropriate	county	and	filed	
with	the	state	office	of	the	Bureau	of	Land	Management	(the	“BLM”).

The	unpatented	lode	claims	do	not	have	an	expiration	date.	However,	affidavits	must	be	filed	annually	with	the	BLM	
and	respective	county	recorder’s	offices	in	order	to	maintain	the	claims’	validity.	All	of	the	unpatented	lode	claims	
have	annual	filing	requirements	($140	per	claim)	with	the	BLM,	to	be	paid	on	or	before	September	1	of	each	year.

Most	of	the	above-mentioned	unpatented	lode	claims	are	located	on	Stock	Raising	Homestead	land	where	the	U.S.	
government	has	 issued	a	patent	 for	 the	surface	 to	an	 individual	and	reserved	 the	minerals	 to	 the	U.S.	government	
subject	to	the	location	rights	by	claimants	as	set	forth	in	the	1872	Mining	Law.

Mining Leases

Our	leasehold	interests	within	our	100%	owned	properties	are	subject	to	the	various	terms	as	set	forth	in	the	applicable	
leases.	The	state	leases	and	leases	on	fee	mineral	lands	usually	have	annual	payments,	royalty	obligations,	and	the	
term	of	the	leases	vary,	but	for	the	most	part	can	be	extended	by	production.	The	fee	surface	and	mineral	leases	apply	
only	to	uranium	and	other	fissionable	minerals	and	typically	have	a	10-year	term	with	the	right	to	extend	the	leases	
with	production.	Commingling	of	production	from	adjacent	lands	is	allowable	under	the	fee	mineral	leases.

Surface Rights

The	Powder	River	Basin	area	has	surface	rights	under	applicable	laws	that	allow	for	exploration	disturbance,	road	
construction	and	facility	siting.	The	claimant	must	first	notify	the	surface	owner	of	its	intention	to	locate	unpatented	
lode	mining	claims	on	the	owner’s	surface	and	then	try	and	reach	an	agreement	with	the	surface	owner	to	pay	for	
damages	caused	by	the	claimant’s	operations.	If	an	agreement	cannot	be	reached,	the	claimant	may	post	a	bond	with	
the	Bureau	of	Land	Management	to	cover	the	amount	of	the	damages	caused	by	the	claimant’s	operations.

We	have	negotiated	surface	use	agreements	with	various	surface	owners	covering	a	majority	of	our	project	areas.	We	
are	currently	negotiating	with	various	surface	owners	 to	enter	 into	surface	agreements	covering	the	balance	of	 the	
unpatented	lode	claims	not	already	covered	by	surface	use	agreements.	The	surface	use	agreements	typically	provide	
for	reimbursement	to	the	surface	owner	of	actual	damages	resulting	from	our	operations.

Taxes and Fees

We	will	 be	 required	 to	 pay	 severance	 tax	 and	 ad	 valorem	 tax	 to	 the	 State	 of	Wyoming,	 in	 addition	 to	 various	
maintenance,	land	impact	and	access	fees	as	well	as	other	consideration	to	surface	holders.

Location and Access; Topography, Elevation and Vegetation; Climate 

The	 Powder	 River	 Basin	 area	 is	 located	 approximately	 50	miles	 southwest	 of	Gillette,	Wyoming	 and	 100	miles	
northeast	of	Casper,	Wyoming.	The	area	is	accessed	from	State	Highway	50	from	the	east	or	State	Highway	387	from	
the	south,	and	various	internal	gravel	surface	county	and	private	roads.	Casper	is	on	Interstate	25,	approximately	one	
hour	by	air	from	either	Denver,	Colorado	or	Salt	Lake	City,	Utah.	

Our	Powder	River	Basin	properties	are	 located	in	portions	of	Campbell	and	Johnson	Counties,	Wyoming,	U.S.A.,	
and	are	approximately	60	air	miles	northeast	of	Casper,	Wyoming.	The	Powder	River	Basin	properties	cover	lands	in	
various	sections	in	the	Townships	41	to	44	North	and	Ranges	74	to	78	West.
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The	 center	 of	 our	 properties	 (centered	 east-west)	 is	 approximately	 eight	miles	west	 of	 the	 junction	 of	Wyoming	
Highways	50	and	387.	The	properties	are	accessible	via	two-wheel	drive	on	existing	county	and/or	private	gravel	and	
dirt	roads.	Accessibility	for	drilling	at	this	time	appears	acceptable	with	the	exception	of	very	wet	or	snowy	ground	
surface	conditions.	Road	development	and	improvements	may	be	required	at	a	later	time	in	order	to	support	future	
development,	if	warranted,	of	well	fields	and	processing	facilities.	

The	Powder	River	Basin	 properties	 are	 located	within	 the	Wyoming	Basin	 physiographic	 province	 in	 the	 central	
portion	of	the	Powder	River	Basin,	within	the	Pumpkin	Buttes	Mining	District.	The	Pumpkin	Buttes	are	a	series	of	
small	buttes	rising	several	hundred	feet	above	the	surrounding	plains.	Portions	of	the	Powder	River	Basin	properties	
are	 located	east,	west	and	south	of	 these	buttes.	The	cap	 rocks	on	 top	of	 the	buttes	are	erosional	 remnants	of	 the	
Tertiary	White	River	Formation	that	is	believed	to	have	overlain	the	majority	of	the	Powder	River	Basin.	The	volcanic	
tuffs	in	the	White	River	Formation	have	been	cited	as	the	source	of	uranium	in	this	basin.	

The	 area	 in	which	 the	 Powder	River	Basin	 properties	 is	 located	 is	 a	 low	 lying	 plain,	 and	 elevations	 range	 from	
approximately	4,390	feet	(1,440	meters)	in	the	northwest	to	approximately	5,450	feet	(1,790	meters)	in	the	southeast.	
Historically	and	currently	the	land	is	used	for	livestock	and	wildlife	grazing.	Vegetation	is	characteristically	sagebrush	
grassland	with	some	pines	on	elevated	terrain	and	some	deciduous	trees	within	drainages.	

The	climate	is	semi-arid	and	receives	an	annual	precipitation	of	approximately	9.4	inches,	the	most	falling	in	the	form	
of	late	autumnal	to	early	spring	snows.	The	summer	months	are	usually	hot,	dry	and	clear	except	for	infrequent	heavy	
rains.	Cold,	wind	and	snow/blizzards	can	make	winter	exploration	work	in	this	area	difficult	but	not	impossible.	The	
weather	may	limit	the	time	periods	for	capital	construction	but	should	not	have	any	significant	adverse	impacts	on	the	
operation	of	an	ISR	facility.	

Geology

Our	Powder	River	Basin	properties	encompass	approximately	119,312	acres,	and	potential	target	mineralized	zones	
are	expected	to	occur	throughout	the	properties.	The	potential	target	mineralization	within	the	Powder	River	Basin	
properties	is	believed	to	be	alteration-reduction	trends	hosted	in	the	Eocene	age	channel	sands	that	lie	at	depths	of	
approximately	300	to	1,100	feet	from	the	surface.	Roll	front	deposits	of	uranium	mineralized	material	are	anticipated	
to	occur	within	these	properties.	An	alteration	reduction	trend	is	a	natural	chemical	boundary	trend	line	in	a	sandstone	
aquifer	where	reduced	(non-oxidized)	sand	is	in	contact	with	altered	(oxidized)	sand.	Uranium	mineralization	may	be	
found	along	the	trend	line.	

Our	Powder	River	Basin	properties	contain	alteration-reduction	trends	hosted	in	Eocene	age	channel	sands.	Alteration-
reduction	trends	in	the	Pumpkin	Buttes	Mining	District	are	typically	composed	of	multiple,	stacked	roll	front	deposits	
that	often	contain	associated	uranium	mineralization.	A	stacked	role	front	is	a	type	of	uranium	occurrence	found	in	
thick	sandstone	where	a	number	of	mineralization	trends	are	stacked	on	top	of	each	other.	Uranium	mineralization	
within	and	adjacent	 to	 the	Powder	River	Basin	properties	are	found	in	 the	Eocene	Wasatch	Formation	(Wasatch).	
The	Wasatch	is	a	fluvial	deposit	composed	of	arkosic	sandstones	that	are	typically	25%	or	more	feldspar	grains	and	
indicates	a	source	rock	where	chemical	weathering	was	not	extreme	and	the	sediments	have	not	been	transported	far.	A	
fluvial	deposit	is	a	deposit	of	uranium	mineralization	found	in	sandstones	that	originated	from	sediments	laid	down	by	
streams	and	rivers.	The	arkosic	sandstone	is	a	type	of	sandstone	that	contains	a	high	percentage	of	feldspar	grains.	The	
medium	grain	size	and	relatively	good	sorting	of	this	sediment	implies	water	transportation,	probably	in	a	meandering	
river/stream	system.	The	Wasatch	formation	is	interlaid	with	sandstones,	claystones,	siltstones,	carbonaceous	shale,	
and	thin	coal	seams	that	overlie	the	Paleocene	Fort	Union	Formation,	another	fluvial	sedimentary	unit.

Exploration History

Our	 Powder	 River	 Basin	 properties	 are	 located	 within	 the	 Pumpkin	 Buttes	 Mining	 District	 which	 was	 the	 first	
commercial	uranium	production	district	in	Wyoming.	Uranium	was	first	discovered	in	the	Pumpkin	Buttes	in	1951.	
Intermittent	production	 from	some	55	small	mines	 through	1967	produced	36,737	 tons	of	ore	containing	208,143	
pounds	of	uranium.	This	early	mining	focused	on	shallow	oxidized	ores	exploited	by	small	open	pit	mines.	The	ore	
was	generally	 transported	 to	 the	Atomic	Energy	Commission	buying	station	 in	Edgemont,	South	Dakota.	Modern	
mining	 in	 the	 district	 has	 focused	 on	 deeper	 reduced	 ores.	 Uranium	One’s	 Christensen	 Ranch	 and	 Irigaray	 ISR	
uranium	mining	areas	and	processing	facilities	are	located	within	the	Pumpkin	Buttes	Mining	District,	approximately	
10	and	16	air	miles,	respectively,	from	the	Arkose	Property.	These	mines	have	completed	successful	ISR	mining	and	
aquifer	restoration	in	the	Wasatch	formation.
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These	 properties	 were	 originally	 part	 of	 a	 large	 exploration	 area	 encompassing	 Townships	 33	 through	 50	North	
of	Ranges	 69	 through	79	West,	 on	 the	 6th	 principal	meridian.	 In	 1966,	Mountain	West	Mines	 Inc.	 (MWM,	now	
Excalibur	Industries)	began	a	successful	drilling	exploration	program	in	a	portion	of	this	area.	In	1967,	MWM	entered	
into	an	agreement	with	Cleveland-Cliffs	Iron	Company	(CCI)	for	further	exploration	and	option	if	suitable	resources	
were	found.	CCI	exercised	its	option	in	1976	with	plans	to	begin	underground	mining	operations	in	the	vicinity	of	
North	Butte.	Changing	economic	conditions	and	the	development	of	ISR	mining	technology	reportedly	ended	much	
of	CCI’s	interest	in	the	area.	By	the	late	1980s	they	began	selling	select	properties	or	allowing	them	to	revert	back	to	
the	federal	government.	

In	addition	to	CCI,	other	uranium	exploration	companies	during	the	last	forty	years	have	controlled	property	either	
within	or	near	our	Powder	River	Basin	properties.	These	included	Kerr	McGee,	Conoco,	Texaco,	American	Nuclear,	
Tennessee	 Valley	Authority	 and	Uranerz	 U.S.A.,	 Inc.	 Uranium	One	NC	 (via	 subsidiary	 Cogema	 Resources	 Inc.	
(“Cogema”)	and	Power	Resources	Inc.	(a	subsidiary	of	Cameco	Corporation)	have	retained	portions	of	their	original	
land	positions	in	the	area.	The	mining	claims	and	leases	originally	controlled	by	most	of	these	companies	were	let	go	
over	the	years	due	to	market	conditions.	These	property	abandonments	continued	into	2004.	

As	a	result	of	this	history	of	exploration	and	our	own	exploration	efforts,	there	is	available	to	us	for	our	exploration	of	
the	Powder	River	Basin	properties	published	and	unpublished	mineral	trend	projections,	mineral	resource	summaries	
and	historic	and	current	mineral	resource	reports	developed	by	us	or	other	operators	from	these	properties	or	adjacent	
mineral	properties,	as	applicable.	In	addition,	there	are	publicly	available	drill	results	from	approximately	1,250	coal	
bed	methane	(CBM)	exploration/production	wells	in	the	region	of	the	Arkose	Mining	Venture	properties,	which	are	
discussed	further	below.	

Nichols Ranch ISR Project

Between	1968	and	1980	CCI	drilled	117	holes	and	 installed	3	water	wells	on	 the	Nichols	Ranch	property.	Texas	
Eastern	Nuclear	Inc.	in	1985	completed	limited	drilling	and	exploration	on	the	property	and	in	early	1990s	Rio	Algom	
Co.	also	completed	limited	drilling	in	the	area.

Hank Unit

Between	1968	and	1980,	CCI	drilled	197	holes	within	the	Hank	Unit.	In	1985,	Texas	Eastern	Nuclear,	Inc.	completed	
limited	 drilling	 and	 exploration	 on	 the	 property	 (approximately	 28	 borings).	 In	 the	 early	 1990s,	 Kerr	 McGee	
Corporation	and	Rio	Algom	Mining	Corporation	also	completed	limited	drilling	in	the	area.

We	drilled	61	exploratory	holes	and	seven	wells	within	the	Hank	Unit	during	2006	and	2007	and	eight	additional	
wells	in	2009.	We	drilled	257	exploration	holes,	including	three	core	holes,	and	three	water	wells	at	Nichols	Ranch	
during	2006	and	2007	and	25	exploration	holes	and	seven	wells	in	2009.	

West North–Butte Satellite Properties

Between	1968	and	1985,	CCI	drilled	approximately	380	exploratory	holes	with	the	satellite	properties.	From	1983	
to	 1985,	 Texas	 Eastern	 Nuclear	 drilled	 approximately	 12	 exploratory	 holes	 in	 the	 satellite	 properties	 and	 from	
approximately	1990	to	1992	Rio	Algom	Mining	Corporation	drilled	approximately	5	exploratory	holes.	In	2006,	we	
completed	 an	 acquisition	of	 the	 satellite	properties,	 and	 in	2007	and	2008,	 drilled	 approximately	127	 exploratory	
holes.	

Arkose Mining Venture

It	is	estimated	that	over	4,000	historic	uranium	exploration	holes	may	have	been	drilled	within	the	Arkose	Property.	
This	exploration	was	conducted	by	numerous	exploration	companies	from	the	1960s	through	the	1990s.	Although	this	
historic	exploration	data	are	known	to	exist,	obtaining	information	on	all	but	a	handful	(less	than	50)	of	specific	drill	
hole	data,	such	as	gamma,	resistivity,	and	lithology	logs,	was	not	possible.	Coal	bed	methane	(“CBM”)	exploration/
production	wells	were	drilled	by	numerous	 companies	 for	development	of	CBM	resources	 in	 the	 area.	A	 total	of	
approximately	1,250	CBM	exploration/production	wells	have	been	drilled	on	or	immediately	adjacent	to	the	Arkose	
Property.	Most	 of	 this	 drilling	was	 completed	 from	1,200	 to	 2,000	 feet	 deep	 and	 is	 on-going.	CBM	exploration/
production	wells	 and	 their	 associated	 gamma	 logs	 are	 all	 drilled	 and	 logged	 through	 the	 uranium	mineralization-
bearing	sand	horizons.	Utilizing	 the	available	uranium	drill	data	and	 the	CBM	drill	data	base,	we	had	a	 technical	
report	prepared	in	February	2008	to	independently	address	the	geology	and	potential	uranium	mineralization	within	
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our	mineral	holdings	on	the	Arkose	Mining	Venture.	This	technical	report	was	prepared	in	accordance	with	Canadian	
National	Instrument	43-101	requirements,	as	discussed	above	under	“NI	43-101	Technical	Reports”.

The	NAMMCO	Sellers	commenced	acquiring	rights	to	the	properties	comprising	the	Arkose	Property	in	2005,	and	
continued	to	do	so	through	2006	and	2007.	On	January	15,	2008,	we	completed	the	acquisition	of	an	undivided	81%	
percent	interest	in	the	Arkose	Property	and	formed	the	Arkose	Mining	Venture	with	the	vendors	of	these	properties,	
the	NAMMCO	Sellers,	as	described	in	greater	detail	above	under	“Arkose	Mining	Venture”.	

Local Resources and Properties Infrastructure

Infrastructure	 at	 the	 site	 of	 the	 Powder	 River	 Basin	 properties	 is	 dominantly	 related	 to	 local	 oil,	 gas,	 and	 CBM	
exploration	and	development.	Mineralized	locations	will	affect	future	siting	of	well	fields	and	processing	facilities.	
Generally,	 the	 proximity	 of	 the	 Powder	 River	 Basin	 properties	 to	 paved	 roads	will	 be	 beneficial	with	 respect	 to	
transportation	of	equipment,	supplies,	personnel	and	product	to	and	from	the	properties.	Power	transmission	lines	are	
located	on	or	near	parts	of	the	Powder	River	Basin	properties.	Based	upon	discussions	with	the	local	electrical	service	
provider,	 overhead	power	 is	 currently	 committed	 but	 additional	 power	 for	 future	 projects	 can	 be	made	 available.	
Water	 is	 available	 from	 wells	 developed	 at	 planned	 facility	 locations	 (potable)	 and	 water	 for	 in-situ	 recovery	
(“ISR”)	operations,	if	necessary,	will	come	from	the	operation	itself,	i.e.	the	extracted	groundwater.	Therefore,	the	
basic	infrastructure	(power,	water	and	transportation)	required	to	support	an	ISR	mining	operation	is	located	within	
reasonable	proximity	of	the	Powder	River	Basin	properties.	

Personnel	required	for	exploration,	construction	and	operation	at	the	Powder	River	Basin	properties	are	expected	to	
come	from	Gillette,	Wright,	Buffalo	and	Casper,	Wyoming.	

Typical	ISR	mining	operations	also	require	a	disposal	well	for	limited	quantities	of	fluids	that	cannot	be	returned	to	
the	production	aquifers.	Commonly,	oil	and	gas	wells	within	aquifers	that	have	been	or	can	be	condemned	for	public	
use,	are	utilized	for	such	purposes.	Oil	and	gas	wells,	both	abandoned	and	producing,	are	located	in	the	immediate	
vicinity	of	the	properties.	

Our	Powder	River	Basin	properties	are	undeveloped	and	do	not	contain	any	open-pit	or	underground	mines.	There	is	
no	plant	or	mining	equipment	located	on	any	of	our	Wyoming	mineral	properties.	There	are	no	pre-existing	mineral	
processing	facilities	or	related	wastes	on	the	property.	

Exploration Completed by Uranerz

2009 Drilling Program 

During	2009	we	were	engaged	in	drilling	exploration	efforts	on	both	our	100%	owned	Powder	River	Basin	properties	
and	on	the	Arkose	Mining	Venture	Powder	River	Basin	properties.	The	purpose	of	the	2009	drilling	program	was	to	
find	previously	unknown	or	little-known	uranium	mineralization	trends	and	to	delineate	known	trends,	which	would	
provide	data	for	permitting	and	eventual	production	operations	in	favorably	identified	areas.	During	the	2009	drilling	
program,	approximately	11.5	miles	of	uranium	roll	front	trends	were	investigated.	Approximately	3	miles	of	the	11.5	
miles	of	trends	had	favorable	uranium	mineralization.	Uranium	mineralization	ranged	from	less	than	0.01%	eU3O8 to 
1.18%	eU3O8.	Approximately	36%	of	the	565	holes	drilled	during	2009	met	or	exceeded	our	minimum	cut-off	grade	
of	0.03%	eU3O8.

On	 our	 100%	 owned	 properties,	 51	 delineation	 holes	were	 drilled	 on	 our	Nichols	Ranch,	Doughstick	 and	North	
Nichols	Ranch	properties.	The	purpose	of	this	drilling	was	primarily	to	prepare	for	the	installation	of	baseline	monitor	
wells	for	our	planned	Nichols	Ranch	ISR	production	facility.	A	National	Instrument	43-101	report	was	completed	on	
the	Nichols	Ranch	property	in	June	of	2009.	It	estimated	“indicated”	mineral	resources	of	approximately	2,949,546	
pounds	of	eU3O8	at	an	average	grade	of	0.114%.

Additional	 drilling	 was	 carried	 out	 on	 the	 Company’s	 100%	 owned	 Doughstick	 properties,	 which	 lead	 to	 the	
preparation	of	 a	 combined	National	 Instrument	Report,	 as	 described	 above,	 in	 respect	 of	 this	 property	 as	well	 as	
Arkose’s	North	Jane	and	Doughstick	properties.	

During	2009,	on	Arkose	Mining	Venture	properties,	a	total	of	514	holes	were	drilled.	At	Arkose’s	North	Jane	Property	
a	 total	of	51	holes	were	drilled	with	mineralization	 found	 in	 two	horizons	of	 the	100	sand.	A	combined	National	
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Instrument	43-101	independent	report	in	respect	of	the	Company’s	100%	owned	Doughstick	property	and	Arkose’s	
North	Jane	and	Doughstick	properties	was	prepared	in	respect	of	the	2009	drilling	results	from	those	properties	and	
filed	in	January	of	2010.	The	report	estimated,	for	all	such	properties,	“measured	and	indicated”	mineral	resources	of	
approximately	967,883	pounds	of	eU3O8	and	“inferred”	mineral	resources	of	approximately	87,981	pounds.

At	Arkose’s	South	Doughstick	property	104	delineation	drill	 holes	were	 completed.	Favorable	mineralization	 led	
to	 the	 completion	of	 an	 independent	National	 Instrument	NI	43-101	 technical	 report	 dated	October	 12,	 2009	 and	
subsequently	 amended	 on	 February	 25,	 2010.	 The	 amended	 report	 estimates	 a	 “measured	 and	 indicated	mineral	
resource	 of	 approximately	 2,287,250	 pounds	 of	 eU3O8	 at	 an	 average	 grade	 of	 0.121%	 and	 an	 “inferred’	mineral	
resource	of	approximately	189,305	pounds	at	an	average	grade	of	0.096%.	

2008 Exploration Program

In	2008	we	were	engaged	in	drilling	exploration	efforts	on	both	our	100%	owned	Powder	River	Basin	properties,	and	
on	the	Arkose	Mining	Venture	properties.	During	the	2008	drilling	program,	approximately	19	miles	of	uranium	roll	
front	trends	were	investigated.	Approximately	7	miles	of	the	19	miles	of	trends	had	favorable	uranium	mineralization.	
Uranium	mineralization	ranged	from	<0.01%	eU3O8	to	2.65%	eU3O8.	A	cut-off	grade	of	0.03%	eU3O8	was	established	
for	the	Uranerz	and	Arkose	properties.	Approximately	34.5%	of	the	933	holes	drilled	during	2008	met	or	exceeded	
the	minimum	cutoff	grade.	

For	the	2008	drilling	season,	March	6,	2008	through	December	12,	2008,	a	total	of	933	exploration	and	delineation	
holes	were	completed.	The	average	depth	per	hole	was	687	feet	and	a	total	of	640,578	feet	was	drilled.	Breakout	of	the	
drilling	was	165	holes	on	our	100%	owned	properties	and	768	holes	on	Arkose	Mining	Venture	properties.

We	determined	based	on	the	results	of	this	drilling	program	to	complete	a	NI	43-101	technical	report	on	the	South	
Doughstick	property.	We	received	this	technical	report	in	February	of	2010.	

During	2008	no	new	exploration	work	was	undertaken	in	the	immediate	Nichols	Ranch	proposed	mine	area.

In	December	2008	we	received	an	independent	NI	43-101	technical	report	for	the	nearby	West	North-Butte	Satellite	
Properties.	A	copy	of	this	technical	report	was	filed	on	SEDAR	on	December	11,	2008	and	a	copy	furnished	to	the	
SEC	on	December	11,	2008.	

2006 and 2007 Exploration Programs

We	drilled	a	total	of	78	rotary	drill	holes	on	the	Hank,	Nichols	Ranch,	and	Doughstick	projects	during	2006,	with	46	
holes	demonstrating	uranium	mineralization.

During	2006	environmental	 permitting	 activities	 also	 continued	 at	 the	Hank	and	Nichols	Ranch	projects	with	 the	
completion	of	a	total	of	five	hydrogeologic	test	wells,	and	the	drilling	of	six	core	holes.	The	core	was	submitted	for	
laboratory	testing	to	support	radiation	permitting	requirements	as	well	as	to	define	resource	disequilibrium	attributes.	

From	 February	 19	 to	 December	 20,	 2007,	 we	 drilled	 a	 total	 of	 486	 uranium	 trend	 delineation	 holes	 and	 eight	
hydrologic	sampling	wells	on	our	100%owned	properties	located	in	the	central	Powder	River	Basin,	utilizing	as	many	
as	three	drill	rigs	and	one	electric	log	probing	unit.	This	represents	a	total	of	approximately	300,000	feet	of	drilling	
with	an	average	depth	of	617	feet	per	hole.	

A	 total	 of	 214	delineation	holes	were	drilled	on	Nichols	Ranch	 in	2007.	 In	 the	final	months	of	 the	2007	drilling	
program,	 we	 focused	 our	 exploration	 efforts	 on	 our	West	 North-Butte,	 Collins	 Draw,	 Hank	 and	 Nichols	 Ranch	
properties	 to	 facilitate	 sub-surface	 geologic	mapping	with	 cross	 sections	 and	 to	 refine	 previous	 geologic	models	
delineating	known	trends	of	uranium	mineralization.	

2010 Exploration/Development Program

For	2010,	the	Arkose	Mining	Venture	plans	to	utilize	two	drill	rigs	and	one	company	electric	logging	unit.	Supervision	
in	the	field	would	be	conducted	by	a	Uranerz	field	geologist.	The	drilling	is	planned	to	concentrate	on	exploration	for	
uranium	in	the	northeast	targets	of	East	Buck	and	Kermit	project	areas	and	in	the	South	Doughstick	area.	
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The	 goal	 of	 the	 2010	 exploration	 plan	 is	 to	 continue	 uranium	 exploration	momentum	 that	 began	 in	 2008	 and	 to	
demonstrate	commitment	 to	finding	and	developing	uranium	mineralization	 that	 is	commercially	profitable	on	 the	
Arkose	properties.	The	plan	includes	drilling	a	total	of	400	holes	with	an	aggregate	footage	of	280,000	feet.	In	2009,	
the	average	hole	depth	was	681	feet.	In	2010,	the	average	hole	depth	is	thought	to	be	around	700	feet.	Approximately	
225	holes	will	be	drilled	in	the	East	Buck	project	area	where	mineralization	was	found	in	2008	but	due	to	surface	
ownership	access	and/or	mineral	fee	leasing	issues,	was	not	available	until	2010.	Another	125	holes	will	be	drilled	in	
the	Kermit	area	immediately	south	of	East	Buck.	In	addition,	50	holes	are	planned	for	South	Doughstick	to	follow-up	
on	exploration	to	the	south	of	the	main	mineralization	on	a	subsidiary	roll	trend.	Drilling	is	planned	to	begin	in	April	
2010	and	continue	through	October	2010	for	about	7	months	depending	on	cooperation	from	the	weather.

During	2010,	the	Uranerz	plan	for	the	development	of	production	and	monitor	wells	at	Nichols	Ranch,	Mining	Unit	1	
(MU1)	will	be	undertaken.	The	plan	includes	a	5	month	drilling	program	beginning	upon	issue	of	the	mining	permits	
and	will	require	up	to	6	contract	drill	rigs;	existing	company	electric	logging	unit,	cementing	unit,	backhoe;	a	cement	
mix	truck,	2	cement	storage	silos;	an	air	compressor	for	well	development;	a	pump	pulling	unit;	and	contract	or	hire	6	
new	field	personnel	to	conduct	cementing	and	well	equipment	installation.

It	 is	estimated	 that	one	well	pilot	hole	per	 two	installed	wells	will	be	“Drilled	Not	Completed”	(DNC)	due	 to	 the	
irregular	mineralization	outline.	These	holes	will	be	abandoned	with	cement	using	the	company	cementing	unit.

The	weld	field	installation	includes	drilling,	casing,	cementing,	well	development,	pump,	wire,	drop	pipe,	O2	system,	
and	a	weather	enclosure.	After	 the	wells	have	 their	completion	zones	finished	a	pump	pulling	unit	will	 install	 the	
production/monitor	pumps.	A	total	of	270	wells	are	planned	to	be	installed	including	30	perimeter	monitor	wells,	132	
injection	wells,	108	production	wells,	and	120	DNC’s.	Approximately	50%	of	MU1	wells	would	be	installed	during	
2010.	

Nichols Ranch ISR Project

The	mine	 plan	 for	 the	Nichols	 Ranch	 ISR	Uranium	 Project	 includes	 a	 central	 processing	 facility	 at	 our	Nichols	
Ranch	property	and	a	satellite	ion	exchange	facility	at	our	Hank	property.	The	ultimate	production	level	from	these	
two	properties	is	planned	to	be	in	the	range	of	600,000	to	800,000	pounds	per	year	(as	U3O8).	The	central	processing	
facility	is	planned	for	a	licensed	capacity	of	2	million	pounds	per	year	of	uranium	(as	U3O8)	and	it	is	intended	that	it	will	
process	uranium-bearing	well-field	solutions	from	Nichols	Ranch,	as	well	as	uranium-loaded	resin	transported	from	
the	Hank	satellite	facility,	plus	uranium-loaded	resin	from	any	additional	satellite	deposits	that	may	be	developed	on	
our	other	Powder	River	Basin	properties.	We	believe	this	centralized	design	enhances	the	economics	of	our	potential	
additional	 satellite	 projects	 by	maximizing	 production	 capacity	while	minimizing	 further	 capital	 expenditures	 on	
processing	facilities.	The	project	 is	progressing	through	detailed	engineering	and	design	with	95%	of	design	work	
completed	by	end	of	December	2009.	

Preliminary Assessment

We	obtained	 a	 preliminary	 assessment	 or	 scoping	 study	of	 the	Nichols	Ranch	Uranium	 In-Situ	Recovery	Project	
(Project)	in	July	2008.	The	preliminary	assessment	was	prepared	for	us	in	accordance	with	the	guidelines	set	forth	
under	NI	43-101	and	the	Standards	and	Guidelines	of	the	Canadian	Institute	of	Mining,	Metallurgy	and	Petroleum	
incorporated	by	reference	therein	for	the	submission	of	technical	reports	on	mining	properties.	The	purpose	of	the	
assessment	was	to	perform	a	preliminary	evaluation	of	the	technical	and	economic	viability	of	the	Project	using	the	
most	 current	 scientific,	 engineering	 and	 cost	 information	 available.	 The	 preliminary	 assessment	 was	 prepared	 to	
support	our	development	and	licensing	strategy	for	our	Nichols	Ranch	and	Hank	properties.	Investors	are	cautioned	
that	 this	 assessment	was	 preliminary	 in	 nature	 and	 is	 not	 based	 on	 capital	 and	 operating	 costs	 estimates	 that	 are	
sufficiently	refined	to	support	a	feasibility	study	evaluating	the	project.	

The	 assessment	 analyzed	 the	 planned	 development	 of	 a	 commercial	 uranium	 ISR	 and	 processing	 operation.	 The	
evaluation	uses	available	design	information	to	develop	capital	and	operating	cost	estimates	for	 the	proposed	well	
fields,	processing	plants,	infrastructure	and	associated	facilities.	Capital	and	operating	cost	estimates	were	provided	
in	the	preliminary	assessment	along	with	an	economic	analysis	based	on	these	costs	and	projected	revenue	from	the	
recovery	and	sale	of	uranium	(U3O8).
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Location of the Nichols Ranch ISR Project

The	Nichols	Ranch	ISR	Project	would	be	on	the	properties	comprising	our	Nichols	Ranch	ISR	main	unit	and	our	Hank	
ISR	satellite	unit,	as	illustrated	below:

Uranerz Energy Corporation – Nichols Ranch ISR Project Map – March 2010 
Source: Uranerz Energy Corporation 2010

Targeted Mineralization

The	targeted	mineralized	zones	for	the	Nichols	Ranch	Unit	in	the	A	sand	unit	are	300	to	700	feet	below	the	surface	
and	occur	in	two	long	narrow	trends	meeting	at	the	nose.	The	nose	is	in	the	northwest	corner	of	the	deposit	where	the	
two	narrow	trends	meet	to	form	the	tip	of	the	geochemical	front.	The	Hank	Unit’s	two	targeted	mineralized	zones	in	
the	F	Sand	unit	range	from	200	to	600	feet	below	the	ground	surface	depending	on	the	topography	and	changes	in	the	
formation	elevation	and	stratigraphic	horizon.	

Mining Plan

In	order	to	mine	the	uranium	resources	at	the	Project,	infrastructure,	including	four	well	fields,	a	central	processing	
plant	 (the	“Nichols	Ranch	CPP”)	and	a	 satellite	 ion	exchange	 (IX)	plant	 (the	“Hank	Satellite	Facility”)	are	being	
designed	and	will	need	to	be	constructed.	Well	fields	are	designated	areas	above	the	mineralized	zone	that	are	sized	to	
achieve	the	desired	production	goals.	The	piping/well	system	will	inject	water-leaching	solution	into	the	mineralized	
zone	and	recover	the	uranium-enriched	water	after	it	has	flowed	through	the	mineralization.	The	mineralized	zone	is	
the	geological	sandstone	unit	where	the	recovery	solutions	are	injected	and	recovered	in	an	in-situ	recovery	well	field,	
and	it	is	bounded	between	impermeable	aquitards.	Production	areas	are	the	individual	areas	that	will	be	mined	in	the	
well	field.	The	injection	and	recovery	wells	are	completed	in	the	mineralized	zone	intervals	of	the	production	sand.

0 6000’ 12000’
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We	anticipate	the	patterns	for	the	injection	and	recovery	wells	to	follow	the	conventional	five-spot	pattern.	Depending	
on	the	mineralized	zone	shape,	seven	spot	or	line	drive	patterns	may	be	used	in	some	locations.	A	typical	five	spot	
pattern	contains	four	injections	wells	and	one	recovery	well.	The	dimensions	of	the	pattern	vary	depending	on	the	
mineralized	zone,	but	the	injection	wells	will	likely	be	between	50	to	150	feet	apart.	In	order	to	effectively	recover	
the	uranium	and	also	to	complete	the	groundwater	restoration,	the	wells	will	be	completed	so	that	they	can	be	used	
as	either	injection	or	recovery	wells.	During	mining	operations,	a	slightly	greater	volume	of	water	will	be	recovered	
from	the	mineralized	zone	aquifer	than	injected	in	order	to	create	a	cone	of	depression	or	a	flow	gradient	towards	the	
recovery	wells.

The	Nichols	Ranch	Unit	is	anticipated	to	include	the	Nichols	Ranch	CPP	and	two	production	areas,	NR-1	and	NR-2.	
As	 the	productivity	or	 solution	grade	 (uranium	concentration	 in	 the	 lixiviant)	of	 some	patterns	 for	NR-1	decrease	
below	 the	economic	 limit,	 replacement	patterns	 from	NR-2	will	be	placed	 into	operation	 in	order	 to	maintain	 the	
desired	flow	 rate	 and	 solution	 grade	 at	 the	 processing	 plant.	Eventually,	 all	 the	 patterns	 in	NR-1	will	 reach	 their	
economic	limit	and	all	production	flow	in	that	area	will	cease.	At	that	time,	all	production	flow	will	be	coming	from	
NR-2	and	restoration	activities	will	commence	at	NR-1.

Each	planned	Nichols	Ranch	Unit	production	area	includes	a	number	of	injection	wells,	recovery	wells,	monitoring	
wells,	header	houses	and	associated	piping	and	power	supply.	Header	houses	will	be	located	within	the	well	field	and	
will	distribute	recovered	fluids	from	recovery	wells	to	trunk	lines,	and	injection	fluids	from	the	processing	facility	
through	the	trunk	lines	to	injection	wells.	The	planned	Nichols	Ranch	Unit	is	anticipated	to	include	the	following:

486	injection	wells;	•	

418	recovery	wells;	•	

95	monitoring	wells;	and	•	

23	header	houses.	•	

The	planned	Hank	Unit	will	 include	a	satellite	IX	facility	and	two	production	areas,	H-1	and	H-2.	The	Hank	Unit	
production	areas	will	follow	a	similar	developmental,	production,	and	restoration	schedule	as	outlined	above	for	the	
Nichols	Ranch	Unit	production	areas.

Each	planned	Hank	Unit	production	area	includes	a	number	of	injection	wells,	recovery	wells,	monitoring	wells,	header	
houses	and	associated	piping	and	power	supply.	The	planned	Hank	Unit	is	anticipated	to	include	the	following:

402	injection	wells;	•	

318	recovery	wells;	•	

80	monitoring	wells;	and	•	

19	header	houses.•	

Two	Underground	 Injection	 Control	 (UIC)	 deep	 disposal	 wells	 will	 also	 be	 required,	 one	 at	 the	 Nichols	 Ranch	
Unit	and	one	at	the	Hank	Unit,	for	disposal	of	liquid	wastes	from	well	field	bleed,	processing	plant	operations	and	
restoration.	

Mine Planning and Permitting

We	are	proceeding	with	mine	planning	for	the	Nichols	Ranch	Uranium	In-Situ	Recovery	Project	that	would	initially	
be	 sited	on	 the	Hank	and	Nichols	Ranch	properties.	Because	of	 the	 long	 lead	 times	 for	 environmental	permitting	
of	mining	operations	in	North	America,	in	2007	we	filed	applications	to	the	State	of	Wyoming	(“WDEQ”)	and	the	
US	Nuclear	Regulatory	Commission	(“NRC”)	for	permits	to	conduct	ISR	mining	of	uranium	for	the	Nichols	Ranch	
and	Hank	 properties.	We	 engaged	 TRC	 based	 in	 Laramie,	Wyoming	 as	 the	 prime	 contractor	 for	 performing	 the	
several	environmental	baseline	studies.	We	have	engaged	Hydro	Engineering	from	Casper,	Wyoming	to	perform	the	
necessary	aquifer	pump	tests,	and	prepare	the	hydrology	section	of	the	environmental	permit	applications.	We	have	
to	date	completed	environmental	surveys	such	as	vegetation,	soils,	wildlife,	cultural	resources,	radiation	and	water	
quality.	Reports	were	prepared	and	incorporated	into	our	applications	which	were	submitted	to	the	WDEQ	and	NRC	
in	the	last	quarter	of	2007.	Approval	of	the	environmental	permit	applications	is	expected	to	allow	us	to	proceed	with	
commercial	advancement	of	the	two	properties	leading	to	production	of	yellowcake	using	the	ISR	method	of	uranium	
mining	should	it	be	determined	that	development	is	warranted.
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The	primary	regulatory	approvals	for	an	ISR	uranium	mine	come	from	the	WDEQ	at	the	state	level,	and	from	the	
NRC	at	the	federal	level.	The	WDEQ	issues	a	Permit	to	Mine,	and	the	NRC	issues	a	Source	Material	License.	The	
NRC	has	completed	a	Generic	Environmental	Impact	Statement	applying	to	new	uranium	ISR	production	activities.	
Both	the	state	and	federal	agencies	look	at	all	environmental	aspects	of	a	proposed	ISR	mine	including	reclamation	
of	the	land	surface	following	mining	operations,	and	restoration	of	impacted	ground	water.	Work	place	safety	and	
the	safety	of	the	public	are	also	closely	monitored	by	regulatory	agencies.	Posting	of	a	reclamation	bond	by	the	mine	
operator	with	the	regulatory	agencies	in	an	amount	to	cover	the	total	estimated	cost	of	reclamation	by	a	third	party	
is	also	a	requirement	of	the	law.	The	reclamation	bond	must	be	a	“hard”	bond	which	means	it	must	be	either	cash,	
certificate	of	deposit,	letter	of	credit	or	some	other	similar	type	of	financial	instrument.	

In	April	2008	the	NRC	deemed	our	application	acceptable	 to	advance	 to	 the	detailed	 technical	and	environmental	
stage	 of	 review.	 In	 August	 2008	 the	 WDEQ	 deemed	 our	 application	 to	 build	 and	 operate	 an	 in-situ	 recovery	
mine	“complete”	and	 ready	 to	move	 to	 the	next	 stage	of	 review.	The	next	 stage	 includes	a	detailed	 technical	and	
environmental	review	of	the	application	and	public	discussion.	Concurrently,	the	NRC	review	of	our	application	for	a	
Source	Material	License	is	proceeding	in	a	normal	manner.	Approval	of	the	permit	applications	is	expected	to	allow	
us	to	proceed	with	commercial	advancement	of	the	two	properties	leading	to	production	of	yellowcake	using	the	ISR	
method	of	uranium	mining.

In	March	of	2009	we	submitted	our	response	to	a	Request	for	Additional	Information	(“RAI”)	which	was	received	
in	the	fall	of	2008	following	the	NRC’s	technical	reviews.	During	2009	we	responded	to	a	further	RAI	issued	by	the	
NRC	in	respect	of	its	environmental	review.	

In	October	of	2009	WDEQ	–	Air	Quality	Division	approved	and	issued	the	air	quality	permit	for	our	Nichols	Ranch	
ISR	Project	in	the	form	of	a	Permit	to	Construct	the	Project,	including	the	Nichols	Ranch	Central	Processing	facility	
and	 the	 Hank	 Satellite	 Plant.	 This	 is	 the	 first	 operational	 permit	 for	 construction	 of	 the	 Project	 received	 by	 the	
Company.	

In	December	of	2009	the	NRC	issued	a	draft	Supplemental	Environmental	Impact	Statement	(“SEIS”)	for	the	Nichols	
Ranch	ISR	Project.	The	draft	SEIS	for	the	Nichols	Ranch	ISR	Project	was	issued	as	a	“Supplement	to	the	Generic	
Environmental	Impact	Statement	for	In-Situ	Leach	Uranium	Milling	Facilities”.	The	draft	SEIS	was	open	for	public	
comment	until	March	3,	2010.	On	March	3,	2010	the	U.S.	Environmental	Protection	Agency	(the	“EPA”)	submitted,	
in	a	letter	to	the	NRC,	a	comment	on	the	draft	SEIS.	In	its	comment	letter	the	EPA	raises	certain	concerns,	the	primary	
of	which	are	that,	in	its	view:	(a)	the	draft	SEIS	does	not	sufficiently	analyze	water	disposal	alternatives	or	discuss	
waste	management	impacts	;	and	(b)	the	draft	SEIS	lacks	sufficient	information	regarding	air	pollutants	and	the	impact	
of	emissions.	The	EPA	requests	a	revised	or	supplemental	SEIS.	Comment	letters	in	response	to	the	draft	SEIS	were	
not	unexpected,	however	the	impact	of	the	EPA	letter	on	our	permitting	application	and	how	the	NRC	might	respond	
to	the	letter	is	not	yet	known.	It	is	possible	that	the	letter	or	any	other	comments	in	response	to	the	draft	SEIS	may	
delay	our	permit	application	or	otherwise	negatively	impact	or	influence	the	outcome	of	our	application.	

During	 late	 2008	 and	 early	 2009,	 leach	 amenability	 studies	 were	 performed	 on	 sample	 cores	 obtained	 from	 the	
Doughstick	and	South	Doughstick	properties.	Standard	ISR	leach	“bottle	roll”	tests	were	conducted	on	the	samples	
by	Energy	Laboratories	in	Casper,	Wyoming.	The	leach	amenability	studies	intend	to	demonstrate	that	the	uranium	
mineralization	is	capable	of	being	leached	using	conventional	ISR	chemistry.	The	leach	solution	was	prepared	using	
sodium	bicarbonate	as	the	source	of	the	carbonate	complexing	agent.	Hydrogen	peroxide	was	added	as	the	uranium	
oxidizing	agent.	The	study	 is	an	 indication	of	 the	ore’s	 reaction	 rate	and	 the	potential	uranium	recovery.	The	 test	
results	showed	the	uranium	recovery	percentage	for	South	Doughstick	as	87.8%,	and	the	uranium	recovery	percentage	
for	Doughstick	as	77.1%.	The	88%	and	77%	results	are	greater	than	the	73%	that	Uranerz	used	in	its	Preliminary	
(Economic)	Assessment	of	the	Nichols	Ranch	ISR	Project.	Doughstick	and	South	Doughstick	properties	are	located	
approximately	two	miles	south	of	Nichols	Ranch.	

We	caution	investors	that	we	have	not	at	this	stage	completed	any	comprehensive	feasibility	studies	on	these	properties	
demonstrating	that	development	of	any	of	the	properties	is	commercially	warranted.	Proceeding	with	these	advanced	
activities	prior	to	completing	detailed	feasibility	analysis	adds	risk	to	our	plan	of	operations	and	we	may	incur	costs	
which	might	not	otherwise	have	been	incurred.	

Prior	to	the	start	of	mining	(the	injection	of	lixiviant	into	the	ore	body	aquifer),	we	must	have	obtained	all	the	necessary	
permits,	licenses,	and	approvals	required	by	the	Wyoming	Department	of	Environmental	Quality	–	Land,	Water	and	
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Air	Divisions	and	the	U.S.	Nuclear	Regulatory	Commission.	The	various	state	and	federal	permits	and	licenses	that	
are	needed	or	have	been	obtained	for	the	Project	are	summarized	below:	

Permits and Licenses for the Nichols Ranch ISR Project 

Permit, License, or Approval Name Agency Status 

Source Material License NRC Submitted fourth quarter 2007  

Permit to Mine WDEQ-LQD Submitted fourth quarter 2007  

Permit to Appropriate Groundwater SEO Existing wells are approved, applications for new 
well permits will be filed prior to drilling  

Well Field Authorization (UIC Permit) WDEQ-LQD In preparation  

Deep Disposal Well Permits WDEQ-WQD In preparation 

WYPDES WDEQ-WQD In preparation 

11(e)2 Byproduct/Waste Disposal Agreement N/A In preparation 

Permit to Construct Septic Leach Field County In preparation 

Air Quality Permit WDEQ-AQD Obtained.
 
Notes:  NRC – Nuclear Regulatory Commission 
   WDEQ-LQD – Wyoming Department of Environmental Quality Land Quality Division 
   WDEQ-WQD – Wyoming Department of Environmental Quality Water Quality Division 
   WDEQ-AQD – Wyoming Department of Environmental Quality Air Quality Division 
   WYPDES – Wyoming Pollution Discharge Elimination System 
   SEO – State Engineer’s Office 

2010 Plan of Operations for Powder River Basin Properties 

During	2010,	we	plan	to:	

continue with our exploration of our Powder River Basin Properties as outlined above under “2010 •	
Exploration Plan”; 

continue with our permitting and mine planning efforts, including proceeding with environmental studies and •	
engineering and design, in connection with the Nichols Ranch ISR Project, as outlined above under “Nichols 
Ranch ISR Project”; and 

once permitting has been achieved, to commence construction of our Nichols Ranch ISR Project•	 .

All	of	our	projects	 are	at	 the	exploration	 stage	and	 there	can	be	no	assurance	 that	 a	 commercially	viable	mineral	
deposit,	or	reserve,	exists	on	any	of	our	properties	until	appropriate	exploratory	work	is	done	and	a	comprehensive	
evaluation	based	on	such	work	concludes	legal	and	economic	feasibility.	Further	exploration	will	be	required	before	
a	final	evaluation	as	to	the	economic,	technical	and	legal	feasibility	of	mining	of	any	of	our	properties	is	determined.	
There	is	no	assurance	that	further	exploration	will	result	in	a	final	evaluation	that	a	commercially	viable	mineral	deposit	
exists	on	any	of	our	mineral	properties.	We	anticipate	that	we	will	require	additional	financing	in	order	to	pursue	full	
development	of	 these	projects.	We	have	sufficient	financing	 to	continue	exploration	and	development	planning	of	
our	mineral	claims	but	there	is	no	assurance	that	we	will	be	able	to	obtain	the	necessary	financing	to	conduct	mining	
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activities,	if	warranted.	Because	of	the	long	lead	times	for	environmental	permitting	of	mining	operations	in	North	
America,	we	have	collected	environmental	baseline	data	and	filed	the	environmental	permitting	applications	on	two	
of	our	properties	in	the	Powder	River	Basin	area	of	Wyoming	that	we	feel	may	have	the	potential,	based	on	data	in	
our	possession,	of	being	developed	into	commercial	in-situ	recovery	uranium	mines.	However,	we	have	not	at	this	
stage	completed	any	comprehensive	 feasibility	 studies	on	 these	properties	demonstrating	 that	development	of	any	
of	the	properties	is	commercially	warranted.	Proceeding	with	these	advanced	activities	prior	to	completing	detailed	
feasibility	analysis	adds	risk	to	our	plan	of	operations	and	we	may	incur	costs	which	might	not	otherwise	have	been	
incurred.	

Wyoming – Great Divide/Red Desert Properties 

Our	Great	Divide	Basin	properties	comprise	the	Cyclone	Rim	and	Eagle	projects.	The	Cyclone	Rim	project	consists	of	
23	federal	mining	claims.	The	Eagle	property	consists	of	28	federal	mining	claims	and	an	adjacent	640	acre	Wyoming	
State	Lease.	Both	projects	are	located	in	Sweetwater	County,	Wyoming.

During	 2006,	we	 entered	 into	 an	 option	 agreement	with	Black	Range	Minerals	Limited	 (“Black	Range”)	 on	 two	
of	our	exploration	properties	 located	within	 the	Red	Desert	area	of	southwest	Wyoming.	Black	Range	carried	out	
certain	exploration	activities	on	these	properties	during	2007	and	2008.	During	2009,	Black	Range	elected	to	cease	
further	participation	in	the	exploration	and	development	of	these	properties	and	to	forfeit	its	rights	under	the	option	
agreement.	Our	Great	Divide	Basin	properties	are	not	actively	under	exploration	and	are	 therefore	not	considered	
material	properties.	These	will	not	be	considered	a	material	property	until	more	data	and	information	on	the	project	
can	be	obtained.

Saskatchewan – Cochrane River Property

Cochrane River – Ownership Interest 

Our	 Cochrane	 River	 property	 extends	 to	 the	 northeast	 of	 the	 northern	 portion	 of	 Wollaston	 Lake,	 in	 Northern	
Saskatchewan,	Canada.	Our	Cochrane	River	property	originally	consisted	of	two	Mineral	Prospecting	Permits	(MPP	
1237	 and	MPP	1238)	with	 a	 combined	 total	 areal	 extent	 of	 67,480	hectares	 (166,747	 acres)	which	 the	Company	
acquired	 from	Ubex	Capital	 Inc.	Ubex	Capital	 Inc.	 is	100%	owned	by	Dennis	Higgs,	one	of	our	Directors.	Ubex	
retains	a	royalty	of	2%	on	the	properties.

Saskatchewan	mineral	dispositions	including	permits	are	administered	by	SIR	on	behalf	of	the	Crown	of	Canada	in	
accordance	with	The	Mineral	Disposition	Regulations,	1986.	The	holder	of	a	permit	is	granted	the	exclusive	right	to	
explore	for	minerals	(though	not	to	extract,	recover	or	produce	minerals	except	for	testing	and	scientific	purposes)	
within	the	permit	outline.	A	permit	is	valid	for	a	period	of	two	years	and	may	not	be	renewed.	While	in	compliance	
with	 the	 requirements	of	 the	 regulations,	a	permit	holder	 is	entitled	 to	convert	any	portion	of	a	permit	 to	mineral	
claims	which	may	be	held	indefinitely.	The	two-year	life	on	the	permits	ended	on	January	31,	2007.	In	late	January	
and	early	February,	2007,	a	total	of	seven	claims	were	staked	within	the	boundaries	of	MPP	1237	and	1238,	for	a	total	
of	28,012	hectares.	The	new	claims	have	been	recorded	with	the	Saskatchewan	mine	recorder	office	in	La	Ronge.	The	
staked	area	covered	the	most	interesting	“area	of	interest”	as	interpreted	from	the	exploration	programs	conducted	by	
Triex,	as	described	below.	A	claim	holder	may	subsequently	convert	his	claim	into	a	mineral	lease	which	allows	for	
commercial	extraction	of	minerals.	

Cochrane River – Present Condition of the Property and Proposed Exploration Program 

There	is	presently	no	road	access	to	the	Cochrane	River	property.

During	 late	 2005,	 we	 signed	 an	 agreement	 to	 joint	 venture	 our	 Cochrane	 River	 property	 with	 Triex	 Minerals	
Corporation.	Triex	completed	detailed	helicopter-borne	geophysical	surveys,	follow-up	ground	exploration	programs,	
an	extensive	lake	sediment	survey,	ground-based	resistively	surveys,	a	lake	sediment	sample	program,	a	pole-dipole	
array	D.C.	resistively	survey,	property-scale	geological	mapping	of	outcrops,	and	systematic	geochemical	sampling	of	
boulders	and	glacial	till.	Total	cumulative	expenditures	by	Triex	on	the	Cochrane	River	property	over	approximately	
two	and	one-half	years	were	Cdn$1.23	million.	
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During	2008,	our	Cochrane	River	Saskatchewan	Joint	Venture	was	terminated	with	Triex	forfeiting	its	right	to	earn	
an	interest	in	the	project.	The	properties	are	currently	in	good	standing;	two	(2)	claims	expired	on	January	30,	2010	
and	the	remaining	five	(5)	claims	will	expire	on	January	30,	2011	unless	further	expenditures	are	incurred.	We	will	
continue	 to	 evaluate	 options	 for	 these	 properties,	 which	 include	 possible	 arrangements	 with	 other	 potential	 joint	
venture	partners,	further	exploration	by	ourselves,	or	disposition.	

The	Saskatchewan	properties	are	presently	not	 considered	material	properties	and	will	not	be	considered	material	
properties	until	more	data	and	information	can	be	obtained.

Texas

In	 2007	we	 completed	 an	 initial	 leasing	 program	 of	 approximately	 7,200	 acres	 in	 the	 State	 of	 Texas.	 Based	 on	
geologic	reports	and	more	than	90	historic	drill	holes,	these	7,200	acres	are	believed	to	cover	a	northeast-southwest	
uranium	mineralization	trend.	

Geologic	 study	 has	 been	 completed	 on	 the	 historic	 data	we	 obtained	 from	 third	 parties.	 Plans	 for	 field	work	 on	
these	properties	have	been	deferred	due	to	our	focus	on	our	Wyoming	properties.	Our	Texas	project	is	presently	not	
considered	a	material	property	and	will	not	be	considered	a	material	property	until	more	data	and	information	on	the	
project	can	be	obtained.

2010 Property Expenditures

Our	 cash	 expenditures	 in	 2010,	 excluding	 capital	 assets	 and	major	 property	 acquisitions,	 are	 estimated	 to	 be	 $14	
million,	as	follows:	

WYOMING        

   Exploration        

        Wholly–owned properties $  140,000     

        Arkose properties $  2,350,000  $  2,490,000 

   Environmental     $  690,000 

   Development     $  3,760,000 

   Land     $  560,000 

   Production and well planning     $  1,400,000 

General and administrative expenditures     $  5,100,000 

Total     $  14,000,000 

These	estimates	are	subject	to	change.	

 
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

We	are	not	aware	of	any	material	pending	or	threatened	litigation	or	of	any	proceedings	known	to	be	contemplated	by	
governmental	authorities	which	are,	or	would	be,	likely	to	have	a	material	adverse	effect	upon	us	or	our	operations,	
taken	as	a	whole.	There	are	no	material	proceedings	pursuant	to	which	any	of	our	directors,	officers	or	affiliates	or	any	
owner	of	record	or	beneficial	owner	of	more	than	5%	of	our	securities	or	any	associate	of	any	such	director,	officer	or	
security	holder	is	a	party	adverse	to	us	or	has	a	material	interest	adverse	to	us.
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ITEM 3A. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

The	following	table	sets	forth	certain	information	with	respect	to	our	current	executive	officers	and	key	employees.	
The	ages	of	the	executive	officers	and	key	employees	are	shown	as	of	December	31,	2009.

 
Name 

Current Office with  
Company 

 
Principal Occupation 

Director/Officer  
Since 

 
Age 

Glenn Catchpole President and  
Chief Executive Officer;  
Director 

President and Chief Executive  
Officer, Uranerz Energy  
Corporation 

March 1, 2005 66 

          

George Hartman  Executive  
Vice-President and 
Chief Operating Officer;  
Director 

Executive Vice-President and  
Chief Operating Officer, 
Uranerz  
Energy Corporation 

May 9, 2005  70  

          

Dennis Higgs Chairman Chairman Uranerz Energy  
Corporation 

May 26, 1999 51 

          

Benjamin Leboe Chief Financial Officer Chief Financial Officer of  
Uranerz Energy Corporation 

May 23, 2006 64 

Kurtis Brown Senior Vice-President,  
Exploration 

Senior Vice-President,  
Exploration of Uranerz Energy  
Corporation 

March 8, 2007 59 

          

Douglas Hirschman Vice-President, Lands Vice President, Lands of 
Uranerz  
Energy Corporation 

December 6, 2007 57 

The	following	is	a	description	of	the	business	background	of	the	executive	officers	of	Uranerz	Energy	Corporation.

Mr. Glenn Catchpole	was	appointed	to	the	Board	and	became	our	President	on	March	1,	2005.	Mr.	Catchpole	is	
a	licensed	engineer	who	holds	an	M.S.	in	civil	engineering	from	Colorado	State	University.	He	has	been	active	in	
the	 uranium	 solution	mining	 industry	 since	 1976,	 holding	 various	 positions	 including	well	 field	 engineer,	 project	
manager,	general	manager	and	managing	director	of	several	uranium	solution	mining	operations.	

In	1988	Mr.	Catchpole	joined	Uranerz	U.S.A.,	Inc.	and	Uranerz	Exploration	and	Mining	Ltd.	and	became	Director	of	
Regulatory	Affairs,	Environmental	Engineering	and	Solution	Mining.	Mr.	Catchpole’s	responsibilities	included	the	
monitoring	and	oversight	of	the	environmental	and	regulatory	aspects	of	two	large	uranium	mines	in	Canada	and	the	
operational	aspects	of	one	uranium	solution	mine	in	the	United	States.	In	1996	Mr.	Catchpole	was	appointed	General	
Manager	and	Managing	Director	of	the	Inkai	uranium	solution	mining	project	located	in	the	Republic	of	Kazakhstan	
(Central	Asia).	 In	1998	Cameco	Corporation	acquired	Uranerz	U.S.A.	 Inc.,	and	Mr.	Catchpole	continued	his	post	 
with	 the	 Inkai	project.	Mr.	Catchpole	 spent	 six	years	 taking	 the	 Inkai	project	 from	acquisition	 through	 feasibility	
study,	joint	venture	formulation,	government	licensing,	environmental	permitting,	design,	construction	and	first	phase	
start-up.	

Following	his	departure	from	Cameco	in	2002,	Mr.	Catchpole	has	been	an	independent	consulting	engineer	providing	
project	management	to	the	oil	and	gas,	mining,	and	construction	industries	from	2002	until	joining	our	company	in	
March	2005.	
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Mr. George Hartman	was	appointed	to	the	Board	of	Directors	and	the	role	of	Vice-President,	Mining	on	May	9,	
2005	and	subsequently	appointed	Executive	Vice-President	and	Chief	Operating	Officer.	He	has	thirty-seven	years	
experience	in	developing	green	field	projects	into	mining	production	companies	including	both	metals	and	industrial	
mineral	projects.	He	has	an	M.	S.	degree	in	Mineral	Economics	(Colorado	School	of	Mines)	and	a	B.	S.	in	Chemistry	
(University	of	Denver).	Four	process	patents	have	been	granted	in	his	name.	His	experience	includes	thirteen	years	
managing	several	in-situ	recovery	uranium	mines	from	green	field	exploration	sites	through	commercial	production.	

For	 the	past	fourteen	years	Mr.	Hartman	was	General	Manager	for	Fort	Cady	Minerals	Corporation	where	he	had	
complete	responsibility	for	solution	mining	and	process	development,	permitting,	design,	procurement,	construction,	
production	and	property	management.	Property	management	included	federal	mining	claims	and	private	leases	for	
a	 large	deposit	of	borate	mineral.	He	managed	the	project	 from	test	stage	 through	construction	and	operation	of	a	
demonstration	production	facility.	He	was	also	involved	with	product	marketing.	

From	1982	to	1989	Mr.	Hartman	was	General	Manager,	In	Situ	Leach	Projects,	for	Uranerz	USA.	During	this	period	
he	managed	the	interests	of	all	in-situ	uranium	projects	which	Uranerz	USA	owned	including	Ruth,	Crow	Butte,	and	
North	Butte.	Under	his	management,	Uranerz	USA	served	as	 the	contract	operator	 for	 the	successful	 test	solution	
mining	 of	 the	 Christensen	 Ranch	 uranium	 property	 now	 owned	 by	Uranium	One.	 He	was	 on	 the	 Uranerz	 USA	
acquisition	team	that	studied	potential	uranium	and	precious	and	base	metal	properties	in	Nebraska,	Colorado,	Texas,	
New	Mexico,	Utah,	California	and	Wyoming.	

Prior	 to	 joining	Uranerz	USA,	Mr.	Hartman	was	 president	 of	Ogle	 Petroleum	 Inc.	 from	 1979	 to	 1982	where	 he	
was	 in	 overall	 operating	 charge	 of	 this	 uranium	 production	 company	 that	 joint	 ventured	with	 Duke	 Power	 on	 a	
commercial	solution	mine	in	Wyoming.	He	was	responsible	for	managing	the	project	from	green	field	exploration	
through	commercial	production	(shipped	filtered	yellowcake	to	the	converter).	Mr.	Hartman	personally	designed	the	
processing	plant	facilities.

Also,	previous	to	his	work	with	Uranerz	USA,	Mr.	Hartman	was	the	Texas	Mines	Manager	for	Wyoming	Mineral	
Corporation	(Westinghouse)	from	1976	to	1979,	where	he	was	responsible	for	 the	management	of	 two	production	
in-situ	 uranium	 mines	 with	 ion	 exchange	 processing	 plants	 in	 Bruni,	 and	 Three	 Rivers,	 Texas	 (shipped	 dried	
yellowcake	to	the	converter).	

Mr. Dennis Higgs	 is	 a	member	of	 the	board	of	directors.	Mr.	Higgs	was	 appointed	 to	 the	Board	of	Directors	 as	
President	and	Chief	Executive	Officer	on	May	26,	1999,	and	resigned	as	President	and	Chief	Executive	Officer	on	
March	1,	2005.	Mr.	Higgs	became	Chairman	of	our	Board	of	Directors	on	February	1,	2006.	

Mr.	Higgs	has	been	involved	in	the	financial	and	venture	capital	markets	for	over	twenty-five	years,	raising	several	
millions	of	dollars	in	the	United	States,	Canada	and	Europe.	He	founded	his	first	junior	exploration	company	in	1983	
and	took	it	public	through	an	initial	public	offering	in	1984.	Since	then,	Mr.	Higgs	has	been	involved	in	the	founding,	
financing	and	initial	public	listing	of	several	companies.	

In	July	1990,	Mr.	Higgs	established	Senate	Capital	Group	Inc.,	a	private	venture	capital	company	which	provides	
management	consulting	and	investor	relations	services.	At	present,	Mr.	Higgs	also	serves	as	a	director	of	Miranda	
Gold	Corp.,	a	Canadian	public	gold	exploration	company,	which	he	founded	in	May	1993.	

Mr. Benjamin Leboe	was	appointed	as	the	Company’s	Chief	Financial	Officer	on	May	23,	2006	and	acted	as	our	
Corporate	Secretary	from	October,	2006	to	December,	2007	and	from	January	2009	to	July	2009.	Mr.	Leboe	was	
a	 Senior	 Consultant,	 management	 consulting,	 of	 the	 Business	 Development	 Bank	 of	 Canada	 from	 January	 2005	
to	February	2006.	Previously,	from	1994	to	2004,	Mr.	Leboe	was	a	senior	financial	officer	and	executive	in	public	
companies	based	in	Vancouver	and	Montreal.	

Mr.	Leboe	has	been	the	Principal	of	Independent	Management	Consultants	of	British	Columbia	from	1990	to	date.	
Concurrently,	Mr.	Leboe	was	previously	Vice-President	and	Chief	Financial	Officer	of	VECW	Industries	Ltd.	from	
1990	to	1993,	and	a	partner	of	KPMG	Consulting	from	1978	to	1990.	Mr.	Leboe	received	his	bachelor	of	commerce	
degree	from	the	University	of	British	Columbia.	Mr.	Leboe	is	a	Chartered	Accountant	and	a	Certified	Management	
Consultant	in	the	Province	of	British	Columbia.	
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Mr. Kurtis Brown,	 a	 thirty-five	 year	 veteran	 of	 the	mining	 industry,	 was	 appointed	 our	 Senior	 Vice-President,	
Exploration	in	March	2007.	Mr.	Brown	was	Manager,	Health	and	Safety	for	a	large	oil	and	gas	company	for	the	five	
years	prior	to	joining	Uranerz.	He	has	previously	assisted	with	the	start	up	of	the	Christensen	Ranch	ISR	commercial	
uranium	mine	now	owned	by	Uranium	One.	Mr.	Brown	is	a	professional	geologist.	

Mr. Douglas Hirschman	was	appointed	our	Vice-President,	Lands	in	December	2007.	From	January	2006	to	June	
2007	Mr.	 Hirschman	was	Manager	 of	 Lands,	 International	 Newmont	Gold	 Corporation.	 He	was	 an	 independent	
Consulting	Landman	from	2002	through	2005	and,	as	a	graduate	of	the	University	of	Wyoming,	has	over	thirty	years	
of	experience	in	the	mineral	exploration	industry.	

Arrangements between Officers and Directors

To	our	knowledge,	 there	 is	no	arrangement	or	understanding	between	any	of	our	executive	officers	and	any	other	
person,	including	directors,	pursuant	to	which	the	officer	was	selected	to	serve	as	an	officer.	

Family Relationships

None	of	our	executive	officers	are	related	by	blood,	marriage,	or	adoption	to	any	other	director	or	executive	officer.

Legal Proceedings

We	are	not	aware	of	any	material	legal	proceedings	to	which	any	of	our	executive	officers	or	any	associate	of	any	of	
our	executive	officers	is	a	party	adverse	to	us	or	any	of	our	subsidiaries	or	has	a	material	interest	adverse	to	us	or	any	
of	our	subsidiaries.	

We	are	not	aware	of	any	of	our	executive	officers	being	involved	in	any	legal	proceedings	in	the	past	ten	years	relating	
to	any	matters	in	bankruptcy,	insolvency,	criminal	proceedings	(other	than	traffic	and	other	minor	offenses)	or	being	
subject	to	any	of	the	items	set	forth	under	Item	401	of	Regulation	S-K.	
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PART II
ITEM 4. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER 
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our	common	stock	began	trading	on	the	NYSE	Amex	Equities	exchange	(formerly,	the	American	Stock	Exchange)	on	
August	10,	2006	under	the	symbol	“URZ”,	and	previously,	since	May	6,	2004,	on	the	Financial	Industry	Regulatory	
Authority’s	Over	the	Counter	Bulletin	Board	(“OTCBB”)	under	the	symbol	“URNZ”,	formerly	known	as	“CVTU”.	
Our	common	stock	also	trades,	since	August	2007,	on	the	Toronto	Stock	Exchange	under	the	symbol	“URZ”	and	on	
the	Frankfurt	Exchange	under	the	symbol	“U9E”.	

The	following	table	shows	the	high	and	low	sales	price	or	bid	price	for	our	common	shares	for	the	calendar	quarters	
indicated,	as	reported	by	the	NYSE	Amex	Equities,	www.nyse.com.	

Period  2009 High  Low 

Fourth Quarter $    2.39  $    1.20 

Third Quarter $    2.50  $    1.32 

Second Quarter $    2.21  $    0.58 

First Quarter $    1.10  $    0.57 

Period 2008 High  Low 

Fourth Quarter $    1.45  $    0.40 

Third Quarter $    3.40  $    1.10 

Second Quarter $    3.70  $    1.98 

First Quarter $    3.28  $    2.11 

 
As	of	March	1,	2010,	the	closing	bid	quotation	for	our	common	stock	was	$1.93	per	share	as	quoted	by	the	NYSE	
Amex	Equities.	

As	of	March	1,	2010,	we	had	64,194,887	shares	of	common	stock	 issued	and	outstanding,	held	by	approximately	
7,000	shareholders.	Many	shares	are	registered	through	intermediaries,	making	the	precise	number	of	shareholders	
difficult	to	obtain.

 Dividend Policy

We	anticipate	that	we	will	retain	any	earnings	to	support	operations	and	to	finance	the	growth	and	development	of	our	
business.	Therefore,	we	do	not	expect	to	pay	cash	dividends	in	the	foreseeable	future.	Any	further	determination	to	
pay	cash	dividends	will	be	at	the	discretion	of	our	Board	of	Directors	and	will	be	dependent	on	the	financial	condition,	
operating	results,	capital	 requirements	and	other	factors	 that	our	Board	deems	relevant.	We	have	never	declared	a	
dividend.	

There	 are	no	 restrictions	 in	our	 articles	of	 incorporation	or	bylaws	 that	prevent	us	 from	declaring	dividends.	The	
Nevada	 Revised	 Statutes,	 however,	 do	 prohibit	 us	 from	 declaring	 dividends	 where,	 after	 giving	 effect	 to	 the	
distribution	of	the	dividend:

1.	 We	would	not	be	able	to	pay	our	debts	as	they	become	due	in	the	usual	course	of	business;	or	

2.		 Our	total	assets	would	be	less	than	the	sum	of	our	total	liabilities	plus	the	amount	that	would	be	needed	to	 
	 satisfy	the	rights	of	shareholders	who	have	preferential	rights	superior	to	those	receiving	the	distribution.	

We	have	never	paid	cash	dividends	on	our	capital	stock.	We	currently	intend	to	retain	any	profits	we	earn	to	finance	the	
growth	and	development	of	our	business.	We	do	not	anticipate	paying	any	cash	dividends	in	the	foreseeable	future.
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Repurchase of Securities

During	2009,	neither	the	Company	nor	any	affiliate	of	the	Company	repurchased	common	shares	of	the	Company	
registered	under	Section	12	of	the	Securities	Exchange	Act	of	1934,	as	amended.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

As	 at	 December	 31,	 2009,	 we	 had	 one	 equity	 compensation	 plan	 under	 which	 our	 common	 shares	 have	 been	
authorized	for	issuance	to	our	officers,	directors,	employees	and	consultants,	namely	our	2005	Stock	Option	Plan.	Our	
2005	Stock	Option	Plan	has	been	approved	by	our	shareholders.

The	following	summary	information	is	presented	for	our	2005	Stock	Option	Plan	as	of	December	31,	2009.

 
 

Plan Category 

 
Number of Securities  

to be Issued Upon  
Exercise of  

Outstanding Options 
(a) 

 
 

Weighted Average  
Exercise Price of  

Outstanding Options 
(b) 

Number of Securities  
Remaining Available  
for Future Issuance  

Under Equity  
Compensation Plans 

(c) 

Equity Compensation Plans Approved By 
Security Holders 

5,949,700 $1.88 3,129,860 

Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved 
By Security Holders 

Not Applicable Not Applicable Not Applicable 

 
2005 Stock Option Plan Information

The	following	is	a	summary	of	important	Stock	Option	Plan	provisions.	It	is	not	a	comprehensive	discussion	of	all	
of	the	terms	and	conditions	of	the	Stock	Option	Plan.	The	information	provided	below	may	be	modified	or	altered	by	
some	provisions	in	the	Stock	Option	Plan.	Readers	are	advised	to	review	the	full	text	of	the	Stock	Option	Plan	to	fully	
understand	all	terms	and	conditions	of	the	Stock	Option	Plan.	

Purpose

The	 purpose	 of	 the	 Stock	 Option	 Plan	 is	 to	 advance	 the	 best	 interests	 of	 the	 Company	 by	 providing	 additional	
incentive	to	those	persons	who	have	a	substantial	responsibility	for	its	management,	affairs,	and	growth	by	increasing	
their	proprietary	 interest	 in	 the	success	of	 the	Company,	 thereby	encouraging	 them	to	maintain	 their	 relationships	
with	the	Company.	Further,	the	availability	and	offering	of	Stock	Options	under	the	Plan	supports	and	increases	the	
Company’s	ability	to	attract,	engage	and	retain	individuals	of	exceptional	talent	upon	whom,	in	large	measure,	the	
sustained	progress	growth	and	profitability	of	the	Company	for	the	shareholders	depends.

Persons Eligible

Any	employee,	director,	general	partner,	officer,	attorney,	accountant,	consultant	or	advisor	providing	services	to	the	
Company	or	any	parent,	affiliate,	or	subsidiary	of	the	Company	is	eligible	to	be	designated	a	participant	in	the	Stock	
Option	Plan.	However,	stock	option	grants	may	only	be	granted	to	full-	or	part-time	employees,	officers,	or	directors	
of	the	Company	or	one	of	its	subsidiaries.	

Administration

The	 Company’s	 Compensation	 Committee	 administers	 the	 Stock	 Option	 Plan,	 or	 such	 other	 committee	 as	 the	
Board	may	assign	administrative	responsibility	in	the	best	interests	of	the	Company.	The	administering	committee	 
(the	 “Committee”)	 has	 the	 power	 to:	 (i)	 designate	 Stock	 Option	 Plan	 participants;	 (ii)	 grant	 stock	 options;	 (iii)	
establish	rules	and	regulations	for	the	administration	of	the	Stock	Option	Plan;	(iv)	determine	the	amount,	price,	type	
and	timing	of	each	stock	option	grant;	(v)	cancel	any	stock	option	awarded	under	the	Stock	Option	Plan,	under	certain	
circumstances;	(vi)	correct	defects	in	the	Plan	or	in	any	granted	stock	option;	and	(vii)	make	any	other	determination	
or	 take	 any	 other	 action	 that	 the	 Committee	 deems	 necessary	 or	 desirable	 to	 the	 administration	 of	 the	 Stock	 
Option	Plan.	
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Shares Available under the Stock Option Plan

The	total	number	of	shares	of	the	Company	available	for	grants	of	stock	options	under	the	Stock	Option	Plan	shall	
be	10,000,000	Common	Shares,	subject	to	adjustment	as	herein	provided,	which	shares	may	be	either	authorized	but	
unissued	or	reacquired	Common	Shares	of	the	Company.	If	a	stock	option	or	portion	thereof	shall	expire	or	terminate	
for	 any	 reason	without	having	been	 exercised	 in	 full,	 the	unpurchased	 shares	 covered	by	 such	nonqualified	 stock	
option	shall	be	available	for	future	grants	of	stock	options	under	the	Stock	Option	Plan.	Shares	issuable	upon	exercise	
of	stock	options	have	been	registered	under	the	U.S.	Securities	Act	of	1933,	as	amended,	pursuant	to	the	Company’s	
Registration	Statement	on	Form	S-8,	filed	with	the	Securities	and	Exchange	Commission	on	November	21,	2005.	

Terms and Conditions of Stock Options

Stock	options	may	be	granted	to	any	person	who	is	performing	or	who	has	been	engaged	to	perform	services	of	special	
importance	to	management	in	the	operation,	development	and	growth	of	the	Company.	As	of	June	11,	2008	the	option	
price	of	 stock	options	 is	 set	at	 the	weighted	average	market	price	 for	 the	five	days	preceding	 the	grant.	All	 stock	
options	granted	under	the	Stock	Option	Plan	must	be	granted	within	ten	years	of	the	date	the	plan	was	adopted	and	all	
granted	stock	options	must	be	exercised	within	ten	years	of	the	date	of	grant.	The	Committee	may	grant	stock	options	
which	vest	in	installment	periods	and	may	modify	such	periods	to	accelerate	vesting.	Stock	options	are	evidenced	by	
a	form	stock	option	agreement.	

Exercise of Stock Options

The	exercise	of	vested	stock	options	is	made	upon	written	notice	to	the	Company	of	intent	to	exercise	and	payment	
of	the	exercise	price.	The	exercise	price	may	be	paid	(i)	in	cash,	cashier’s	check,	certified	check,	bank	draft	or	money	
order,	 or	 (ii)	 at	 the	 discretion	 of	 the	Committee,	 by	 delivery	 of	 fully	 paid	 non-assessable	 common	 shares	 of	 the	
Company,	valued	at	the	fair	market	value	for	such	shares,	determined	by	the	average	of	the	high	and	low	sales	price	
of	the	Company’s	common	shares	on	the	date	of	exercise.	

Transfer of Stock Options

Except	by	will,	the	laws	of	descent	and	distribution,	or	with	the	written	consent	of	the	Committee,	no	right	or	interest	
in	any	stock	option	granted	under	the	Stock	Option	Plan	is	assignable	or	transferable,	and	no	right	or	interest	of	any	
optionee	is	liable	for,	or	subject	to,	any	lien,	obligation	or	liability	of	the	optionee.	Upon	petition	to,	and	thereafter	
with	 the	written	 consent	 of	 the	Committee,	 an	 optionee	may	 assign	 or	 transfer	 all	 or	 a	 portion	 of	 the	 optionee’s	
rights	and	interest	in	any	stock	option	granted	under	the	Stock	Option	Plan.	Stock	options	are	exercisable	during	the	
optionee’s	lifetime	only	by	the	optionee	or	assignees,	or	the	duly	appointed	legal	representative	of	an	incompetent	
optionee,	including	following	an	assignment	consented	to	by	the	Committee.	

Adjustments to Stock Options

In	 the	 event	 that	 the	 outstanding	 common	 shares	 of	 the	Company	 are	 changed	 into	 or	 exchanged	 for	 a	 different	
number	or	kinds	of	shares	or	other	securities	of	the	Company	by	reason	of	merger,	consolidation,	other	reorganization,	
recapitalization,	reclassification,	combination	of	shares,	stock	split-up	or	stock	dividend:	

Prompt,	proportionate,	equitable,	 lawful	and	adequate	adjustment	shall	be	made	of	 the	aggregate	number	•	
and	kind	of	shares	subject	to	stock	options	which	may	be	granted	under	the	Stock	Option	Plan,	such	that	
the	optionee	 shall	 have	 the	 right	 to	purchase	 such	common	 shares	 as	may	be	 issued	 in	 exchange	 for	 the	
common	shares	purchasable	on	exercise	of	 the	nonqualified	stock	option	had	such	merger,	consolidation,	
other	reorganization,	recapitalization,	reclassification,	combination	of	shares,	stock	split-up	or	stock	dividend	
not	taken	place;	

Rights	under	unexercised	stock	options	or	portions	thereof	granted	prior	to	any	such	change,	both	as	to	the	•	
number	or	kind	of	shares	and	the	exercise	price	per	share,	will	be	adjusted	appropriately,	provided	that	such	
adjustments	will	be	made	without	change	in	the	total	exercise	price	applicable	to	the	unexercised	portion	of	
such	nonqualified	stock	options	but	by	an	adjustment	in	the	price	for	each	share	covered	by	such	nonqualified	
stock	option;	or	
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Upon	any	dissolution	or	liquidation	of	the	Company	or	any	merger	or	combination	in	which	the	Company	•	
is	 not	 a	 surviving	 corporation,	 each	 outstanding	 stock	 option	 granted	 hereunder	 shall	 terminate,	 but	 the	
optionee	shall	have	the	right,	immediately	prior	to	such	dissolution,	liquidation,	merger	or	combination,	to	
exercise	his	nonqualified	stock	option	in	whole	or	in	part,	to	the	extent	that	it	shall	not	have	been	exercised,	
without	regard	to	any	installment	exercise	provisions	in	such	nonqualified	stock	option.	

Also,	upon	the	occurrence	of	any	person	acquiring	more	than	20%	of	the	common	shares	of	the	Company	through	a	
tender	offer,	exchange	offer,	or	otherwise,	upon	a	change	in	control	of	the	Company	or	upon	the	sale	of	substantially	
all	the	assets	of	the	Company,	any	optionee	who	is	also	a	Company	insider	will	be	entitled	to	receive	cash	for	their	
nonqualified	stock	options	equal	to	the	final	offer	price	per	share	paid	in	the	offer	or	similar	event,	or	in	the	case	of	a	
change	in	control	or	sale	of	assets,	the	aggregate	fair	market	value	of	the	shares.	

Amendment of the Plan

The	Board	of	Directors	may	at	any	time	suspend	or	terminate	the	Plan,	in	whole	or	in	part	or	amend	it	from	time	to	
time	as	appropriate	in	the	best	interests	of	the	Company.	No	amendments	will,	without	the	consent	of	the	optionee,	
affect	previously	granted	stock	options.	

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

We	did	not	sell	any	securities	in	2009	that	were	not	registered	under	the	Securities	Act	of	1933,	as	amended.

Stock Performance Graph

The	 performance	 graph	 below	 shows	 Uranerz	 Energy	 Corporation’s	 cumulative	 total	 return	 based	 on	 an	 initial	
investment	of	$100	in	Uranerz’	common	stock,	as	compared	with	the	Russell	2000	Index,	AMEX	Natural	Resources	
Index,	 AMEX	 Composite,	 NASDAQ	 Composite	 Total	 Return,	 and	 a	 peer	 group	 consisting	 of	 Uranium	 Energy	
Corp.,	UR	Energy	Corp.,	and	Powertech	Uranium	Corp.	The	chart	shows	yearly	performance	marks	since	Uranerz’	
common	stock	began	trading	in	July	of	2005.	This	performance	chart	assumes:	(1)	$100	was	invested	on	July	28,	2005	
in	Uranerz	common	stock	at	the	initial	price	of	$1.00,	in	the	Russell	2000	Index,	AMEX	Natural	Resources	Index,	
AMEX	Composite,	NASDAQ	Composite	Total	Return,	and	the	peer	group’s	common	stock;	and	(2)	all	dividends	are	
reinvested.	Canadian	dollar	closing	price	quotes	on	the	Toronto	Stock	Exchange	are	converted	to	US	dollars	using	the	
noon	exchange	rates	as	quoted	by	the	Federal	Reserve	Bank	on	the	date	of	the	closing	price	quote.	Dates	on	the	chart	
represent	the	last	trading	day	of	the	indicated	fiscal	year.

Comparison of 3 Year Cumulative Total Return 
Assumes Initial Investments of $100 
December 2009
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itEM 5. SELECtED FiNaNCiaL Data

Selected	financial	data	about	Uranerz	for	the	last	five	years	is	set	forth	in	the	table	below.	You	should	read	the	data	
in	the	table	in	conjunction	with	the	consolidated	financial	statements	and	related	notes	set	forth	in	Item	8,	“Financial	
Statements	and	Supplementary	Data.”		

Dollars and shares in thousands, except per 
share amounts  2009  2008  2007  2006  2005 

Operating expenses                

     Depreciation $  176  129  57  15  1 

     Foreign exchange $  3  (4) 24  1  4 

     General and administrative $  4,599  6,153  7,858  5,871  4,482 

     Impairment loss on mineral properties $ — —  —  —  315 

     Mineral property expenditures $  4,778  30,505  7,008  1,218  89 

             Total operating expenses $  9,556  36,784  14,947  7,105  4,891 

   Gain on sale on investment securities $  —  —  —  79  — 

   Interest income $  155  610  710  411  — 

   Loss on settlement of debt $  —  —  —  —  (132)

   Mineral property options received $ —  —  44  87  21 

   Gain (Loss) on discontinued operations $ —  977  (3) ( 22)   

   Non-controlling interest $  702  949          

Net loss for the year $  8,699  34,247  14,197  6,548  5,002 

                 

Common stock data                

Weighted average shares outstanding  57,060  52,263  38,438  29,738  12,995 

Net loss per share – basic and diluted $  0.15  0.66  0.37  0.22  0.38 

Total shares outstanding at December 31  64,195  55,452  39,224  34,560  21,995 

Balance sheet data at December 31 
               

Total assets $  30,810  22,866  12,216  12,492  1,978 

Property, plant and equipment – net $  541  643  406  123  9 

Working capital $  29,228  21,405  11,114  11,980  1,776 

Total debt $ —  18  52  — — 

Common shareholders’ equity $  30,033  22,278  11,518  12,113  1,785 

 
Cash flow data 

               

Net cash used for operating activities $  7,483  13,164  9,259  1,692  581 

Net cash used for investing activities $  (11,590) 20,161  281  472  326 

Net cash provided by financing activities $  15,497  22,803  8,590  12,532  2,824 
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itEM 6. MaNaGEMENt’S DiSCUSSiON aND aNaLYSiS OF FiNaNCiaL CONDitiON aND rESULtS OF 
OPEratiONS 

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our financial statements for the three years 
ended December 31, 2009, and the related notes thereto, which have been prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) in the United States. This discussion and analysis contains forward-
looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results may differ materially from 
those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of many factors, including, but not limited to, those 
set forth under the section heading “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report. See section heading 
“Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.” 

Overview

We	are	an	exploration	 stage	company	engaged	 in	 the	acquisition	and	exploration	of	uranium	properties.	We	own	
interests	 in	 properties	 in	Wyoming	 and	 Texas,	USA;	 and	 Saskatchewan,	 Canada.	We	 are	 principally	 focused	 on	
the	exploration	of	our	projects	 in	 the	Powder	River	Basin	area	of	Wyoming.	We	plan	 to	maintain,	explore	and,	 if	
warranted,	develop	our	projects	in	the	Powder	River	Basin	area	of	Wyoming.

In	December	2007	we	filed	permit	 applications	 to	mine	 two	of	 our	properties	 in	 the	Powder	River	Basin	 area	of	
Wyoming	that	we	feel	may	have	the	potential,	based	on	data	in	our	possession,	of	being	developed	into	commercial	
in-situ	recovery	uranium	mines.	These	permit	applications	for	our	Nichols	Ranch	Uranium	In-Situ	Recovery	Project	
are	being	reviewed.	

In	support	of	our	goals	for	2009,	we	focused	our	efforts	on	the	following	six	key	operating	priorities:

Exploration	in	Wyoming	•	

Mine	planning	for	our	Nichols	Ranch	In-Situ	Recovery	Project	•	

Environmental	and	mine	planning	for	additional	permitting	in	the	Powder	River	Basin,	Wyoming	•	

Acquisition	of	properties	with	uranium	potential	•	

Investor	relations	and	financing	•	

Facilities	planning•	

Results of Operations

Twelve-month period ended December 31, 2009 compared to twelve-month period ended December 31, 2008 

Revenue

We	have	not	earned	any	revenues	to	date	and	we	anticipate	that	we	will	not	generate	any	revenues	during	the	twelve	
month	period	following	the	date	of	this	report.	

Operating	Expenses	and	Other	Expenses	(Income)

We	 incurred	 total	 operating	 expenses	 of	 $9,556,528	 for	 the	 twelve-month	 period	 ended	 December	 31,	 2009,	 as	
compared	to	$36,783,869	for	the	corresponding	period	in	2008.	The	decrease	of	operating	expenses	in	the	amount	
of	 $27,227,341	 (74%)	was	 primarily	 attributable	 to	 the	 $23,496,936	 expenditure	 in	 2008	 to	 acquire	 and	 explore	
mineral	 properties	 in	Wyoming,	 as	 described	 in	 detail	 under	 the	 section	 heading	 “Item	 7	 –	 Financial	 Statements	
and	Supplementary	Data”	of	this	Annual	Report	on	Form	10-K.	Our	general	and	administrative	expenses	consisted	
primarily	of	stock	based	compensation,	payroll,	consulting,	investor	relations	and	general	overhead	which	decreased	
$1,553,821	or	25%	less	 than	2008	reflecting	a	$1,759,152	reduction	 in	stock	based	compensation	and	a	$205,331	
increase	in	corporate	affairs,	investor	relations	and	Casper	operations.	

Our	interest	expense	for	the	twelve-month	period	ended	December	31,	2009,	imputed	on	an	interest	free	loan,	was	
2,941	(2008	–	$5,551).	We	earned	$155,402	of	interest	income	for	the	twelve-month	period	ended	December	31,	2009	
as	compared	to	$610,408	for	the	corresponding	period	in	2008.	This	income	resulted	from	short	term	investments.	
We	sold	all	our	mineral	properties	in	Mongolia	in	2008	for	a	gain	on	discontinued	operations	of	$977,077.	The	non-
controlling	interest	of	our	Arkose	Mining	Venture	absorbed	$701,972	of	our	2009	operating	loss	($949,185	in	2008).	
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Net	loss	for	the	twelve-month	period	ended	December	31,	2009	was	$8,699,154,	as	compared	to	$34,247,199	for	the	
corresponding	period	in	2008,	a	decrease	of	$25,548,045	(75%).	This	decrease	was	largely	due	to	our	2008	acquisition	
of	mineral	properties	related	to	the	Arkose	Mining	Venture.	

As	we	anticipated,	our	exploration	expenses,	excluding	property	acquisitions,	continued	at	a	high	level	throughout	the	
2009	fiscal	year	as	a	result	of	our	planned	exploration	activities,	primarily	related	to	our	Arkose	properties,	and	as	a	
result	of	payments	required	to	maintain	our	interests	in	our	mineral	properties.	In	addition,	as	we	anticipated,	general	
and	administrative	expenses	continued	to	 increase	as	we	complied	with	our	obligations	 to	many	stockholders	as	a	
reporting	company	under	the	Securities	Exchange	Act	of	1934,	listed	on	the	NYSE	Amex	Equities	and	the	Toronto	
stock	exchanges.	As	anticipated,	we	did	not	earn	any	revenues	during	the	2009	fiscal	year	as	we	were	engaged	in	
exploration	and	the	permitting	of	our	mineral	properties.

Cash	Used	in	Operating	Activities

Net	cash	used	in	operating	activities	was	$7,483,069	for	the	twelve-month	period	ended	December	31,	2009,	compared	
to	$13,163,715	for	the	corresponding	period	in	2008.	The	decrease	in	net	cash	used	in	operations	includes	a	decrease	
of	$6,636,946	for	mineral	related	cash	expenditures,	primarily	from	reduced	acquisitions.	

Cash	Used	in	Investing	Activities

We	invested	$74,663	 in	equipment	and	reclamation	bonds	 in	 the	 twelve-month	period	ended	December	31,	2009,	
compared	 to	 $633,956	 the	 corresponding	 period	 in	 2008.	 In	 2008	we	 received	 $905,092	 cash	 on	 the	 sale	 of	 our	
Mongolian	subsidiary,	Rolling	Hills	Resources	LLP	and,	during	the	twelve-month	period	ended	December	31,	2009,	
we	reduced	our	investment	in	securities	guaranteed	by	Canadian	banks	by	$11,665,092.	

Cash	Provided	by	Financing	Activities

Net	cash	provided	by	financing	activities	amounted	 to	$15,497,430	 for	 the	 twelve-month	period	ended	December	
31,	2009,	primarily	from	a	public	issue	of	common	stock,	compared	to	$22,802,600	for	the	corresponding	period	in	
2008.

Twelve-month period ended December 31, 2008 compared to twelve-month period ended December 31, 2007 

Revenue

We	have	not	earned	any	revenues	to	date	and	we	anticipate	that	we	will	not	generate	any	revenues	during	the	twelve-
month	period	following	the	date	of	this	report.	

Operating	Expenses	and	Other	Expenses	(Income)

We	 incurred	 total	 operating	 expenses	 of	 $36,783,869	 for	 the	 twelve-month	 period	 ended	December	 31,	 2008,	 as	
compared	to	$14,947,046	for	 the	corresponding	period	in	2007.	The	increase	of	operating	expenses	in	the	amount	
of	$21,836,823	(146%)	was	primarily	attributable	to	increased	spending	of	$23,496,936	on	acquiring	and	exploring	
mineral	properties	in	Wyoming	as	described	in	detail	in	Item	8	of	this	Annual	Report	on	Form	10-K.	Our	general	and	
administrative	expenses	consisted	primarily	of	stock	based	compensation,	payroll,	consulting,	investor	relations	and	
general	overhead	which	decreased	$1,705,161	or	22%	less	than	2007	reflecting	a	$2,310,074	reduction	in	stock	based	
compensation	and	growth	in	corporate	affairs,	investor	relations	and	Casper	operations.	

Our	 interest	expense	for	 the	 twelve-month	period	ended	December	31,	2008	was	 imputed	on	an	 interest	 free	 loan	
as	$5,551	(2007	–	$3,692).	We	earned	$610,408	of	 interest	 income	for	 the	 twelve-month	period	ended	December	
31,	 2008	 as	 compared	 to	 $710,226	 for	 the	 corresponding	 period	 in	 2007.	 This	 income	 resulted	 from	 short	 term	
investments.	 We	 sold	 all	 our	 mineral	 properties	 in	 Mongolia	 in	 2008	 for	 a	 gain	 on	 discontinued	 operations	 of	
$977,077.	The	non-controlling	interest	of	our	Arkose	Mining	Venture	absorbed	$949,185	of	our	2008	operating	loss.	
Net	loss	for	the	twelve-month	period	ended	December	31,	2008	was	$34,247,199,	as	compared	to	$14,197,366	for	the	
corresponding	period	in	2007,	an	increase	of	$20,049,833	(141%).	This	increase	was	largely	due	to	our	acquisition	of	
mineral	properties	related	to	the	Arkose	Mining	Venture.	
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As	we	anticipated,	our	exploration	expenses	continued	to	increase	throughout	the	2008	fiscal	year	in	comparison	with	
2007	as	a	result	of	our	planned	exploration	activities,	our	acquisition	of	mineral	properties	and	as	a	result	of	payments	
required	to	maintain	our	interests	in	our	mineral	properties.	In	addition,	as	we	anticipated,	general	and	administrative	
expenses	continued	to	increase	as	we	complied	with	our	obligations	to	many	stockholders	as	a	reporting	company	
under	 the	Securities	Exchange	Act	of	1934,	 listed	on	 the	NYSE	Amex	Equities	and	 the	Toronto	Stock	Exchange.	
As	anticipated,	we	did	not	earn	any	revenues	during	the	2008	fiscal	year	as	we	were	engaged	in	exploration	and	the	
permitting	of	our	mineral	properties.

Cash	Used	in	Operating	Activities

Net	 cash	 used	 in	 operating	 activities	 was	 $13,163,715	 for	 the	 twelve-month	 period	 ended	 December	 31,	 2008,	
compared	to	$9,258,752	for	the	corresponding	period	in	2007.	The	increase	in	net	cash	used	in	operations	reflects	the	
growth	of	our	operations,	including	an	increase	of	$4,406,936	for	mineral	related	cash	expenditures.	

Cash	Used	in	Investing	Activities

We	invested	$633,956	in	equipment	and	reclamation	bonds	in	the	twelve-month	period	ended	December	31,	2008,	
compared	to	$281,306	the	corresponding	period	in	2007.	We	received	$905,092	cash	on	the	sale	of	our	Mongolian	
subsidiary,	Rolling	Hills	Resources	LLP	and,	during	the	twelve-month	period	ended	December	31,	2008,	 invested	
$20,432,035	(2007	–	$Nil)	in	short	term	securities	guaranteed	by	Canadian	banks.	

Cash	Provided	by	Financing	Activities

Net	cash	provided	by	financing	activities	amounted	to	$22,802,600	for	the	twelve-month	period	ended	December	31,	
2008,	primarily	from	private	placements	of	common	stock,	compared	to	$8,589,966	for	the	corresponding	period	in	
2007.

Assets and Liabilities

We	had	total	assets	of	$30,810,289	at	December	31,	2009	compared	to	$22,865,737	at	December	31,	2008,	primarily	
cash	accumulated	from	the	sale	of	shares.	Property	and	Equipment	was	$540,979	compared	to	$642,572	at	December	
31,	2008.	Our	liabilities	were	$722,826	compared	to	$517,818	at	December	31,	2008.	Liabilities	include	due	to	related	
parties	of`	$54,920	(2008	–	$50,000)	and	long	term	debt	of	$Nil	(2008	–	$18,079).

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our	 operations	 are	 primarily	 financed	 by	 proceeds	 from	 issuances	 of	 common	 stock.	 Our	 cash	 and	 short	 term	 
security	position	at	December	31,	2009	was	$29,192,975	compared	to	$21,253,277	as	of	December	31,	2008.	We	
had	working	capital	of	$29,227,701	as	of	December	31,	2009,	compared	 to	working	capital	of	$21,405,022	as	of	
December	31,	2008.	

Financings

During	the	year	ended	December	31,	2009,	the	Company:

1.	 Issued	242,500	shares	of	common	stock	upon	the	exercise	of	stock	options	for	cash	proceeds	of	$166,125.	

2.	 Completed	 a	 public	 offering	 of	 8,500,000	 units,	 comprised	 of	 8,500,000	 common	 shares	 and	 4,250,000	
common	share	purchase	warrants,	at	$2.00	per	unit	for	gross	proceeds	of	$17,000,000.	Each	warrant	entitles	
the	holder	to	purchase	one	common	share	for	$3.00	for	a	period	ending	April	27,	2012.	In	the	event	that	the	
Company’s	shares	of	common	stock	 trade	 in	 the	United	States	at	a	closing	price	of	greater	 than	US$3.50	
per	share	for	a	period	of	20	consecutive	trading	days	at	any	time	following	the	closing	of	this	offering,	the	
Company	may	accelerate	the	expiry	date	of	the	warrants	by	giving	notice	via	a	press	release	to	the	holders	
thereof	and	in	such	case	the	warrants	will	expire	on	the	30th	day	after	the	date	on	which	such	notice	is	given.	
The	Company	incurred	share	issuance	costs	of	$1,634,628	in	connection	with	the	issue.	
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During	the	year	ended	December	31,	2008,	the	Company:

1.	 Issued	96,100	shares	of	common	stock	upon	the	exercise	of	share	purchase	warrants	for	cash	proceeds	of	
$240,250.	

2.	 	Issued	356,300	shares	of	common	stock	upon	the	exercise	of	stock	options	for	cash	proceeds	of	$305,025.	

3.	 Issued	 5,750,000	 shares	 of	 common	 stock	 and	 paid	 $5,757,043	 cash	 for	 mineral	 properties	 valued	 at	
$24,847,043.	

4.		Issued	160,900	shares	of	common	stock	to	settle	debt	of	$402,250.	

5.	 Completed	a	private	placement	of	9,865,000	units,	comprised	of	9,865,000	common	shares	and	4,932,498	
comon	share	purchase	warrants,	at	$2.40	per	unit	for	gross	proceeds	of	$23,676,000.	Each	warrant	entitles	
the	holder	to	purchase	one	common	share	for	$3.50	for	a	two	year	period	ending	April	15,	2010.	In	the	event	
that	the	trading	price	of	the	Company’s	common	shares	on	the	American	Stock	Exchange	closes	above	U.S.	
$4.50	per	share	for	a	period	of	20	consecutive	trading	days	at	any	time	after	August	16,	2008,	the	Company	
may	accelerate	the	expiry	time	of	these	warrants	by	giving	notice	to	the	warrantholders	by	press	release	and	in	
such	case	these	warrants	will	expire	on	the	30th	day	after	the	date	on	which	notice	is	given	via	press	release.	
The	Company	paid	 cash	commissions	of	$1,100,640	and	120,000	warrants	 to	purchase	120,000	common	
shares	at	$2.60	per	share	exercisable	for	a	one	year	period	ending	April	15,	2009.	The	Company	incurred	
share	issuance	costs	in	connection	with	the	private	placement	of	$1,347,098	including	agents’	warrants	with	
a	fair	value	of	$68,041.

During	the	year	ended	December	31,	2007,	the	Company:

1.				Issued	4,481,749	shares	of	common	stock	upon	the	exercise	of	share	purchase	warrants	for	cash	proceeds	of	
$8,316,678.	

2.				Issued	182,000	common	shares	upon	the	exercise	of	stock	options	for	cash	proceeds	of	$288,100.	

Capital Requirements

Our	cash	position	of	$20,426,032	at	December	31,	2009,	plus	$8,766,943	of	bank	guaranteed	short	term	securities	
provide	 approximately	$29.2	million	 for	 future	operations.	We	estimate	 that	our	 cash	 expenditures	 for	operations	
over	 the	next	 twelve	months	will	be	approximately	$14,000,000	as	outlined	below.	Therefore,	we	believe	 that	we	
have	sufficient	capital	 to	 fund	expenditures	 for	operations	over	 the	next	 twelve	months.	Property	acquisitions	and	
operations	beyond	2010	will	be	financed	through	cash	on	hand,	debt	and	one	or	more	equity	issues	which	may	include	
the	exercise	of	common	stock	purchase	warrants.	We	intend	to	focus	our	exploration	efforts	in	Wyoming.

Our	plan	of	operation	 for	 the	next	 twelve	months	 is	 to	continue	with	exploration	and	permitting	of	our	expanded	
Wyoming	Powder	River	Basin	properties.	Our	planned	geological	exploration	programs	are	described	in	Item	2	of	
this	Report.	Our	planned	cash	operating	expenditures	for	the	year	ending	December	31,	2010	for	corporate	expenses,	
exploration	on	our	Wyoming	mineral	properties	and	general	and	administrative	expenses	are	summarized	as	follows:	 

 
Category 

Planned Expenditures Over the  
Next Twelve Months 

Exploration $6,800,000 

Environmental, production and well planning $2,100,000 

General and administrative expenses $5,100,000 

TOTAL $14,000,000 

In	addition	to	our	planned	operating	expenditures	we	may	make	additional	property	acquisitions	beyond	the	above	as	
opportunities	arise	and,	if	warranted,	we	may	commence	capital	expenditures	for	our	mining	project	which	is	under	
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review	by	licensing	authorities.	Our	exploration	and	development	plans	will	be	continually	evaluated	and	modified	
as	exploration	and	permitting	results	become	available.	Modifications	 to	our	plans	will	be	based	on	many	factors,	
including:	results	of	exploration,	assessment	of	data,	weather	conditions,	exploration	costs,	the	price	of	uranium	and	
available	capital.	Further,	the	extent	of	our	operations	and	investment	programs	that	we	undertake	will	be	dependent	
upon	the	amount	of	financing	available	to	us.	

During	the	twelve-month	period	following	the	date	of	this	Annual	Report,	we	anticipate	that	we	will	not	generate	any	
revenues.	We	anticipate	that	funding	to	carry	out	our	2010	plans	will	be	from	existing	resources.	

Future Financings

We	may	require	additional	financing	to	carry	out	an	expanded	program	of	exploration,	mine	planning	and	property	
acquisitions	during	2010.	This	may	require	debt	financing	and/or	additional	sales	of	our	common	stock	in	order	to	
raise	the	funds	necessary	to	pursue	opportunities	and	to	fund	our	working	capital.

Issuances	of	additional	shares	would	result	in	dilution	to	our	existing	shareholders.	There	is	no	assurance	that	we	will	
be	successful	in	completing	any	financings.	Failure	to	obtain	additional	financing	on	a	timely	basis	could	require	a	
reduced	plan	of	operations	and	acquisitions	beyond	2010.	

As	we	expect	our	reliance	on	equity	financings	to	continue	into	the	future,	the	future	market	conditions	will	be	critical	
for	 us	 to	 raise	 necessary	 funds	 to	meet	 our	 capital	 requirements.	 If	we	 are	 unable	 to	 obtain	 acceptable	 financing	
through	equity	investments,	we	will	seek	multiple	solutions	including,	but	not	limited	to,	credit	facilities	or	debenture	
issuances.	

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We	have	no	significant	off-balance	sheet	arrangements	that	have	or	are	reasonably	likely	to	have	a	current	or	future	
effect	on	our	financial	condition,	changes	in	financial	condition,	revenues	or	expenses,	results	of	operations,	liquidity,	
capital	expenditures	or	capital	resources	that	is	material	to	stockholders.	

Contractual Obligations

Our	contractual	obligations	extending	beyond	the	fiscal	year	ended	December	31,	2009	are	described	in	Note	13	of	
the	audited	consolidated	financial	statements	following	under	the	section	heading	“Item	7–	Financial	Statements	and	
Supplementary	Data”.	

Critical Accounting Policies

The	 preparation	 of	 financial	 statements	 in	 conformity	with	 generally	 accepted	 accounting	 principles	 requires	 our	
management	to	make	estimates	and	assumptions	that	affect	the	reported	amount	of	assets	and	liabilities	and	disclosure	
of	contingent	assets	and	liabilities	at	the	date	of	the	financial	statements	and	the	reported	amounts	of	revenues	and	
expenses	during	 the	 reporting	period.	Actual	 results	could	differ	 from	those	estimates.	Our	management	 routinely	
makes	judgments	and	estimates	about	the	effects	of	matters	that	are	inherently	uncertain.

We	have	identified	certain	accounting	policies,	described	below,	that	are	most	important	to	the	portrayal	of	our	current	
financial	condition	and	results	of	operations.	Our	significant	accounting	policies	are	disclosed	in	Note	2	to	the	audited	
financial	statements	included	in	this	Annual	Report.

Mineral Property Costs

The	Company	is	primarily	engaged	in	the	acquisition,	exploration	and	development	of	mineral	properties.	Mineral	
property	acquisition	costs	are	capitalized	when	management	has	determined	that	probable	future	benefits	consisting	
of	 a	 contribution	 to	 future	 cash	 inflows	 have	 been	 identified	 and	 adequate	 financial	 resources	 are	 available	 or	
are	 expected	 to	 be	 available	 as	 required	 to	meet	 the	 terms	 of	 property	 acquisition	 and	 budgeted	 exploration	 and	
development	expenditures.	Mineral	property	acquisition	costs	are	expensed	as	incurred	if	the	criteria	for	capitalization	
are	not	met.	In	the	event	that	a	mineral	property	is	acquired	through	the	issuance	of	the	Company’s	shares,	the	mineral	
property	will	be	recorded	at	the	fair	value	of	the	respective	property	or	the	fair	value	of	common	shares,	whichever	is	
more	readily	determinable.
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When	mineral	properties	are	acquired	under	option	agreements	with	future	acquisition	payments	to	be	made	at	the	sole	
discretion	of	the	Company,	those	future	payments,	whether	in	cash	or	shares,	are	recorded	only	when	the	Company	
has	made	or	is	obliged	to	make	the	payment	or	issue	the	shares.	When	it	has	been	determined	that	a	mineral	property	
can	be	economically	developed	as	a	result	of	establishing	proven	and	probable	reserves	and	bankable	feasibility,	the	
costs	incurred	to	develop	such	property	are	capitalized.

During	the	year	ended	December	31,	2009,	mineral	property	expenditures	totaling	$4,778,386	(2008	-$30,505,332,	
2007	–	$7,008,396)	were	expensed	and	the	Company	received	mineral	property	option	payments	of	$Nil	(2008	–	$Nil,	
2007	–	$43,810).

Stock-based Compensation

The	 Company	 records	 stock-based	 compensation	 in	 accordance	 with	 ASC	 718,	 Compensation – Stock Based 
Compensation,	which	requires	 the	measurement	and	recognition	of	compensation	expense	based	on	estimated	fair	
values	for	all	share-based	awards	made	to	employees	and	directors,	including	stock	options.

ASC	718	requires	companies	to	estimate	the	fair	value	of	share-based	awards	on	the	date	of	grant	using	an	option-
pricing	model.	The	Company	uses	the	Black-Scholes	option-pricing	model	as	its	method	of	determining	fair	value.	
This	 model	 is	 affected	 by	 the	 Company’s	 stock	 price	 as	 well	 as	 assumptions	 regarding	 a	 number	 of	 subjective	
variables.	These	subjective	variables	include,	but	are	not	limited	to	the	Company’s	expected	stock	price	volatility	over	
the	term	of	the	awards,	and	actual	and	projected	employee	stock	option	exercise	behaviors.	The	value	of	the	portion	
of	the	award	that	is	ultimately	expected	to	vest	is	recognized	as	an	expense	in	the	statement	of	operations	over	the	
requisite	service	period.	

No	 tax	 benefits	 were	 attributed	 to	 stock-based	 compensation	 expense	 because	 a	 full	 valuation	 allowance	 was	
maintained	for	all	net	deferred	tax	assets.	

Accounting Developments

In	May	2009,	FASB	 issued	ASC	855,	Subsequent Events,	which	establishes	general	 standards	 for	 the	 evaluation,	
recognition	and	disclosure	of	events	and	transactions	that	occur	after	the	balance	sheet	date.	Although	there	is	new	
terminology,	the	standard	is	based	on	the	same	principles	as	those	that	currently	exist	in	the	auditing	standards.	The	
standard,	which	 includes	 a	new	 required	disclosure	of	 the	date	 through	which	an	entity	has	 evaluated	 subsequent	
events,	is	effective	for	interim	or	annual	periods	ending	after	June	15,	2009.	The	adoption	of	ASC	855	did	not	have	a	
material	effect	on	the	Company’s	financial	statements.	Refer	to	Note	14.	

In	June	2009,	 the	FASB	issued	guidance	now	codified	as	ASC	105,	Generally Accepted Accounting Principles	as	
the	single	source	of	authoritative	accounting	principles	recognized	by	the	FASB	to	be	applied	by	nongovernmental	
entities	in	the	preparation	of	financial	statements	in	conformity	with	U.S.	GAAP,	aside	from	those	issued	by	the	SEC.	
ASC	105	does	not	change	current	U.S.	GAAP,	but	is	intended	to	simplify	user	access	to	all	authoritative	U.S.	GAAP	
by	providing	all	authoritative	literature	related	to	a	particular	topic	in	one	place.	The	adoption	of	ASC	105	did	not	
have	a	material	 impact	on	 the	Company’s	financial	 statements,	but	did	eliminate	all	 references	 to	pre-codification	
standards.

The	Company	has	implemented	all	new	accounting	pronouncements	that	are	in	effect	and	that	may	impact	its	financial	
statements	and	does	not	believe	that	there	are	any	other	new	accounting	pronouncements	that	have	been	issued	that	
might	have	a	material	impact	on	its	financial	position	or	results	of	operations.	

In	May	2008,	the	Financial	Accounting	Standards	Board	(“FASB”)	issued	SFAS	No.	163,	“Accounting for Financial 
Guarantee Insurance Contracts – An interpretation of FASB Statement No. 60”.	SFAS	163	requires	that	an	insurance	
enterprise	recognize	a	claim	liability	prior	to	an	event	of	default	when	there	is	evidence	that	credit	deterioration	has	
occurred	in	an	insured	financial	obligation.	It	also	clarifies	how	Statement	60	applies	to	financial	guarantee	insurance	
contracts,	including	the	recognition	and	measurement	to	be	used	to	account	for	premium	revenue	and	claim	liabilities,	
and	requires	expanded	disclosures	about	financial	guarantee	insurance	contracts.	It	is	effective	for	financial	statements	
issued	for	fiscal	years	beginning	after	December	15,	2008,	except	for	some	disclosures	about	the	insurance	enterprise’s	
risk-management	activities.	SFAS	163	requires	that	disclosures	about	the	risk-management	activities	of	the	insurance	
enterprise	be	effective	for	the	first	period	beginning	after	issuance.	Except	for	those	disclosures,	earlier	application	is	
not	permitted.	The	adoption	of	this	statement	is	not	expected	to	have	a	material	effect	on	the	Company’s	consolidated	
financial	statements.	
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In	May	2008,	the	FASB	issued	SFAS	No.	162,	“The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles”. SFAS 
162	 identifies	 the	 sources	of	 accounting	principles	 and	 the	 framework	 for	 selecting	 the	principles	 to	 be	used	 in	 the	
preparation	of	financial	statements	of	nongovernmental	entities	that	are	presented	in	conformity	with	generally	accepted	
accounting	principles	in	the	United	States.	It	is	effective	60	days	following	the	SEC’s	approval	of	the	Public	Company	
Accounting	Oversight	Board	amendments	 to	AU	Section	411,	“The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity With 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles”.	The	adoption	of	this	statement	is	not	expected	to	have	a	material	effect	on	
the	Company’s	consolidated	financial	statements.	

In	 March	 2008,	 the	 Financial	 Accounting	 Standards	 Board	 (“FASB”)	 issued	 SFAS	 No.	 161,	 “Disclosures about 
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities – an amendment to FASB Statement No. 133”.	SFAS	No.	161	is	intended	
to	 improve	 financial	 standards	 for	 derivative	 instruments	 and	 hedging	 activities	 by	 requiring	 enhanced	 disclosures	
to	 enable	 investors	 to	 better	 understand	 their	 effects	 on	 an	 entity’s	 financial	 position,	 financial	 performance,	 and	
cash	flows.	Entities	 are	 required	 to	 provide	 enhanced	 disclosures	 about:	 (a)	 how	 and	why	 an	 entity	 uses	 derivative	
instruments;	(b)	how	derivative	instruments	and	related	hedged	items	are	accounted	for	under	Statement	133	and	its	
related	interpretations;	and	(c)	how	derivative	instruments	and	related	hedged	items	affect	an	entity’s	financial	position,	
financial	 performance,	 and	 cash	flows.	 It	 is	 effective	 for	financial	 statements	 issued	 for	fiscal	 years	 beginning	 after	
November	15,	2008,	with	early	adoption	encouraged.	The	adoption	of	this	statement	is	not	expected	to	have	a	material	
effect	on	the	Company’s	consolidated	financial	statements.	

In	December	2007,	the	Financial	Accounting	Standards	Board	(FASB)	issued	SFAS	No.	141R,	“Business	Combinations”.	
This	statement	replaces	SFAS	141	and	defines	the	acquirer	in	a	business	combination	as	the	entity	that	obtains	control	
of	one	or	more	businesses	in	a	business	combination	and	establishes	the	acquisition	date	as	the	date	that	the	acquirer	
achieves	control.	SFAS	141R	requires	an	acquirer	to	recognize	the	assets	acquired,	the	liabilities	assumed,	and	any	non-
controlling	interest	in	the	acquiree	at	the	acquisition	date,	measured	at	their	fair	values	as	of	that	date.	SFAS	141R	also	
requires	the	acquirer	to	recognize	contingent	consideration	at	the	acquisition	date,	measured	at	its	fair	value	at	that	date.	
This	statement	is	effective	for	fiscal	years	and	interim	periods	within	those	fiscal	years,	beginning	on	or	after	December	
15,	2008	and	earlier	adoption	is	prohibited.	The	adoption	of	this	statement	is	not	expected	to	have	a	material	effect	on	
the	Company’s	consolidated	financial	statements.	

In	December	2007,	the	FASB	issued	SFAS	No.	160,	“Non-controlling	Interests	in	Consolidated	Financial	Statements	
Liabilities	–an	Amendment	of	ARB	No.	51”.	This	 statement	amends	ARB	51	 to	establish	accounting	and	 reporting	
standards	for	 the	Non-controlling	interest	 in	a	subsidiary	and	for	 the	deconsolidation	of	a	subsidiary.	This	statement	
is	effective	for	fiscal	years	and	interim	periods	within	those	fiscal	years,	beginning	on	or	after	December	15,	2008	and	
earlier	adoption	is	prohibited.	The	adoption	of	this	statement	is	not	expected	to	have	a	material	effect	on	the	Company’s	
consolidated	financial	statements.	

In	February	2007,	the	FASB	issued	SFAS	No.	159,	“The	Fair	Value	Option	for	Financial	Assets	and	Financial	Liabilities	
–	Including	an	Amendment	of	FASB	Statement	No.	115”.	This	statement	permits	entities	to	choose	to	measure	many	
financial	instruments	and	certain	other	items	at	fair	value.	Most	of	the	provisions	of	SFAS	No.	159	apply	only	to	entities	
that	elect	the	fair	value	option.	However,	the	amendment	to	SFAS	No.	115	“Accounting	for	Certain	Investments	in	Debt	
and	Equity	Securities”	applies	to	all	entities	with	available-for-sale	and	trading	securities.	SFAS	No.	159	is	effective	
as	of	the	beginning	of	an	entity’s	first	fiscal	year	that	begins	after	November	15,	2007.	Early	adoption	is	permitted	as	
of	the	beginning	of	a	fiscal	year	that	begins	on	or	before	November	15,	2007,	provided	the	entity	also	elects	to	apply	
the	provision	of	SFAS	No.	157,	“Fair	Value	Measurements”.	The	adoption	of	this	statement	is	not	expected	to	have	a	
material	effect	on	the	Company’s	consolidated	financial	statements.	

 
ITEM 6A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

We	are	not	exposed	to	risks	associated	with	commodity	prices,	interest	rates	and	credit.	Commodity	price	risk	is	defined	
as	the	potential	loss	that	we	may	incur	as	a	result	of	changes	in	the	fair	value	of	uranium.	Interest	rate	risk	results	from	
our	debt	and	equity	instruments	that	we	issue	to	provide	financing	and	liquidity	for	our	business.	Credit	risk	would	arise	
from	the	extension	of	credit	throughout	all	aspects	of	our	business	but	is	not	yet	significant.	
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

 

To	the	Directors	and	Stockholders	 
Uranerz	Energy	Corporation	 
(An	Exploration	Stage	Company)	

We	have	audited	the	accompanying	consolidated	balance	sheets	of	Uranerz	Energy	Corporation	as	of	December	31,	
2009	and	2008,	and	the	related	consolidated	statements	of	operations,	cash	flows	and	stockholders’	equity	for	each	of	
the	three	years	in	the	period	ended	December	31,	2009	and	accumulated	from	May	26,	1999	(Date	of	Inception)	to	
December	31,	2009.	These	consolidated	financial	statements	are	the	responsibility	of	the	Company’s	management.	Our	
responsibility	is	to	express	an	opinion	on	these	consolidated	financial	statements	based	on	our	audits.	

We	conducted	our	audits	in	accordance	with	the	standards	of	the	Public	Company	Accounting	Oversight	Board	(United	
States).	Those	 standards	 require	 that	we	plan	 and	perform	 the	 audits	 to	obtain	 reasonable	 assurance	 about	whether	
the	consolidation	financial	statements	are	free	of	material	misstatement.	An	audit	includes	examining,	on	a	test	basis,	
evidence	 supporting	 the	 amounts	 and	 disclosures	 in	 the	 consolidated	 financial	 statements.	 An	 audit	 also	 includes	
assessing	 the	 accounting	 principles	 used	 and	 significant	 estimates	made	 by	management,	 as	well	 as	 evaluating	 the	
overall	financial	statement	presentation.	We	believe	that	our	audits	provide	a	reasonable	basis	for	our	opinion.

In	 our	 opinion,	 the	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 referred	 to	 above	 present	 fairly,	 in	 all	 material	 respects,	 the	
financial	position	of	Uranerz	Energy	Corporation	as	of	December	31,	2009	and	2008,	and	the	results	of	its	operations	
and	its	cash	flows	for	each	of	the	three	years	in	the	period	ended	December	31,	2009	and	accumulated	from	May	26,	
1999	(Date	of	Inception)	to	December	31,	2009,	 in	conformity	with	accounting	principles	generally	accepted	in	the	
United	States.	

We	also	have	audited,	in	accordance	with	the	standards	of	the	Public	Company	Accounting	Oversight	Board	(United	
States),	Uranerz	Energy	Corporation’s	 internal	 control	 over	financial	 reporting	 as	of	December	31,	 2009,	 based	on	
criteria	established	in	Internal	Control-Integrated	Framework	issued	by	the	Committee	of	Sponsoring	Organizations	of	
the	Treadway	Commission	and	our	report	dated	March	10,	2010	expressed	an	unqualified	opinion	thereon.

 

 

CHARTERED	ACCOUNTANTS	

Vancouver,	Canada	

March	10,	2010	
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Uranerz Energy Corporation
(An Exploration Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  
(Expressed in US dollars).

 

  December 31,   December 31,  
  2009   2008  
  $  $

ASSETS 

Current Assets      
 Cash   20,426,032   821,242  
  Marketable securities   8,766,943   20,432,035  
 Prepaid expenses and deposits (Note 7)  733,843  641,215  
  Other current assets   23,709   10,269  
 

Total Current Assets   29,950,527    21,904,761  
 
 Mineral Property Reclamation Bonds (Note 6(i))   318,783   318,404  
 Property and Equipment (Note 5)   540,979   642,572  

 

Total Assets   30,810,289   22,865,737 
        

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY      
Current Liabilities      
 Accounts payable   185,962   186,872  
  Accrued liabilities (Note 7)  463,865   228,800  
 Due to related parties (Note 9)   54,920   50,000  
 Current portion of loan payable (Note 8)   18,079   34,067 
 

Total Current Liabilities  722,826   499,739 
 

Loan Payable (Note 8)   –   18,079
  

Total Liabilities   722,826   517,818 
   

Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 1, 6, and 13)  
Subsequent Events (Note 16)  –  –  
   

Stockholders’ Equity  
   

Preferred Stock, 10,000,000 shares authorized, $0.001 par value; 
No shares issued and outstanding  –   –  
   

Common Stock, 200,000,000 shares authorized, $0.001 par value; 
64,194,887 and 55,452,387 shares issued and outstanding, respectively   64,195   55,452  
   

Additional Paid-in Capital   98,811,898   82,366,879  

Deficit Accumulated During the Exploration Stage   (68,843,151)   (60,143,997) 

Total Uranerz Shareholders’ Equity   30,032,942   22,278,334  
 

Non-controlling Interest   54,521   69,585  

Total Equity   30,087,463   22,347,919 
 
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity 30,810,289 22,865,737 

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements)
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Uranerz Energy Corporation
(An Exploration Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  
(Expressed in US dollars). 

 
   Accumulated From          
    May 26, 1999          
    (Date of Inception)    Years Ended       
  to December 31,    December 31,   
  2009   2009  2008   2007    

  $  $  $  $  
Revenue   –  –  –   – 
Expenses          
 Depreciation 377,419  175,877  129,268  56,669
 Foreign exchange  27,421 2,868  (3,949)  23,602  
  General and administrative (Note 9)   29,072,502   4,599,397   6,153,218    7,858,379  
  Mineral property expenditures   43,955,018   4,778,386   30,505,332    7,008,396 
Total Operating Expenses   73,432,360   9,556,528   36,783,869   14,947,046
Operating Loss   (73,432,360)   (9,556,528)   (36,783,869)   (14,947,046) 
Other Income (Expense)          
 Gain on sale of investment securities   79,129   –    –    –  
  Interest income   1,887,469   155,402    610,408   710,226 
 Loss on settlement of debt   (132,000)   –   –    –  
  Mineral property option payments received   152,477   –    –  43,810 
Total Other Income   1,987,075   155,402   610,408    754,036 
Loss from continuing operations   (71,445,285)   (9,401,126)   (36,173,461)   (14,193,010) 
Discontinued operations (Note 4)          
 Loss from discontinued operations   (28,732)   –   (2,632) 		 (4,356)	
  Gain on disposal of discontinued operations   979,709   –    979,709    – 
 Gain (Loss) on discontinued operations   950,977   –   977,077   (4,356) 
Net Loss   (70,494,308)   (9,401,126)   (35,196,384)   (14,197,366) 
Net loss attributable to non-controlling Interest   1,651,157   701,972  949,185   – 
Net loss attributable to the Company   (68,843,151)   (8,699,154)   (34,247,199)   (14,197,366) 
Other Comprehensive Loss         
 Foreign currency translation adjustment  –   –    (481)   (61) 
Comprehensive Loss   (68,843,151)   (8,699,154)   (34,247,680)   (14,197,427) 
Amounts attributable to Company shareholders          
 Loss from continuing operations   (70,494,308)   (9,401,126)   (35,196,384)   (14,197,366) 
 Gain (loss) on discontinued operations   950,977   –   977,077   (4,356) 
 Net loss attributable to the Company   (69,543,331)   (9,401,126)   (34,219,307)   (14,201,722) 
Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Company          
Shareholders – Basic and Diluted
Continuing Operations  (0.15) (0.68) (0.37) 
Discontinued Operations    –  0.02   (0.00) 
Net Loss Per Share – Basic and Diluted    (0.15)  (0.66)  (0.37) 

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding     57,060,000   52,263,000  38,438,000  
 

(The	accompanying	notes	are	an	integral	part	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements) 
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Uranerz Energy Corporation
(An Exploration Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
(Expressed in US dollars)
 

   Accumulated From          
    May 26, 1999          
    (Date of Inception)    Years Ended       
  to December 31,    December 31,   
  2009   2009  2008   2007    
  $  $  $  $  
Operating Activities         
     Net loss   (68,843,151)  (8,699,154)   (34,247,199)   (14,197,366) 
     Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used  
        in operating activities:      
 Depreciation   377,418   175,877   129,268    56,668  
 Equity loss on investment   74,617   –   74,617   –  
 Gain on disposition of discontinued operations   (979,709)   –   (979,709)  –  
 Gain on sale of investment securities  (79,129)   –  –  –  
 Loss on settlement of debt   132,000   –   –   –  
 Mineral property option payment received  (37,500)   –  –   – 
 Non-controlling interest  54,521 (15,064) 69,585   –  
 Shares issued to acquire mineral properties 19,090,000   –   19,090,000   –  
 Stock-based compensation   16,634,173  922,265 2,681,417   4,991,491 
     Changes in operating assets and liabilities:          
 Prepaid expenses and deposits  (727,606)  (92,628)   (317,538)   (252,570) 
            Other current assets   (23,684)  (13,440)  82,175  (92,419) 
           Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  780,498  234,154 272,534   (35,624) 
            Due to related parties   525,679  4,921  (18,865)  271,068 
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities  (33,021,873)  (7,483,069)  (13,163,715)  (9,258,752) 

Investing Activities          
     Reclamation bonds  (318,783)   (379)   (268,404)  (40,000) 
     Acquisition of subsidiary, net cash paid   (48)   –   –    –  
     Proceeds from sale of investment securities   11,781,721   11,665,092    –    –  
     Purchase of property and equipment   (819,983)   (74,284)   (365,552)   (241,306) 
     Purchase of investment securities   (20,432,035)   –   (20,432,035)   –  
     Disposition of subsidiary   905,092    –    905,092    – 
Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Investing Activities   (8,884,036)   11,590,429   (20,160,899)   (281,306) 

Financing Activities          
    Repayment of loan payable   (80,335)   (34,067)   (31,456)   (14,812) 
    Advances to related party   10,700   –   –   – 
    Proceeds from issuance of common stock 65,706,676   17,166,125   24,221,275   8,604,778 
    Share issuance costs   (3,305,100)   (1,634,628)   (1,387,219)   – 
Net Cash Provided By Financing Activities   62,331,941    15,497,430   22,802,600    8,589,966 
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash   –    –   (481)   (61) 
Increase (Decrease) In Cash   20,426,032   19,604,790    (10,522,495)   (950,153)
Cash - Beginning of Period   –    821,242   11,343,737    12,293,890 
Cash - End of Period   20,426,032   20,426,032   821,242    11,343,737  

Non-cash Investing and Financing Activities          
     Sale of 60% of subsidiary for interest in mineral property  774,216  –   774,216   –  
      Investment securities received as a mineral  
           property option payment  37,500  –   –   –  
     Purchase of equipment with loan payable   98,414   –   –    98,414  
     Common stock issued to settle debt   744,080   –    402,250    –  
     Common stock issued for mineral property costs   19,105,000  –  19,090,000   – 
Supplemental Disclosures          
     Interest paid   12,184   2,941  5,551   3,692  
     Income taxes paid   –  –   –    –

(The	accompanying	notes	are	an	integral	part	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements)
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Uranerz Energy Corporation
(An Exploration Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)  
For the Period from May 26, 1999 (Date of Inception) to December 31, 2009 
(Expressed in US dollars) 

      Deficit   
     Accumulated Accumulated       
    Additional Other During the      
                       Common Stock  Paid-in Comprehensive Exploration    Non-Controlling  
  Shares Amount Capital  Income  Stage   Interest   Total 
    #   $  $  $  $  $  $
 
Balance, May 26, 1999 (Date of inception)  –  –  –  – –   –   –   

Net loss for the period  –   –   –   –   (2,465)   –   (2,465) 

Balance, December 31, 1999   –    –   –   –   (2,465)   –    (2,465) 

Net loss for the year  –   –   –   –   –   –   –  

Balance, December 31, 2000   –    –   –   –    (2,465)   –   (2,465) 

Shares issued for cash at $0.001 per share  1,500,000  1,500   –  –  –  –   1,500   

Shares issued for cash at $0.01 per share   2,500,000    2,500   22,500   –   –    –    25,000   

Shares issued to acquire mineral property  
 interest at $0.01 per share   1,500,000   1,500   13,500   –  –   –    15,000   

Shares issued for cash at $0.35 per share 90,500  91  31,584 – – –  31,675   

Net loss for the year   –    –   –   –  (47,158)   –    (47,158) 

Balance, December 31, 2001   5,590,500   5,591   67,584   –    (49,623)   –    23,552   

Shares issued for cash at $0.35 per share 50,000   50   17,450   –  –   –    17,500   

Net loss for the year   –   –   –   –    (51,671)   –    (51,671) 

Balance, December 31, 2002   5,640,500   5,641   85,034   –   (101,294)   –   (10,619) 

Net loss for the year   –   –   –   –   (26,916)  –    (26,916) 

Balance, December 31, 2003   5,640,500   5,641   85,034   –   (128,210)  –    (37,535) 

Net loss for the year   –   –   –   –   (20,096)   –    (20,096)

Balance, December 31, 2004   5,640,500   5,641   85,034   –   (148,306)   –    (57,631) 

Shares issued for cash at $0.10 per share  6,959,500   6,959   688,991   –   –   –    695,950   

Shares issued for cash at $0.40 per unit   5,420,000   5,420   2,162,580   –   –   –    2,168,000   

Share issuance costs   –   –   (43,987)   –   –   –    (43,987) 

Shares issued to settle debt   200,000   200   211,800   –   –   –    212,000   

Shares issued for compensation to related  
 parties at a fair value of $1.01 per share  3,775,000  3,775  3,808,975  – – –   3,812,750   

Net loss for the year  –  –  –  –  (5,002,225)  –   (5,002,225) 

Balance, December 31, 2005  21,995,000  21,995  6,913,393   –   (5,150,531)   –    1,784,857
 

(The	accompanying	notes	are	an	integral	part	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements)
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Uranerz Energy Corporation
(An Exploration Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)   
For the Period from May 26, 1999 (Date of Inception) to December 31, 2009 
(Expressed in US dollars) 

 

      Deficit   
     Accumulated Accumulated      
    Additional Other During the     
                     Common Stock  Paid-in Comprehensive Exploration    Non-Controlling  
  Shares Amount Capital  Income  Stage   Interest   Total 
    #   $  $  $  $  $  $
 
Balance, December 31, 2005  21,995,000   21,995   6,913,393   –   (5,150,531)  –   1,784,857 

Shares issued for cash at $1.00 per share   7,245,000   7,245   7,237,755   –   –   – 7,245,000 

Shares issued for cash at $1.75 per share   2,142,200   2,142   3,746,708   –   –   –    3,748,850 

Share issuance costs   –   –   (516,964)   –   –    –    (516,964) 

Shares issued for finders fees   238,498   238   277,460   –   –    –    277,698 

Shares issued upon the exercise of warrants  2,700,000   2,700   1,774,550   –   –    –    1,777,250 

Shares issued for services at $0.91 per share   100,000   100   90,900   –   –    –    91,000 

Shares and options issued to settle debt   139,640   140   129,690   –   –    –    129,830 

Fair value of stock options granted   –   –   4,124,025   –   –    –    4,124,025 

Foreign currency translation adjustments   –   –   –   542   –    –    542 

Net loss for the year   –   –   –   –   (6,548,901)   –    (6,548,901) 

Balance, December 31, 2006   34,560,338   34,560   23,777,517   542    (11,699,432)   –   12,113,187

Shares issued upon the exercise of warrants   4,481,749   4,482   8,312,196   –   –   –    8,316,678

Shares issued upon the exercise of options   182,000   182   287,918   –   –    –    288,100 

Fair value of stock options granted   –   –   4,997,753   –   –   –    4,997,753

Foreign currency translation adjustments   –   –   –  (61)  –    –    (61) 

Net loss for the year   –   –   –   –    (14,197,366)   –    (14,197,366) 

Balance, December 31, 2007 39,224,087   39,224   37,375,384   481   (25,896,798)   –    11,518,291 

Shares issued to acquire mineral properties   5,750,000   5,750   19,084,250   –   –    –    19,090,000 

Shares issued upon the exercise of warrants   96,100   96   240,154   –   –    –    240,250 

Shares issued upon the exercise of options   356,300   356   304,669  –  –   –   305,025 

Shares issued pursuant to private placement   9,865,000   9,865   23,666,135  –  –   –    23,676,000

Shares issued to settle debt   160,900   161   402,089   –  –  –    402,250 

Share issuance costs   –  –   (1,387,219)   –   –    –    (1,387,219)

Fair value of stock options granted   –   –   2,681,417   –  –    –    2,681,417

Foreign currency translation adjustments   –   –   –   (481)   –    –    (481) 

Net loss for the year   –    –   –   –   (34,247,199)   (949,185)   (35,196,384)

Change in non-controlling interest   –    –   –  –   –    1,018,770   1,018,770

Balance, December 31, 2008   55,452,387   55,452   82,366,879   –    (60,143,997)   69,585    22,347,919 

Shares issued upon the exercise of options  242,500   243   165,882   –   –   –   166,125 

Shares issued pursuant to public offering   8,500,000   8,500   16,991,500  –   –   –    17,000,000  
Share issuance costs   –  –  (1,634,628)   –   –   –    (1,634,628) 

Fair value of stock options granted   –   –   922,265   –   –    –    922,265 

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year   –   –   –  –  (8,699,154)   (701,972)   (9,401,126

Change in non-controlling interest   –   –   –   –   –   686,908    686,908

Balance, December 31, 2009  64,194,887   64,195   98,811,898   –    (68,843,151)   54,521    30,087,463 

 

(The	accompanying	notes	are	an	integral	part	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements)
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Uranerz Energy Corporation
(An Exploration Stage Company)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2009
(Expressed in US dollars).

1.  Nature of Operations
     
 Uranerz Energy Corporation (the “Company”) was incorporated in the State of Nevada, U.S.A. on May 26, 1999. 

Effective July 5, 2005, the Company changed its name from Carleton Ventures Corp. to Uranerz Energy Corporation. 
The Company has mineral property interests in Canada and the United States.

     
 The Company is an Exploration Stage Company, as defined by Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)  

Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 915, Development Stage Entities. The Company’s principal business is 
the acquisition and exploitation of uranium and mineral resources.

     
2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
     

a) Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

 These consolidated financial statements and related notes are presented in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States, and are expressed in US dollars. Rolling Hills Resources LLC (“Rolling 
Hills”), a Mongolian company previously wholly-owned, was consolidated on December 31, 2007. During the 
year ended December 31, 2008, the Company disposed of Rolling Hills.

     
  These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and the accounts of an 

unincorporated venture, Arkose Mining Venture (“Arkose”) of which the Company holds an 81% interest in and 
maintains majority voting interest as of December 31, 2009. All inter-company transactions and balances have 
been eliminated. The Company’s fiscal year-end is December 31.

     
 b)  Use of Estimates

 The preparation of these consolidated statements in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and 
expenses in the reporting period. The Company regularly evaluates estimates and assumptions related to useful 
life and recoverability of long-lived assets, stock-based compensation, deferred income tax asset valuations and 
loss contingencies. The Company bases its estimates and assumptions on current facts, historical experience 
and various other factors that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form 
the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the accrual of costs and 
expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources. The actual results experienced by the Company may 
differ materially and adversely from the Company’s estimates. To the extent there are material differences 
between the estimates and the actual results, future results of operations will be affected.

     
c)  Cash and Cash Equivalents
     
 The Company considers all highly liquid instruments with maturity of three months or less at the time of 

issuance to be cash equivalents.
     
d)  Marketable Securities
     
 The Company defines marketable securities as income yielding securities that can be readily converted into 

cash. Examples of marketable securities include U.S. Treasury and agency obligations, commercial paper, 
corporate notes and bonds, time deposits, foreign notes and certificates of deposit. The Company accounts for 
its investment in debt and equity instruments under FASB ASC 320, Investments – Debt and Equity Securities. 
We follow the guidance provided by ASC 320 to assess whether our investments with unrealized loss positions 
are other than temporarily impaired. Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other than 
temporary are determined based on the specific identification method and are reported in other income (expense). 
Management determines the appropriate classification of such securities at the time of purchase and re-evaluates 
such classification as of each balance sheet date.
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Uranerz Energy Corporation
(An Exploration Stage Company)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2009
(Expressed in US dollars).

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

  e) Property and Equipment

 Property and equipment consists of computers and office equipment and field equipment. These assets are 
recorded at cost and are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated life of five years.

f)  Financial Instruments/Concentrations
     
 Our financial instruments consist principally of cash and short-term marketable securities, accounts payable 

and loan payable. Marketable securities consist of time deposits longer than three months and are classified 
as held to maturity securities. Pursuant to ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures and ASC 825, 
Financial Instruments the fair value of marketable securities is determined based on “Level 1” inputs, which 
consist of quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. We believe that the recorded values of all of 
our other financial instruments approximate their current fair values because of their nature and respective 
relatively short maturity dates or durations.

     
g)  Mineral Property Costs
     
 The Company is primarily engaged in the acquisition, exploration and development of mineral properties. 

Mineral property acquisition costs are capitalized when management has determined that probable future 
benefits consisting of a contribution to future cash inflows have been identified and adequate financial 
resources are available or are expected to be available as required to meet the terms of property acquisition 
and budgeted exploration and development expenditures. Mineral property acquisition costs are expensed as 
incurred if the criteria for capitalization are not met. In the event that a mineral property is acquired through 
the issuance of the Company’s shares, the mineral property will be recorded at the fair value of the respective 
property or the fair value of common shares, whichever is more readily determinable.

     
 When mineral properties are acquired under option agreements with future acquisition payments to be made 

at the sole discretion of the Company, those future payments, whether in cash or shares, are recorded only 
when the Company has made or is obliged to make the payment or issue the shares. When it has been 
determined that a mineral property can be economically developed as a result of establishing proven and 
probable reserves and bankable feasibility, the costs incurred to develop such property are capitalized. 

     
  During the year ended December 31, 2009, mineral property expenditures totaling $4,778,386 (2008 – 

$30,505,332, 2007 – $7,008,396) were expensed and the Company received mineral property option payments 
of $Nil (2008 – $Nil, 2007 – $43,810).

     
h)  Asset Retirement Obligation
     
 Estimated future removal and site restoration costs, when determinable are provided over the life of 

proven reserves on a units-of-production basis. Costs, which include production equipment removal and 
environmental remediation, are estimated each period by management based on current regulations, actual 
expenses incurred, and technology and industry standards. Any charge is included in exploration expense 
or the provision for depletion and depreciation during the period and the actual restoration expenditures are 
charged to the accumulated provision amounts as incurred. At December 31, 2009, the Company has accrued 
$75,540 (2008 – $40,500, 2007 – $Nil) for well reclamation obligations.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

i)  Foreign Currency Translation
     
 The functional and reporting currency of the Company is the United States dollar. Monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to United States dollars in accordance with ASC 
740 Foreign Currency Translation Matters, using the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date. Gains 
and losses arising on translation or settlement of foreign currency denominated transactions or balances are 
included in the determination of income. Foreign currency transactions are primarily undertaken in Canadian 
dollars. The Company has not, to the date of these consolidated financial statements, entered into derivative 
instruments to offset the impact of foreign currency fluctuations.

     
j)  Comprehensive Loss
     
 ASC 220, Comprehensive Income establishes standards for the reporting and display of comprehensive loss 

and its components in the consolidated financial statements. As at December 31, 2009, the Company had no 
items that represent a comprehensive loss. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company’s comprehensive 
loss consisted of unrealized losses on foreign currency translation adjustments.

     
k)  Long-lived Assets
     
 In accordance with ASC 360, Property Plant and Equipment the Company tests long-lived assets or asset 

groups for recoverability when events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may 
not be recoverable. Circumstances which could trigger a review include, but are not limited to: significant 
decreases in the market price of the asset; significant adverse changes in the business climate or legal 
factors; accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the amount originally expected for the acquisition or 
construction of the asset; current period cash flow or operating losses combined with a history of losses or a 
forecast of continuing losses associated with the use of the asset; and current expectation that the asset will 
more likely than not be sold or disposed significantly before the end of its estimated useful life.

     
 Recoverability is assessed based on the carrying amount of the asset and its fair value which is generally 

determined based on the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and the eventual 
disposal of the asset, as well as specific appraisal in certain instances. An impairment loss is recognized when 
the carrying amount is not recoverable and exceeds fair value.

     
l)  Stock-based Compensation
     
 The Company records stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation – Stock Based 

Compensation, which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense based on estimated 
fair values for all share-based awards made to employees and directors, including stock options.

     
 ASC 718 requires companies to estimate the fair value of share-based awards on the date of grant using 

an option-pricing model. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model as its method of 
determining fair value. This model is affected by the Company’s stock price as well as assumptions regarding 
a number of subjective variables. These subjective variables include, but are not limited to the Company’s 
expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards, and actual and projected employee stock option 
exercise behaviors. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as 
an expense in the statement of operations over the requisite service period.

     
 No tax benefits were attributed to stock-based compensation expense because a full valuation allowance was 

maintained for all net deferred tax assets.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

m)  Basic and Diluted Net Loss Per Share
     
 The Company computes net loss per share in accordance with ASC 260, Earnings per Share. ASC 260 requires 

presentation of both basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) on the face of the statement of operations. 
Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to common shareholders (numerator) by the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding (denominator) during the period. Diluted EPS gives effect 
to all dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period using the treasury stock method and 
convertible preferred stock using the if-converted method. In computing diluted EPS, the average stock price 
for the period is used in determining the number of shares assumed to be purchased from the exercise of stock 
options or warrants. Diluted EPS excludes all dilutive potential shares if their effect is anti-dilutive. Shares 
underlying these securities totaled approximately 15,132,200 as of December 31, 2009 (2008 – 9,892,200; 
2007 – 4,449,100).

     
n)  Income Taxes
     
 The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method in accordance with ASC 740, 

Income Taxes. The asset and liability method provides that deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for 
the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases 
of assets and liabilities, and for operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are measured using the currently enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are 
expected to reverse. The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount 
that is believed more likely than not to be realized.

     
o)  Reclassifications
     
 Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior period’s consolidated financial statements to conform to 

the current period’s presentation.
     
p)  Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
     
 In May 2009, FASB issued ASC 855, Subsequent Events, which establishes general standards of for the 

evaluation, recognition and disclosure of events and transactions that occur after the balance sheet date. 
Although there is new terminology, the standard is based on the same principles as those that currently exist  
in the auditing standards. The standard, which includes a new required disclosure of the date through which 
an entity has evaluated subsequent events, is effective for interim or annual periods ending after June 15, 
2009. The adoption of ASC 855 did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial statements. Refer to  
Note 16.

     
 In June 2009, the FASB issued guidance now codified as ASC 105, Generally Accepted Accounting 

Principles as the single source of authoritative accounting principles recognized by the FASB to be applied 
by nongovernmental entities in the preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP, aside 
from those issued by the SEC. ASC 105 does not change current U.S. GAAP, but is intended to simplify user 
access to all authoritative U.S. GAAP by providing all authoritative literature related to a particular topic in 
one place. The adoption of ASC 105 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements, 
but did eliminate all references to pre-codification standards

     
 The Company has implemented all new accounting pronouncements that are in effect and that may impact its 

financial statements and does not believe that there are any other new accounting pronouncements that have 
been issued that might have a material impact on its financial position or results of operations.
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 3.  Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities
     
 At December 31, 2009 the Company had $29,192,975 (2008 – $21,253,277) in cash, cash equivalents and market-

able securities. Our marketable securities consist of $8,766,943 (2008 – $20,432,035) of bank guaranteed deposits 
with terms longer than three months and classified as held-to-maturity. Pursuant to ASC 820 the fair value of all of 
our cash equivalents and marketable securities is determined based on “Level 1” inputs, which consist of quoted 
prices in active markets for identical assets. The Company places cash investments in instruments that meet credit 
quality standards, as specified in our investment policy guidelines.

     
4.  Investment in Rolling Hills
     
 Rolling Hills was formerly a wholly owned subsidiary incorporated in Mongolia. On June 18, 2008, the Company 

disposed of 60% of its investment pursuant to the option and joint venture agreement referred to in Note 6(d). On 
August 25, 2008, the Company disposed of its remaining 40% investment. During the year ended December 31, 
2008, the Company recognized a gain on the disposal of $979,709.

     
 As a result of the Company’s disposal of Rolling Hills all operations related to the former subsidiary have been 

classified as discontinued operations. Cash flows from discontinued operations were not material and were com-
bined with cash flows from continuing operations within the consolidated statement of cash flows categories.

     
5.  Property and Equipment

 
 
 
 

 
 

Cost 
$

 
Accumulated 
Depreciation 

$    

December 31, 2009 
Net Carrying 

Value 
$

December 31, 2008 
Net Carrying 

Value 
$

Computers and office equipment 185,311 95,223 90,088 108,757 

Field equipment 733,087 282,196 450,891 533,815 

 918,398 377,419 540,979 642,572 

6.  Mineral Properties
     

a) On April 26, 2005, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire a 100% interest in two mineral 
prospecting permits located in the Athabasca Basin area of Saskatchewan, Canada for consideration of 
Cdn$40,757 and a 2% royalty on the prospecting permits. This agreement was with a company controlled 
by a director of the Company. On October 20, 2005, the agreement was amended so that the Company has a 
one-time right, exercisable for ninety days, following the completion of a bankable feasibility study to buy 
one-half of the vendor’s royalty interest for Cdn$1,000,000. On November 4, 2005, the Company entered 
into an option and joint venture agreement with a company (the “Optionee”) on the Company’s two mineral 
prospecting permits. In late January and early February, 2007, a total of seven claims were staked within the 
boundaries of the original two mineral prospecting permits. On April 24, 2008 the Optionee forfeited its right 
to earn an interest in the property. Two of the seven claims will expire on January 30, 2010 and the remaining 
five (5) claims are due to expire on January 30, 2011, unless the required minimum amount of exploration 
work is completed. As at December 31, 2009, the Company has received Cdn$50,000 of installment payments 
with respect to this agreement.

     
b)  On November 18, 2005, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire a 100% interest in 10 mining 

claims located in the Powder River Basin area, Wyoming, in consideration of $250,000. The amounts were 
paid in installments and completed by January 2007.
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6.  Mineral Properties (continued)
     

c)  On December 9, 2005, the Company entered into an option agreement to acquire a 100% interest in 44 mining 
claims within six mineral properties located in the Powder River Basin area, Wyoming. As at December 31, 2007 
all requirements of this option agreement were satisfied and a deed for the 44 claims was received. A royalty fee 
of between 6% – 8% is payable, depending upon the spot price of uranium at the time of sale.

     
d)  On February 17, 2006, as amended on March 16, 2006, September 8, 2006 and March 20, 2008, the Company 

entered into a letter agreement to option and joint venture its six Mongolian projects to another company (the 
“Optionee”). In June 2008 the Optionee earned an undivided 60% interest in the projects through assumption of 
60% of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Rolling Hills Resources LLC. The remaining 40% interest in 
Rolling Hills was sold in 2008.

     
e)  On June 7, 2006, the Company entered into an Agreement with a company (the “Optionee”) on two of the 

Company’s exploration projects located within the Red Desert area of southwest Wyoming. Under the Agreement 
the Company and the Optionee are to form a joint venture to conduct further exploration and to develop the 
properties. The Optionee shall have the right to earn a 50% equity interest in the joint venture during the 
first phase of the exploration program by managing the property, incurring a minimum $100,000 per year of 
exploration costs on the projects, and incurring $750,000 of exploration costs, within three years of inception of 
the agreement. On August 18, 2009 the Optionee terminated the Agreement and relinquished all right, title and 
interest in the lode mining claims and state leases that are part of the Agreement.

     
f)  On October 30, 2006, the Company entered into an agreement with an officer and director of the Company (the 

“Related Party”), to use certain geological reports held by the Related Party for the purposes of staking and 
acquiring potential areas of interest in exchange for $402,250. In December 2007, the staking and acquisition 
program was completed and a liability of $402,250 was recorded as due to Related Party. During the year ended 
December 31, 2008, this debt was settled through the issuance of 160,900 common shares.

     
g)  On January 23, 2007, the Company entered into a purchase agreement to acquire three mineral properties consisting  

of 138 unpatented lode mining claims located in Campbell County, Wyoming for $3,120,000 which was paid on  
February 1, 2007.

     
h)  In 2007, the Company acquired several mining leases in Briscoe County, Texas for a total purchase price of 

$60,817.
     
i)  Reclamation bonds totaling $318,783 (2008 – $318,404) are pledged to the State of Wyoming, Department of 

Environmental Quality, for property reclamation.

j)  On January 15, 2008, the Company acquired an undivided eighty-one percent (81%) interest in approximately 
82,000 acres (33,100 hectares) of mineral properties located in the central Powder River Basin of Wyoming, 
USA and entered into a joint venture agreement with the vendor pursuant to which the Company will explore 
the properties. In accordance with the terms of the September 19, 2007 Purchase Agreement, the Company paid 
$5,757,043 cash and issued 5,750,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at a fair value of $19,090,000 to 
acquire the 81% interest. At January 15, 2008, the acquisition cost of $24,847,043 was allotted as follows:

Prepaid expenses $  229,247   

Mineral property expenditures  24,617,796  

 $ 24,847,043 
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6.  Mineral Properties (continued)        

k)  On August 20, 2008 the Company leased 891 acres of mineral properties near the Company’s Nichols Ranch 
project area in Wyoming for an advance royalty payment of $22,275.

     
 l)  On August 20, 2008 the Company, on behalf of the Arkose Mining Venture, leased 6,073 acres of mineral 

properties within Arkose’s area of interest in Wyoming for an advance royalty payment of $151,828.
     
 m) On September 18, 2008 the Company leased 984 acres of mineral properties within the Company’s North 

Reno Creek project area in Wyoming.
     
 n)  On December 3, 2008 the Company, on behalf of the Arkose Mining Venture, leased 1,680 acres of mineral 

properties within Arkose’s area of interest in Wyoming for a five year advance royalty payment of $83,993.
     
 o)  On July 7, 2009, the Company, on behalf of the Arkose Mining Venture, leased 320 acres of mineral properties 

within Arkose’s area of interest in Wyoming.
     
 p)  On August 21, 2009, the Company decided not to pay annual maintenance fees totaling $58,380 for 285 100% 

owned mining claims and 132 mining claims with an 81% interest that are no longer of strategic interest to 
the Company.

7.  Balance Sheet Details

 a)  The components of prepaid expenses are as follows:

 
 
 

December 31, 2009 
$

December 31, 2008 
$

Deposits 37,000 37,000 

Insurance 82,929 92,092 

Lease costs 560,023 505,564 

Other 8,672 6,559 

Surface use and damage costs 45,219 – 

Total prepaid expenses 733,843 641,215 

b)  The components of accrued liabilities are as follows:

 
 
 

December 31, 2009 
$

December 31, 2008 
$

Reclamation costs 75,540 228,800 

Mineral exploration expenses 388,325 – 

Total accrued liabilities 463,865 228,800 
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8.  Loan Payable
 

 
 
 December 31, 2009 

 
 December 31, 2008

Loan payable to vendor, interest imputed at 8% per 
annum, maturing June 2010, and secured by field 
equipment $  18,079 $  52,146  

     

Less current portion:  (18,079) (34,067)

 $  – $  18,079 

9.  Related Party Transactions / Balances

a)  On October 30, 2006, the Company entered into an agreement with an officer and director of the Company 
(the “Related Party”), to use certain geological reports held by the Related Party for the purposes of staking 
and acquiring potential areas of interest. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company agreed to pay the 
Related Party	the	sum	of	$0.40	for	each	measured	and	indicated	pound	of	uranium	staked	by	the	Company	or	a	
fee	of	$750	for	each	claim	registered	with	the	Bureau	of	Land	Management,	based	on	the	use	of	the	geological	
reports.	This	fee	is	payable	to	the	Related	Party	in	shares	of	common	stock	of	the	Company	based	on	a	share	
price	of	$2.50	per	share.	In	connection	with	the	issuance	of	the	common	shares,	the	Company	agreed	to	grant	
the	related	party	registration	rights	for	the	resale	of	such	shares.	If	the	shares	are	not	registered	and	eligible	for	
resale	six	months	after	issuance,	the	Company	shall	pay	a	penalty	of	an	additional	10%	of	the	number	of	shares	
issued.	 In	December	2007,	 the	staking	and	acquisition	program	was	completed	and	a	 liability	of	$402,250	
(2006	–	$Nil)	was	recorded	as	due	to	the	Related	Party.	This	debt	was	settled	through	the	issuance	of	160,900	
common	shares	in	2008.

  
b)		 During	the	year	ended	December	31,	2009,	the	Company	incurred	$339,500	(2008	–	$375,200,	2007	–	$318,997)	

for	consulting	services	and	office	expenses	(included	in	general	and	administrative	expenses)	to	companies	
controlled	by	a	director	who	is	Chairman	of	the	Company.	Other	general	and	administrative	expenses	were	
reimbursed	in	the	normal	course	of	business.	At	December	31,	2009,	expenditures	incurred	on	behalf	of	the	
Company	of	$25,920	(2008	–	$Nil,	2007	–	$18,000)	is	owed	to	this	director,	and	the	amounts	are	unsecured,	
non-interest	bearing,	and	due	on	demand.

     
c)		 During	the	year	ended	December	31,	2009,	the	Company	incurred	$190,000	(2008	–	$198,000,	2007	–	$199,000)	

for	consulting	services	(included	in	general	and	administrative	expenses)	to	a	director	who	is	also	Executive	
Vice	President	and	Chief	Operating	Officer.	Other	general	and	administrative	expenses	were	reimbursed	in	
the	normal	course	of	business.	In	2007,	the	Company	acquired	property	assets	from	this	director,	valued	at	
$402,250	(see	Note	9(a)).	At	December	31,	2009,	consulting	services	and	expenditures	incurred	on	behalf	of	
the	Company	of	$29,000	(2008	–	$50,000)	is	owed	to	this	director,	and	the	amounts	are	unsecured,	non-interest	
bearing,	and	due	on	demand.

     
d)		 During	 the	 year	 ended	 December	 31,	 2009,	 the	 Company	 incurred	 $180,000	 (2008	 –	 $180,000,	 2007	 –	

$120,000)	for	consulting	services	(included	in	general	and	administrative	expenses)	to	a	company	controlled	
by	the	President	and	Chief	Executive	Officer	of	the	Company.	Other	general	and	administrative	expenses	were	
reimbursed	in	the	normal	course	of	business

.
	e)		During	 the	 year	 ended	 December	 31,	 2009,	 the	 Company	 incurred	 consulting	 fees	 of	 $129,830	 (2008	 –	

$126,400,	2007	–	$82,017)	to	an	entity	controlled	by	the	Chief	Financial	Officer	of	the	Company.	The	amounts	
have	been	recorded	as	general	and	administrative	expense.
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 9.  Related Party Transactions / Balances (continued)

f)		 During	the	year	ended	December	31,	2009,	the	Company	incurred	consulting	fees	of	$132,038	(2008	–	$131,185,	
2007	–	$56,925)	to	an	officer	of	the	Company.	Other	general	and	administrative	expenses	were	reimbursed	to	
the	officer	in	the	normal	course	of	business.

     
g)		 During	the	year	ended	December	31,	2009,	the	Company	incurred	consulting	fees	of	$27,000	(2008	–	$126,900,	

2007	–	$49,605)	 to	 a	 company	controlled	by	an	officer	of	 the	Company.	Other	general	 and	administrative	
expenses	were	reimbursed	to	the	officer	in	the	normal	course	of	business.

     
h)		 During	the	year	ended	December	31,	2009,	the	Company	incurred	Directors’	fees	of	$105,500	(2008	–	$77,500,	

2007	–	$81,500)	for	five	non-executive	Directors.	The	amounts	have	been	recorded	as	general	and	administrative	
expense.

     
i)		 During	the	year	ended	December	31,	2009,	the	Company	incurred	$1,500	(2008	–	$5,600,	2007	–	$22,000)	for	

bonuses	(included	in	general	and	administrative	expenses)	for	related	party	officers.	The	amounts	have	been	
recorded	as	general	and	administrative	expense.

10.  Common Stock

 Share	transactions	for	the	year	ended	December	31,	2009:

a)		 In	May,	2009	the	Company	issued	50,000	shares	of	common	stock	pursuant	to	the	exercise	of	common	share	
purchase	options	for	proceeds	of	$37,500.

  
b)		 In	August,	2009	the	Company	issued	37,500	shares	of	common	stock	pursuant	to	the	exercise	of	common	share	

purchase	options	for	proceeds	of	$24,375.
     
c)		 In	September,	2009	the	Company	issued	155,000	shares	of	common	stock	pursuant	to	the	exercise	of	common	

share	purchase	options	for	proceeds	of	$104,250.
     
d)		 In	October,	2009	the	Company	completed	a	public	offering	of	8,500,000	units	of	the	Company	at	a	price	of	$2.00	

per	unit	for	gross	proceeds	of	$17,000,000.	Each	unit	comprises	one	share	of	the	Company’s	common	stock	and	
one	half	of	one	share	purchase	warrant,	with	each	whole	warrant	exercisable	to	purchase	one	additional	share	of	
the	Company’s	common	stock	for	a	period	of	30	months	at	an	exercise	price	of	$3.00.	The	Company	incurred	
share	issuance	costs	of	$1,634,628	relating	to	the	offering	and	the	Company	issued	4,250,000	common	share	
purchase	warrants	exercisable	for	$3.00	per	share	during	the	thirty	month	period	ending	April	27,	2012.

 Share transactions for the year ended December 31, 2008: 
 

a)		 In	January,	2008	the	Company	issued	270,000	shares	of	common	stock	pursuant	to	the	exercise	of	common	
share	purchase	options	for	proceeds	of	$202,500.

     
	b)		In	January,	2008	the	Company	issued	5,750,000	shares	of	common	stock	with	a	fair	value	of	$19,090,000	for	the	

acquisition	of	mineral	properties.	The	Company	incurred	share	issuance	costs	of	$75,654.	Refer	to	Note	6(j).
     
	c)		In	March,	2008	the	Company	issued	96,100	shares	of	common	stock	pursuant	to	the	exercise	of	common	share	

purchase	warrants	for	proceeds	of	$240,250.
     
	d)		In	March,	2008	the	Company	issued	160,900	shares	of	common	stock	with	a	fair	value	of	$402,250	to	settle	

$402,250	owed	to	a	Director	of	the	Company.	Refer	to	Note	7(a).
     
	e)		In	March,	2008	the	Company	issued	16,300	shares	of	common	stock	pursuant	to	the	exercise	of	common	

share	purchase	options	for	proceeds	of	$12,225.
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10.  Common Stock (continued)
 

	f)		In	April,	 2008	 the	Company	 completed	 a	 private	 placement	 of	 9,865,000	 units,	 comprised	 of	 9,865,000	
common	shares	and	4,932,498	common	share	purchase	warrants,	 at	$2.40	per	unit	 for	gross	proceeds	of	
$23,676,000.	Each	warrant	entitles	the	holder	to	purchase	one	common	share	for	$3.50	for	a	two	year	period	
ending	April	15,	2010.	The	Company	paid	cash	commissions	of	$1,100,640	and	120,000	warrants	to	purchase	
120,000	common	shares	at	$2.60	per	share	exercisable	for	a	one	year	period	ending	April	15,	2009.	The	
Company	incurred	share	issuance	costs	in	connection	with	the	private	placement	of	$1,347,098	including	
agents’	warrants	with	a	fair	value	of	$68,041.

     
	g)		In	June,	2008	the	Company	issued	50,000	shares	of	common	stock	pursuant	to	the	exercise	of	stock	options	

for	proceeds	of	$37,500.
     
	h)		In	August,	2008	the	Company	issued	20,000	shares	of	common	stock	pursuant	to	the	exercise	of	common	

share	purchase	options	for	proceeds	of	$52,800.

Share	transactions	for	the	year	ended	December	31,	2007:	

	a)		During	January,	February	and	March	2007,	the	Company	issued	4,481,749	shares	of	common	stock,	pursuant	
to	the	exercise	of	common	share	purchase	warrants,	for	proceeds	of	$8,316,678.

     
	b)		In	 January	2007,	 the	Company	 issued	10,000	shares	of	common	stock,	pursuant	 to	 the	exercise	of	 stock	

options,	for	proceeds	of	$7,500.
     
	c)		In	May	2007,	the	Company	issued	32,000	shares	of	common	stock,	pursuant	to	the	exercise	of	stock	options,	

for	proceeds	of	$28,900.
     
	d)		In	June	2007,	the	Company	issued	75,000	shares	of	common	stock,	pursuant	to	the	exercise	of	stock	options,	

for	proceeds	of	$117,500.
     
	e)		In	September	2007,	the	Company	issued	45,000	shares	of	common	stock,	pursuant	to	the	exercise	of	stock	

options,	for	proceeds	of	$95,000.
     
	f)		In	October	2007,	 the	Company	 issued	20,000	shares	of	common	stock,	pursuant	 to	 the	exercise	of	stock	

options,	for	proceeds	of	$39,200.

11.  Stock Based Compensation
   
 The Company adopted a Stock Option Plan dated November 7, 2005 under which the Company is authorized 

to grant stock options to acquire up to a total of 10,000,000 shares of common stock. No options shall be issued 
under the Stock Option Plan at a price per share less than the defined Market Price. On June 11, 2008, the Com-
pany modified the Stock Option Plan to define Market Price as the volume weighted average trading price of the 
Company’s common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange or American Stock Exchange, whichever has the 
greater trading volume for the five trading days before the date of grant. At December 31, 2009, the Company had 
3,129,860 shares of common stock available to be issued under the Plan.

   
 During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company granted 1,502,500 stock options with immediate vesting 

to directors, officers, employees and consultants to acquire 1,327,500 common shares at an exercise price of $0.65 
per share for 2 – 7 years, 100,000 common shares at an exercise price of $2.07 per share for 10 years and 75,000 
common shares at an exercise price of $1.37 for 2 years. During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company 
recorded stock-based compensation for the vested options of $922,265, as general and administrative expense.
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11.  Stock Based Compensation (continued)
   
 During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company granted stock options to directors, officers, employees  

and consultants to acquire 1,063,000 common shares at exercise prices from $2.13 to $3.22 per share exercis-
able for 5 years and recorded stock-based compensation for the vested options of $2,681,417, as general and  
administrative expense.

   
 During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company granted stock options with immediate vesting to directors, 

officers, employees and consultants to acquire 1,920,000 common shares at exercise prices from $2.71 of $4.73 
per share exercisable for 5 years and recorded stock-based compensation for the vested options of $4,922,613, as 
general and administrative expense.

   
 The fair value for stock options granted was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing 

model and the weighted average fair value of stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2009, 
2008 and 2007 was $0.60, $2.20 and $2.97 per share, respectively.

   
 The weighted average assumptions used are as follows:

 
 
 

 
December 31, 2009 

Years Ended 
December 31, 2008 

 
December 31, 2007 

Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 

Risk-free interest rate 1.34% 2.94% 4.7% 

Expected volatility 1.29% 134% 168% 

Expected option life (in years) 3.89 4.14 3.1 

 The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, was 
$276,400, $641,954 and $592,730 respectively. 
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11.  Stock Based Compensation (continued)
   
 The following table summarizes the continuity of the Company’s stock options:

 Number of 
Options 

#

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

$

Weighted Average 
Remaining Contractual 

Term (years) 

 Aggregate Intrinsic 
Value 

$

Outstanding, December 31, 2006 2,545,000  1.01   

Granted 1,920,000  3.26   

Exercised (182,000) 1.58   
      

Outstanding, December 31, 2007 4,283,000  2.00   
      

Granted 1,063,000  2.64   

Cancelled (150,000) 3.36   

Exercised (356,300) 0.86   
      

Outstanding, December 31, 2008 4,839,700  2.18   
      

Granted 1,502,500  0.78   

Forfeited (150,000) 2.61   

Exercised (242,500) 0.69   
      

Outstanding, December 31, 2009 5,949,700  1.88 2.71 1,559,035 
      

Exercisable, December 31, 2009 5,822,700  1.87 2.62 1,559,035 

 A summary of the status of the Company’s non-vested stock options as of December 31, 2009, and changes during the 
years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 is presented below: 

 
Non-vested stock options 

Number of 
Options 

 # 

Weighted Average 
Grant Date Fair Value 

$

Non-vested at January 1, 2007 –  – 

Granted 1,920,000  2.97 

Vested (1,595,000) 2.95 

Non-vested at December 31, 2007 325,000  3.14 

Granted 1,063,000  2.20 

Vested (1,229,500) 2.36 

Non-vested at December 31, 2008 158,500  2.86 

Granted 1,502,500  0.78 

Vested (1,529,000) 0.77 

Forfeited (5,000) 2.89 

Non-vested at December 31, 2009 127,000  1.33 



Uranerz Energy Corporation F-19

Uranerz Energy Corporation
(An Exploration Stage Company)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2009
(Expressed in US dollars).

11.  Stock Based Compensation (continued)
 
 As at December 31, 2009, there was $111,937 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock 

option agreements. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 0.77 years.

12.	Stock	Purchase	Warrants

a)	 On	October	27,	2009,	as	part	of	a	registered	financing	(Note	10(d)),	the	Company	issued	4,250,000	common	
share	purchase	warrants	 exercisable	 for	$3.00	per	 share	during	 the	 thirty	month	period	ending	April	27,	
2012.

	b)	 On	April	15,	2008,	as	part	of	a	private	placement,	the	Company	issued	4,932,498	common	share	purchase	
warrants	exercisable	for	$3.50	per	share	during	the	twenty-four	month	period	ending	April	15,	2010.

c)	 On	April	15,	2008	the	Company	issued	120,000	Agents’	common	share	purchase	warrants	(see	Note	10(f)),	
exercisable	for	$2.60	per	share	during	 the	 twelve	month	period	ending	April	15,	2009.	The	fair	value	of	
these	Agent’s	warrants	issued	was	estimated	at	the	date	of	grant	to	be	$68,041	($0.57	each)	using	the	Black-
Scholes	option-pricing	model	assuming	an	expected	life	of	1	year,	a	risk-free	rate	of	1.70%,	an	expected	
volatility	of	83%	and	no	expected	dividends.	The	fair	value	of	these	share	purchase	warrants	was	recorded	
as	stock	issue	costs.

d)	 On	March	3,	2008,	96,100	share	purchase	warrants	were	exercised	and	96,100	common	shares	were	issued	
for	cash	proceeds	of	$240,250.

e)	 On	February	1,	2007,	the	Company	issued	50,000	share	purchase	warrants	to	a	consultant,	exercisable	at	
$3.69	per	share	on	or	before	February	1,	2008.	The	fair	value	of	warrants	issued	was	estimated	at	the	date	of	
grant	to	be	$75,140	($1.50	each)	using	the	Black-Scholes	option-pricing	model	assuming	an	expected	life	of	
1	year,	a	risk-free	rate	of	4.86%,	an	expected	volatility	of	103%	and	no	expected	dividends	During	the	year	
ended	December	31,	2008,	the	Company	recorded	stock-based	compensation	of	$6,262	(2007		–	$68,878)	as	
general	and	administrative	expense	related	to	these	warrants.

	 A	summary	of	the	changes	in	the	Company’s	common	share	purchase	warrants	is	presented	below:

 
 
 

 Number of
#

 
 
 

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

$

Balance, December 31, 2007 166,100  2.86 

Issued 5,052,498  3.48 

Exercised (96,100) 2.50 

Expired (70,000) 3.35 

Balance December 31, 2008 5,052,498  3.48 

Expired (120,000) 2.60 

Issued 4,250,000  3.00 

Balance December 31, 2009 9,182,498  3.27 
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12.	Stock	Purchase	Warrants	(continued)

 As at December 31, 2009, the following common share purchase warrants were outstanding:

Number 
of Warrants 

Exercise Price 
$ 

Expiry Date 
 

4,250,000 3.00 April 27, 2012 

4,932,498 3.50 April 15, 2010 

9,182,498   

13.  Commitments
     

a)  Effective January 1, 2010 the Company amended its July 1, 2005 agreement with a company controlled by 
a	director	of	 the	Company	for	consulting	services	 to	be	provided	 to	 the	Company	at	a	 revised	amount	of	
$14,832	(Cdn$15,450)	per	month.

     
b)		 Effective	January	1,	2010	the	Company	amended	its	March	1,	2005	agreement	with	a	company	controlled	by	

the	President	of	the	Company	for	consulting	services	to	be	provided	to	the	Company	at	a	revised	amount	of	
$15,450	per	month.

     
c)		 Effective	January	1,	2010	the	Company	amended	its	May	23,	2006	agreement	with	an	entity	owned	by	the	

Chief	Financial	Officer	of	the	Company	for	consulting	services	to	be	provided	to	the	Company	at	a	revised	
rate	of	$11,866	(Cdn$12,360)	per	month.

     
d)		 On	September	18,	2008	the	Company	signed	two	mining	lease	agreements	which	require	ten	annual	payments	

of	$75,000.	The	first	payment	was	made	on	signing.	Refer	to	Note	6(m).
     
e)		 Effective	September	1,	2008	the	Company	amended	its office and administration services agreement with a 

company controlled by a director, for an amount of $16,320 (Cdn$17,000) per month, extending its term to 
August 31, 2010.

          
f)		 As	of	December	31,	2008,	 the	Company	has	provided	a	bond	 in	 the	 amount	of	$622,500	 to	 the	State	of	

Wyoming,	Department	of	Environmental	Quality	or	the	Secretary	of	the	Interior,	United	States	Government.	
The	bond	is	in	lieu	of	depositing	cash	to	guarantee	reclamation	of	exploration	drill	holes	in	the	Arkose	Mining	
Venture	and	surety	was	provided	by	an	insurance	company.	The	bond	applies	to	250	drill	holes	on	a	revolving	
basis.	The	Company	and	the	Arkose	Mining	Venture	have	a	100%	record	of	completing	reclamation	without	
recourse	to	security	provided.

     
g)		 On	May	1,	2009	 the	Company	has	agreed	 to	pay	an	estimated	cost	of	$202,987,	 subsequently	 revised	 to	

$163,107,	for	the	Nichols	Ranch	Power	Line	Extension	Project.	As	at	December	31,	2009,	a	$40,957	payment	
for	engineering	and	design	has	been	paid	and	recorded	as	an	expense.	The	balance	owing	of	$122,150	will	be	
payable	upon	obtaining	construction	approval.

     
h)		 On	June	23,	2009	the	Company	signed	a	letter	of	understanding	in	which	the	Company	has	agreed	to	pay	

an	estimated	customer	advance	of	$674,200	for	 the	provision	of	electricity,	subject	 to	the	completion	and	
development	of	a	definitive	term	sheet.	As	at	December	31,	2009,	no	amount	has	been	paid.
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14.  Income Taxes
     
 The Company has adopted the provisions of ASC 740, Income Taxes. Pursuant to ASC 740 the Company is re-

quired to compute tax asset benefits for net operating losses carried forward. The potential benefit of net operating 
losses have not been recognized in the consolidated financial statements because the Company cannot be assured 
that it is more likely than not that it will utilize the net operating losses carried forward in future years. The Com-
pany has approximately $16,139,493 of net operating losses to carry forward which are available to offset taxable 
income in future years which expire through fiscal 2028. For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 
the valuation allowance established against the deferred tax assets increased by $2,879,107, $11,299,163, and 
$3,442,858 respectively.

     
 The components of the net deferred tax asset at December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, the statutory tax rate, the ef-

fective tax rate, and the amount of the valuation allowance are indicated below:

 
 

 
 

December 31, 
2009 

 
 

 
 

December 31, 
2008 

 
 

 
 

December 31, 
2007 

 
 

Loss before taxes $      (8,699,154) $  (34,247,199) $  (14,197,366) 
Statutory rate  35%   35%   35%  
          
Computed expected tax (recovery) $       (3,044,704) $  (11,986,520) $  (4,969,078) 
Stock-based compensation  322,793   938,496   1,517,262  
Joint venture chargeback  (166,268)  (251,140)  –  
          
Miscellaneous  –   –   8,958  
Increase in valuation allowance:          
   Net operating loss  1,215,744   622,297   989,919  
   Exploration and development  4,672,435   1,980,401   –  
   Mineral property acquisition costs  –   8,696,466   2,452,939  
Reported income taxes $                      –  $  –  $  –  

 
 

 
 

December 31, 
2009 

 
 

 
 

December 31, 
2008 

 
 

 
 

December 31, 
2007 

 
 

Deferred tax asset          

   Net operating losses $ 5,648,823  $  3,700,530  $  3,078,233  

   Mineral property acquisition, exploration  
   and development 

 15,347,332   13,674,897   2,998,031  

   Less valuation allowance  (20,996,155)  (17,375,427)  (6,076,264) 

Net deferred tax asset $  –  $  –  $  –  
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14.  Income Taxes (continued)

 The Company has incurred operating losses of approximately $16,139,493 which, if unutilized, will expire through 
to 2029. Future tax benefits, which may arise as a result of these losses, have not been recognized in these consoli-
dated financial statements, and have been offset by a valuation allowance. The following table lists the fiscal year 
in which the loss was incurred and the expiration date of the loss. 

 

 
Net 
Loss 

Expiration 
Date 

1999 $  329 2019 

2000  493 2020 

2001  18,389 2021 

2002  46,564 2022 

2003  23,560 2023 

2004  18,367 2024 

2005  4,420,398 2025 

2006  1,438,511 2026 

2007  2,828,339 2027 

2008  3,870,989 2028 

2009  3,473,554 2029 

 $ 16,139,493  

15.  Segment Disclosures
   
 The Company has two operating segments both involving the acquisition and exploitation of uranium and mineral resourc-

es. These operating segments consist of the Arkose Joint Venture (“Arkose”) and the Company’s remaining operations.
   
 Factors used to identify the Company’s reportable segments include the organizational structure of the Company and the 

financial information available for evaluation by the chief operating decision-maker in making decisions about how to 
allocate resources and assess performance. The Company’s operating segments have been broken out based on similar 
economic and other qualitative criteria. The Company operates both reporting segments in one geographical area, the 
United States.

   
 The Chief Executive Officer is the Company’s Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) as defined by ASC 280, Seg-

ment Reporting. The CODM allocates resources and assesses the performance of the Company based on the results of 
operations.

   
 Prior to the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company only had one operating segment. Financial statement informa-

tion by operating segment for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 is presented below:

 December 31, 2009 

 
 

Total 
$

Uranerz 
$

Arkose 
$

Assets 30,810,289  30,153,087 657,202
 

Net loss (8,699,154) (6,900,858) (1,798,296)

Interest expense (2,941) (2,941) – 

Interest revenue 155,402 155,402 – 

Depreciation (175,877) (175,877) – 
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15.  Segment Disclosures (continued)
 December 31, 2008 

 
 

Total 
$

 Uranerz 
$

 Arkose 
$  

Assets 22,865,737  21,909,388  956,349 

      

Net loss (34,247,199) (31,419,772) (2,827,427)

Interest expense (5,551) (5,551) – 

Interest revenue 610,408  610,408  – 

Depreciation (129,268) (129,268) – 

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations 979,709  979,709  – 

Loss from discontinued operations (2,632) (2,632) – 

16. Subsequent Events

 In accordance with ASC Topic 855-10, Subsequent Events – Overall, the Company evaluated subsequent events 
through March 10, 2010, the date of issuance of the financial statements. During this period we did not have any 
material recognizable subsequent events, except as disclosed below.

   In January 2010, the Company granted 702,500 stock options to directors, officers, employees and consultants at 
an exercise price of $1.33 per share expiring from January 5, 2015 to January 5, 2020.

   In March 2010, the Company extended the expiry periods of 5,286,700 of its outstanding options held by employees 
and directors. The expiry period of each such option was extended to a period of ten years from the original grant 
date. All other terms of such options, including the exercise price, remain unchanged from those of the original 
grant.

 Supplemental Financial Information ($,000) 

2009  
4th  

Quarter  
3rd 

Quarter  
2nd 

Quarter  
1st  

Quarter 

Revenue $  – $  – $  – $  – 

Net profit (loss) $ (2,977) $ (2,549) $ (1,887) $ (1,987)

Basic and diluted profit (loss) per 
share 

 (0.05)  (0.05)  (0.03)  (0.04)

2008  
4th  

Quarter  
3rd 

Quarter  
2nd 

Quarter  
1st  

Quarter 

Revenue $  – $  – $  – $  – 

Net profit (loss) $ (2,085) $ (2,363) $ (1,452) $ (28,319)

Basic and diluted profit (loss) per 
share 

 (0.04)  (0.04)  (0.03)  (0.64)
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ITEM 8. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 
None 

ITEM 8A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

During	 the	period	covered	by	 this	Annual	Report	on	Form	10-K	for	 the	fiscal	year	ended	December	31,	2009,	an	
evaluation	 was	 carried	 out	 under	 the	 supervision	 of	 and	 with	 the	 participation	 of	 the	 Company’s	 management,	
including	the	Chief	Executive	Officer	(“CEO”)	and	Chief	Financial	Officer	(“CFO”),	of	the	effectiveness	of	the	design	
and	operations	of	the	Company’s	disclosure	controls	and	procedures	(as	defined	in	Rule	13a	–	15(e)	and	Rule	15d	–	
15(e)	under	the	Exchange	Act).	Based	on	that	evaluation	the	CEO	and	the	CFO	have	concluded	that	as	of	the	end	of	
the	period	covered	by	this	report,	the	Company’s	disclosure	controls	and	procedures	were	adequately	designed	and	
effective	in	ensuring	that:	(i)	information	required	to	be	disclosed	by	the	Company	in	reports	that	it	files	or	submits	to	
the	Securities	and	Exchange	Commission	under	the	Exchange	Act	is	recorded,	processed,	summarized	and	reported	
within	the	time	periods	specified	in	applicable	rules	and	forms;	and	(ii)	material	information	required	to	be	disclosed	
in	our	reports	filed	under	the	Exchange	Act	is	accumulated	and	communicated	to	our	management,	including	our	CEO	
and	CFO,	as	appropriate,	to	allow	for	accurate	and	timely	decisions	regarding	required	disclosure.	

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

The	Company’s	management	is	responsible	for	establishing	and	maintaining	adequate	internal	control	over	financial	
reporting	as	defined	 in	Rules	13a-15(f)	and	15d-15(f)	under	 the	Exchange	Act.	Our	 internal	control	over	financial	
reporting	is	a	process	designed	to	provide	reasonable	assurance	regarding	the	reliability	of	financial	reporting	and	the	
preparation	and	fair	presentation	of	financial	statements	for	external	purposes	in	accordance	with	generally	accepted	
accounting	principles.	

Because	of	its	inherent	limitations,	internal	control	over	financial	reporting	may	not	prevent	or	detect	misstatements.	
Projections	 of	 any	 evaluation	 of	 effectiveness	 to	 future	 periods	 are	 subject	 to	 the	 risk	 that	 controls	may	 become	
inadequate	because	of	changes	in	conditions,	or	that	the	degree	of	compliance	with	the	policies	or	procedures	may	
deteriorate.

Management	conducted	an	evaluation	of	the	design	and	operation	of	the	Company’s	internal	control	over	financial	
reporting	as	of	December	31,	2009,	based	on	the	criteria	set	forth	in	Internal	Control	–	Integrated	Framework	issued	
by	the	Committee	of	Sponsoring	Organizations	of	the	Treadway	Commission.	This	evaluation	included	review	of	the	
documentation	of	controls,	evaluation	of	the	design	effectiveness	of	controls,	testing	of	the	operating	effectiveness	of	
controls	and	a	conclusion	on	this	evaluation.	Based	on	this	evaluation,	management	has	concluded	that	the	Company’s	
internal	control	over	financial	 reporting	was	effective	as	of	December	31,	2009	and	no	material	weaknesses	were	
discovered.	

The	effectiveness	of	internal	control	over	financial	reporting	as	of	December	31,	2009	has	been	audited	by	Manning	
Elliott	 LLP,	 the	 independent	 registered	 public	 accounting	 firm	 that	 audited	 the	 Company’s	 financial	 statements	
included	in	this	Annual	Report.		
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Attestation Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

To	the	Directors	and	Stockholders	 
Uranerz	Energy	Corporation	 
(An	Exploration	Stage	Company)	

We	have	audited	Uranerz	Energy	Corporation’s	internal	control	over	financial	reporting	as	of	December	31,	2009,	based	on	criteria	
established	in	Internal	Control	—	Integrated	Framework	issued	by	the	Committee	of	Sponsoring	Organizations	of	 the	Treadway	
Commission	 (the	 COSO	 criteria).	 Uranerz	 Energy	 Corporation’s	 management	 is	 responsible	 for	 maintaining	 effective	 internal	
control	over	financial	reporting,	and	for	its	assessment	of	the	effectiveness	of	internal	control	over	financial	reporting	included	in	the	
accompanying	Management’s	Report	on	Internal	Control	Over	Financial	Reporting.	Our	responsibility	is	to	express	an	opinion	on	the	
Company’s	internal	control	over	financial	reporting	based	on	our	audit.

We	conducted	our	audit	in	accordance	with	the	standards	of	the	Public	Company	Accounting	Oversight	Board	(United	States).	Those	
standards	require	that	we	plan	and	perform	the	audit	to	obtain	reasonable	assurance	about	whether	effective	internal	control	over	
financial	reporting	was	maintained	in	all	material	respects.	Our	audit	included	obtaining	an	understanding	of	internal	control	over	
financial	reporting,	assessing	the	risk	that	a	material	weakness	exists,	testing	and	evaluating	the	design	and	operating	effectiveness	of	
internal	control	based	on	the	assessed	risk,	and	performing	such	other	procedures	as	we	considered	necessary	in	the	circumstances.	
We	believe	that	our	audit	provides	a	reasonable	basis	for	our	opinion.

A	company’s	internal	control	over	financial	reporting	is	a	process	designed	to	provide	reasonable	assurance	regarding	the	reliability	
of	 financial	 reporting	 and	 the	 preparation	 of	 financial	 statements	 for	 external	 purposes	 in	 accordance	 with	 generally	 accepted	
accounting	principles.	A	company’s	internal	control	over	financial	reporting	includes	those	policies	and	procedures	that	(1)	pertain	to	
the	maintenance	of	records	that,	in	reasonable	detail,	accurately	and	fairly	reflect	the	transactions	and	dispositions	of	the	assets	of	the	
company;	(2)	provide	reasonable	assurance	that	transactions	are	recorded	as	necessary	to	permit	preparation	of	financial	statements	
in	accordance	with	generally	accepted	accounting	principles,	and	that	receipts	and	expenditures	of	the	company	are	being	made	only	
in	accordance	with	authorizations	of	management	and	directors	of	 the	company;	and	(3)	provide	reasonable	assurance	regarding	
prevention	or	timely	detection	of	unauthorized	acquisition,	use,	or	disposition	of	the	company’s	assets	that	could	have	a	material	effect	
on	the	financial	statements.

Because	of	its	inherent	limitations,	internal	control	over	financial	reporting	may	not	prevent	or	detect	misstatements.	Also,	projections	
of	any	evaluation	of	effectiveness	to	future	periods	are	subject	to	the	risk	that	controls	may	become	inadequate	because	of	changes	in	
conditions,	or	that	the	degree	of	compliance	with	the	policies	or	procedures	may	deteriorate.

In	our	opinion,	Uranerz	Energy	Corporation	maintained,	in	all	material	respects,	effective	internal	control	over	financial	reporting	as	
of	December	31,	2009,	based	on	the	COSO	criteria.

We	also	have	audited,	in	accordance	with	the	standards	of	the	Public	Company	Accounting	Oversight	Board	(United	States),	the	
accompanying	 consolidated	 balance	 sheets	 of	Uranerz	Energy	Corporation	 as	 of	December	 31,	 2009	 and	2008,	 and	 the	 related	
consolidated	statements	of	operations,	cash	flows,	and	stockholders	equity	for	each	of	the	three	years	in	the	period	ended	December	
31,	2009	and	accumulated	from	May	26,	1999	(Date	of	 Inception)	 to	December	31,	2009	and	our	 report	dated	March	10,	2010	
expressed	an	unqualified	opinion	thereon.

MANNING	ELLIOTT	LLP

CHARTERED	ACCOUNTANTS	 
Vancouver,	Canada	 
March	10,	2010
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

There	 were	 no	 changes	 in	 our	 internal	 control	 over	 financial	 reporting	 identified	 in	 connection	 with	 the	 above-
referenced	 evaluation	 by	 management	 of	 the	 effectiveness	 of	 our	 internal	 control	 over	 financial	 reporting	 that	
occurred	during	the	fourth	quarter	ended	December	31,	2009,	that	have	materially	affected,	or	are	reasonably	likely	to	
materially	affect,	our	internal	control	over	financial	reporting.	

ITEM 8B. OTHER INFORMATION.

None

PART III

ITEM 9. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Reference	is	made	to	the	information	set	forth	under	the	captions	“Election	of	Directors”	and	“Executive	Officers”	in	
our	definitive	proxy	statement	to	be	filed	with	the	Securities	and	Exchange	commission	pursuant	to	Regulation	14A,	
which	information	is	incorporated	by	reference	to	this	Annual	Report	on	Form	10-K.	

Code of Ethics

We	have	 adopted	 a	Corporate	Code	of	Ethics	 administered	by	our	Chief	Financial	Officer,	Benjamin	Leboe.	We	
believe	our	code	of	ethics	is	reasonably	designed	to	deter	wrongdoing	and	promote	honest	and	ethical	conduct,	 to	
provide	full,	fair,	accurate,	timely	and	understandable	disclosure	in	public	reports,	to	comply	with	applicable	laws,	to	
ensure	prompt	internal	reporting	of	code	violations,	and	to	provide	accountability	for	adherence	to	the	code.	Our	code	
of	ethics	provides	written	standards	that	are	reasonably	designed	to	deter	wrongdoing	and	to	promote:	

•	 Honest	and	ethical	conduct,	including	the	ethical	handling	of	actual	or	apparent	conflicts	of	interest	between	
personal	and	professional	relationships;	

•	 Full,	 fair,	 accurate,	 timely	and	understandable	disclosure	 in	 reports	and	documents	 that	are	filed	with,	or	
submitted	to,	the	SEC	and	in	other	public	communications	made	by	an	issuer;	

•	 Compliance	with	applicable	governmental	laws,	rules	and	regulations;	

•	 The	prompt	internal	reporting	of	violations	of	the	code	to	an	appropriate	person	or	persons	identified	in	the	
code;	and	

•	 Accountability	for	adherence	to	the	code.	

Our	 Code	 of	 Ethics	 is	 available	 at	 our	 website	 at	 www.uranerz.com.	We	 intend	 to	 disclose	 any	 waiver	 from	 a	
provision	 of	 our	 code	 of	 ethics	 that	 applies	 to	 any	 of	 our	 principal	 executive	 officer,	 principal	 financial	 officer,	
principal	accounting	officer	or	controller	or	persons	performing	similar	functions	that	relates	to	any	element	of	our	
Code	of	Ethics	on	our	website.	No	waivers	were	granted	from	the	requirements	of	our	Code	of	Ethics	during	the	year	
ended	December	31,	2009,	or	during	the	subsequent	period	from	January	1,	2010,	through	the	date	of	this	report.

ITEM 10. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Reference	is	made	to	the	information	set	forth	under	the	captions	“Election	of	Directors”	and	“Executive	Officers”	in	
our	definitive	proxy	statement	to	be	filed	with	the	Securities	and	Exchange	commission	pursuant	to	Regulation	14A,	
which	information	is	incorporated	by	reference	to	this	Annual	Report	on	Form	10-K.	

ITEM 11. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 

Reference	is	made	to	the	information	set	forth	under	the	captions	“Security	Ownership	of	Principal	Shareholders	and	
Management”	in	our	definitive	proxy	statement	to	be	filed	with	the	Securities	and	Exchange	commission	pursuant	to	
Regulation	14A,	which	information	is	incorporated	by	reference	to	this	Annual	Report	on	Form	10-K.	
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ITEM 12. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 

Reference	 is	 made	 to	 the	 information	 set	 forth	 under	 the	 caption	 “Certain	 Transactions”	 in	 our	 definitive	 proxy	
statement	to	be	filed	with	the	Securities	and	Exchange	commission	pursuant	to	Regulation	14A,	which	information	is	
incorporated	by	reference	to	this	Annual	Report	on	Form	10-K.	

ITEM 13. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Reference	is	made	to	the	information	set	forth	under	the	captions	“Audit	Committee	Report”	in	our	definitive	proxy	
statement	to	be	filed	with	the	Securities	and	Exchange	commission	pursuant	to	Regulation	14A,	which	information	is	
incorporated	by	reference	to	this	Annual	Report	on	Form	10-K

PART IV

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Documents Filed as Part of This Report.

(1) Financial Statements
• Supplemental	Financial	Data

• Report	of	Independent	Registered	Public	Accounting	Firm

• Consolidated	Balance	Sheets	as	of	December	31,	2009	and	2008

• Statements	of	Consolidated	Operations	for	the	years	ended	December	31,	2009,	2008,	and	2007

• Statements	of	Consolidated	Cash	Flows	for	the	years	ended	December	31,	2009,	2008,	and	2007

• Statements	of	Consolidated	Common	Shareholders’	Equity	for	the	years	ended	December	31,	
2009,	2008	and	2007 

• Notes	to	Consolidated	Financial	Statements

(2) Financial Statement Schedules

Schedules	are	omitted	and	are	not	applicable	or	not	required,	or	the	required	information	is	shown	in	the	financial	
statements	or	notes	thereto.	

(3) Exhibits

Where	an	exhibit	 is	filed	by	 incorporation	by	 reference	 to	a	previously	filed	 registration	statement	or	 report,	 such	
registration	statement	or	report	is	identified	in	parentheses.	

Exhibit 
Number 

  
Description 

3.1 Articles of Incorporation (1) 

3.2 Bylaws, as amended (1) 

3.3 Articles of Amendment filed July 5, 2005 (3) 

3.4 Articles of Amendment filed August 8, 2008(16) 

3.5 Articles of Amendment filed July 8, 2009(17) 

4.1 Share Certificate(1) 

4.2 Form of Lock-up Agreement(19) 

4.3 Warrant Indenture, dated October 27, 2009(20) 



Annual Report 200964

Exhibit 
Number Description

4.4 Supplemental Warrant Indenture dated December 8, 2009(21) 

10.1 Office and Administration Services Agreement between the Company and Senate Capital Group Inc. 
dated September 1, 2005 (2) 

10.2 Agreement for Services between the Company and Highlands Capital, Inc. dated November 1, 2005 (2) 

10.3 Financial Public Relations Agreement between the Company and Accent Marketing Ltd. dated  
November 1, 2005 (2) 

10.4 Mineral Property Purchase Agreement between the Company and Ubex Capital Inc. dated  
April 26, 2005 (2) 

10.5 Joint Venture Agreement between the Company and Triex Minerals Corporation dated November 
 4, 2005 (2) 

10.6 Consulting Agreement between the Company and Ubex Capital Inc. for management and consulting 
services (2) 

10.7 Consulting Agreement between Catchpole Enterprises and the Company (3) 

10.8 Joint Venture Agreement between the Company and Bluerock Resources Ltd. (3) 

10.9 Option and Purchase Agreement for federal mining claims in Wyoming (3) 

10.10 Agreement to Purchase ten mining claims in Wyoming (3) 

10.11 2005 Stock Option Plan as amended June 10, 2009 (17) 

10.12 Mr. George Hartman letter agreement. (3) 

10.13 Black Range Minerals Agreement dated June 7, 2006 (5) 

10.14 Amendment to Joint Venture Agreement dated September 12, 2006 between the Company and Bluerock 
Resources Ltd. (6) 

10.15 Agreement dated February 1, 2007 between the Company and Robert C. Shook to acquire three projects 
separate uranium projects located in northeast Wyoming, in central Powder River Basin (7) (8) 

10.16 Consulting Agreement dated February 1, 2007 between the Company and O & M Partners, LLC (7) (8) 

10.17 Christensen Ranch Agreement dated October 30, 2006 between the Company and George Hartman (9) (10) 

10.18 Amendment Agreement dated January 1, 2007 between the Company and Ubex Capital Inc. (10)

10.19 Amendment Agreement dated January 1, 2007 between the Company and Catchpole Enterprises Inc. (10)

10.20 Amendment Agreement dated January 1, 2007 between the Company and Senate Capital Group Inc. (10)

10.21 Purchase and Sale Agreement with NAMMCO dated September 19, 2007, as amended (11) (12)
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Exhibit 
Number Description

10.22 Venture Agreement with United Nuclear LLC dated January 15, 2008 (13) 

10.23 Agreement with Independent Management Consultants of British Columbia 

10.24 Subscription Agreement with Denison Mines dated March 27, 2008 

10.25 Agency Agreement with Haywood Securities and Cormark Securities Inc. dated April 15, 2008(14) 

10.26 Amendment to Joint Venture Agreement dated March 20, 2008 between the Company and Bluerock 
Resources Ltd. (15) 

10.27 Amended Hartman Letter Agreement effective January 1, 2008(18) 

23.1 Consent of Manning Elliott LLP, independent registered accountants 

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act 

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act 

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a or 15(d) of the Exchange Act and 18 U.S.C. 
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a or 15(d) of the Exchange Act and 18 U.S.C. 
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

(1)  Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission as an exhibit to the Registrant’s Form SB-2 filed March 15, 2002
(2)  Previously filed as an exhibit to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB filed November 21, 2005
(3)  Previously filed as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-KSB filed April 14, 2006
(4)  Filed as an exhibit to our Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the SEC on November 21, 2005.
(5)  Previously filed as an exhibit to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB filed August 15, 2006
(6)  Filed as an exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB filed November 13, 2006.
(7)  As reported in two separate Current Reports on Form 8-K filed on February 8, 2007.
(8)  Previously filed as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-KSB filed April 2, 2006
(9)  As in Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 2, 2006.
(10)  Filed as an exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB filed August 14, 2007.
(11)  As reported and filed in Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 24, 2007.
(12)  As reported and filed in Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 16, 2008.
(13)  Filed as an exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 17, 2008.
(14)  As reported and filed in Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 18, 2008.
(15)  Filed as an exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 9, 2008.
(16)  Filed as an exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed August 11, 2008.
(17)  Filed as an exhibit to our Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed July 9, 2009.
(18)  Filed as an exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed August 10, 2009.
(19)  Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 22, 2009.
(20)  Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 27, 2009.
(21)  Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 8, 2009
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GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

The	following	defined	technical	terms	are	used	in	this	Annual	Report:	

Exploration drilling: drilling	done	in	search	of	new	mineral	deposits	or	for	the	possible	extensions	of	existing	
deposits	up	to	the	time	a	company	decides	that	sufficient	ore	reserves	are	present	to	justify	commercial	development.

FASB: Financial	Accounting	Standards	Board

GAAP: Accounting	principles	generally	accepted	in	the	United	States	of	America	

In-situ recovery (ISR): the	recovery,	by	chemical	leaching,	of	the	uranium	component	of	an	ore	body	without	
physically	extracting	the	ore	from	the	ground.	ISR	mining	utilizes	injection	of	appropriate	oxidizing	chemicals	into	
an	ore-bearing	sandstone	deposit	with	extraction	by	production	wells;	also	referred	to	as	solution	mining.

SEC: Securities	and	Exchange	Commission	

SFAS: Statement	of	Financial	Accounting	Standards

Uranium: a	heavy,	naturally	radioactive,	metallic	element	of	atomic	number	92.	Its	two	principal	isotopes	are	235U	
and	238U,	of	which	the	235U	is	the	necessary	component	for	the	nuclear	fuel	cycle.

Uranium concentrate (yellowcake): a	yellowish	to	yellow-brownish	powder	obtained	from	the	chemical	processing	
of	uranium	ore.	Yellowcake	typically	contains	70	to	90%	U3O8 by	weight.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant	to	the	requirements	of	Section	13	or	15(d)	of	the	Securities	Exchange	Act	of	1934,	the	registrant	has	duly	
caused	this	2009	Form	10K	report	to	be	signed	on	its	behalf	by	the	undersigned,	thereunto	duly	authorized.	

URANERZ ENERGY CORPORATION

By: /s/ Glenn Catchpole  
  Glenn Catchpole, President and Principal Executive Officer

Director 
Date: March 12, 2010 

 
   
   
By: /s/ Benjamin Leboe  
  Benjamin Leboe, Chief Financial Officer 

Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer 
Date: March 12, 2010 

 
   
   

In	accordance	with	the	Securities	Exchange	Act,	this	report	has	been	signed	below	by	the	following	persons	on	
behalf	of	the	registrant	and	in	the	capacities	and	on	the	dates	indicated

Per: /s/ Glenn Catchpole  
  Glenn Catchpole, President, Director 

Date: March 12, 2010 
 

   
Per: /s/ Dennis Higgs  

 Dennis Higgs, Executive Chairman, Director 
Date: March 12, 2010

 
   
Per: /s/ Gerhard Kirchner  
  Dr. Gerhard Kirchner, Director 

Date: March 12, 2010 
 

   
Per: /s/ George Hartman  
  George Hartman, Executive Vice President, Director 

Date: March 12, 2010 
 

   
Per: /s/ Peter Bell  
  Peter Bell, Director, 

Date: March 12, 2010 
 

   
Per: /s/ Paul Saxton  
  Paul Saxton, Director 

Date: March 12, 2010 
 

   
Per: /s/ Arnold Dyck  
  Arnold Dyck, Director 

Date: March 12, 2010 
 

   
Per: /s/ Richard Holmes  
  Richard Holmes, Director 

Date: March 12, 2010 
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PROXY 
STATEMENT



  

URANERZ ENERGY CORPORATION 
 

Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders 
 
To all Stockholders of Uranerz Energy Corporation: 
 
You are invited to attend the 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Annual Meeting”) of Uranerz 
Energy Corporation (the “Company”).  The Annual Meeting will be held at the Hilton Garden Inn, 1150 
North Poplar Street, Casper, Wyoming 82601 on Wednesday, June 9, 2010, at 9:30 a.m. local time.  The 
purposes of the meeting are: 
 

1. To elect the Nominees to the Company’s Board of Directors to serve until the Company’s 2011 
Annual Meeting of Stockholders or until successors are duly elected and qualified; the following 
are Nominees for election as Directors: Glenn Catchpole, George Hartman, Dennis Higgs, Paul 
Saxton, Gerhard Kirchner, Peter Bell, Arnold Dyck, and Richard Holmes; 

 
2. To approve the Company’s Shareholder Rights Plan; 

 
3. To ratify the appointment of Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, Manning 

Elliott, LLP, for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2010; and 
 

4. To conduct any other business that may properly come before the meeting. 
 
The Board of Directors has fixed April 21, 2010 as the record date for the Annual Meeting.  Only 
stockholders of the Company of record at the close of business on that date will be entitled to notice of, 
and to vote at, the Annual Meeting.  A list of stockholders as of April 21, 2010 will be available at the 
Annual Meeting for inspection by any stockholder.  Stockholders will need to register at the meeting to 
attend and vote at the meeting.  If your shares are not registered in your name, you will need to bring 
proof of your ownership of those shares to the meeting in order to register to attend and vote.  You should 
ask the broker, bank or other institution that holds your shares to provide you with either a copy of an 
account statement or a letter that shows your ownership of Company stock as of April 21, 2010.  Please 
bring that documentation to the meeting. 
 

IMPORTANT 
Whether or not you expect to attend the Annual Meeting, please sign and return the enclosed proxy 
promptly.  If you decide to attend the meeting, you may, if you wish, revoke the proxy and vote your 
shares in person. The Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and the 
Company’s Annual Report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009 are available at 
http://www.uranerz.com/2010annual meeting. 
 
By Order of the Board of Directors, 
 
 
 

Sandra R. MacKay 
Corporate Secretary  

April 27, 2010 
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URANERZ ENERGY CORPORATION 
1701 EAST “E” STREET ▪  P.O. BOX 50850 
CASPER ▪ WYOMING ▪ USA ▪ 82605-0850 

 
Proxy Statement 

for 
Annual Meeting of Stockholders 

 
To Be Held June 9, 2010 

 
Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this statement to “Uranerz Energy,” the “Company,” “we,” 
“us” or “our” refer to Uranerz Energy Corporation. 
 
The Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Uranerz Energy (the “Annual Meeting”) will be held at the Hilton Garden 
Inn, 1150 North Poplar Street, Casper, Wyoming 82601 on Wednesday, June 9, 2010, at 9:30 a.m. local time.   
 
We are providing the enclosed proxy materials and form of proxy in connection with the solicitation by the 
Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) of proxies for this Annual Meeting.  The Company anticipates that this 
Proxy Statement and the form of proxy will first be mailed to holders of the Company’s stock on or about April 27,  
2010. 
 
You are invited to attend the meeting at the above stated time and location.  If you plan to attend and your shares are 
held in “street name” – in an account with a bank, broker, or other nominee –you must obtain a proxy issued in your 
name from such broker, bank or other nominee. 
 
You can vote your shares by completing and returning the proxy card or, if you hold shares in “street name,” by 
completing the voting form provided by the broker, bank or other nominee.   
 
A returned signed proxy card without an indication of how shares should be voted will be voted FOR the 
election of all Directors, FOR the approval of the Shareholder Rights Plan, and FOR the ratification of the 
appointment of the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm.    
 
Our corporate bylaws define a quorum as a one-third of the voting power of the issued and outstanding voting stock 
present in person or by proxy.  The Company’s Articles of Incorporation do not allow cumulative voting for 
Directors.  The nominees who receive the most votes will be elected.  An affirmative vote of a simple majority of 
the shares present, whether in person or by proxy, is required to approve the Shareholder Rights Plan and to ratify 
the appointment of the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm.   
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QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT PROXY MATERIALS AND VOTING 
 
Why am I receiving this Proxy Statement and proxy card? 
 
You are receiving this Proxy Statement and proxy card because you were a stockholder of record at the close of 
business April 21, 2010 and are entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting.  This Proxy Statement describes issues on 
which the Company would like you, as a stockholder, to vote.  It provides information on these issues so that you 
can make an informed decision.  You do not need to attend the Annual Meeting to vote your shares.   
 
When you sign the proxy card you appoint Glenn Catchpole, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, 
and Dennis Higgs, Executive Chairman of the Board of the Company, as your representatives at the Annual 
Meeting.  As your representatives, they will vote your shares at the Annual Meeting (or any adjournments or 
postponements) in accordance with your instructions on your proxy card.  With proxy voting, your shares will be 
voted whether or not you attend the Annual Meeting.  Even if you plan to attend the Annual Meeting, it is a good 
idea to complete, sign and return your proxy card in advance of the Annual Meeting, just in case your plans change. 
 
If an issue comes up for vote at the Annual Meeting (or any adjournments or postponements) that is not described in 
this Proxy Statement, your representatives will vote your shares, under your proxy, at their discretion, subject to any 
limitations imposed by law. 
 
When is the record date? 
 
The Board has fixed April 21, 2010 as the record date for the Annual Meeting.  Only holders of Uranerz Energy 
voting stock as of the close of business on that date will be entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. 
 
How many shares are outstanding? 
 
As of April 21, 2010, the Company had 64,194,887 shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding. 
 
What am I voting on? 
 
You are being asked to vote on the following: 
 
•   The election of eight (8) directors for the ensuing  year;  
 
•   The ratification of the Shareholder Rights Plan; 

•    
The appointment of the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, Manning Elliott LLP; and 

 
•   Any other business that may properly come before the meeting. 
 
How many votes do I get?  
 
Each share of Common Stock is entitled to one vote.  No cumulative rights are authorized, and dissenters’ rights are 
not applicable to any of the matters being voted upon. 
 
The Board recommends a vote FOR each of the nominees to the Board, FOR the approval of the Shareholder 
Rights Plan, and FOR the ratification of the appointment of the Company’s independent registered public 
accounting firm, Manning Elliott LLP. 
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How do I vote? 
 
You have several voting options. You may vote by: 
 
•   Signing your proxy card and mailing it in the enclosed, prepaid and addressed envelope;  
 

•   Signing and faxing your proxy card to our transfer agent, Corporate Stock Transfer, for proxy voting, to the 
fax number provided on the proxy card; 

 
•   Voting over the Internet by following the procedures provided on the proxy card; or  
 
•   Attending the Annual Meeting and voting in person. 
 
If your shares are held in an account with a brokerage firm, bank, dealer, or other similar organization, then you are 
the beneficial owner of shares held in a “street name” and these proxy materials are being forwarded to you by that 
organization.  The organization holding your account is considered the stockholder of record for purposes of voting 
at the Annual Meeting.  As a beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your broker, bank or other nominee on 
how to vote the shares in your account.  You are also invited to attend the Annual Meeting.  However, since you are 
not the stockholder of record, you may not vote your shares in person at the Annual Meeting unless you request and 
obtain a valid proxy card from your broker, bank, or other nominee.  
 
Can stockholders vote in person at the Annual Meeting? 
 
The Company will pass out written ballots to anyone who wants to vote at the Annual Meeting.  If you hold your 
shares through a brokerage account but do not have a physical share certificate, or the shares are registered in 
someone else’s name, you must request a legal proxy from your stockbroker or the registered owner to vote at the 
meeting. 
 
What if I share an address with another shareholder and we received only one copy of the proxy materials? 
 
If certain requirements are met under relevant U.S. securities law, including in some circumstances, the 
shareholder’s prior written consent, we are permitted to deliver one annual report and one proxy statement to a 
group of shareholders who share the same address.  If you share an address with another shareholder and have 
received only one copy of the proxy materials, but desire another copy, please send a written request to our offices at 
the address below or call us at (604) 689-1659 to request another copy of the proxy materials.  Please note that each 
shareholder should receive a separate proxy card to vote the shares they own. 
 
 
Send requests to: 

Uranerz Energy Corporation  
Suite 1410 – 800 West Pender Street, 
Vancouver, B.C., Canada V6C 2V6  
 
Attention: Sandra R. MacKay 

   Corporate Secretary    
 
 
What if I change my mind after I return my proxy? 
 
You may revoke your proxy and change your vote at any time before the polls close at the Annual Meeting.  You 
may do this by: 
 

•   
Signing another proxy with a later date and mailing it to the attention of: Jason K. Brenkert, Inspector of 
Elections, at 370 17th Street, Suite 4700, Denver, Colorado, 80202, so long as it is received prior to 12:00 
p.m., MDT, on June 8, 2010;  
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•   Voting in person at the Annual Meeting; or  
 

•   
Giving written notice of the revocation of your proxy to the Company’s Corporate Secretary, Sandra R. 
MacKay, at the address given above, prior to 12:00 p.m., MDT on June 8, 2010. 
 

How many votes do you need to hold the meeting? 
 
To conduct the Annual Meeting, the Company must have a quorum, which means that one-third of the outstanding 
voting shares of the Company as of the record date must be present at the meeting.  Based on 64,194,887 shares of 
Common Stock outstanding as of the record date of April 21, 2010,  21,398,296 shares of Common Stock must be 
present in person or by proxy for the quorum to be reached.  Your shares will be counted as present at the Annual 
Meeting if you: 
 
•   Submit a properly executed proxy card (even if you do not provide voting instructions); or  
 
•   Attend the Annual Meeting and vote in person.  
 
What if I abstain from voting? 
 
Abstentions with respect to a proposal are counted for the purposes of establishing a quorum.  If a quorum is 
present, abstentions will not be included in vote totals and will not affect the outcome of the vote on any proposal 
contained in this year’s Proxy Statement. 
 
How many votes are needed to elect directors? 
 
The nominees for election as directors at the Annual Meeting will be elected by a plurality of the votes cast at the 
meeting.  A properly executed proxy card marked WITHHELD with respect to the election of directors will not be 
voted and will not count FOR or AGAINST any of the nominees. 
 
How many votes are needed to approve the Shareholder Rights Plan? 
 
The Shareholder Rights Plan will be approved if the votes cast FOR the proposal exceed the votes cast AGAINST the 
proposal (a majority of shares voting).  A properly executed proxy card marked ABSTAIN with respect to this 
proposal will not be voted and will not count FOR or AGAINST this proposal. 
 
How many votes are needed to ratify the appointment of the independent registered public accountant 
Manning Elliott LLP? 
 
The ratification of the appointment of the independent registered public accountant Manning Elliott LLP will be 
approved if the votes cast FOR the proposal exceed the votes cast AGAINST the proposal (a majority of shares 
voting).  A properly executed proxy card marked ABSTAIN with respect to this proposal will not be voted and will 
not count FOR or AGAINST this proposal. 
 
Will my shares be voted if I do not sign and return my Proxy Card? 
 
If your shares are held through a brokerage account, your brokerage firm, under certain circumstances and subject to 
certain legal restrictions, may vote your shares. 
 
If your shares are registered in your name, and you do not sign and return your proxy card, your shares will not be 
voted at the meeting. 
 
Where can I find the voting results of the meeting?  
 
Within four (4) business days of the Annual Meeting, the Company will file a current report on Form 8-K with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) announcing the voting results of the Annual Meeting. 
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Who will pay for the costs of soliciting proxies? 
 
The Company will bear the cost of soliciting proxies.  In an effort to have as large a representation at the meeting as 
possible, the Company’s directors, officers and employees may solicit proxies by telephone or in person in certain 
circumstances.  These individuals will receive no additional compensation for their services other than their regular 
salaries.  Additionally, the Company may hire a proxy solicitor to help reach the quorum requirement.  The 
Company will pay a reasonable fee in relation to these services.  Upon request, the Company will reimburse brokers, 
dealers, banks, voting trustees and their nominees who are holders of record of the Company’s Common Stock on 
the record date for the reasonable expenses incurred in mailing copies of the proxy materials to the beneficial 
owners of such shares. 
 
When are stockholder proposals due for the 2011 annual meeting of Stockholders? 
 
In order to be considered for inclusion in next year’s (2011) proxy statement, stockholder proposals must be 
submitted in writing to the Company’s Corporate Secretary, Sandra R. MacKay, at Uranerz Energy Corporation, 
Suite 1410, 800 West Pender Street, Vancouver, B.C. Canada V6C 2V6, and received no later than January 1, 2011.  
Similarly, stockholder proposals not submitted for inclusion in the proxy statement and received after March 17, 
2011 will be considered untimely pursuant to Rule 14a-5(e)(2) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934.   
 
How can I obtain a copy of the 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K?  
 
The Company’s 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K, including financial statements, is available through the SEC’s 
website at http://www.sec.gov. 
 
At the written request of any stockholder who owns Common Stock on the record date, the Company will 
provide to such stockholder, without charge, a paper copy of the Company’s 2009 Annual Report on Form 
10-K as filed with the SEC, including the financial statements, but not including exhibits.  If requested, the 
Company will provide copies of the exhibits for a reasonable fee.   
 
Requests for additional paper copies of the 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K should be mailed to: 

 
Uranerz Energy Corporation  
Suite 1410 – 800 West Pender Street, 
Vancouver, B.C., Canada V6C 2V6  

   
 

Attention:  Corporate Secretary 
 
 
What materials accompany or are attached to this proxy statement? 
 
The following materials accompany this proxy statement: 
 

1. Form of proxy card; and 
2. The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

 

INTERNET AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS 
 
Under rules recently adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission, we are now furnishing proxy materials 
on the Internet in addition to mailing paper copies of the materials to each stockholder of record. Instructions on 
how to access and review the proxy materials on the Internet can be found on the proxy card or voting 
instruction form sent to stockholders of record.  The 2009 Annual Report and this Proxy Statement can be 
accessed on the Company’s website at http://www.uranerz.com/2010annualmeeting.  Directions for attending 
the Annual Meeting can also be found at this website.    
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PROPOSAL 1 — ELECTION OF DIRECTORS 

 
GENERAL QUESTIONS 

 
What is the current composition of the Board?  
 
The current Board is composed of eight Directors.  The Company’s current bylaws require the Board to have at least 
one and no more than twelve Directors.   
 
Is the Board divided into classes?  How long is the term?  
 
No, the Board is not divided into classes.  All directors serve one-year terms until their successors are elected and 
qualified at the next Annual Meeting. 
 
Who is standing for election this year?  
 
The Board of Directors has nominated the following eight current Board Members for election at the 2010 Annual 
Meeting, to hold office until the 2011 Annual Meeting:  
 

• Glenn Catchpole;  
• George Hartman;  
• Dennis Higgs;  
• Paul Saxton;  
• Gerhard Kirchner;  
• Peter Bell; 
• Arnold Dyck; and  
• Richard Holmes. 

 
What if a nominee is unable or unwilling to serve?  
 
Should any one or more of these nominees become unable or unwilling to serve, which is not anticipated, the Board 
may designate substitute nominees, in which event the proxy representatives will vote proxies that otherwise would 
be voted for the named nominees for the election of such substitute nominee or nominees. 
 
How are nominees elected? 
 
Directors are elected by a plurality of the votes present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote at the 
meeting.   
 
The Board recommends a vote FOR each of the nominees. 
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INFORMATION ON THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND KEY EMPLOYEES 
The following table sets forth certain information with respect to our current directors, executive officers and key 
employees. The term for each director expires at our next annual meeting or until his or her successor is appointed. 
The ages of the directors, executive officers and key employees are shown as of December 31, 2009. 
  

Name Current Office 
with Company Principal Occupation Director/Officer Since Age 

Glenn Catchpole  President and 
Chief Executive 
Officer; Director  

President and Chief 
Executive Officer, Uranerz 
Energy Corporation  

 

March 1, 2005 
 
 

66  
 
 

George Hartman  Executive Vice-
President and 
Chief Operating 
Officer; Director  

Executive Vice-President 
and Chief Operating 
Officer, Uranerz Energy 
Corporation  

 

May 9, 2005  
 
 
 

70  
 
 
 

Dennis Higgs  Executive 
Chairman  

Executive Chairman of the 
Board, Uranerz Energy 
Corporation  

 

May 26, 1999  
 

52 
 

Paul Saxton*  Director  President of Lincoln 
Mining Corporation  

 

October 26, 2004  
 
 

63  
 
 

Dr. Gerhard 
Kirchner* 

Director  Member, Advisory Board, 
Mindoro Resources 

Limited  

March 13, 2005  
 
 
 

79 
 
 
 

Peter Bell*  Director  President of Ezon 
Healthtech Corporation  

 

May 10, 2006  
 
 

75  
 
 

Arnold J. Dyck*  Director  Retired 
 

May 23, 2006  
 

69 
  

Richard Holmes*  Director  Secretary, Treasurer 
PhosMex Corporation  

 

May 23, 2006  
 
 

68  
 
 

Benjamin Leboe  Chief Financial 
Officer  

Chief Financial Officer  of 
Uranerz Energy 
Corporation  

 

May 23, 2006  
 
 
 

64  
 
 
 



8  

 
Kurtis Brown  Senior Vice-

President, 
Exploration  

Senior Vice-President, 
Exploration of Uranerz 
Energy Corporation 

  

March 8, 2007  
 
 
 

59  
 
 
 

Douglas 
Hirschman  
 
 

Vice President, 
Lands  

Vice President, Lands of 
Uranerz Energy 
Corporation  

 

December 6, 2007  
 
 
 

57  
 
 
 

- Indicates that the director is “independent” in accordance with the NYSE Amex Equities Company Guide. 
 
The following is a description of the business background of the directors and executive officers of Uranerz Energy 
Corporation.  
 
Mr. Glenn Catchpole was appointed to the Board and became our President on March 1, 2005. Mr. Catchpole is a 
licensed engineer who holds an M.S. in civil engineering from Colorado State University. He has been active in the 
uranium solution mining industry since 1978, holding various positions including well field engineer, project 
manager, general manager and managing director of several uranium solution mining operations. 
 
In 1988 Mr. Catchpole joined Uranerz U.S.A., Inc. and Uranerz Exploration and Mining Ltd. and became Director 
of Regulatory Affairs, Environmental Engineering and Solution Mining. Mr. Catchpole’s responsibilities included 
the monitoring and oversight of the environmental and regulatory aspects of two large uranium mines in Canada and 
the operational aspects of one uranium solution mine in the United States. In 1996 Mr. Catchpole was appointed 
General Manager and Managing Director of the Inkai uranium solution mining project located in the Republic of 
Kazakhstan (Central Asia). In 1998 Cameco Corporation acquired Uranerz U.S.A. Inc., and Mr. Catchpole 
continued his post with the Inkai project. Mr. Catchpole spent six years taking the Inkai project from acquisition 
through feasibility study, joint venture formulation, government licensing, environmental permitting, design, 
construction and first phase start-up. 
 
Following his departure from Cameco in 2002, Mr. Catchpole has been an independent consulting engineer 
providing project management to the oil and gas, mining, and construction industries from 2002 until joining our 
company in March 2005. 
 
Mr. George Hartman was appointed to the Board of Directors and the role of Executive Vice-President and Chief 
Executive Officer on May 9, 2005. He has thirty-seven years experience in developing green field projects into 
mining production companies including both metals and industrial mineral projects. He has an M.S. degree in 
Mineral Economics (Colorado School of Mines) and a B.S. in Chemistry (University of Denver). Four process 
patents have been granted in his name. His experience includes thirteen years managing several in-situ recovery 
uranium mines from green field exploration sites through commercial production.  
 
For the past fourteen years Mr. Hartman was General Manager for Fort Cady Minerals Corporation where he had 
complete responsibility for solution mining and process development, permitting, design, procurement, construction, 
production and property management. Property management included federal mining claims and private leases for a 
large deposit of borate mineral. Mr. Hartman managed the project from test stage through construction and operation 
of a demonstration production facility and was also involved with product marketing. 
 
From 1982 to 1989 Mr. Hartman was General Manager, In Situ Leach Projects, for Uranerz USA. During this period 
he managed the interests of all in situ uranium projects which Uranerz USA owned including Ruth, Crow Butte, and 
North Butte. Under his management, Uranerz USA served as the contract operator for the successful test solution 
mining of the Christenson Ranch uranium property now owned by Uranium One.. He was on the Uranerz USA 
acquisition team that studied potential uranium and precious and base metal properties in Nebraska, Colorado, 
Texas, New Mexico, Utah, California and Wyoming. 
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Prior to joining Uranerz USA, Mr. Hartman was president of Ogle Petroleum Inc. from 1979 to 1982 where he was 
in overall operating charge of this uranium production company that joint ventured with Duke Power on a 
commercial solution mine in Wyoming. He was responsible for managing the project from green field exploration 
through commercial production. Mr. Hartman personally designed the processing plant facilities.  
 
Also, previous to his work with Uranerz USA, Mr. Hartman was the Texas Mines Manager for Wyoming Mineral 
Corporation (Westinghouse) from 1976 to 1979, where he was responsible for the management of two production in 
situ uranium mines with ion exchange processing plants in Bruni, and Three Rivers, Texas. 
 
Mr. Dennis Higgs is Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors. Mr. Higgs was appointed to the Board of 
Directors as President and Chief Executive Officer on May 26, 1999, and resigned as President and Chief Executive 
Officer on March 1, 2005. Mr. Higgs became Executive Chairman of our Board of Directors on February 1, 2006. 
 
Mr. Higgs has been involved in the financial and venture capital markets for over twenty years, raising several 
millions of dollars in the United States, Canada and Europe. He founded his first junior exploration company in 
1983 and took it public through an initial public offering in 1984. Since then, Mr. Higgs has been involved in the 
founding, financing and initial public listing of several companies.  
 
In July 1990, Mr. Higgs established Senate Capital Group Inc., a private venture capital company which provides 
management consulting and investor relations services. 
 
At present, Mr. Higgs also serves as a director of Miranda Gold Corp., a Canadian public gold exploration company, 
which he founded in May 1993. 
 
Mr. Paul Saxton was appointed to the Board of Directors on October 26, 2004. Mr. Saxton is a mining engineer 
who also holds an MBA from the University of Western Ontario. He has been active in the mining industry since 
1969, holding various positions including mining engineer, mine superintendent, president and chief executive 
officer of numerous Canadian mining companies. 
 
Following 10 years with Cominco, Mr. Saxton became vice-president and president of Mascot Gold Mines Ltd. 
(from 1983 to 1986), initially working on the design and construction of the Nickel Plate mine in British Columbia, 
Canada. Subsequently Mr. Saxton became a vice-president of Corona Corporation (from 1986 to 1987 where he was 
responsible for western operations and exploration for the company and was instrumental in the re-opening of the 
Nickel Plate Mine). In 1989, Mr. Saxton was appointed senior vice-president of Viceroy Resource Corporation 
where he was responsible for helping to obtain financing and the construction and operations of the Castle Mountain 
mine in California. In 1994, Mr. Saxton was appointed as president of Loki Gold Corporation and Baja Gold Inc. 
where he was responsible for arranging over $45 million in mine financing and bringing the Brewery Creek Gold 
mine into production. Loki Gold, Baja Gold and Viceroy Resource Corp. were merged in 1996 and Mr. Saxton 
became President of Viceroy at that time. 
 
Following his departure from Viceroy in 1998, Mr. Saxton became president of Standard Mining Corp., organizing 
the company and supervising its exploration activities until 2001, when Standard Mining Corp. was merged with 
Doublestar Resources Ltd. In March 2004,  
 
Mr. Saxton is currently president and chief executive officer and a director of Lincoln Mining Corporation, a 
company engaged in mineral exploration in the State of Nevada whose shares are traded on the TSX Venture 
exchange. 
 
Mr. Saxton has been appointed to the Company’s Corporate Governance & Nominating and Compensation 
Committees. 
 
Dr. Gerhard  Kirchner was appointed to the Board March 13, 2005. Dr. Kirchner has 40 years of international 
mine development and management experience including 20 years with Uranerz Exploration and Mining Ltd. 
(“UEM”) (from 1975 to 2005). At UEM, Dr. Kirchner spent nine years as General Manager and 11 years as Senior 
Vice President. He and his team were responsible for the Key Lake uranium discovery and the engineering and 
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development of projects such as the Midwest uranium deposit, Eagle Point North uranium deposit, Star Lake gold 
deposit and the Crow Butte ISL uranium deposit.  
 
Previous to his work with UEM, Dr. Kirchner spent six years developing and managing the Kamoto Mine in 
Kolwezi, Zaire from (1968 to 1974); six years consulting on mining and civil engineering projects in several 
countries including Surinam, Nigeria, Congo, Saudi Arabia and Austria (from 1962 to 1968); five years as a mine 
superintendent and exploration manager in Greenland (from 1957 to 1962) where he discovered the Molybdenum 
Porphyry Erzberg.  
 
Dr. Kirchner is a member of the advisory board of Mindoro Resources Limited, a public company whose shares are 
listed on the TSX Venture Exchange and the Frankfurt Exchange. During the period June 2004 to January 2008, Dr. 
Kirchner was a member of Mindoro’s Board of Directors and served as its Chairman of the Board.  
 
Dr. Kirchner received a multidisciplinary education in mining engineering and economic geology and a Doctorate in 
Mining Sciences from the University of Leoben, Austria. 
 
Dr. Kirchner is a member of the Company’s Compensation and Corporate Governance & Nominating Committees. 
 
Mr. Arnold  Dyck was appointed to the Board of Directors on May 10, 2006. Mr. Dyck was employed at Uranerz 
Exploration and Mining Limited from 1977 to 1998. Mr. Dyck progressed through various positions with Uranerz 
Canada Limited, Uranerz Exploration and Mining Limited, and Uranerz U.S.A. Inc. to become the Senior Vice-
President and Chief Financial Officer for the Uranerz group of companies. He also served as a member of the board 
of directors for Uranerz U.S.A. Inc. and as chairman of the board with a subsidiary mining company. None of 
Uranerz Exploration and Mining Limited, Uranerz Canada Limited, Uranerz U.S.A. nor any of the original Uranerz 
group of companies is connected with, or a predecessor company to Uranerz Energy Corporation. The original 
Uranerz group of companies was acquired by Cameco, the world’s largest primary uranium producer, in 1998. 
 
Mr. Dyck is a graduate of the Registered Industrial Accountant education program and was awarded the designation 
of certified Management Accountant in 1975. 
 
Mr. Dyck chairs the Company’s Audit Committee and is a member of its Compensation Committee. 
 
Mr. Richard  Holmes was appointed to the Board of Directors on May 23, 2006.  Mr. Holmes was an assistant 
controller with Duke Power Company (now Duke Energy) from 1971 to 1981. Duke Energy has operated nuclear 
plants for more than thirty years. While at Duke Power Mr. Holmes was Assistant Controller of the parent company. 
He was also Treasurer of Eastover Land Company, a $100 million subsidiary of Duke’s with interests in coal 
properties in Kentucky and West Virginia. Concurrently, Mr. Holmes was Treasurer of Western Fuel, Duke’s 
uranium mining project in Wyoming. 
 
Mr. Holmes left Duke in 1981 to become Treasurer and Controller of Ogle Resources Inc., an oil and gas company 
with offshore exploration, drilling and production from 1981 to 1986. At the same time, Mr. Holmes was Treasurer 
and Controller for a sister company with an investment in in-situ recovery uranium mining in Wyoming. 
 
During the past five years, although retired, Mr. Holmes is active as Secretary, Treasurer for PhosMex Corporation, 
a California phosphate mining corporation. 
 
Mr. Holmes received his bachelor’s degree in accounting from the University of Wisconsin. He held the position of 
Senior Auditor at Arthur Andersen & Co. in Chicago, Illinois, from 1968 to 1971. Mr. Holmes was an active 
certified public accountant from 1971 to 2003. 
 
Mr. Holmes has  been appointed to the Company’s Audit committee, and serves as the Chair of the Corporate 
Governance & Nominating Committee. 
 
Mr. Peter Bell was appointed to the Board of Directors on May 10, 2006. Mr. Bell practiced as a licensed 
pharmacist until 1968. Since that time he has been a self-employed consultant and a director and member of a 
number of private and public companies and professional organizations. Mr. Bell has been a director of Current 
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Technology Corporation which markets an electrostatic hair maintenance and re-growth process, since 1992. Since 
1997, Mr. Bell has been a director and is the President of Ezon Healthtech Corporation, a private company that is 
involved in the development of a graphic labeling system for pharmaceutical products. 
 
Mr. Bell has provided a wide range of consulting services to businesses and health care companies and 
organizations. These consulting services have included: sales management and reorganization of sales forces; 
regional market development and marketing strategy; opinion surveys and market analysis;  product market 
development; business immigration program presentations; management studies, and development and growth of 
public corporations. 
 
Mr. Bell holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in Pharmacy from the University of Manitoba and a Masters in 
Business Administration from the University of Western Ontario.  
 
Mr. Bell is the Chair of the Compensation Committee and a member of the Audit and Corporate Governance & 
Nominating Committees. 
 
Mr. Benjamin Leboe was appointed as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer on May 23, 2006 and acted as our 
Corporate Secretary from October, 2006 to December, 2007 and from January 2009 to July 2009. Mr. Leboe was a 
Senior Consultant, management consulting, of the Business Development Bank of Canada from January 2005 to 
February 2006. Previously, from 1994 to 2004, Mr. Leboe was a senior financial officer and executive in public 
companies based in Vancouver and Montreal. 
 
Mr. Leboe has been the Principal of Independent Management Consultants of British Columbia from 1990 to date. 
Concurrently, Mr. Leboe was previously vice-president and chief financial officer of VECW Industries Ltd. from 
1990 to 1993, and a partner of KPMG Consulting from 1978 to 1990. Mr. Leboe received his Bachelor of 
Commerce degree from the University of British Columbia. Mr. Leboe is a Chartered Accountant and a Certified 
Management Consultant in the Province of British Columbia. 
 
Mr. Kurtis Brown, a thirty-five year veteran of the mining industry, was appointed Senior Vice-President in March 
2007. Immediately prior to joining Uranez, Mr. Brown was Health, Safety and Environmental Manager for Kellogg, 
Brown & Root, a natural gas producer. Mr. Brown also has five years experience as an independent geological 
consultant. In his previous employment, Mr. Brown assisted with the start up of the Christensen Ranch ISR 
commercial uranium mine now owned by Uranium One.  Mr. Brown earned his Bachelor of Arts Degree in Geology 
from the University of Wyoming and is a Wyoming State certified Professional Geologist and Safety Professional. 
 
Mr. Douglas Hirschman was appointed Vice-President, Lands in December 2007. From January 2006 to June 2007 
Mr. Hirschman was Manager of Lands, International Newmont Gold Corporation. He was an independent 
Consulting Landman from 2002 through 2005 and has over thirty years of experience in the mineral exploration 
industry. Mr. Hirschman holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in Business Management from the University of 
Wyoming. 
 
None of our executive officers or key employees is related by blood, marriage or adoption to any other director or 
executive officer. 
 
To our knowledge, there is no arrangement or understanding between any of our officers and any other person 
pursuant to which the officer was selected to serve as an officer. 
 
Separation of the positions of Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board 
 
Mr. Catchpole joined the Company in 2006 as its President and Chief Executive Officer. Prior to that time Mr. 
Higgs was President of the Company. Mr. Higgs assumed the position of Executive Chairman upon Mr. Catchpole’s 
joining the Company as President and Chief Executive Officer. This governance structure, whereby the positions of 
principle executive officer and board chairman are separate, was chosen in order to ensure broader accountability by 
management to the Board of Directors. Both the principal executive officer and the chairman positions report to and 
are accountable to the Board of Directors. This governance structure was also selected because the Company wished 
to ensure effective leadership in both of the Company’s offices. The principal executive officer oversees the 
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operations office in Casper and the executive chairman oversees the administrative offices in Vancouver. In practice 
there is regular and effective communication between the principal executive officer and the executive chairman of 
the Board and the Board is of the view that the communication between management and the Board is enhanced by 
virtue of the fact that the two positions are distinct.  
 
Advisory Board 
 
We have an advisory board that consists entirely of professional geologists. 
 
Dr. Franz J. Dahlkamp has over 45 years experience as an economic geologist, with specific emphasis in uranium. 
He started as an economic geologist with several mining companies in Germany and abroad. In 1968 he began 
working with the Uranerz group of companies and by 1974 he became the head of their exploration department. 
While at Uranerz he organized and established the Uranerz group of subsidiary companies for uranium exploration 
in Australia, Canada, and the USA, and conducted reconnaissance surveys for uranium worldwide. 
 
Since 1978 Dr. Dahlkamp has been consulting for mining companies, utilities, and national and international 
institutions. From 1978 to 2002, Dr. Dahlkamp lectured at the Universities of Leoben and Salzburg, Austria, and 
Munich, Germany (on uranium deposits: geology, economics, and exploration). 
 
Dr. Dahlkamp has a PhD (1958), a Dr. of Science (Habilitation 1979), and is an Honorary Chair (Honorar-Professor) 
at Mining-University of Leoben (1990). 
 
Dr. Gerhard Ruhrmann has over 30 years experience in uranium exploration, mining and mine waste 
management. From 1976 to 1981, Dr. Ruhrmann was project geologist and exploration manager for Uranerz 
Exploration and Mining (UEM) in Canada, supervising field work in the Otish Mountains of Quebec, the Athabasca 
Basin in Saskatchewan, and the Thelon Basin in Nunavut. In 1982, Dr. Ruhrmann joined Key Lake Mining 
Corporation, to develop exploration tools for high grade unconformity-related uranium deposits on the basis of 
geological and mineralogical research at the Key Lake open pits and other mines in the Athabasca Basin. This 
resulted in a number of papers published in a variety of scientific periodicals including technical documents of the 
International Atomic Energy Agency. 
 
In 1988, Dr. Ruhrmann became engaged in hydrogeological and geotechnical work in Cameco’s engineering 
division, assessing above-ground uranium tailings management facilities and contributing to the in-pit tailings 
disposal concept at the Deilmann open pit in Saskatchewan. 
 
In 1993, Uranerzbergbau (UEB) in Germany called Dr. Ruhrmann to join its consulting branch. Assignments 
included the assessment of exploration and mining projects in central Asia and western Africa, managing a 
subsidiary exploration company in Guinea, providing technical assistance to regulatory agencies in Papua New 
Guinea, monitoring the reclamation work at the former uranium mines in eastern Germany, designing reclamation 
concepts for closed-out uranium mines in central Asia and eastern Europe as well as reviewing the mining practice 
in Vietnam. On the basis of this experience, Dr. Ruhrmann co-authored a book on environmental mine management, 
published in 2001. 
 
Since 2003, Dr. Ruhrmann is practicing as an independent consultant to the mining industry and international 
technical assistance agencies. Assignments include a review of the mining industry in Mongolia, enhancement of 
small-scale mining in Papua New Guinea, quality control at uranium mine rehabilitation projects and the assessment 
of uranium prospects. 
 
Dr. Ruhrmann has a diploma in geology and holds a doctor degree in geology from the University of Tuebingen, 
Germany. Since 2001, Dr. Ruhrmann  has taught mineral exploration at the University of Leoben, Austria. 
 
Mr. Kenneth Cunningham brings over thirty years of experience from diversified mineral exploration and mining 
geology through to executive management. Eighteen of these years have been focused in Nevada. Currently Mr. 
Cunningham is the President and Chief Executive Officer of Miranda Gold Corp. where he aggressively positioned 
this company in the Cortez Gold Trend and successfully negotiated joint ventures with major mining companies 
including Newmont, Placer Dome, Newcrest and Barrick. Previously, he was Exploration Manager with Uranerz 
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U.S.A. Inc. During his tenure with Uranerz Mr. Cunningham led the exploration and acquisition effort that resulted 
in two Nevada gold discoveries; a three million-ounce discovery in the Battle Mountain trend and a one-plus-million 
ounce discovery in the northern Carlin trend. Mr. Cunningham has also been Vice President of Tenneco Minerals 
Company and a Resident Manager with Echo Bay Mining Company. 
 
Mr. Cunningham started his career with Houston Oil and Minerals as a member of its uranium exploration team. In 
1978 he was responsible for the discovery of the Death Valley uranium deposit on Alaska’s Seward Peninsula. This 
deposit contains ten-million-pounds of uranium at a grade of .25% U3O8. 
 
Mr. Joe Hebert is currently Vice President of Exploration for Miranda Gold Corp. Most recently, Mr. Hebert was 
the senior exploration geologist for the Cortez Joint Venture (Placer Dome and Kennecott Minerals) located on the 
Battle Mountain Trend in North Central Nevada. He was a member of the exploration team who discovered the  
over  7.5 million ounce Cortez Hills gold deposit. During his tenure at Cortez he directed all generative and 
acquisition efforts within the joint venture area of interest. 
 
From 1992 to 1999 Mr. Hebert consulted for Uranerz USA, Inc. where he conducted project evaluations and 
generative programs primarily in north central Nevada. The most significant result of this program was the 
recognition of gold potential and acquisition recommendations of the Nike-Converse property in Buffalo Valley 
where Uranerz USA, Inc. discovered approximately 3 M oz of gold resource. He also recommended the REN 
property for acquisition, where  development drilling on a high-grade resource has been being conducted. 
 
During the period when he was consulting, Mr. Hebert initiated a countrywide evaluation of Mongolia, identifying 
essentially unexplored epithermal systems from regional compilation and focused reconnaissance. He focused his 
client in gold belts of NE Mongolia, acquiring for them two large concessions with multiple ore-grade showings in 
large epithermal and intrusive-related alteration cells. This program required interaction with high-level government 
officials, Mongolian junior companies, Mongolian Geological Survey and supervising native crews in remote 
camps. 
 
Director Qualification and Background 
 
The Company’s Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee identifies candidates for nomination to the 
Board of Directors. The Company does not have a formal policy with respect to evaluation of nominees however, it 
has been the Company’s practice to seek to compose a Board of Directors which bring a full complement of skills 
and attributes and experience to the Board and in this respect the Company looks for a diverse range of attributes 
and qualifications among its Board candidates. These include: financial acumen, previous public company 
governance experience, experience in the uranium industry, sound business experience, government relations 
experience, investor relations experience, sales and marketing experience, ISR mining experience, and knowledge of 
the nuclear power industry. Each candidate is not expected to have each of these elements but rather the Corporate 
Governance and Nominating committee seeks to nominate a group which, in the aggregate, is comprised of 
individuals who contribute the full range of such experience and qualifications. Additionally, each nominee is 
expected to display: a commitment to good governance and the protection of shareholders interests, demonstrated 
leadership skills, and effective communication skills. Nominees who have previously served as directors are also 
evaluated on the basis of their attendance record and their dedication to fulfillment of their responsibilities as a 
director of the Company. 
 
In developing its recommendation as to the nominees to the Board of Directors for 2010, the Corporate Governance 
& Nominating Committee concluded that the proposed nominees should each serve as a director based on the 
following particular experience, qualifications and attributes of each director. 
 
Mr. Glenn Catchpole is recommended as a nominee to the Board because of the following particular qualifications: 
extensive experience in the uranium industry, extensive government relations experience, proven business acumen, 
proven leadership abilities, strong interpersonal skills, a demonstrated ability to manage personnel and a proven 
ability to take projects from exploration stage through production start up. 
 
Mr. George Hartman is recommended as a nominee to the Board because of the following particular 
qualifications: extensive experience in the uranium industry, extensive experience in managing ISR uranium mines 
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from greenfield exploration to commercial production demonstrated ability to manage projects and personnel; 
demonstrated experience in negotiation with utility companies and other third parties; effective leadership and 
management skills; and strong interpersonal skills. 
 
Mr. Dennis Higgs is recommended as a nominee to the Board because of the following particular qualifications: 
significant experience in the raising of capital in the public markets, proven experience in forming companies and 
taking them from start-up to viability, significant experience in mergers & acquisitions and financings, experience   
in the  mining industry and previous experience as a director of a public company, understanding of US and 
Canadian securities laws and regulations, demonstrated leadership and interpersonal skills; and  strong presentation 
and communication skills. 
 
Mr. Paul Saxton is recommended as a nominee to the Board because of the following particular qualifications and 
attributes:  Mr. Saxton is a professional engineer with extensive experience in the mining industry, including 
working as a mine superintendent and a chief executive officer of a number of Canadian mining companies. Mr. 
Saxton has considerable previous public company director experience and experience raising capital in the public 
markets. 
 
Dr. Gerhard Kirchner is recommended as a nominee to the Board because of the following particular 
qualifications and attributes: over forty years of mine development and management experience, twenty of which 
have been in the uranium industry. Dr. Kirchner also has previous public company board experience, considerable 
investor relations experience and knowledge; his consultancy experience includes advising on mining and 
engineering projects worldwide. 
 
Mr. Arnold Dyck is recommended as a nominee to the Board because of the following particular qualifications and 
attributes: Mr. Dyck is a Registered Industrial Accountant and Certified Management Accountant and is qualified as 
a “financial expert” as defined for Audit Committee purposes by applicable securities legislation. Mr. Dyck is 
knowledgeable in best audit committee practices and has previously served on the  boards of directors of subsidiary 
companies of public companies. Mr. Dyck’s management and professional experience includes working within the 
uranium mining industry for the original Uranerz group of  companies in a professional capacity and ultimately as a 
member of the board of directors of certain companies within that group.  
 
Mr. Richard Holmes is recommended as a nominee to the Board because of the following particular qualifications 
and attributes:  Mr. Holmes is a certified public accountant with previous auditing experience and thus qualifies as a 
financial expert for Audit committee purposes as that term is defined by applicable securities legislation; 
additionally Mr. Holmes has experience working with a nuclear power plant operator and thus has knowledge of the 
nuclear power industry generally. Mr. Holmes also has previous public company board experience and mining 
industry experience. 
 
Mr. Peter Bell is recommended as a nominee to the Board because of the following particular qualifications and 
attributes:  Mr. Bell has considerable experience as a director of both public and private companies and professional 
organizations. Mr. Bell has broad business experience including having provided a broad range of consulting 
services to businesses in respect of marketing and sales efforts, business growth and development.   
 
The Corporate Governance & Nominating Committee also evaluates each candidate in respect of whether their 
personal and professional schedules allow them to dedicate sufficient time to governance of the Company and in 
each case the above nominees has demonstrated consistent conscientiousness in devoting their time and energies to 
the affairs of the Company. 
 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS STRUCTURE 
 
The Company’s current bylaws require the Board to have at least one and no more than twelve Directors.  The 
current Board is composed of eight Directors.   
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Director Independence 

We had eight directors at December 31, 2009, including five independent directors, as follows:  

Dennis Higgs  
Glenn Catchpole  
George Hartman  
Dr. Gerhard Kirchner, independent  
Paul Saxton, independent  
Arnold Dyck, independent  
Peter Bell, independent  
Richard Holmes, independent  

An “independent” director is a director whom the Board of Directors has determined satisfies the requirements for 
independence under section 803A of the NYSE Amex Company Guide.  

 
MEETINGS OF THE BOARD AND BOARD MEMBER ATTENDANCE  

OF ANNUAL MEETING 
 

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, the Board held six (6) meetings of the Board.  None of the 
incumbent Directors attended fewer than 75% of the board meetings. 
 
Board members are not required to attend the annual meeting but all endeavor to do so.  All but one of the current 
Board members attended last year’s Annual Meeting of the Stockholders.   

 
COMMUNICATIONS TO THE BOARD 

 
Stockholders who are interested in communicating directly with members of the Board, or the Board as a group, 
may do so by writing directly to the individual Board member c/o Corporate Secretary, Sandra R. MacKay, at 
Uranerz Energy Corporation,  Suite 1410 – 800 West Pender Street, Vancouver, B.C., Canada V6C 2V6. The 
Company’s Corporate Secretary will forward communications directly to the appropriate Board member.  If the 
correspondence is not addressed to the particular member, the communication will be forwarded to a Board member 
to bring to the attention of the Board.  The Company’s Corporate Secretary will review all communications before 
forwarding them to the appropriate Board member. 
 

RISK OVERSIGHT 
 

The Board has responsibility for risk oversight and review of management’s risk management practices. The 
President and Chief Executive Officer is responsible for a regular report to the Board on risk oversight and 
management. The President’s report is reviewed by the Board as a whole on a regular basis. This approach provides 
effective leadership on the subject of risk oversight because both senior management and the Board as a whole are 
actively engaged in effective risk oversight. 
 

BOARD COMMITTEES 
 
Our Board of Directors has established four committees: a Marketing Committee, and three standing committees: an 
Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee, and a Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee.   
 
The information below sets out the current members of each of Uranerz’ board committees and the advisory board 
and summarizes the functions of each of the committees in accordance with their mandates. 
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Audit Committee  
 
We have a standing audit committee, established in accordance with section 3(a) (58) (A) of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, as amended. The committee’s charter complies with Rule 10A-3 and the requirements of the NYSE 
Amex Equities Exchange.  Our audit committee is comprised of three directors all of whom, in the opinion of the 
Company’s Board of Directors, are independent (in accordance with Rule 10A-3 and the requirements of Section 
803B of the NYSE Amex Equities Company Guide): Arnold Dyck, Peter Bell and Richard Holmes. Mr. Arnold 
Dyck satisfies the requirement of a “financial expert” as defined under Item 407(d)(5) of Regulation S-K and is, in 
the opinion of the Company’s Board of Directors, “independent” as that term is used in section 803B of the NYSE 
Amex Equities Company Guide and rule 10A-3 (b) (i) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  
 
Our audit committee meets with our management and our external auditors to review matters affecting financial 
reporting, the system of internal accounting and financial controls and procedures and the audit procedures and audit 
plans. Our audit committee reviews our significant financial risks, is involved in the appointment of senior financial 
executives and annually reviews our insurance coverage and any off-balance sheet transactions. 
 
Our audit committee monitors our audit and the preparation of financial statements and all financial disclosure 
contained in our SEC filings. Our audit committee appoints our external auditors, monitors their qualifications and 
independence and determines the appropriate level of their remuneration. The external auditors report directly to the 
audit committee. Our audit committee has the authority to terminate our external auditors’ engagement and approve 
in advance any services to be provided by the external auditors that are not related to the audit. 
 
During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, the Audit Committee met six times.  A copy of the Audit 
Committee charter can be found on the Company’s website at www.uranerz.com. 

 
Audit Committee Report 
  
The Company’s Audit Committee oversees the Company’s financial reporting process on behalf of the Board of 
Directors (the “Board”).  The Committee has three members, each of whom is “independent” as determined under 
Rule 10A-3 of the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules of the American Stock 
Exchange. The Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board. 
  
The Committee assists the Board by overseeing the (1) integrity of the Company’s financial reporting and internal 
control, (2) independence and performance of the Company’s independent auditors, (3) and provides an avenue of 
communication between management, the independent auditors, and the Board. 
  
In the course of providing its oversight responsibilities regarding the 2009 financial statements, the Committee 
reviewed the 2009 audited financial statements, which appear in the 2009 Annual Report to Shareholders, with 
management and the Company’s independent auditors. The Committee reviewed accounting principles, practices, 
and judgments as well as the adequacy and clarity of the notes to the financial statements. 
  
The Committee reviewed the independence and performance of the independent auditors who are responsible for 
expressing an opinion on the conformity of those audited financial statements with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States, and such other matters as required to be communicated by the independent auditors in 
accordance with Statement on Auditing Standards 61, as superseded by Statement of Auditing Standard 114 – the 
Auditor’s Communication with Those Charged with Governance. 
  
The Committee meets with the independent auditors to discuss their audit plans, scope and timing on a regular basis, 
with or without management present. The Committee has received the written disclosures and the letter from the 
independent auditors required by applicable standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board for 
independent auditor communications with Audit Committees concerning independence as may be modified or 
supplemented, concerning its independence as required under applicable standards for auditors of public companies. 
  
In reliance on the reviews and discussions referred to above, the Committee recommended to the Board, and the 
Board has approved, that the audited financial statements be included in the Annual Report to the Securities and 
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Exchange Commission on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009. The Committee and the Board have 
also recommended the selection of Manning Elliot LLP as independent auditors for the Company for the year 2010. 
 
Submitted by the Audit Committee Members 
Arnold Dyck, Chairman 
Richard Holmes 
Peter Bell 
 
Compensation Committee 
 
We have a Compensation Committee comprised of four directors all of whom, in the opinion of the Company’s 
Board of Directors, are independent (under the requirements of the NYSE Amex Equities Company Guide): Peter 
Bell (Committee Chair), Arnold Dyck, Gerhard Kirchner and Paul Saxton. We have a Compensation Committee 
charter that complies with the requirements of the NYSE Amex Equities Exchange. Our Compensation Committee 
is responsible for considering and authorizing terms of employment and compensation of executive officers and 
providing advice on compensation structures in the various jurisdictions in which we operate. Our Chief Executive 
Officer may not be present during the voting determination or deliberations in respect of his or her compensation. In 
addition, our Compensation Committee reviews both our overall salary objectives and significant modifications 
made to employee benefit plans, including those applicable to executive officers, and proposes awards of stock 
options. 
 
During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, the Compensation Committee met four times; additionally the 
Committee consulted with management on compensation- related matters regularly throughout the year.  A copy of 
the Compensation Committee charter can be found on the Company’s website at www.uranerz.com. 
 
Corporate Governance & Nominating Committee 
 
We have a Corporate Governance & Nominating Committee comprised of four directors all of whom, in the opinion 
of the Company’s Board of Directors, are independent (under the requirements of the NYSE Amex Equities 
Company Guide): Richard Holmes (Committee Chair), Peter Bell, Gerhard Kirchner and Paul Saxton. We have a 
Corporate Governance & Nominating Committee charter that complies with the requirements of the NYSE Amex 
Equities Exchange’s requirements. Our Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for developing our 
approach to corporate governance issues. 
 
The Committee evaluates the qualifications of potential candidates for director and recommends to the Board 
nominees for election at the next annual meeting or any special meeting of stockholders, and any person to be 
considered to fill a Board vacancy resulting from death, disability, removal, resignation or an increase in Board size. 
The Committee has not set formal criteria necessary for the consideration of a candidate, but the Committee does 
assess the nominee’s independence, as well as considers his or her experience, areas of expertise, diversity, 
perspective, broad business judgment and leadership, all in the context of an assessment of the perceived needs of 
the Board at that time.   
 
Shareholder nominees are subject to the same consideration as nominees selected by the Committee or the Board.  
The Committee does not have a set policy for whether or how shareholders are to recommend nominees for 
consideration by the Board.  No shareholder or shareholders holding 5% or more of the Company’s outstanding 
stock, either individually or in aggregate, recommended a nominee for election to the Board.  
 
All of the Nominees included on the proxy card accompanying this proxy statement were nominated by the 
Corporate Governance & Nominating Committee and were recommended by the Company’s current board of 
directors. 
 
During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, the Corporate Governance & Nominating Committee met twice.  
A copy of the Corporate Governance & Nominating Committee charter can be found on the Company’s website at 
www.uranerz.com. 
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Marketing Committee 
 
We have a Marketing Committee comprised of two directors with expertise in the uranium industry: George 
Hartman and Arnold Dyck. This is a special committee responsible for developing our strategic approach to 
marketing issues and establishing risk adverse sales contracts. 
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DIRECTOR COMPENSATION 

Director Compensation - 2009 

   
Fees 

Earned or       Non-Equity Non- Qualified       
Name Paid in 

Cash 
($) 

Stock 
Awards 

($) 

Option 
Awards 

($) 

Incentive Plan 
Compensation 

($) 

Compensation 
Earnings 

($) 

All Other 
Compensation 

($) 
Total 
($) 

         Note (1)             
(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) (g) (h) 

Gerhard Kirchner  8,500  20,179    28,679 
Paul Saxton  9,000  20,179    29,179 
Arnold Dyck  51,000  20,179    71,179 
Peter Bell  20,000  20,179    40,179 
Richard Holmes  17,000  20,179    37,179 
1.  Option award compensation is the fair value for stock options granted during the period, a notional amount estimated at the 

date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. All options were priced at the market price of common 
shares on the date of the grant. The actual value received by the directors may differ materially and adversely from that 
reported herein. 

 
Director Compensation - 2008 

   
Fees 

Earned or       Non-Equity Non- Qualified       
Name Paid in 

Cash 
($) 

Stock 
Awards 

($) 

Option 
Awards 

($) 

Incentive Plan 
Compensation 

($) 

Compensation 
Earnings 

($) 

All Other 
Compensation 

($) 
Total 
($) 

         Note (1)             
(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) (g) (h) 

Gerhard Kirchner  4,000  76,085    80,085 
Paul Saxton  8,500  76,085    84,585 
Arnold Dyck  26,500  76,085        102,585 
Peter Bell  21,000  76,085    97,085 
Richard Holmes  17,500  76,085    93,585 
1.  Option award compensation is the fair value for stock options granted during the period, a notional amount estimated at the 

date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. All options were priced at the market price of common 
shares on the date of the grant. The actual value received by the directors may differ materially and adversely from that 
reported herein. 

 
 
Director Compensation Agreements and Summary of Director Compensation Policies  
 
The Company did not compensate directors in 2005. Beginning in 2006, and during 2009,  the Company established 
policies for director compensation as follows:  
 
Non Executive members: 
$1,000 per meeting ($500 per telephone meeting) plus:  

• Audit Committee: Chair: $11,000/year. Members: $8,000/year.  
• Nominating & Governance Committee: Chair: $3,000/year. Members: $2,000/year.  
• Compensation Committee: Chair: $4,500/year. Members: $3,000/year. 
• Marketing Committee: Chair: (Nil – Executive). Members: $1,000/day.  
 

Beginning January 1, 2010, each independent Board member will also receive an annual retainer of $12,000. 
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OTHER GOVERNANCE MATTERS  
 
Code of Ethics 
 
We have adopted a corporate code of ethics administered by our chief financial officer, Benjamin Leboe. We believe 
our code of ethics is reasonably designed to deter wrongdoing and promote honest and ethical conduct, to provide 
full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable disclosure in public reports, to comply with applicable laws, to ensure 
prompt internal reporting of code violations, and to provide accountability for adherence to the code. Our code of 
ethics provides written standards that are reasonably designed to deter wrongdoing and to promote: 
 

• Honest and ethical conduct, including the ethical handling of actual or apparent conflicts of interest 
between personal and professional relationships;  

• Full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable disclosure in reports and documents that are filed with, or 
submitted to, the Commission and in other public communications made by an issuer;  

• Compliance with applicable governmental laws, rules and regulations;  
• The prompt internal reporting of violations of the code to an appropriate person or persons identified in the 

code; and  
• Accountability for adherence to the code.  

 
Our Code of Ethics is available at our website at www.uranerz.com. We intend to disclose any waiver from a 
provision of our code of ethics that applies to any of our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, 
principal accounting officer or controller or persons performing similar functions that relates to any element of our 
code of ethics on our website. No waivers were granted from the requirements of our Code of Ethics during the year 
ended December 31, 2009, or during the subsequent period from January 1, 2010, through to the date of this proxy 
statement.  
 
Compensation Interlocks and Insider Participation 
 
There were no compensation committee or board interlocks among the members of our Board. 
 
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance 
 
Section 16(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 requires any person who is our Director or executive 
officer or who beneficially holds more than 10% of any class of our securities which have been registered with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, to file reports of initial ownership and changes in ownership with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission. These persons are also required under the regulations of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) reports they file.  
 
To our knowledge, based solely on our review of the copies of the Section 16(a) reports furnished to us, all Section 
16(a) filing requirements applicable to our Directors, executive officers and holders of more than 10% of any class 
of our registered securities were timely complied with during the year ended December 31, 2009, other than the 
following reports: 
 

Name and 
Principal Position 

Number of 
Late Reports 

Transactions Not 
Timely Reported 

Known Failures to 
File a Required Form 

Dennis Higgs  None None None 
Glenn Catchpole  None None None 
Paul Saxton  None None None 
Gerhard Kirchner  One One None 
George Hartman  None None None 
Peter Bell  One One None 
Arnold Dyck  None None None 
Richard Holmes  None None None 
Benjamin Leboe  None None None 
Kurtis Brown  None None None 
Douglas Hirschman  None None None 
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

 
Summary Compensation Table  
 
A summary of cash and other compensation paid in accordance with management consulting contracts for our 
Principal Executive Officer and other named executive officers for the last three fiscal years is as follows: 

Name and  Year Salary Bonus Stock 
Option 
Awards 

Non-Equity 
Incentive Plan 

Nonqualified 
Deferred 

All 
other  

Principal 
Position 

   Award
s 

(1) Compensation Compensation Comp. Total 

  ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) Earnings   
       ($)   

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) (g) (h) (i) (j) 
Dennis Higgs 
Executive 
Chairman and 
Director 

(2)
  

2009 
2008 
2007 

159,200 
175,900 
142,736 

800 
2,000  

75,334 
271,733 
710,050    

234,534 
448,433 
854,786 

Glenn Catchpole 
President/ CEO 
and Director 

(3)
  

2009 
2008 
2007 

180,000 
180,000 
120,000 

500 
1,000 

10,000  

86,096 
271,733 
710,050    

266,596 
452,733 
840,050 

George Hartman 
Executive. Vice 
Presiden/COO 
and Director 

(4)
  

2009 
2008 
2007 

190,000 
198,000 
199,000 

500 
1,000 
2,000  

75,334 
271,733 
710,050    

265,834 
470,733 
911,050 

Benjamin Leboe 
Chief Financial 
Officer (5) 

 

2009 
2008 
2007 

129,830 
126,400 

82,017 
800 

2,000  

75,334 
271,733 
355,000    

205,164 
398,933 
439,017 

Kurtis Brown 
VP 

(6)
 

2009 
2008 
2007 

126,000
123,600 
103,750 

500 
1,000 

17,000  

83,390 
395,253 
346,147   

20,000
28,200 

229,890 
548,053 
466,897 

Notes to Summary of Executive Compensation and Executive Compensation Agreements 
1.  Option award compensation is the fair value for stock options awarded during the period, a notional amount estimated at the 

date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The actual value received by the executives may differ 
materially and adversely from that reported herein. 

2.  Salary is a management fee paid to a private holding company of Mr. Dennis Higgs. Mr. Higgs became Executive Chairman 
of our Board on February 1, 2006. In 2005 we entered into a consulting agreement with Ubex Capital Inc., wholly owned by 
Dennis Higgs. The Agreement currently states that we will pay a monthly fee of CDN$15,000 in consideration of the 
provision of the services of Mr. Higgs as executive Chairman. 

3.  Salary is a management fee paid to a private holding company of Mr. Glenn Catchpole. Mr. Catchpole was appointed 
President and CEO on March 1, 2005. In 2005 we entered into a consulting agreement with Catchpole Enterprises Inc. 
Catchpole Enterprises is wholly owned by Glenn and Judy Catchpole. The Agreement currently states that we will pay a 
monthly consulting fee of US $15,000 in consideration of the provision of the services of Mr. Catchpole as our President 
and Chief Executive Officer.  

4.  Salary is a consulting fee paid to Mr. George Hartman. Mr. Hartmann was appointed Senior Vice President -Mining on May 
9, 2005 and subsequently appointed Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Hartman is paid for 
consulting on the basis of $1,000 per day. 

5.    Salary is a consulting fee paid to an entity owned by Benjamin Leboe. Mr. Leboe was appointed Chief Financial Officer on 
May 23, 2006 and Corporate Secretary on October 12, 2006. In 2006 we entered into a consulting agreement with 
Independent Management Consultants of British Columbia. (IMC). IMC is wholly owned by Benjamin Leboe, our Chief 
Financial Officer. The Agreement currently states that we will pay for consulting services provided, based upon a rate of 
CDN$12,000 per month.  

6.      Mr. Brown was appointed Senior Vice President, Exploration in August 2007. 
 
 
 



22  

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 
 
Oversight of Executive Compensation Program 
 
The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors oversees the Company’s compensation programs, which 
are designed specifically for the Company’s most senior executive officers, including the Executive Chairman, 
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer and the other executive officers named in 
the Summary Compensation Table (collectively, the “senior executive officers”). Additionally, the Compensation 
Committee is charged with the review and approval of all annual compensation decisions relating to senior 
executive officers. The Compensation Committee is composed entirely of independent, non-management members 
of the Board of Directors. Each year, and at such other times as is necessary, the Company reviews any and all 
relationships that each director has with the Company, and the Board of Directors subsequently reviews these 
findings. The Board of Directors has determined that none of the Compensation Committee members have any 
material business relationships with the Company. 
 
The responsibilities of the Compensation Committee, as stated in its charter, include the following: 

• Review and assess the adequacy of the Compensation Committee charter annually and submit any 
proposed changes to the Board of Directors for approval;  

 
• Produce an annual report on senior executive officer compensation for inclusion in the Company’s annual 

report and proxy statement relating to its annual meeting of stockholders;  
 
• Review and make such recommendations to the Board of Directors as the Compensation Committee deems 

advisable with regard to all incentive-based compensation plans and equity- based plans;  
 
• Review and approve the corporate goals and objectives that may be relevant to the compensation of the 

Company’s senior executive officers;  
 
• Evaluate senior executive officer performance in light of the goals and objectives that were set and 

determine and recommend senior executive officer compensation based on such evaluation; and  
 
• Review and approve the recommendations of the chief executive officer with regard to the compensation of 

all officers of the Company other than the chief executive officer.  
 

Overview of Compensation Program 
 
In order to recruit and retain the most qualified and competent individuals as senior executive officers, the Company 
strives to maintain a compensation program that is competitive in the global labor market. The purpose of the 
Company’s compensation program is to reward exceptional organizational and individual performance. 
 
The following compensation objectives are considered in setting the compensation programs for our named 
executive officers: 
 

• Drive and reward performance which supports the Company’s core values;  
 
• Design competitive total compensation and rewards programs to enhance the Company’s ability to attract 

and retain knowledgeable and experienced senior executive officers; and  
 
• Set compensation and incentive levels that reflect competitive market practices.  

 
Compensation Elements and Rationale 
 
To reward both short and long-term performance in the compensation program and in furtherance of the Company’s 
compensation objectives noted above, the Company’s compensation program is based on the following objectives: 
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  (i)  Performance Goals  
 
The Compensation Committee believes that a significant portion of a senior executive officer’s compensation should 
be tied not only to individual performance, but also to the Company’s performance as a whole measured against 
both financial and non-financial goals and objectives. During periods when performance meets or exceeds these 
established objectives, senior executive officers should be paid at or more than expected levels. When the 
Company’s performance does not meet key objectives, incentive award payments, if any, should be less than such 
levels. 
  (ii)  Incentive Compensation  
 
A large portion of compensation should be paid in the form of short-term and long-term incentives, which are 
calculated and paid based primarily on financial measures of profitability and stockholder value creation. Senior 
executive officers have the incentive of increasing Company profitability and stockholder return in order to earn a 
major portion of their compensation package. 
 
  (iii)  Competitive Compensation Program  
 
The Compensation Committee reviews the compensation of executives at peer companies to ensure that the 
compensation program is competitive. The Company believes that a competitive compensation program will 
enhance its ability to attract and retain senior executive officers. 
 
Review of Senior Executive Officer Performance 
 
The Compensation Committee reviews, on an annual basis, each compensation package for the senior executive 
officers. In each case, the Compensation Committee takes into account the scope of responsibilities and experience 
and balances these against competitive salary levels. The Compensation Committee has the opportunity to meet with 
the senior executive officers at various times during the year, which allows the Compensation Committee to form its 
own assessment of each individual’s performance. 
 
Components of the Executive Compensation Program 
 
The Compensation Committee believes the total compensation and benefits program for named executive officers 
should consist of the following: 

• Base salary; 
 
• Stock incentive plan; and 

 
• Bonus.  

 
Many of the Company’s senior executive officers provide services through consulting or management agreements 
with the Company. Fees are paid under “consulting” or “management” fees pursuant to these agreements. From the 
Company’s perspective, these services are provided in this manner for flexibility considerations. The Company has 
determined that it is in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders to maintain consulting and 
management agreements rather than employment agreements as it decreases the number of actual employees of the 
Company and ensures that employment of key officers can be negotiated on an as-needed basis with individualized 
terms—a vital concern to the Company given the relative costs of management salaries and expenses in a 
development stage company.  
 
Dennis Higgs,  Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors (and former President) 
 
Mr. Higgs is compensated indirectly through the Company’s consulting agreement with Ubex Capital Inc. The 
Company engaged Ubex in early 2005 to provide business development and strategic planning consulting services 
and management to create a viable resource company. The Board of Directors considered Mr. Higgs’ continuing 
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involvement to be of vital interest to the Company’s success and increased Ubex’s consulting services over time to 
the point where Mr. Higgs provides the Company services as a fully involved Executive Chairman. The Board upon 
recommendation from the Compensation Committee has decided to continue the consulting arrangement to 
minimize administrative costs and to maintain the certainty and flexibility of contractual arrangements. Mr. Higgs 
has over twenty years experience in establishing and growing public companies and the Board of Directors upon 
recommendation from the Compensation Committee has determined that his compensation shall be similar to full 
time executive chairmen of public companies with capitalization in the $150-250 million range. 
 
Glenn Catchpole 
 
Mr. Catchpole is compensated indirectly through the Company’s consulting agreement with Catchpole Enterprises 
Inc. (“CEI”). The Company engaged CEI in early 2005 to provide industry expertise and strategic planning 
consulting services and full-time executive management to create a viable resource company. The Board of 
Directors and the Compensation Committee considers Mr. Catchpole’s continuing involvement to be of vital interest 
to the Company’s success as President and Chief Executive Officer. The Board has chosen the consulting 
arrangement to minimize administrative costs and to maintain the certainty and flexibility of contractual 
arrangements. Mr. Catchpole has over thirty years in establishing and growing public companies and the Board of 
Directors upon recommendation from the Compensation Committee has determined that his compensation shall be 
similar to full time presidents and CEOs of public companies with capitalization in the $150-250 million range. 
 
George Hartman 
 
The Company’s compensation policy for Mr. Hartman is based on days spent consulting for the Company. The 
Board of Directors and the Compensation Committee believes that this provides the Company with greater 
flexibility in controlling expenses. Mr. Hartman’s services as Executive Vice-President and Chief Operating Officer 
entail a varying degree of attention to the Company’s exploration and development activities. Mr. Hartman has 
extensive expertise in the area of mining production, including specifically, in-situ recovery of uranium, which 
expertise is very valuable to the Company. Mr. Hartman’s salary exceeded that of other officers in  2007, 2008 and 
2009 because of the value of his expertise to the Company and the fact that he spent a substantial amount of time 
attending to the Company’s mineral projects in those years. 
 
Benjamin Leboe 
 
The Company’s compensation policy for Mr. Leboe, as Principal of Independent Management Consultants of 
British Columbia is based on time spent consulting for the Company. The Board of Directors and the Compensation 
Committee believes that this provides the Company with greater flexibility in controlling expenses. Mr. Leboe’s 
services as Chief Financial Officer entail a high and specialized degree of attention to the Company’s financial 
management and reporting activities. Mr. Leboe has extensive expertise in the area of financial management, 
accounting, business valuation and management consulting, which expertise is very valuable to the Company. Mr. 
Leboe’s consulting rate is based on the Board of Directors determination upon recommendation by the 
Compensation Committee of the value of his expertise to the Company and is comparable to a full time Chief 
Financial Officer of public companies with capitalization in the $150-250 million range. 
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards - 2009 
 

Estimated 
Non-Equity 
(1) 

Future 
Incentive Payouts Plan 

Under 
Awards 

All Other 
Stock 
Awards: 
Number of 
Shares of 

  

Award 
Date 

        Fair Value 
of 

Name 
Threshold 

$ 
Target 

$ 
Maximum 

$  

Stock or 
Units (1) 

(#) Award Date  

Stock and 
Option 
Awards (1) 

Dennis Higgs  --  --   --  140,000  01/05/09 $ 75,334 
Glenn Catchpole  --  --   --  160,000 01/05/09 $ 86.096 
George Hartman  --  --   --  140,000 01/05/09 $ 75,334 
Benjamin Leboe  --  --   --  140,000 01/05/09 $ 75,334 
Kurtis Brown  --  --   --  30,000  01/05/09 $ 16,143  
1.  Option award compensation is the fair value for stock options granted during the period, a notional amount estimated at the 

date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. All options were priced at the market price of common 
shares on the date of the grant. The actual value received by the executives may differ materially and adversely from 
that reported herein. 

 
Grants of Plan-Based Awards - 2008 
 

Estimated 
Non-Equity 
(1) 

Future 
Incentive Payouts Plan 

Under 
Awards 

All Other 
Stock 
Awards: 
Number of 
Shares of 

  

Award 
Date 

        Fair Value 
of 

Name 
Threshold 

$ 
Target 

$ 
Maximum 

$  

Stock or 
Units (1) 

(#) Award Date  

Stock and 
Option 
Awards (1) 

Dennis Higgs  --  --   --  125,000  01/07/08 $ 271,733  
Glenn Catchpole  --  --   --  125,000 01/07/08 $ 271,733 
George Hartman  --  --   --  125,000 01/07/08 $ 271,733 
Benjamin Leboe  --  --   --  125,000  01/07/08 $ 271,733 
Kurtis Brown  --  --   --  25,000  01/07/08 $ 54,250  
1.  Option award compensation is the fair value for stock options granted during the period, a notional amount estimated at the 

date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. All options were priced at the market price of common 
shares on the date of the grant. The actual value received by the executives may differ materially and adversely from that 
reported herein. 

Disclosure Relating to Grants of Plan-Based Awards 
 
In 2009 the Company granted Mr. Higgs, Mr. Catchpole, Mr. Hartman, Mr. Leboe and Mr. Brown stock options 
under the Company’s 2005 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan. Mr. Higgs, Mr. Hartman and Mr. Leboe each received 
140,000 options, exercisable at $0.65 per share of common stock acquirable, expiring November 7, 2015. Mr. 
Catchpole received 160,000 options, exercisable at $0.65 per share of common stock acquirable, expiring November 
7, 2015.  Mr. Brown received 30,000 options, exercisable at $0.65 per share of common stock acquirable, expiring 
November 7, 2015. For a discussion of the terms and conditions of the 2005 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan please 
see the disclosure under the section heading “Market for Common Equity - 2005 Stock Option Plan”. 
 
In 2008 the Company granted Mr. Higgs, Mr. Catchpole, Mr. Hartman, Mr. Leboe and Mr. Brown stock options 
under the Company’s 2005 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan. Mr. Higgs Mr. Catchpole, Mr. Hartman and Mr. Leboe 
each received 125,000 options, exercisable at $2.64 per share of common stock acquirable, expiring January 7, 
2013. Mr. Brown received 25,000 options, exercisable at $2.64 per share of common stock acquirable, expiring 
January 7, 2013. For a discussion of the terms and conditions of the 2005 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan please see 
the disclosure under the section heading “Market for Common Equity - 2005 Stock Option Plan”. 
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In 2010 the Company extended the terms of all of the options described above to a period expiring ten years from 
the original grant date.   
 
 
 

Outstanding Equity Awards to Executives at Fiscal Year-end 
 

Option Awards Stock Awards 

 

Number of 
Securities 

Underlying 
Unexercised 

Number of 
Securities 

Underlying 
Unexercised 

Equity 
Incentive Plan 

Awards: 
Number of 
Securities 

Unexercised Option  

Number 
of Shares 
or Units 
of Stock 

That 
Have Not 

Vested 
(#) 

Market 
Value of 

Shares or 
Units of 

Stock That 

Equity 
Incentive 

Plan 
Awards:  

Number of 
Unearned 

Shares, 
Units or 

Other Rights 
That 

Equity 
Incentive 

Plan 
Awards: 

Market or 
Payout 

Value of 
Unearned 

Shares, 
Units or 
Other 

Rights That 

Name 

Options 
(#) 

Exercisable 

Options 
(#) 

Unexercisable 

Unearned 
Options 

(#) 

Exercise 
Price 

($) 
Option Expiry 

Date  

Have Not 
Vested 

($) 

Have Not 
Vested 

(#) 

Have Not 
Vested 

($) 
(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) (g) (h) (i) (j) 

Dennis 
Higgs 
 

350,000 
250,000 
125,000 
140,000 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

0.75 
3.20 
2.64 
0.65 

Jan 6, 2011 
Jan 26, 2012 
Jan 7, 2013 

Nov. 7, 2015 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Glenn 
Catchpole 
 

350,000 
250,000 
125,000 
160,000 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

0.75 
3.20 
2.64 
0.65 

Jan 6, 2011 
Jan 26, 2012 
Jan 7, 2013 
Nov. 7,2015 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

George 
Hartman  
 

313,700 
250,000 
125,000 
140,000 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

0.75 
3.20 
2.64 
0.65 

Jan 6, 2011 
Jan 26, 2012 
Jan 7, 2013 

Nov. 7, 2015 

Nil 
Nil 
Ni 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Ni 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Benjamin 
Leboe  
 

100,000 
125,000 
125,000 
 56,,000 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

1.96 
3.20 
2.64 
0.65 

May 23, 2011 
Jan 26, 2012 
Jan 7, 2013 

Nov. 7, 2015 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Kurtis 
Brown 

15,000 
250,000 
25,000  
30,000 

Nil 
Nil  
Nil  
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

3.20 
3.45 
2.64 
0.65 

Jan 26, 2012 
Feb 9, 2012  
Jan 7, 2013 

Nov. 7, 2015 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

 
Option Exercises and Stock Vested in 2009 
 
 Option Grants Stock Awards 

Name 

Number of 
Shares Acquired 

on Exercise 

Value Realized 
on Exercise 

($)(1) 

Number of 
Shares 

Acquired on 
Vesting 

Value Realized 
on Vesting 

($) 
Dennis Higgs  Nil Nil Nil Nil 
Glenn Catchpole  Nil Nil Nil Nil 
George Hartman  Nil Nil Nil Nil 
Benjamin Leboe  84,000 113,400 Nil Nil 
Kurtis Brown  Nil Nil Nil Nil 
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(1) Nominal value not received unless shares sold. 
 
Option Exercises and Stock Vested in 2008 
 
 Option Grants Stock Awards 

Name 

Number of 
Shares 

Acquired 
on Exercise 

Value Realized 
on Exercise 

($)(1) 

Number of 
Shares 

Acquired on 
Vesting 

Value 
Realized on 

Vesting 
($) 

Dennis Higgs  Nil Nil Nil Nil 
Glenn Catchpole  Nil Nil Nil Nil 
George Hartman  36,300 50,907 Nil Nil 
Benjamin Leboe  Nil Nil Nil Nil 
Kurtis Brown  Nil Nil Nil Nil 

(1) Nominal value not received unless shares sold. 

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation 
 
No person who served as a member of the Compensation Committee during fiscal 2009 or 2008 was a current or 
former officer or employee of the Corporation or engaged in certain transactions with the Company required to be 
disclosed by regulations of the SEC. Additionally, there were no compensation committee “interlocks” during 2009 
and 2008, which generally means that no executive officer of the Corporation served as a director or member of the 
compensation committee of another entity, which had an executive officer serving as a director or member of the 
Company’s Compensation Committee. 
 
Compensation Committee Report 
 
The Uranerz Energy Corporation Compensation Committee oversees the Company’s compensation reporting 
process on behalf of the Board of Directors. The Committee has four members, each of whom is “independent” as 
defined in the NYSE Amex Equities Company Guide. The Committee operates under a written charter, revised and 
adopted by the Board. 
 
The Committee assists the Board of Directors by overseeing the (1) annual review of director and executive officer 
compensation policies and goals, (2) determining the compensation of directors and executive officers, (3) and 
providing accurate public disclosure of the Company’s compensation. 
 
In the course of providing its oversight responsibilities regarding the Company’s compensation of directors and 
executive officers in 2009, the Committee reviewed and discussed with management the Compensation Discussion 
and Analysis included in this proxy statement. 
 
Based on the Committee’s review of the Compensation Discussion and Analysis and discussions with the Board of 
Directors and the Company’s management, the Committee recommended that the Compensation Discussion and 
Analysis be included in this proxy statement. 
 
Submitted by the following members of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors: 
 
/s/ Peter Bell  /s/ Arnold  Dyck  /s/ Gerhard Kirchner   /s/ Paul Saxton  
 
Pension Benefits 
 
None 
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Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation 
 
None 
 
Retirement, Resignation or Termination Plans 
 
Officers with contracts for services have notice requirements which permit pay in lieu of notice. In December 2007 
we approved a policy whereby officers will receive a termination payment of a multiple of their annual 
compensation following a change in control of our Company. The multiple used for a change of control payment is 
five times for officers Higgs, Catchpole and Hartman and three times for all other officers.  
 

 
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND 

RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 
 
The following tables set forth information as of December 31, 2009 regarding the ownership of our 
common stock by:  

• each named executive officer, each director and all of our directors and executive officers as a 
group; 

• each person who is known by us to own more than 5% of our shares of common stock. 
 
The number of shares beneficially owned and the percentage of shares beneficially owned are based on 
64,194,887 shares of common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2009.  
 
Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission. Shares subject to options that are exercisable within 60 days following December 
31, 2008 are deemed to be outstanding and beneficially owned by the optionee for the purpose of 
computing share and percentage ownership of that optionee but are not deemed to be outstanding for the 
purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person. Except as indicated in the footnotes 
to this table, and as affected by applicable community property laws, all persons listed have sole voting 
and investment power for all shares shown as beneficially owned by them.  
 
DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS   

Title of Class  
Name and Address of Beneficial 
Owner  

Number of Shares of 
Common Stock  

Percentage of 
Common Stock 

(1)
  

Common Stock  Dennis Higgs 
Director, Chairman 
Suite 1410 – 800 West Pender St. 
Vancouver, B.C., 
V6C 2V6  

4,751,240
(2)

 6.89% 

Common Stock  Glenn Catchpole 
Director, President and CEO/PEO 
222 Carriage Circle 
Cheyenne, WY., 82009 
 

2,337,600 (3) 3.39%  

Common Stock  George Hartman 
Director, Senior Vice President, 1220 
Elkhorn Valley Drive Casper, WY., 
82609  

1,620,600 (4)  2.35%  
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Common Stock  Dr. Gerhard Kirchner 
Hoech 5a 8442 St. Andrae-Hoech, 
Austria   

692,122 (5)  1.00%  

Common Stock  Paul Saxton 
188 Stonegate Drive 
Furry Creek, BC., 
V0N 3G4 

222,500 (6) ** 

 
Common Stock  

 
Peter Bell 
#105 – 3389 Capilano Road 
North Vancouver, B.C., 
V7R 4W7  

 
282,500 (7) 

 
**  

Common Stock  Arnold J. Dyck 
504 – 230 Saskatchewan Crescent 
East  
Saskatoon, Saskatchewan  
S7N 0K6  

270,500 (8)  ** 

Common Stock  Richard Holmes 
2611 Tanbridge Road 
Charlotte, NC., 
28226   

247,500 (9)  ** 

Common Stock  Benjamin Leboe, 
CFO/PFO 16730 Carrs Landing Road 
Lake Country, BC 
V4V 1B2  

502,000 (10) ** 

Common Stock  Kurtis Brown 
1701 E. “E” Street, P.O. Box 50850, 
Casper, WY 82605-0850 
  

324,000 (11) **  

Common Stock  Douglas Hirschman 
1701 E. “E” Street, P.O. Box 50850, 
Casper, WY 82605-0850 
 
  

105,000 (12) **  

Total     11,355,562  16.47%  
** - indicates ownership less than 1% 
 (1)  The percent of class is based on 68,933,087 shares comprised of 64,194,887 shares of common stock issued and 

outstanding as of December 31, 2009 plus 43,500 warrants and 4,694,700 options vesting within 60 days of December 31, 
2009. 

 (2)  Includes 3,845,240 shares, 41,000 exercisable Share Purchase Warrants and 865,000 exercisable Share Purchase 
Options. 

 (3)  Includes 1,450,100 shares, 2,500 exercisable Share Purchase Warrants and 885,000 exercisable Share Purchase 
Options. 

 (4)  Includes 791,900 shares and 828,700 exercisable Share Purchase Options 
 (5)  Includes 407,122 shares and 285,000 exercisable Share Purchase Options. 
 (6)  Includes 5,000 shares and 271,500 exercisable Share Purchase Options 
 (7)  Includes 15,000 shares and 267,500 exercisable Share Purchase Options 
 (8)  Includes 3,000 shares and 267,500 exercisable Share Purchase Options 
 (9)  Includes nil shares and 247,500 exercisable Share Purchase Options 
 (10)  Includes 96,000 shares and 406,000 exercisable Share Purchase Options 
 (11)  Includes 4,000 shares and 320,000 exercisable Share Purchase Options 
 (12)  Includes nil shares and 105,000 exercisable Share Purchase Options 
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NON-RELATED SHAREHOLDERS HOLDING OVER 5% 

 
 

Title of Class  
Name and Address of Beneficial 
Owner  

Number of Shares of 
Common Stock  

Percentage of 
Common Stock 

(1)
  

Common Stock  NAMMCO 
120 S Durbin, Casper WY 82601 

3,314,128 5.16 

Common Stock  Denison Mines Corp 
595 Bay St. 
Toronto, ONT 
M5G 2O2  

5,465,000 8.51  

Common Stock  Cede & Co (2) 
Box 222 Bowling Green Stn.   
New York, NY  
10274  

42,377,272  66.01 

(1)  The percent of class is based on 64,194,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2009. 
(2)  Central depository for unknown number of shareholders. 
 
The Company believes that all persons named have full voting and investment power with respect to the shares 
indicated, unless otherwise noted in the table. Under the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, a person 
(or group of persons) is deemed to be a “beneficial owner” of a security if he or she, directly or indirectly, has or 
shares the power to vote or to direct the voting of such security, or the power to dispose of or to direct the 
disposition of such security. Accordingly, more than one person may be deemed to be a beneficial owner of the 
same security. A person is also deemed to be a beneficial owner of any security, which that person has the right to 
acquire within 60 days, such as options or warrants to purchase our common stock. 
 
We have no knowledge of any arrangements, including any pledge by any person of our securities, the operation of 
which may at a subsequent date result in a change in our control.  
 
We are not, to the best of our knowledge, directly or indirectly owned or controlled by another corporation or 
foreign government.  
 
As of December 31, 2009 we had approximately 100 registered shareholders of record of our common stock. 
 
Change in Control  
 
We are not aware of any arrangement that might result in a change in control in the future.  
 

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS 
 
Reportable transactions with related parties since January 1, 2009, including named security holders, are as follows. 
 
Mr. Dennis Higgs, Director and Executive Chairman  

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company incurred $339,500 (2008 - $375,200, 2007 - $318,997) for 
consulting services and office expenses (included in general and administrative expenses) to companies controlled 
by a director who is Executive Chairman of the Company. Other general and administrative expenses were 
reimbursed in the normal course of business. At December 31, 2009, expenditures incurred on behalf of the 
Company of $25,920 (2008 and 2007 - $18,000) is owed to this director, and the amounts are unsecured, non-
interest bearing, and due on demand.  
 
Mr. Glenn Catchpole, Director, President and Chief Executive Officer 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company incurred $180,000 (2008 - $180,000, 2007 - $120,000) for 
consulting services (included in general and administrative expenses) to a company controlled by Mr. Catchpole, 
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President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Other general and administrative expenses were reimbursed 
in the normal course of business.  
 
Mr. George Hartman, Director, Executive Vice-President and Chief Operating Officer 

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company incurred $190,000 (2008 - $198,000, 2007 - $199,000) for 
consulting services (included in general and administrative expenses) to a director who is also Executive Vice 
President and Chief Operating Officer. Other general and administrative expenses were reimbursed in the normal 
course of business. In 2007, the Company acquired property assets from this director, valued at $402,250 (see Note 
7(a) to our annual financial statements for that year. At December 31, 2009, consulting services and expenditures 
incurred on behalf of the Company of $29,000 (2008 - $50,000) is owed to this director, and the amounts are 
unsecured, non-interest bearing, and due on demand. 

 
Mr. Benjamin Leboe,  Chief Financial Officer 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company incurred consulting fees of $129,830 (2008 - $126,400, 
2007 - $82,017) to an entity controlled by Mr. Leboe, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. The amounts 
have been recorded as general and administrative expense. 
 
Other  
 
As disclosed above under “Executive Compensation – Stock Option Grants”, we granted options to purchase shares 
of our common stock to our officers and directors under our 2005 Stock Option Plan during each of the three years 
ended December 31, 2009.  
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PROPOSAL 2 — APPROVAL OF THE 
SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN 

 
What is the purpose of this proposal? 
 
The purpose of this proposal is to seek shareholder approval for a Shareholder Rights Plan (the “Shareholder Rights 
Plan”) prior to adoption by the Board.   
 
Why does the Board want to adopt the Shareholder Rights Plan? 
 
The Board has determined that adopting the Shareholder Rights Plan is in the best interest of the Company and its 
shareholders.  The Board’s desire to adopt the Shareholder Rights Plan is not in response to or in anticipation of any 
pending or threatened take-over bid, nor to generally deter take-over bids.  The Board desires to adopt the 
Shareholder Rights Plan to ensure that the Company’s shareholders are treated fairly in connection with any bid to 
acquire control of the Company.   
 
How does the Shareholder Rights Plan ensure that the Company’s Shareholders will be treated fairly in 
connection with a take-over bid? 
 
The Shareholder Rights Plan contains certain provisions that are intended to give the Company’s shareholders 
adequate time to properly assess a take-over bid and to lessen the pressure on the Company’s shareholders to tender 
that is typically encountered by shareholders of companies that are subject to take-over bids.  Pursuant to the 
Shareholder Rights Plan, certain take-over bids will trigger provisions of the Shareholder Rights Plan that may make 
it more costly or time consuming to acquire control of the Company.  The Shareholder Rights Plan exempts certain 
take-over bids from such provisions of the Shareholder Rights Plan but such take-over bids must comply with other 
provisions of the Shareholder Rights Plan relating to the amount of time such take-over bids must remain open and 
the necessary shareholder approval threshold.   
 
Does the Shareholder Rights Plan prohibit a take-over of the Company? 
 
No, the Shareholder Rights Plan is not intended to prohibit a take-over of the Company.  The Shareholder Rights 
Plan is simply intended to ensure that any take-over is fair to and in the best interests of the Company’s 
shareholders. 
 
  

What vote is required to approve the Shareholder Rights Plan?  
 
To approve the Shareholder Rights Plan, a majority of the votes cast by shareholders of the Company present or 
represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting must be voted FOR the approval of the Shareholder Rights Plan.  
Abstentions and broker non-votes will not be counted in determining the number of votes necessary for approval of 
the Shareholder Rights Plan.  
 
  

What happens if the Shareholder Rights Plan is approved? 
 
If the Shareholder Rights Plan is approved by the Company’s shareholders at the Annual Meeting, the Board will 
adopt the Shareholder Rights Plan with immediate effect following such adoption.  
 
What happens if the Shareholder Rights Plan is not approved by the Company’s shareholders? 
 
If the Shareholder Rights Plan is not approved by the Company’s shareholders, the Board will not adopt the 
Shareholder Rights Plan and the Shareholder Rights Plan will not become effective.  
 
The Board recommends a vote FOR the approval of the Shareholder Rights Plan. 
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PURPOSE OF THE SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN 
 

The purpose of the Shareholder Rights Plan is to ensure, to the extent possible, that shareholders of the Company are 
treated fairly in connection with any bid to acquire control of the Company.  The Shareholder Rights Plan ensures 
that, in the context of a bid for control of the Company through an acquisition of shares of common stock of the 
Company (“Common Shares”), the Board has sufficient time to explore and develop alternatives for maximizing 
shareholder value, to provide adequate time for competing bids to emerge, to ensure that shareholders have an equal 
opportunity to participate in such a bid and to give shareholders adequate time to properly assess the bid and lessen 
the pressure to tender that is typically encountered by shareholders of companies that are subject to takeover bids. 
The Shareholder Rights Plan in no way prohibits a takeover bid for the Company in a transaction that is fair and in 
the best interests of all of the Company’s shareholders. The rights of shareholders to seek a change in the 
management of the Company or to influence or promote action of management in a particular manner will not be 
affected by the Shareholder Rights Plan. The approval of the Shareholder Rights Plan does not affect the duty of a 
director to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.  

 
SUMMARY OF THE SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN 

 
The following is a summary of certain material terms of the Shareholder Rights Plan. The summary is qualified in 
its entirety by reference to the full text of the Shareholder Rights Plan, which is attached as Appendix “A”: to this 
Proxy Statement.  Copies of the Shareholder Rights Plan are also available upon request to the Company.  
Shareholders wishing to receive a copy of the Shareholder Rights Plan should submit their request by telephone at 
(604) 689-1659 or by mail to Uranerz Energy Corporation, Attention: Sandra R. MacKay, Suite 1410, 800 West 
Pender Street, Vancouver, B.C., Canada V6C 2V6. Shareholders are urged to read the Shareholder Rights Plan 
carefully prior to determining whether or not to vote in favor of approving the Shareholder Rights Plan.   
 
Issuance of Rights 
 
Under the Shareholder Rights Plan, the Company shall issue one right (a “Right”) in respect of each Common Share 
outstanding on the date the Shareholder Rights Plan is adopted (the “Record Time”) and one Right in respect of each 
Common Share which may be issued after the Record Time and prior to the earlier of the Separation Time (as 
defined below) and the Expiration Time (as defined below).  The Company may, after the Separation Time but prior 
to the Expiration Time, issue one Right in respect of each Common Share which is issued after the Record Time 
pursuant to the exercise of securities convertible into Common Shares of the Company (“Convertible Securities”) 
which are outstanding as of the date of the first public announcement that any person or entity has become an 
Acquiring Person (as defined below)(the “Stock Acquisition Date”). 
 
Exercise Price and Adjustment of Exercise Price and Number of Rights 
 
Each Right will entitle the holder thereof, from and after the Separation Time and prior to the Expiration Time, to 
purchase, for an exercise price to be determined by the Board in the best interest of the Company’s shareholders (the 
“Exercise Price”), one Common Share.  The Exercise Price and the number of the Rights outstanding are subject to 
adjustment if, after the Record Time and prior to the Expiration Time, the Company performs certain actions that 
customarily trigger adjustments, including declaring or paying a dividend on its Common Shares; subdividing or 
changing the number of outstanding Common Shares into a greater number of Common Shares; combining or 
changing the number of outstanding Common Shares into a smaller number of Common Shares; or issuing any 
Common Shares at a purchase price less than the Exercise Price.   
 
Exercise of Rights and Transferability 
 
Until the Separation Time, the Rights shall not be exercisable and each Right will be evidenced by the certificate for 
the associated Common Share and will be transferable only together with, and will be transferred by a transfer of, 
such associated Common Share.  From and after the Separation Time and prior to the Expiration Time, the Rights 
shall be exercisable and the registration and transfer of the Rights shall be separate from and independent of 
Common Shares.   
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Promptly following the Separation Time, the rights agent to be designated by the Board (the “Rights Agent”) will 
send to each holder of record of Common Shares as of the Separation Time or who subsequently becomes a holder 
of record of Common Shares upon the exercise of rights attaching to Convertible Securities outstanding at the Stock 
Acquisition Date, a rights certificate (the “Rights Certificate”) representing one Right for each Common Share.  The 
Rights may be exercised in whole or in part on any business day after the Separation Time and prior to the 
Expiration Time by submitting to the Rights Agent, the Rights Certificate together with an election to exercise such 
Rights and payment of the Exercise Price for each Right being exercised.  Upon receipt of the foregoing, the Rights 
Agent will direct the Company’s transfer agent to issue stock certificates to the holders exercising their Rights, 
representing one Common Share for each Right exercised.  
 
Flip-in Event 
 
A flip-in event (a “Flip-in Event”) occurs when any person or entity becomes an Acquiring Person.  If  a Flip-In 
Event occurs, (prior to the Expiration Time) the Company shall take such action as shall be necessary to ensure and 
provide (within ten business days of such occurrence or such longer period as may be required to satisfy the 
requirements of applicable legislation of each of the states of the United States),  that each Right shall thereafter 
constitute the right to purchase from the Company, upon exercise of the Right in accordance with the terms of the 
Shareholder Rights Plan, that number of Common Shares as has  an aggregate market price on the date of the Flip-in 
Event equal to twice the Exercise Price, for an amount in cash equal to the Exercise Price. 
 
Upon the occurrence of any Flip-in Event, any Rights that are or were beneficially owned on or after the earlier of 
the Separation Time and the Stock Acquisition Date by an Acquiring Person or any person or entity acting jointly or 
in concert with an Acquiring Person or a transferee of Rights of an Acquiring Person or of any person or entity 
acting jointly or in concert with an Acquiring Person who becomes a transferee in a transfer that the Board has 
determined is part of a plan, arrangement or scheme of an Acquiring Person shall become null and void without any 
further action, and any holder of such Rights shall not have any right whatsoever to exercise such Rights under the 
Shareholder Rights Plan and shall not have thereafter any right whatsoever with respect to such Rights. 
 
Separation Time 
 
Separation Time means the close of business on the tenth (10th) trading day after the earlier of (i) the Stock 
Acquisition Date; (ii) the date of the commencement of or first public announcement of the intent of any person 
(other than the Company or any subsidiary of the Company) to commence a take-over bid (other than a Permitted 
Bid or Competing Permitted Bid (as defined below)); (iii) the date upon which a take-over bid ceases to be a 
Permitted Bid or Competing Permitted Bid; or such later time as may be determined by the Board acting in good 
faith. 
 
Expiration Time 
 
Expiration Time means the earlier of (i) the date the Board waives or redeems the Rights or (ii) the close of the 
annual general meeting of the shareholders of the Company held in 2013. 
 
Acquiring Person 
 
Acquiring Person means any person or entity who is the beneficial owner of twenty percent (20%) or more of the 
outstanding Common Shares and other voting securities of the Company (collectively, “Voting Shares”), provided, 
however, that the term Acquiring Person shall not include (i) the Company or any subsidiary or affiliate of the 
Company; (ii) any person who or entity which becomes the beneficial owner of twenty percent (20%) or more of the 
outstanding Common Shares and other voting securities of the Company as a result of any one or any combination 
of: (A) a Voting Share Reduction; (B) a Permitted Bid Acquisition; (C) an Exempt Acquisition; (D) a Convertible 
Security Acquisitions; or (E) a Pro Rata Acquisition; (iii) for the period of ten (10) days after the date of the first 
public announcement of take-over bid, any person who or entity which becomes the beneficial owner of twenty 
percent (20%) or more of the outstanding Voting Shares as a result of such person or entity making or proposing to 
make a take-over bid; (iv) an underwriter or member of a banking or selling group that becomes the beneficial 
owner of twenty percent (20%) or more of the outstanding Voting Shares in connection with a distribution of 
securities of the Company; or (v) any employee or executive or director stock ownership or other employee or 
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executive or director benefit plan, or trust for the benefit of employees of the Company or any subsidiary of the 
Company or any person or entity organized, appointed or established by the Company for or pursuant to the terms of 
any such plan or trust.  In general: 
 

(A) a Voting Share Reduction means an acquisition or redemption by the Company or a subsidiary of the 
Company of Voting Shares which, by reducing the number of Voting Shares outstanding or which may be 
voted, increases the proportionate number of Voting Shares beneficially owned by any person or entity; 

 
(B) a Permitted Bid Acquisition means an acquisition made pursuant to a Permitted Bid or a Competing 

Permitted Bid; 
 
(C) an Exempt Acquisition means a share acquisition in respect of which the Board has waived the application 

Shareholder Rights Plan (i) which was made on or prior to the Record Time; (ii) which was made pursuant 
to a dividend reinvestment plan; (iii) pursuant to the receipt or exercise of rights issued by the Company to 
all the holders of  Common Shares to subscribe for or purchase Common Shares or Convertible Securities, 
provided that such rights are acquired directly from the Company; (iv) pursuant to a distribution by the 
Company of Common Shares or Convertible Securities made pursuant to a prospectus; or (v) pursuant to a 
distribution by the Company of Common Shares or Convertible Securities by way of a private placement 
by the Company or upon the exercise by an individual employee of stock options granted under a stock 
option plan of the Company or rights to purchase securities granted under a share purchase plan of the 
Company where all necessary stock exchange approvals for such private placement, stock option plan or 
share purchase plan have been obtained and such private placement, stock option plan or share purchase 
plan complies with the terms and conditions of such approvals and such person or entity does not become 
the beneficial owner of more than twenty-five (25%) of the Common Shares of the Company outstanding 
immediately prior to the distribution; 

 
(D) a Convertible Security Acquisition means the acquisition of Common Shares upon the exercise of 

Convertible Securities received by such person or entity pursuant to a Permitted Bid Acquisition, Exempt 
Acquisition or a Pro Rata Acquisition; and 

 
(E) a Pro Rata Acquisition means an acquisition by a person or entity of beneficial ownership of Voting Shares 

as a result of a dividend reinvestment acquisition; a stock dividend, a stock split or other event pursuant to 
which a person or entity becomes the beneficial owner of Voting Shares on the same pro rata basis as all 
other holders of Voting Shares; the acquisition or exercise by such person or entity of rights to purchase 
Voting Shares distributed to such person or entity in the course of a distribution to all holders of Voting 
Shares pursuant to a rights offering or pursuant to a prospectus; or a distribution of Voting Shares or 
securities convertible into or exchangeable for Voting Shares (and the conversion or exchange of such 
convertible or exchangeable securities), made pursuant to a prospectus or a distribution by way of a private 
placement; provided that the person or entity does not thereby acquire a greater percentage of such Voting 
Shares, or securities convertible into or exchangeable for Voting Shares, so offered than the person or 
entity’s  percentage of Voting Shares beneficially owned immediately prior to such acquisition. 

 
Permitted Bid and Competing Permitted Bid 
 
A take-over bid will not trigger a Flip-in Event if it is a Permitted Bid or a Competing Permitted Bid.  A permitted 
bid is a take-over bid made by way of a take-over bid circular to all holders of Voting Shares which also complies 
with the following additional provisions: (i) the take-over bid is made for any and all Voting Shares to all holders of 
record of Voting Shares wherever resident as registered on the books of the Company; (ii) the take-over bid 
contains, and the take up and payment for securities tendered or deposited thereunder shall be subject to, irrevocable 
and unqualified conditions that (A) no Voting Shares will be taken up or paid for pursuant to the take-over bid prior 
to the close of business on a date which is not earlier than the sixtieth (60th) day following the date of the take-over 
bid and unless at such date more than fifty percent (50%) of the Voting Shares held by independent shareholders 
have been deposited pursuant to the take-over bid and not withdrawn; (B) unless the take-over bid is withdrawn, 
Voting Shares may be deposited pursuant to such take-over bid at any time prior to the close of business on the date 
of first take-up or payment and that any Voting Shares deposited pursuant to the take-over bid may be withdrawn at 
any time prior to the close of business on such date; and (C) if as of a date not earlier than the sixtieth (60th) day 
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following the date of the take-over bid more than fifty percent (50%) of the Voting Shares held by independent 
shareholders have been deposited pursuant to the take-over bid and not withdrawn, the offeror will make a public 
announcement of that fact and the take-over bid will remain open for deposits and tenders of Voting Shares for not 
less than ten business days from the date of such public announcement. 
 
A Competing Permitted Bid is a take-over bid that is made after a Permitted Bid has been made and prior to the 
expiry of that Permitted Bid, that satisfies the requirement for a Permitted Bid, and that contains, and the take-up 
and payment for securities tendered or deposited thereunder are subject to, an irrevocable and unqualified condition 
that no Voting Shares will be taken up or paid for pursuant to the take-over bid prior to the close of business on a 
date that is no earlier than the later of (A) the earliest date on which Voting Shares may be taken up or paid for 
under any prior Permitted Bid in existence at the date of such take-over bid and (B) the last day on which the take-
over bid must be open for acceptance after the date of such take-over bid under applicable legislation. 
 
Agreement of Rights Holders 
 
Every holder of Rights, by accepting the same, consents and agrees with the Company and the Rights Agent and 
with every other holder of Rights (i) to be bound by and subject to the provisions of this Shareholder Rights Plan  in 
respect of all Rights held; (ii) that, prior to the Separation Time, each Right will be transferable only together with, 
and will be transferred by a transfer of, the associated Common Share; (iii) that after the Separation Time, the Rights 
Certificate will be transferable only upon registration of the transfer in the register for the Rights; (iv) that, prior to 
due presentment of a Rights Certificate for registration of transfer, the Company, the Rights Agent and any agent of 
the Company or the Rights Agent may deem and treat the person in whose name the Rights Certificate is registered 
as the absolute owner thereof and of the Rights evidenced thereby for all purposes whatsoever, and neither the 
Company nor the Rights Agent shall be affected by any notice to the contrary; (v) that such holder of Rights has 
waived its right to receive any fractional Rights or any fractional shares upon exercise of a Right; (vi) that, without 
the approval of any holder of Rights and upon the sole authority of the Board acting in good faith, the Shareholder 
Rights Plan may be supplemented or amended from time to time as provided for in the Shareholder Rights Plan; and 
(vii) that neither the Company nor the Board nor the Rights Agent shall have any liability to any holder of a Right or 
any other person or entity as result of the inability of the Company, the Board or the Rights Agent to perform any of 
their obligations under the Shareholder Rights Plan by reason of any preliminary or permanent injunction or other 
order, decree, notice of hearing or ruling issued by a court of competent jurisdiction or by a governmental, 
regulatory or administrative agency or commission, or any statute, rule, regulation, or executive order promulgated 
or enacted by any governmental authority, prohibiting or otherwise inhibiting or restraining performance of such 
obligation. 
 
Rights Holders Not Shareholders 
 
No holder of any Rights or Rights Certificate shall be entitled to vote, receive dividends or be deemed for any 
purpose the holder of any Common Share or any other share or security of the Company which may at any time be 
issuable on the exercise of the Rights, nor shall the Rights Agreement nor any Rights Certificate be construed or 
deemed or confer upon the holder of any Right or Rights Certificate any of the rights, titles, benefits or privileges of 
a holder of Common Shares or any other shares or securities of the Company or any right to vote at any meeting of 
shareholders of the Company or to receive notice of any meeting or other action affecting any holder of Common 
Shares or any other shares or securities of the Company. 
 
Redemption and Waiver 
 
The Board acting in good faith may, with the prior consent of holders of Voting Shares or the holders of Rights, at 
any time prior to the occurrence of a Flip-in Event, elect to redeem all but not less than all of the then outstanding 
Rights at a redemption price of $0.0001 per Right (the “Redemption Price’), subject to adjustment.  If the Board 
elects or is deemed to have elected to redeem the Rights subsequent to a Flip-in Event and such redemption is 
approved by the holders of Voting Shares or the holders of Rights, as applicable, the right to exercise the Rights will 
without further action and without notice, terminate and the only right thereafter of the holders of Rights shall be to 
receive the Redemption Price. 
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The Board may also waive certain provisions of the Shareholder Rights Plan.  Amongst other provisions, the Board 
acting in good faith may, prior to the occurrence of a Flip-in Event determine to waive the application of 
Shareholder Rights Plan to such particular Flip-in Event, provided that such Flip-in Event would occur by way of a 
takeover bid made by means of a takeover bid circular delivered to all holders of Voting Shares.  The Board may 
also waive the application  of the Shareholder Rights Plan in respect of the occurrence of any Flip-in Event if the 
Board of Directors has determined that a person or entity became an Acquiring Person by inadvertence and without 
any intention to become, or knowledge that it would become, an Acquiring Person under the Shareholder Rights 
Plan provided within ten (10) days after any such waiver by the Board, the person or entity reduces its beneficial 
ownership of Voting Shares such that the person or entity is no longer an Acquiring Person.  
 
Supplements and Amendments 
 
The Company may make changes to the Shareholder Rights Plan prior to or after the Separation Time to correct any 
clerical or typographical error or to maintain the validity of the Shareholder Rights Plan as a result of any change in 
any applicable legislation, rules or regulation without the approval of the holders of the Voting Shares or Rights.  
The Company may, with the approval of the holders of Voting Shares, at any time prior to the Separation Time, 
make changes to or rescind any of the provisions of the Shareholder Rights Plan and the Rights (whether or not such 
action would materially adversely affect the interests of the holders of Rights generally).  The Company may, with 
the approval of the holders of Rights, at any time after the Separation Time, make changes to or rescind any of the 
provisions of the Shareholder Rights Plan and the Rights (whether or not such action would materially adversely 
affect the interests of the holders of Rights generally).  
 
Confirmation by Shareholders 
 
If the Shareholder Rights Plan is approved by the Company’s shareholders the Shareholder Rights Plan will take 
effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. If the Shareholder Rights Plan is not approved by the Company’s 
shareholders, the Shareholder Rights Plan will not be adopted by the Board and the Shareholder Rights Plan will not 
become effective.  
 
The Board reserves the right to alter any terms of or not to proceed with the Shareholder Rights Plan at any time 
prior to the Company’s Annual Meeting in the event that the Board determines, in light of subsequent developments, 
that to do so is in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.  
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 PROPOSAL 3 — RATIFICATION OF 
THE APPOINTMENT OF THE 

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
 

What am I voting on? 
 

The Audit Committee has selected Manning Elliot LLP to be the Company’s Independent Registered Public 
Accounting Firm for the current fiscal year ending December 31, 2010.   
 
This proposal seeks shareholder ratification of the appointment of Manning Elliot LLP. 
 
Will a representative of Manning Elliot be present at the Annual Meeting? 
 
The Company does not expect that a representative of Manning Elliot will be present at the Annual Meeting and 
therefore will not be available to make a statement or answer questions. 
 

INFORMATION OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
 
Manning Elliot LLP was the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm for the Company in the fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2009.   
 
Our financial statements have been audited by Manning Elliot LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, 
for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, 2007 and 2006.   

The following table sets forth information regarding the amount billed to us by our independent auditor, Manning 
Elliott LLP for our three fiscal years ended December 31, 2009:  

 
 Years Ended December 31 

 2009 2008 2007 
Audit Fees  $120,000 $102,000  $53,200 
Audit Related Fees  $27,000 Nil  $1,350 
Tax Fees  $16,000 $8,600  $7,000 
Total  $163,000 $110,600  $61,550 

Audit Fees  

Audit Fees are the aggregate fees billed by our independent auditor for the audit of our annual financial statements, 
reviews of interim financial statements and attestation services that are provided in connection with statutory and 
regulatory filings or engagements.  Audit related fees are those paid for due diligence services related to our 2009 
financing.  

Policy on Pre-Approval by Audit Committee of Services Performed by Independent Auditors  

Our audit committee approves all services provided by our independent accountant. 

The Board recommends a vote FOR the ratification of the appointment of the independent registered public 
accounting firm.  
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OTHER MATTERS  

As of the date of this Proxy Statement, management does not know of any other matter that will come before the 
meeting.  
 
By Order of the Board of Directors, 
 
Sandra R. MacKay, Corporate Secretary 
 
April 27, 2010 
 
 
Please sign and return the enclosed form of proxy promptly.  If you decide to attend the meeting, you may, if 
you wish, revoke the proxy and vote your shares in person.  
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT is made as of n between URANERZ ENERGY CORPORATION, a 
corporation existing under the Nevada Business Corporation Act (the “Company”) and n , a trust company 
existing under the laws of n (the “Rights Agent”). 

 WHEREAS it has been determined that it is in the best interests of the Company to adopt a 
shareholder rights plan to ensure, to the extent possible, that all shareholders of the Company are treated 
fairly in connection with any Take Over Bid (as defined below) for the Company;  
 
 AND WHEREAS in order to implement the adoption of a shareholder rights plan as established 
by this Agreement, the Company has: 
 
 (a) authorized the issuance and distribution of one right (a “Right”), effective as of   
  the Record Time (as hereinafter defined) in respect of each Common Share (as   
  hereinafter defined) outstanding at the Record Time; and 

 (b) authorized the issuance of one Right in respect of each Common Share of the   
  Company issued after the Record Time and prior to the earlier of the Separation   
  Time (as hereinafter defined) and the Expiration Time (as hereinafter defined);  

 AND WHEREAS each Right entitles the holder thereof, after the Separation Time, to purchase 
securities of the Company pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein; 
 
 AND WHEREAS the Company desires to appoint the Rights Agent to act on behalf of the 
Company and the holders of Rights, and the Rights Agent is willing to so act, in connection with the 
issuance, transfer, exchange and replacement of Rights Certificates (as hereinafter defined), the exercise 
of Rights and other matters referred to herein; 
  
 AND WHEREAS the Company proposes that this Agreement be in place for a period of n  

subject to shareholder ratification as set out herein; 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and respective agreements set forth 
herein, the Company and the Rights Agent hereby agree as follows: 
 

ARTICLE 1 
 

INTERPRETATION 

1.1 Certain Definitions 

 In this Agreement: 

 (a) Acquiring Person” means any Person who is the Beneficial Owner of twenty percent  
  (20%) or more of the outstanding Voting Shares; provided, however, that the term  
  “Acquiring Person” shall not include: 

  (i) the Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Company; 

(ii) any Person who becomes the Beneficial Owner of twenty percent (20%) or more 
of the outstanding Voting Shares as a result of any one or any combination of: 
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(A) Voting Share Reductions; (B) Permitted Bid Acquisitions; (C) Exempt 
Acquisitions; (D) Convertible Security Acquisitions; or (E) Pro Rata 
Acquisitions; provided, however, that if a Person shall become the Beneficial 
Owner of twenty percent (20%) or more of the outstanding Voting Shares by 
reason of any one or any combination of Voting Share Reductions, Permitted Bid 
Acquisitions, Exempt Acquisitions, Convertible Security Acquisitions or Pro 
Rata Acquisitions and, if thereafter, such Person, while such Person is the 
Beneficial Owner of twenty percent (20%) or more of the outstanding Voting 
Shares, becomes the Beneficial Owner of additional Voting Shares which result 
in an increase of such Person’s Beneficial Ownership of Voting Shares by more 
than one percent (1%) of the number of such Voting Shares outstanding as at the 
time of acquisition (other than pursuant to one or any combination of Voting 
Share Reductions, Permitted Bid Acquisitions, Exempt Acquisitions, Convertible 
Security Acquisitions or Pro Rata Acquisitions), then, as of the date such Person 
becomes the Beneficial Owner of such additional outstanding Voting Shares, 
such Person shall be an “Acquiring Person”; 

(iii) for the period of ten (10) days after the Disqualification Date, any Person who 
becomes the Beneficial Owner of twenty percent (20%) or more of the 
outstanding Voting Shares as a result of such Person becoming disqualified from 
relying on paragraph 1.1(d)(v) solely because such Person makes or proposes to 
make a Take-over Bid alone or acting jointly or in concert with any other Person; 

(iv) an underwriter or member of a banking or selling group that becomes the 
Beneficial Owner of twenty percent (20%) or more of the outstanding Voting 
Shares in connection with a distribution of securities; or 

(v) any employee or executive or director stock ownership or other employee or 
executive or director benefit plan, or trust for the benefit of employees of the 
Company or any Subsidiary of the Company or any Person organized, appointed 
or established by the Company for or pursuant to the terms of any such plan or 
trust; 

(b) “Affiliate”, when used to indicate a relationship with a specified Person, means a Person 
that, directly or indirectly (including through one or more intermediaries), controls, is 
controlled by or is under common control with, such specified Person and a Person shall 
be deemed to be controlled by another Person if controlled in any manner whatsoever that 
results in control in fact by that person, whether directly or indirectly, and whether 
through securities ownership, a trust, a contract or otherwise; 

 (c) “Associate”, when used to indicate a relationship with a specified Person, means: 

(i) any body corporate, partnership or other organization of which such specified 
Person is an officer or partner; 

(ii) any trust or other estate in which such specified Person has a substantial 
beneficial interest or as to which such specified Person serves as trustee or in a 
similar fiduciary capacity; 

(iii) any relative of such specified Person if that relative has the same residence as 
such specified Person, or any person to whom such specified Person is married, 
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or any person with whom such specified Person is living in a conjugal 
relationship outside marriage, or any relative of such spouse or other person if 
that relative has the same residence as such specified Person; 

(iv) any Person who is a director of, officer of, partner in or trustee of such specified 
Person or of any body corporate, partnership or other organization which is an 
Affiliate or Associate of such specified Person; and 

(v) any body corporate of which such specified Person beneficially owns, directly or 
indirectly, shares carrying more than ten percent (10%) of the voting rights 
attaching to all voting securities of the body corporate for the time being 
outstanding; 

(d) A Person shall be deemed the “Beneficial Owner” of, and to have “Beneficial 
 Ownership” of, and to “Beneficially Own”: 

(i) any securities as to which such Person, or any of such Person’s Affiliates or 
Associates is the direct or indirect owner at law or in equity; 

(ii) any securities as to which such Person or any of such Person’s Affiliates or 
Associates has the right to become the owner at law or equity (within sixty (60) 
days of the date of determination of Beneficial Ownership and whether or not on 
condition or the occurrence of any contingency) pursuant to any agreement, 
arrangement, pledge or understanding, whether or not in writing (other than 
customary agreements with and between underwriters and banking group or 
selling group members with respect to a distribution of securities pursuant to a 
prospectus or by way of private placement and other than pledges of securities in 
the ordinary course of business); and 

(iii) any securities which are Beneficially Owned within the meaning of paragraphs 
(i) or (ii) of this definition by any other Person with which such Person is acting 
jointly or in concert; 

provided, however, that a Person shall not be deemed the “Beneficial Owner” or to have “Beneficial 
Ownership” of, or to “Beneficially Own”, any security: 

(iv) where such security has been, or has been agreed to be, deposited or tendered 
pursuant to a Lock-up Agreement, or is otherwise deposited or tendered to any 
Take-over Bid made by such Person, made by any of such Person’s Affiliates or 
Associates or made by any other Person referred to in paragraph (iii) of this 
definition, until such deposited or tendered security has been unconditionally 
accepted for payment or exchange or taken up and paid for, whichever shall first 
occur; 

(v) because such Person, any of such Person’s Affiliates or Associates or any other 
Person referred to in paragraph (iii) of this definition holds such security 
provided that: 

A.  the ordinary business of such person (the “Investment Manager”) 
includes the management of investment funds for others (which others, 
for greater certainty, may include and be limited to one or more 
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employee benefit plans or pension plans) and such security is held in the 
ordinary course of such business in the performance of the duties of the 
Investment Manager for the account of any other Person (the “Client”); 

B. such Person (the “Trust Company”) is licensed to carry on the business 
of a trust company under applicable law and, as such, acts as trustee or 
administrator or in a similar capacity in relation to the estates of deceased 
or incompetent Persons (each an “Estate Account”) or in relation to other 
accounts (each an “Other Account”) and holds such security in the 
ordinary course of such duties for the estate of any such Estate Accounts 
or for such Other Accounts; 

C. such Person is a Crown agent or agency (in this definition, the “Crown 
Agency”); 

D. the Person is established by statute for purposes that include, and the 
ordinary business or activity of such Person (in this definition, a 
“Statutory Body”) includes, the management of investment funds for 
employee benefit plans, pension plans, insurance plans of various public 
bodies and the Statutory Body holds such security for the purposes of its 
activities as such; or 

E. the Person (in this definition, an “Administrator”) is the administrator or 
trustee of one or more pension funds or plans (each, in this definition, a 
“Plan”) registered under the laws of n  or the corresponding laws of the 
jurisdiction by which such Plan is governed or is such a Plan and the 
Administrator or Plan holds such security for the purposes of its 
activities as such; 

but only if the Investment Manager, the Trust Company, the Crown Agent, the 
Statutory Body, the Administrator or the Plan, as the case may be, is not then 
making and has not announced a current intention to make a Take-over Bid, other 
than an Offer to Acquire Common Shares or other securities pursuant to a 
distribution by the Company or by means of ordinary market transactions 
(including prearranged trades entered into in the ordinary course of business of 
such Person) executed through the facilities of a stock exchange or an organized 
over-the-counter market, alone or by acting jointly or in concert with any other 
Person; 

(vi) because such Person: 

A. is a Client of the same Investment Manager as another Person on whose 
account the Investment Manager holds such security; 

B. has an Estate Account or an Other Account with the same Trust 
Company as another Person on whose account the Trust Company holds 
such security; or 

C. is a Plan with the same Administrator as another Plan on whose account 
the Administrator holds such security; 
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(vii) because such Person: 

A. is a Client of an Investment Manager and such security is owned at law 
or in equity by the Investment Manager; 

B. has an Estate Account or an Other Account with a Trust Company and 
such security is owned at law or in equity by the Trust Company; or 

C. is a Plan and such security is owned at law or in equity by the 
Administrator of the Plan; or 

(viii) because such Person is the registered holder of securities as a result of carrying 
on the business of, or acting as nominee for, a securities depositary; 

(e) “Board of Directors” means the board of directors of the Company or any duly 
constituted and empowered committee thereof; 

(f)  “Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which 
banking institutions in n  are authorized or obligated by law to close; 

(g) “Canadian Dollar Equivalent” of any amount which is expressed in United States 
dollars means, on any date, the Canadian dollar equivalent of such amount determined by 
multiplying such amount by the U.S. - Canadian Exchange Rate in effect on such date; 

(h) “Close of business” on any given date means the time on such date (or, if such date is not 
a Business Day, the time on the next succeeding Business Day) at which the n  office of 
the principal transfer agent for the Common Shares (or, after the Separation Time, the n  

office of the Rights Agent) is closed to the public; 

(i) “Common Shares” means the common shares without par value in the capital of the 
Company and any other shares in the capital of the Company into which such shares may 
be subdivided, consolidated, reclassified or changed; provided, however, that “common 
shares”, when used with reference to any Person other than the Company, shall mean the 
class or classes of shares (or similar equity interest) with the greatest per share voting 
power entitled to vote generally in the election of all directors of such other Person; 

(j) “Competing Permitted Bid” means a Take-over Bid that: 

(i) is made after a Permitted Bid or another Competing Permitted Bid has been made 
and prior to the expiry of that Permitted Bid or Competing Permitted Bid (in this 
definition, the “Prior Bid”); 

(ii) satisfies all the provisions of the definition of a Permitted Bid other than the 
requirements set out in clause 1.1(jj)(ii)(A)(1) of the definition of Permitted Bid; 
and 

(iii) contains, and the take-up and payment for securities tendered or deposited 
thereunder are subject to, an irrevocable and unqualified condition that no Voting 
Shares will be taken up or paid for pursuant to the Take-over Bid prior to the 
close of business on a date that is no earlier than the later of (A) the earliest date 
on which Voting Shares may be taken up or paid for under any Prior Bid in 
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existence at the date of such Take-over Bid and (B) the last day on which the 
Take-over Bid must be open for acceptance after the date of such Take-over Bid 
under applicable Canadian provincial securities legislation; 

(k) “Controlled”: a corporation is “controlled” by another Person or two or more Persons if: 

(i) securities entitled to vote in the election of directors carrying more than fifty 
percent (50%) of the votes for the election of directors are held, directly or 
indirectly, by or on behalf of the other Person or Persons; and 

(ii) the votes carried by such securities are entitled, if exercised, to elect a majority of 
the board of directors of such corporation, 

and “control”, “controls” and “controlling” shall be interpreted accordingly; 

(l) “Convertible Securities” means at any time any securities issued by the Company 
(including rights, warrants and options but other than the Rights) carrying any purchase, 
exercise, conversion or exchange right, but pursuant to which the holder thereof may 
acquire Voting Shares or other securities which are convertible into or exercisable or 
exchangeable for Voting Shares (in each case, whether such right is exercisable 
immediately or exercisable after a specified period and whether or not on condition or the 
happening of any contingency); 

(m) “Convertible Security Acquisition” means the acquisition of Common Shares upon the 
exercise of Convertible Securities received by such Person pursuant to a Permitted Bid 
Acquisition, Exempt Acquisition or a Pro Rata Acquisition; 

(n) “Co-Rights Agent” has the meaning ascribed thereto in subsection 4.1(a); 

(o) “Disqualification Date” means the first date of public announcement (which, for 
purposes of this definition, shall include, without limitation, a report or filing made or 
filed pursuant to Sections 13(d) or 14 under the 1934 Exchange Act)  that any Person has 
made or proposes to make a Take-over Bid alone or acting jointly or in concert with any 
other Person; 

(p) “Dividend Reinvestment Acquisition” means an acquisition of Voting Shares pursuant 
to a Dividend Reinvestment Plan; 

(q) “Dividend Reinvestment Plan” means a regular dividend reinvestment or other plan of 
the Company made available by the Company to holders of its securities where such plan 
permits the holder to direct that some or all of: 

(i) dividends paid in respect of shares of any class of the Company; 

(ii) proceeds of redemption of shares of the Company; 

(iii) interest paid on evidences of indebtedness of the Company; or 

(iv) optional cash payments; 

be applied to the purchase from the Company of Common Shares; 
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(r) “Election to Exercise” has the meaning ascribed thereto in subsection 2.2(d); 

(s) “Exempt Acquisition” means a share acquisition: 

in respect of which the Board of Directors has waived the application of Section 3.1 
pursuant to the provisions of subsection 5.1(d), 5.1(e) or 5.1(f); 

(i) which was made on or prior to the Record Time; 

(ii) which was made pursuant to a Dividend Reinvestment Plan; 

(iii) pursuant to the receipt or exercise of rights issued by the Company to all the 
holders of the Common Shares to subscribe for or purchase Common Shares or 
Convertible Securities, provided that such rights are acquired directly from the 
Company and not from any other Person; 

(iv) pursuant to a distribution by the Company of Common Shares or Convertible 
Securities made pursuant to a prospectus; or 

(v) pursuant to a distribution by the Company of Common Shares or Convertible 
Securities by way of a private placement by the Company or upon the exercise by 
an individual employee of stock options granted under a stock option plan of the 
Company or rights to purchase securities granted under a share purchase plan of 
the Company, where 

A. all necessary stock exchange approvals for such private placement, stock 
option plan or share purchase plan have been obtained and such private 
placement, stock option plan or share purchase plan complies with the 
terms and conditions of such approvals; and 

B. such Person does not become the Beneficial Owner of more than twenty-
five (25%) of the Common Shares of the Company outstanding 
immediately prior to the distribution, and in making this determination 
the Common Shares to be issued to such Person in the distribution shall 
be deemed to be held by such Person but shall not be included in the 
aggregate number of outstanding Common Shares immediately prior to 
the distribution; 

(t) “Exercise Price” means the price at which a holder may purchase the securities issuable 
upon exercise of one whole Right and, until adjustment thereof in accordance with the 
terms hereof, the Exercise price shall be equal to n dollars; 

(u) “Expansion Factor” has the meaning ascribed thereto in subsection 2.3(a); 

(v) “Expiration Time” means the earlier of: 

(i) the Termination Time; or 

(ii) the close of the annual general meeting of the shareholders of the Company held 
in n (the “n AGM”) or if this Agreement is reconfirmed at the n AGM pursuant 
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to Section 5.16, the close of the annual general meeting of the shareholders of the 
Company held in n (the “n AGM”); 

(w) “Flip-in Event” means a transaction in or pursuant to which any Person becomes an 
Acquiring Person; 

(x) “Holder” has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 2.8; 

(y) “Independent Shareholders” means holders of Voting Shares other than; 

(i) any Acquiring Person; 

(ii) any Offeror; 

(iii) any Associate or Affiliate of any Acquiring Person or Offeror; 

(iv) any Person acting jointly or in concert with any Acquiring Person or any Offeror; 
and 

(v) any employee benefit plan, deferred profit sharing plan, stock participation plan 
or trust for the benefit of employees of the Company or any Subsidiary of the 
Company but excluding in any event a plan or trust in respect of which the 
employee directs the manner in which the Voting Shares are to be voted and 
directs whether the Voting Shares be tendered to a Take-over Bid; 

(z) “Lock-up Agreement” means an agreement between a Person and one or more holders 
of Voting Shares or Convertible Securities (each a “Locked-up Person”) (the terms of 
which are publicly disclosed and a copy of which is made available to the public 
(including the Company) not later than the date the Lock-up Bid (as defined below) is 
publicly announced or, if the Lock-up Bid has been made prior to the date on which such 
agreement is entered into, forthwith, and in any event not later than the date of such 
agreement), pursuant to which each such Locked-up Person agrees to deposit or tender 
Voting Shares or Convertible Securities (or both) to a Take-over Bid (the “Lock-up Bid”) 
made or to be made by the Person or any of such Person’s Affiliates or Associates or any 
other Person referred to in Clause (iii) of the definition of Beneficial Owner; provided 
that: 

(i) the agreement: 

A. permits the Locked-up Person to terminate its obligation to deposit or 
tender, and permits the Locked-up Person to withdraw if already 
deposited or tendered, the Voting Shares or Convertible Securities (or 
both) from the Lock-up Bid in order to tender or deposit such securities 
to another Take-over Bid or to support another transaction that is more 
favorable than the Lock-up Bid; or 

B. (1) permits the Locked-up Person to terminate its obligation to deposit or 
tender, and permits the Locked-up Person to withdraw if already 
deposited or tendered, the Voting Shares or Convertible Securities from 
the agreement in order to tender or deposit the Voting Shares or 
Convertible Securities to another Take-over Bid, or to support another 
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transaction that provides for a consideration for each Voting Share or 
Convertible Security that exceeds by as much as or more than a specified 
amount (the “Specified Amount”) the consideration for each Voting 
Share or Convertible Security contained in or proposed to be contained 
in, and is made for at least the same number of Voting Shares or 
Convertible Securities as, the Lock-up Bid; and 

(2) does not by its term provide for a Specified Amount that is greater 
than seven percent (7%) over the consideration for each Voting Share or 
Convertible Security contained in or proposed to be contained in the 
Lock-up Bid; 

and, for greater clarity, the agreement may contain a right of first refusal or 
permit a period of delay to give such Person an opportunity to at least match a 
higher consideration in another Take-over Bid and may provide for other similar 
limitation on a Locked-up Person’s right to withdraw Voting Shares or 
Convertible Securities (or both) from the agreement, as long as the Locked-Up 
Person can accept another bid or tender to another transaction; and 

(ii) no “break-up” fees, “top-up” fees, penalties, expenses or other amounts that 
exceed in the aggregate the greater of: 

A. the cash equivalent of two and a half percent (2½%) of the price or value 
payable under the Lock-up Person; and 

B. fifty percent (50%) of the amount by which the price or value payable 
under another Take-over Bid or transaction to a Locked-up Person 
exceeds the price or value of the consideration that such Locked-up 
Person would have received under the Lock-up Bid, 

are payable by a Locked-up Person pursuant to the agreement in the event a 
Locked-up Person fails to deposit or tender Voting Shares or Convertible 
Securities (or both) to the Lock-up Bid, withdraws Voting Shares or Convertible 
Securities (or both) previously tendered thereto or supports another transaction. 

 (aa) “Market Price” per share of any securities on any date of determination shall mean 
 the average of the daily closing prices per share of such securities (determined as 
 described below) on each of the twenty (20) consecutive Trading Days  through and 
 including the Trading Day immediately preceding such date; provided, however, that if 
 an event of a type analogous to any of the events described in Section 2.3 shall have 
 caused the closing price in respect of any Trading Day used to determine the Market 
 Price not to be fully comparable with the closing price on such date of determination or, 
 if the date of determination is not  a Trading Day, on the immediately preceding Trading 
 Day, each such closing  price so used shall be appropriately adjusted in a manner 
 analogous to the applicable  adjustment provided for in Section 2.3 in order to make it 
 fully comparable with the closing price on such date of determination.   

Notwithstanding the foregoing, where the Board of Directors is satisfied that the Market 
Price of securities as determined herein was affected by an anticipated or actual Take-
over Bid or by improper manipulation, the Board of Directors may, acting in good faith, 
determine the Market Price of securities, such determination to be based on a finding as 



10 
 

to the price at which a holder of securities of that class could reasonably have expected to 
dispose of his, her or its securities immediately prior to the relevant date excluding any 
change in price reasonably attributable to the anticipated or actual Take-over Bid or to the 
improper manipulation; 

 (bb) “1933 Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933 of the United States, as amended, 
  and the rules and regulations thereunder, as in effect on the date of this Agreement or as  
  the same may be amended, re-enacted or replaced by any comparable or successor laws  
  or regulations thereto; 

 (cc) “1934 Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 of the United  States,  
  as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder, as in effect on the date of this  
  Agreement or as the same may be amended, re-enacted or replaced by any comparable or  
  successor laws or regulations thereto;  

 (dd) “Nevada Business Corporation Act” shall mean the Nevada Business Corporation 
 Act, as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder, as in  effect on the date of this 
 Agreement or as the same may be amended, re-enacted  or replaced by any comparable 
 or successor laws or regulations thereto; 

 (ee) “Nominee” has the meaning ascribed thereto in subsection 2.2(c); 

 (ff) “Offer to Acquire” shall include: 

(i) an offer to purchase, or a solicitation of an offer to sell, Voting Shares or 
Convertible Securities, and 

(ii) an acceptance of an offer to sell Voting Shares or Convertible Securities, whether 
or not such offer to sell has been solicited, 

(iii) or any combination thereof, and the Person accepting an offer to sell shall be 
 deemed to be making an Offer to Acquire to the Person that made the offer to 
 sell; 

 (gg) “Offeror” means a Person who has announced an intention to make or who has made a 
Take-over Bid (including a Permitted Bid or Competing Permitted Bid but excluding an 
Offer to Acquire made by an Investment Manager, Trust Company, Crown Agency, 
Statutory Body, Administrator or Plan referred to in clause 1.1(d)(v) pf the definition of 
Beneficial Owner pursuant to a distribution by the Company or by means of ordinary 
market transactions (including pre-arranged trades entered into in the ordinary course of 
business of such Person) in the circumstances contemplated in clause 1.1(d)(v) but only 
so long as the Take-over Bid so announced or made has not been withdrawn or 
terminated or has not expired; 

 (hh) “Offeror’s Securities” means the Voting Shares Beneficially Owned by an Offeror on 
the date of an Offer to Acquire; 

 (ii) “Ordinary course dividends” means cash dividends paid in any fiscal year of the 
Company to the extent that such cash dividends, in the aggregate, do not exceed the 
greatest of: 
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(i) 200% of the aggregate amount of cash dividends declared payable by the 
Company on its Common Shares in its immediately preceding fiscal year; 

(ii) 300% of the arithmetic mean of the aggregate amounts of cash dividends 
declared payable by the Company on its Common Shares in its three immediately 
preceding fiscal years; and 

(iii) 100% of the aggregate consolidated net income of the Company, before 
extraordinary items, for its immediately preceding fiscal year; 

 (jj) “Permitted Bid” means a Take-over Bid made by an Offeror by way of a take-over bid  
  circular which also complies with the following additional provisions: 

(i) the Take-over Bid is made for any and all Voting Shares to all holders of record 
of Voting Shares wherever resident as registered on the books of the Company, 
other than the Offeror; 

(ii) the Take-over Bid contains, and the take up and payment for securities tendered 
or deposited thereunder shall be subject to, irrevocable and unqualified 
conditions that: 

A. no Voting Shares will be taken up or paid for pursuant to the Take-over 
Bid: 

1. prior to the close of business on a date which is not earlier than 
the sixtieth (60th) day following the date of the Take-over Bid; 
and 

2. unless at such date more than fifty percent (50%) of the Voting 
Shares held by Independent Shareholders have been deposited 
pursuant to the Take-over Bid and not withdrawn; 

B. unless the Take-over Bid is withdrawn, Voting Shares may be deposited 
pursuant to such Take-over Bid at any time prior to the close of business 
on the date of first take-up or payment described in subparagraph 
(ii)(A)(l) of this definition and that any Voting Shares deposited pursuant 
to the Take-over Bid may be withdrawn at any time prior to the close of 
business on such date; and 

C. if the condition set forth in subparagraph (ii)(A)(2) is satisfied, the 
Offeror will make a public announcement of that fact and the Take-over 
Bid will remain open for deposits and tenders of Voting Shares for not 
less than ten Business Days from the date of such public announcement; 

provided that: 

(I) if a Take-over Bid constitutes a Competing Permitted Bid, the term “Permitted 
Bid” shall also mean the Competing Permitted Bid; 

(II) a Permitted Bid will cease to be a Permitted Bid at any time when such bid 
ceases to meet any of the provisions of this definition; and that, at such time, any 
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acquisition of Voting Shares made pursuant to such Permitted Bid, including any 
acquisition of Voting Shares theretofore made, will cease to be a Permitted Bid 
Acquisition; 

(kk) “Permitted Bid Acquisition” means an acquisition made pursuant to a Permitted Bid or 
a Competing Permitted Bid; 

(ll) “Person” shall include any individual, firm, partnership, association, trust, 
trustee, executor, administrator, legal personal representative, body corporate, 
corporation, unincorporated organization or association, syndicate, government 
and its agencies or other entity or group, whether or not having legal personality 
and any of the foregoing acting in any derivative, representative or fiduciary 
capacity; 

(mm) “Pro Rata Acquisition” means an acquisition by a person of Beneficial 
Ownership of Voting Shares as a result of: a Dividend Reinvestment Acquisition; 
a stock dividend, a stock split or other event pursuant to which a Person becomes 
Beneficial Owner of Voting Shares on the same pro rata basis as all other holders 
of Voting Shares; the acquisition or exercise by such Person of rights to purchase 
Voting Shares distributed to such Person in the course of a distribution to all 
holders of Voting Shares pursuant to a rights offering or pursuant to a prospectus; 
or a distribution of Voting Shares or securities convertible into or exchangeable 
for Voting Shares (and the conversion or exchange of such convertible or 
exchangeable securities), made pursuant to a prospectus or a distribution by way 
of a private placement; provided that the Person does not thereby acquire a greater 
percentage of such Voting Shares, or securities convertible into or exchangeable 
for Voting Shares, so offered than the Person’s percentage of Voting Shares 
Beneficially Owned immediately prior to such acquisition; 

(nn) “Record Time” means n  on n ;  

(oo) “Redemption Price” has the meaning ascribed thereto in subsection 5.1(a); 

(pp) “Right” means a right to purchase a Common Share, upon the terms and subject to the 
conditions set forth in this Agreement; 

(qq) “Rights Agent” means n , the rights agent appointed by the Company to act as agent for 
the Company in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement; 

(rr) “Rights Certificate” has the meaning ascribed thereto in subsection 2.2(c) and shall be in 
substantially the form set out in Exhibit A to this Agreement; 

(ss) “Rights Registrar” means n , the registrar for the Rights appointed pursuant to subsection 
2.6(a) of this Agreement; 

(tt) “Rights Register” has the meaning ascribed thereto in subsection 2.6(a); 

(uu)  “Separation Time” means the close of business on the tenth (10th) Trading Day after the 
earlier of: 
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(i) the Stock Acquisition Date; 

(ii) the date of the commencement of or first public announcement of the intent of 
any Person (other than the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company) to 
commence a Take-over Bid (other than a Permitted Bid or Competing Permitted 
Bid); and 

(iii) the date upon which a Take-over Bid ceases to be a Permitted Bid or Competing 
Permitted Bid; 

or such later time as may be determined by the Board of Directors (or any committee of 
the Board of Directors so designated by the Board of Directors) acting in good faith 
provided that, if the foregoing results in the Separation Time being prior to the Record 
Time, the Separation Time shall be the Record Time, and further provided that: 

A. if any Take-over Bid referred to in paragraph (ii) of this definition 
expires, or is cancelled, terminated or otherwise withdrawn prior to the 
Separation Time, such Take-over Bid shall be deemed, for the purposes 
of this definition, never to have been made; and 

B. if the Board of Directors determines pursuant to subsection 5.1(d), (e) or 
(f) to waive the application of Section 3.1 to a Flip-in Event, the 
Separation Time in respect of such Flip-in Event shall be deemed never 
to have occurred; 

(vv) “Special Meeting” means a special meeting (including a combined annual and special 
meeting) of the holders of Voting Shares called by the Board of Directors for the purpose 
of: 

(i) ratifying the distribution and continued existence of the Rights in accordance 
with Section 5.15; or 

(ii) approving an amendment, variation or rescission of any of the provisions of this 
Agreement pursuant to subsections 5.4(b), 5.4(c) or 5.4(e); 

(ww) “Stock Acquisition Date” means the first date of public announcement (which, for 
purposes of this definition, shall include, without limitation, a report or filing made or 
filed pursuant to Sections 13(d) or 14 of the 1934 Exchange Act by the Company or an 
Acquiring Person indicating that a Person has become an Acquiring Person; 

(xx) “Subsidiary”: a corporation shall be deemed to be a Subsidiary of another corporation if: 

(i) it is controlled by: 

A. that other; or 

B. that other and one or more corporations each of which is controlled by 
that other; or 

C. two or more corporations each of which is controlled by that other; or 
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(ii) it is a Subsidiary of a corporation that is that other’s Subsidiary; 

(yy) “Take-over Bid” means an Offer to Acquire Voting Shares or other securities if, 
assuming the Voting Shares or other securities subject to the Offer to Acquire are 
acquired at the date of the Offer to Acquire by the Person making the Offer to Acquire, 
such Voting Shares (including all Voting Shares that may be acquired upon exercise of 
all rights of conversion, exchange or purchase attaching to the other securities) together 
with the Offeror’s Securities would constitute in the aggregate twenty percent (20%) or 
more of the outstanding Voting Shares at the date of the Offer to Acquire; 

(zz) “Termination Time” means the time at which the right to exercise Rights shall terminate 
pursuant to Sections 5.1 or 5.15; 

(aaa) “Trading Day”, when used with respect to any securities, means a day on which the 
principal Canadian stock exchange or United States securities exchange or quotation 
system on which such securities are listed or admitted to trading is open for the 
transaction of business or, if the securities are not listed or admitted to trading on any 
Canadian stock exchange or United States securities exchange or quotation system, a 
Business Day; 

(bbb) “U.S. - Canadian Exchange Rate” means, on any date: 

(i) if on such date the Bank of Canada sets an average noon spot rate of exchange 
for the conversion of one United States dollar into Canadian dollars, such rate, 
and 

(ii) in any other case, the rate for such date for the conversion of one United States 
dollar into Canadian dollars which is calculated in the manner which shall be 
determined by the Board of Directors from time to time acting in good faith, and 

(ccc) “Canadian – U.S. Exchange Rate” means, on any date: 

(i) if on such date the Bank of Canada sets an average noon spot rate of exchange 
for the conversion of one Canadian dollar into United States dollars, such rate, 
and 

(ii) in any other case, the rate for such date for the conversion of one Canadian dollar 
into United States dollars which is calculated in the manner which shall be 
determined by the Board of Directors from time to time acting in good faith; 

(ddd) “U.S. Dollar Equivalent” of any amount which is expressed in Canadian dollars means, 
on any date, the United States dollar equivalent of such amount determined by 
multiplying such amount by the Canadian-U.S. Exchange Rate in effect on such date; 

(eee) “Voting Shares” means the Common Shares and any other shares of capital stock or 
voting interests of the Company entitled to vote generally in the election of all directors; 
and 

(fff) “Voting Share Reduction” means an acquisition or redemption by the Company or a 
Subsidiary of the Company of Voting Shares which, by reducing the number of Voting 
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Shares outstanding or which may be voted, increases the proportionate number of Voting 
Shares Beneficially Owned by any Person. 

1.2 Currency 

 All sums of money which are referred to in this Agreement are expressed in lawful money of n, 
unless otherwise specified. 

1.3 Headings 

 The division of this Agreement into Articles, Sections, subsections, paragraphs and 
subparagraphs and the insertion of headings, subheadings and a table of contents are for convenience of 
reference only and shall not affect the construction or interpretation of this Agreement. 

1.4 References to Agreement 

 References to “this Agreement”, “hereto”, “herein”, “hereby”, “hereunder”, “hereof” and similar 
expressions refer to this Agreement, as amended or supplemented from time to time, and not to any 
particular Article, Section, subsection, paragraph, subparagraph or other provision hereof and include any 
and every instrument supplemental or ancillary hereto. Unless the context otherwise requires, references 
in this Agreement to an Article, Section, subsection, paragraph, subparagraph or Exhibit by number, letter 
or otherwise refer to the Article, Section, subsection, paragraph, subparagraph or Exhibit, respectively, 
bearing that designation in this Agreement. 

1.5 Calculation of Number and Percentage of Beneficial Ownership of Outstanding Voting 
Shares 

 For purposes of this Agreement, the percentage of outstanding Voting Shares Beneficially Owned 
by any Person shall be and be deemed to be the product determined by the formula: 

100 x A 
B 

where: 

A = the number of votes for the election of all directors generally attaching to the 
outstanding Voting Shares Beneficially Owned by such Person; and 

B = the number of votes for the election of all directors generally attaching to all 
outstanding Voting Shares. 

 For the purpose of the foregoing formula, where any person is deemed to Beneficially Own 
unissued Voting Shares which may be acquired pursuant to Convertible Securities, such Voting Shares 
shall be deemed to be outstanding for the purpose of calculating the percentage of Voting Shares 
Beneficially Owned by such Person in both the numerator and the denominator, but no other unissued 
Voting Shares which may be acquired pursuant to any other outstanding Convertible Securities shall, for 
the purposes of that calculation, be deemed to be outstanding. 
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1.6 Acting Jointly or in Concert 

 For purposes of this Agreement, a Person is acting jointly or in concert with every other Person 
who is a party to any agreement, commitment or understanding, whether formal or informal and whether 
or not in writing, with the first mentioned Person for the purpose of acquiring or offering to acquire 
Voting Shares (other than customary agreements with and between underwriters and/or banking group 
and/or selling group members with respect to a distribution of securities pursuant to a prospectus or by 
way of private placement and other than pursuant to pledges of securities in the ordinary course of 
business). 

1.7 Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

 Wherever in this Agreement reference is made to generally accepted accounting principles, such 
reference shall be deemed to be the recommendations at the relevant time of the n  or any successor 
institute, applicable on a consolidated basis (unless otherwise specifically provided herein to be applicable 
on an unconsolidated basis) as at the date on which a calculation is made or required to be made in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Where the character or amount of any asset or 
liability or item of revenue or expense is required to be determined, or any consolidation or other 
accounting computation is required to be made for the purpose of this Agreement or any document, such 
determination or calculation shall, to the extent applicable and except as otherwise specified herein or as 
otherwise agreed in writing by the parties, be made in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles applied on a consistent basis. 

ARTICLE 2 
 

THE RIGHTS 

2.1 Issuance and Evidence of Rights; Legend on Common Share Certificates 

(a) The Company shall issue one Right in respect of each Common Share outstanding at the 
Record Time and one Right in respect of each Common Share which may be issued after 
the Record Time and prior to the earlier of the Separation Time and the Expiration Time 
in accordance with the terms hereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company may, 
after the Separation Time but prior to the Expiration Time, issue one Right in respect of 
each Common Share which is issued after the Record Time pursuant to the exercise of 
Convertible Securities which are outstanding at the Stock Acquisition Date. 

(b) Certificates representing Common Shares issued after the Record Time but prior to the 
earlier of the Separation Time and the Expiration Time shall evidence, in addition to the 
Common Shares, one Right for each Common Share evidenced thereby and shall have 
impressed on, printed on, written on or otherwise affixed to them a legend in the 
following (or substantially similar) form: 

“Until the Separation Time (as defined in the Rights Agreement referred 
to below), this certificate also evidences and entitles the holder hereof to 
certain Rights as set forth in the Shareholder Rights Plan Agreement 
made as of n (the “Rights Agreement”), between Uranerz Energy 
Corporation (the “Company”) and n , as rights agent, as amended from 
time to time, the terms of which are hereby incorporated herein by 
reference and a copy of which may be inspected during normal business 
hours at the principal office of the Company. Under certain 
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circumstances, as set out in the Rights Agreement, the Rights may be 
amended, redeemed, may expire, may become null and void or may be 
evidenced by separate certificates and no longer evidenced by this 
certificate. The Company will mail or arrange for the mailing of a copy 
of the Rights Agreement to the holder of this certificate without charge 
as soon as practicable after the receipt of a written request therefor.” 

Certificates representing Common Shares that are issued and outstanding at the Record 
Time shall also evidence one Right for each Common Share evidenced thereby, 
notwithstanding the absence of the foregoing legend, until the earlier of the Separation 
Time and the Expiration Time. 

2.2 Initial Exercise Price; Exercise of Rights; Detachment of Rights 

(c) Subject to adjustment as herein set forth (including without limitation any adjustment 
described in Article 3), each Right will entitle the holder thereof, from and after the 
Separation Time and prior to the Expiration Time, to purchase, for the Exercise Price, 
one Common Share. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, any Rights 
held by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries shall be void. 

(d) Until the Separation Time: 

(i) the Rights shall not be exercisable and no Right may be exercised; and 

(ii) each Right will be evidenced by the certificate for the associated Common Share 
and will be transferable only together with, and will be transferred by a transfer 
of, such associated Common Share. 

(e) From and after the Separation Time and prior to the Expiration Time: 

(i) the Rights shall be exercisable; and 

(ii) the registration and transfer of the Rights shall be separate from and independent 
of Common Shares. 

Promptly following the Separation Time, the Company will prepare and the Rights Agent 
will mail or arrange to be mailed to each holder of record of Common Shares as of the 
Separation Time or who subsequently becomes a holder of record of Common Shares 
upon the exercise of rights attaching to Convertible Securities outstanding at the Stock 
Acquisition Date (other than an Acquiring Person and, in respect of any Rights 
Beneficially Owned by such Acquiring Person which are not held of record by such 
Acquiring Person, the holder of record of such Rights (a “Nominee”), at such holder’s 
address as shown by the records of the Company (the Company hereby agreeing to 
furnish copies of such records to the Rights Agent for this purpose): 

A. a rights certificate (“Rights Certificate”) representing the number of 
Rights held by such holder at the Separation Time and having such 
markers of identification or designation and such legends, summaries or 
endorsements printed thereon as the Company may deem appropriate and 
as are not inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement, or as may 
be required to comply with any law, rule, regulation or judicial or 
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administrative order or with any rule or regulation of any self-regulatory 
organization, stock exchange or quotation system on which the Rights 
may from time to time be listed or traded, or to conform to usage; and 

B. a disclosure statement describing the Rights; 

provided that a Nominee shall be sent the materials provided for in paragraphs (A) and 
(B) above in respect of all Common Shares held of record by it which are not 
Beneficially Owned by an Acquiring Person. In order for the Company to determine 
whether any Person is holding Common Shares which are Beneficially Owned by another 
Person, the Company may require such first mentioned Person to furnish such 
information and documents as the Company deems necessary. 

(f) Rights may be exercised in whole or in part on any Business Day after the Separation 
Time and prior to the Expiration Time by submitting to the Rights Agent at its principal 
office in n , the Rights Certificate evidencing such Rights together with: 

(i) an election to exercise such Rights (an “Election to Exercise”) substantially in the 
form attached to the Rights Certificate duly completed and executed by the 
holder or his executors or administrators or other personal representatives or his 
or their legal attorney duly appointed by an instrument in writing in form and 
executed in a manner satisfactory to the Rights Agent; and 

(ii) payment in cash or by certified check, banker’s draft or money order payable to 
the order of the Company, of a sum equal to the Exercise Price multiplied by the 
number of Rights being exercised and a sum sufficient to cover any transfer tax 
or charge which may be payable in respect of any transfer involved in the transfer 
or delivery or Rights Certificates or the issuance or delivery of certificates for 
Common Shares in a name other than that of the holder of the Rights being 
exercised. 

(g) Upon receipt of a Rights Certificate, which is accompanied by a completed Election to 
Exercise that does not indicate that such Right is null and void as provided by subsection 
3.1(b) and payment as set forth in subsection 2.2(d), the Rights Agent (unless otherwise 
instructed by the Company if the Company is of the opinion that the Rights cannot be 
exercised in accordance with this Agreement) will thereupon promptly: 

(i) requisition from the transfer agent for the Common Shares certificates 
representing the number of such Common Shares to be purchased (the Company 
hereby irrevocably authorizing its transfer agent to comply with all such 
requisitions); 

(ii) after receipt of such certificate, deliver the Common Shares referred to in 
subclause 2.2 (e)(i) to or upon the order of the registered holder of such Rights 
Certificate, registered in such name or names as may be designated by such 
holder; 

(iii) when appropriate, requisition from the Company the amount of cash to be paid in 
lieu of issuing fractional Common Shares; 
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(iv) when appropriate, after receipt of such cash, deliver the same to or to the order of 
the registered holder of the Rights Certificate; and 

(v) tender to the Company all payments received on exercise of the Rights. 

(h) If the holder of any Rights shall exercise less than all the Rights evidenced by such 
holder’s Rights Certificate, a new Rights Certificate evidencing the Rights remaining 
unexercised (subject to Section 5.5) will be issued by the Rights Agent to such holder or 
to such holder’s duly authorized assigns. 

(i) The Company covenants and agrees that it will: 

(i) take all such action as may be necessary and within its power to ensure that all 
securities delivered upon exercise of Rights shall, at the time of delivery of the 
certificates for such securities (subject to payment of the Exercise Price), be duly 
and validly authorized, executed, issued and delivered as fully paid and non-
assessable; 

(ii) take all such action as may be necessary and within its power to comply with any 
applicable requirements of the Nevada Business Corporation Act, the 1933 
Securities Act, the 1934 Exchange Act and any other applicable laws in 
connection with the issuance and delivery of the Rights, the Rights Certificates 
and the issuance of any securities upon exercise of Rights; 

(iii) use reasonable efforts to cause all securities issued upon exercise of Rights to be 
listed on the stock exchanges and/or quotation systems on which the Common 
Shares were listed and traded immediately prior to the Stock Acquisition Date; 

(iv) cause to be reserved and kept available out of its authorized and unissued classes 
of securities, the number of securities that, as provided in this Agreement, will 
from time to time be sufficient to permit the exercise in full of all outstanding 
Rights; and 

(v) pay when due and payable any and all United States federal, provincial and state 
transfer taxes and charges (not including any income or capital taxes of the 
holder or exercising holder or any liability of the Company to withhold tax) 
which may be payable in respect of the original issuance or delivery of the Rights 
Certificates or certificates for Common Shares, provided that the Company shall 
not be required to pay any transfer tax or charge which may be payable in respect 
of any transfer involved in the transfer or delivery of Rights Certificates or the 
issuance or delivery of certificates for securities in a name other than that of the 
holder of the Rights being transferred or exercised. 

2.3 Adjustment to Exercise Price; Number of Rights 

 The Exercise Price, the number and kind of securities subject to purchase upon exercise of each 
Right and the number of Rights outstanding are subject to adjustment from time to time as provided in 
this Section 2.3. 

(a) If the Company shall at any time after the Record Time and prior to the Expiration Time: 
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(i) declare or pay a dividend on its Common Shares payable in Common Shares (or 
other securities exchangeable for or convertible into or giving a right to acquire 
Common Shares) other than pursuant to any optional stock dividend program, 
dividend reinvestment plan or a dividend payable in Voting Shares in lieu of a 
regular periodic cash dividend; 

(ii) subdivide or change the outstanding Common Shares into a greater number of 
Common shares; 

(iii) combine or change the outstanding Common Shares into a smaller number of 
Common Shares; or 

(iv) issue any Common Shares (or other securities exchangeable for or convertible 
into or giving a right to acquire Common Shares) in respect of, in lieu of or in 
exchange for existing Common Shares; 

except as otherwise provided in this Section 2.3, the Exercise Price and the number of 
Rights outstanding, or, if the payment or effective date therefore shall occur after the 
Separation Time, the securities purchasable upon exercise of Rights shall be adjusted as 
of the payment or effective date such that: 

A. if the Exercise Price and number of Rights outstanding are to be 
adjusted, 

1. the Exercise Price in effect after such adjustment will be equal to 
the Exercise Price in effect immediately prior to such adjustment 
divided by the number of Common Shares (or other capital 
stock) (the “Expansion Factor”) that a holder of one Common 
share immediately prior to such dividend, subdivision, change, 
combination or issuance would hold thereafter as a result 
thereof; and 

2. each Right held prior to such adjustment will become that 
number of Rights equal to the Expansion Factor; 

and the adjusted number of Rights will be deemed to be distributed 
among the Common Shares with respect to which the original Rights 
were associated (if they remain outstanding) and the shares issued in 
respect of such dividend, subdivision, change, combination or issuance, 
so that each such Common Share (or other capital stock) will have 
exactly one Right associated with it; and 

B. if the securities purchasable upon exercise of Rights are to be adjusted, 
the securities purchasable upon exercise of each Right after such 
adjustment will be the securities that a holder of the securities 
purchasable upon exercise of one Right immediately prior to such 
dividend, subdivision, change, combination or issuance would hold 
thereafter as a result thereof. 

If after the Record Time and prior to the Expiration Time the Company shall issue any 
securities other than Common Shares in a transaction of a type described in paragraphs 
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2.3(a)(i) or (iv), such securities shall be treated herein as nearly equivalent to Common 
Shares as may be practicable and appropriate under the circumstances and the Company 
and the Rights Agent agree to amend this Agreement in order to effect such treatment. 

(b) If the Company shall at any time after the Record Time and prior to the Separation Time 
fix a record date for the issuance of rights, options or warrants to all holders of Common 
Shares entitling them (for a period expiring within forty-five (45) calendar days after 
such record date) to subscribe for or purchase Common Shares (or securities convertible 
into or exchangeable for or carrying a right to purchase Common Shares) at a price per 
Common Share (or, if a security convertible into or exchangeable for or carrying a right 
to purchase or subscribe for Common Shares having a conversion, exchange or exercise 
price, including the price required to be paid to purchase such convertible or 
exchangeable security or right per share) less than the Market Price per Common Share 
on such record date, the Exercise Price to be in effect after such record date shall be 
adjusted to that price determined by multiplying the Exercise Price in effect immediately 
prior to such record date by a fraction: 

(i) the numerator of which shall be the number of Common Shares outstanding on 
such record date, plus the number of Common Shares that the aggregate offering 
price of the total number of Common Shares so to be offered (and/or the 
aggregate initial conversion, exchange or exercise price of the convertible or 
exchangeable securities or rights so to be offered, including the price required to 
be paid to purchase such convertible or exchangeable securities or rights) would 
purchase at such Market Price per Common Share; and 

(ii) the denominator of which shall be the number of Common Shares outstanding on 
such record date, plus the number of additional Common Shares to be offered for 
subscription or purchase (or into which the convertible or exchangeable securities 
or rights so to be offered are initially convertible, exchangeable or exercisable). 

If such subscription price may be paid by delivery of consideration, part or all of which 
may be in a form other than cash, the value of such consideration shall be as determined 
in good faith by the Board of Directors, whose determination shall be described in a 
statement filed with the Rights Agent and shall be binding on the Rights Agent and the 
holders of the Rights. Such adjustment shall be made successively whenever such a 
record date is fixed, and in the event that such rights or warrants are not so issued (or are 
issued but not exercised), the Exercise Price shall be adjusted to be the Exercise Price 
which would then be in effect if such record date had not been fixed. 

For purposes of this Agreement, the granting of the right to purchase Common Shares 
(whether from treasury shares or otherwise) pursuant to any dividend or interest 
reinvestment plan and/or any Common Share purchase plan providing for the 
reinvestment of dividends or interest payable on securities of the Company and/or the 
investment of periodic optional payments and/or employee benefit, stock option or 
similar plans (so long as such right to purchase is in no case evidenced by the delivery of 
rights or warrants) shall not be deemed to constitute an issue of rights or warrants by the 
Company; provided, however, that, in the case of any Dividend Reinvestment Plan, the 
right to purchase Common Shares is at a price per share of not less than ninety percent 
(90%) of the current market price per share (determined as provided in such plans) of the 
Common Shares. 
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(c) If the Company shall at any time after the Record Time and prior to the Separation Time 
fix a record date for a distribution to all holders of Common Shares (including any such 
distribution made in connection with a merger or amalgamation in which the Company is 
the continuing corporation) of evidences of indebtedness, cash (other than an ordinary 
course dividend or a dividend referred to in paragraph 2.3(a)(i)), assets or rights or 
warrants (excluding those referred to in subsection 2.3(b)), the Exercise Price to be in 
effect after such record date shall be determined by multiplying the Exercise Price in 
effect immediately prior to such record date by a fraction: 

(i) the numerator of which shall be the Market Price per Common Share on such 
record date, less the fair market value (as determined in good faith by the Board 
of Directors, whose determination shall be described in a statement filed with the 
Rights Agent and shall be binding on the Rights Agent and the holders of 
Rights), on a per share basis, of the portion of the cash, assets, evidences of 
indebtedness, rights, options or warrants so to be distributed; and 

(ii) the denominator of which shall be such Market Price per Common Share. 

Such adjustments shall be made successively whenever such a record date is fixed, and in 
the event that such a distribution is not so made, the Exercise Price shall be adjusted to be 
the Exercise Price which would have been in effect if such record date had not been 
fixed. 

(d) Each adjustment made pursuant to this Section 2.3 shall be made as of 

(i) the payment or effective date for the applicable dividend, subdivision, change, 
combination or issuance, in the case of an adjustment made pursuant to 
subsection (a) above; and 

(ii) the record date for the applicable distribution, in the case of an adjustment made 
pursuant to subsection (b) or (c) above, subject to readjustment to reverse the 
same if such distribution shall not be made. 

(e) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, no adjustment in the Exercise Price 
shall be required unless such adjustment would require an increase or decrease of at least 
one percent (1%) in the Exercise Price; provided, however, that any adjustments which 
by reason of this subsection 2.3(e) are not required to be made shall be carried forward 
and taken into account in any subsequent adjustment. All calculations under this Section 
2.3 shall be made to the nearest cent or to the nearest hundredth of a share. 
Notwithstanding the first sentence of this subsection 2.3(e), any adjustment required by 
this Section 2.3 shall be made no later than the earlier of (i) three years from the date of 
the transaction which mandates such adjustment and (ii) the Termination Time. 
Whenever an adjustment to the Exercise Price is made pursuant to this Section 2.3, the 
Company shall: 

(i) promptly prepare a certificate setting forth such adjustment and a brief statement 
of the facts accounting for such adjustment; and 

(ii) promptly file with the Rights Agent and with each transfer agent for the Common 
Shares a copy of such certificate and mail a brief summary thereof to each holder 
of Rights. 
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(f) If the Company shall at any time after the Record Time and prior to the Separation Time 
issue any shares of capital stock (other than Common Shares), or rights or warrants to 
subscribe for or purchase any such capital stock, or securities convertible into or 
exchangeable for any such capital stock, in a transaction referred to in paragraph (a)(i) or 
(a)(iv) above, if the Board of Directors acting in good faith determines that the 
adjustments contemplated by subsections (a), (b) and (c) above in connection with such 
transaction will not appropriately protect the interests of the holders of Rights, the Board 
of Directors may determine what other adjustments to the Exercise Price, number of 
Rights and/or securities purchasable upon exercise of Rights would be appropriate and, 
notwithstanding subsections (a), (b) and (c) above, but subject to the prior consent of the 
holders of Common Shares or Rights obtained in accordance with Section 5.4, such 
adjustments, rather than the adjustments contemplated by subsections (a), (b) and (c) 
above, shall be made. The Company and the Rights Agent shall have authority without 
the approval of the holders of the Common Shares or the holders of Rights to amend this 
Agreement as appropriate to provide for such adjustments. 

(g) Each Right originally issued by the Company subsequent to any adjustment made to the 
Exercise Price hereunder shall evidence the right to purchase, at the adjusted Exercise 
Price, the number of Common Shares purchasable from time to time hereunder upon 
exercise of a Right, all subject to further adjustment as provided herein. 

(h) Irrespective of any adjustment or change in the Exercise Price or the number of Common 
Shares issuable upon the exercise of the Rights, the Rights Certificates theretofore and 
thereafter issued may continue to express the Exercise Price per Common Share and the 
number of Common Shares which were expressed in the initial Rights Certificates issued 
hereunder. 

(i) In any case in which this Section 2.3 shall require that an adjustment in the Exercise Price 
be made effective as of a record date for a specified event, the Company may elect to 
defer until the occurrence of such event the issuance to the holder of any Right exercised 
after such record date the number of Common Shares and other securities of the 
Company, if any, issuable upon such exercise over and above the number of Common 
Shares and other securities of the Company, if any, issuable upon such exercise on the 
basis of the Exercise Price in effect prior to such adjustment; provided, however, that the 
Company shall deliver to such holder an appropriate instrument evidencing such holder’s 
right to receive such additional shares (fractional or otherwise) or securities upon the 
occurrence of the event requiring such adjustment. 

(j) Notwithstanding anything in this Section 2.3 to the contrary, the Company shall be 
entitled to make such reductions in the Exercise Price, in addition to those adjustments 
expressly required by this Section 2.3, as and to the extent that the Board of Directors 
shall in good faith determine to be advisable in order that any (i) consolidation or 
subdivision of the Common Shares, (ii) issuance wholly or in part for cash of any 
Common Shares or securities that by their terms are convertible into or exchangeable for 
Common Shares, (iii) stock dividends or (iv) issuance of rights, options or warrants 
referred to in this Section 2.3, hereafter made by the Company to holders of its Common 
Shares shall not be taxable to such shareholders. 

(k) The Company covenants and agrees that, after the Separation Time, it will not, except as 
permitted by Section 5.1 or Section 5.4, take (or permit any Subsidiary of the Company 
to take) any action if at the time such action is taken it is reasonably foreseeable that such 
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action will diminish substantially or otherwise eliminate the benefits intended to be 
afforded by the Rights. 

(l) If an event occurs which would require an adjustment under both this Section 2.3 and 
Section 3.1, the adjustment provided for in this Section 2.3 shall be in addition to and 
shall be made prior to, any adjustment required pursuant to Section 3.1. 

(m) If the Company shall at any time after the Record Time and prior to the earlier of the 
Separation Time and the Expiration Time issue any Common Shares otherwise than in a 
transaction referred to in subsection 2.3(a) each such Common Share so issued shall 
automatically have one new Right associated with it, which Right shall be evidenced by 
the certificate representing such share. 

2.4 Date on Which Exercise is Effective 

 Each Person in whose name any certificate for Common Shares or other securities, property or 
assets, if applicable, is issued upon the exercise of Rights shall for all purposes be deemed to have 
become the holder of record of the Common Shares or other securities, property or assets, if applicable, 
represented thereby on, and such certificate shall be dated, the date upon which the Rights Certificate 
evidencing such Rights was duly surrendered in accordance with subsection 2.2(d) hereof (together with a 
duly completed Election to Exercise) and payment of the Exercise Price for such Rights (and any 
applicable transfer taxes and other governmental charges payable by the exercising holder hereunder) was 
made; provided, however, that if the date of such surrender and payment is a date upon which the 
Common Share transfer books of the Company are closed, such Person shall be deemed to have become 
the record holder of such Common Shares or other securities, property or assets on, and such certificate 
shall be dated, the next succeeding Business Day on which the Common Share transfer books of the 
Company are open. 

2.5 Execution, Authentication, Delivery and Dating of Rights Certificates 

(a) The Rights Certificates shall be executed on behalf of the Company by any two of its 
directors and/or senior officers. The signature of any of these officers on the Rights 
Certificates may be manual or facsimile. Rights Certificates bearing the manual or 
facsimile signatures of individuals who were at any time the proper officers of the 
Company shall bind the Company notwithstanding that such individuals or any of them 
have ceased to hold such offices prior to the countersignature and delivery of such Rights 
Certificates. 

(b) Promptly after the Company learns of the Separation Time, the Company will notify the 
Rights Agent in writing of such Separation Time and will deliver Rights Certificates 
executed by the Company to the Rights Agent for countersignature, and the Rights Agent 
shall countersign (manually or by facsimile signature in a manner satisfactory to the 
Company) and send such Rights Certificates to the holders of the Rights pursuant to 
subsection 2.2(c). No Rights Certificate shall be valid for any purpose until countersigned 
by the Rights Agent as aforesaid. 

(c) Each Rights Certificate shall be dated the date of countersignature thereof. 
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2.6 Registration, Registration of Transfer and Exchange 

(a) After the Separation Time, the Company will cause to be kept a register (the “Rights 
Register”) in which, subject to such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe, the 
Company will provide for the registration and transfer of Rights. The Rights Agent is 
hereby appointed registrar for the Rights (the “Rights Registrar”) for the purpose of 
maintaining the Rights Register for the Company and registering Rights and transfers of 
Rights as herein provided and the Rights Agent hereby accepts such appointment. If the 
Rights Agent shall cease to be the Rights Registrar, the Rights Agent will have the right 
to examine the Rights Register at all reasonable times. 

(b) After the Separation Time and prior to the Expiration Time, upon surrender for 
registration of transfer or exchange of any Rights Certificate, and subject to the 
provisions of subsections 2.6(d) and 3.1(b), the Company will execute, and the Rights 
Agent will manually countersign and deliver, in the name of the holder or the designated 
transferee or transferees, as required pursuant to the holder’s instructions, one or more 
new Rights Certificates evidencing the same aggregate number of Rights as did the 
Rights Certificates so surrendered. 

(c) All Rights issued upon any registration of transfer or exchange of Rights Certificates 
shall be the valid obligations of the Company, and such Rights shall be entitled to the 
same benefits under this Agreement as the Rights surrendered upon such registration of 
transfer or exchange. 

(d) Every Rights Certificate surrendered for registration of transfer or exchange shall be duly 
endorsed, or be accompanied by a written instrument of transfer in form satisfactory to 
the Company or the Rights Agent, as the case may be, duly executed by the holder 
thereof or such holder’s attorney duly authorized in writing. As a condition to the 
issuance of any new Rights Certificate under this Section 2.6, the Company may require 
the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that may 
be imposed in relation thereto and any other expenses (including the fees and expenses of 
the Rights Agent) connected therewith. 

2.7 Mutilated, Destroyed, Lost and Stolen Rights Certificates 

(a) If any mutilated Rights Certificate is surrendered to the Rights Agent prior to the 
Expiration Time, the Company shall execute and the Rights Agent shall countersign and 
deliver in exchange therefore a new Rights Certificate evidencing the same number of 
Rights as did the Rights Certificate so surrendered. 

(b) If there shall be delivered to the Company and the Rights Agent prior to the Expiration 
Time: 

(i) evidence to their reasonable satisfaction of the destruction, loss or theft of any 
Rights Certificate; and 

(ii) such security or indemnity as may be reasonably required by them in their sole 
discretion to save each of them and any of their agents harmless, 

then, in the absence of notice to the Company or the Rights Agent that such Rights 
Certificate has been acquired by a bona fide purchaser, the Company shall execute and 
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upon the Company’s request the Rights Agent shall countersign and deliver, in lieu of 
any such destroyed, lost or stolen Rights Certificate, a new Rights Certificate evidencing 
the same number of Rights as did the Rights Certificate so destroyed, lost or stolen. 

(c) As a condition to the issuance of any new Rights Certificate under this Section 2.7, the 
Company may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other 
governmental charge that may be imposed in relation thereto an any other expenses 
(including the fees and expenses of the Rights Agent) connected therewith. 

(d) Every new Rights Certificate issued pursuant to this Section 2.7 in lieu of any destroyed, 
lost or stolen Rights Certificate shall evidence the contractual obligation of the Company, 
whether or not the destroyed, lost or stolen Rights Certificate shall be at any time 
enforceable by anyone, and shall be entitled to all benefits of this Agreement equally and 
proportionately with any and all other Rights duly issued by the Company. 

2.8 Persons Deemed Owners 

 The Company, the Rights Agent and any agent of the Company or the Rights Agent may deem 
and treat the Person in whose name a Rights Certificate (or, prior to the Separation Time, the associated 
Common Share certificate) is registered as the absolute owner thereof and the Rights evidenced thereby 
for all purposes whatsoever. As used in this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires, the term 
“holder” of any Rights shall mean the registered holder of such Rights (or, prior to the Separation Time, 
the associated Common Shares). 

2.9 Delivery and Cancellation of Certificates 

 All Rights Certificates surrendered upon exercise or for redemption, registration of transfer or 
exchange shall, if surrendered to any Person other than the Rights Agent, be delivered to the Rights Agent 
and, in any case, shall be promptly cancelled by the Rights Agent. The Company may at any time deliver 
to the Rights Agent for cancellation any Rights Certificates previously countersigned and delivered 
hereunder which the Company may have acquired in any manner whatsoever, and all Rights Certificates 
so delivered shall be promptly cancelled by the Rights Agent. No Rights Certificate shall be 
countersigned in lieu of or in exchange for any Rights Certificates cancelled as provided in this Section 
2.9, except as expressly permitted by this Agreement. The Rights Agent shall destroy all cancelled Rights 
Certificates and deliver a certificate of destruction to the Company. 

2.10 Agreement of Rights Holders 

 Every holder of Rights, by accepting the same, consents and agrees with the Company and the 
Rights Agent and with every other holder of Rights: 

(a) to be bound by and subject to the provisions of this Agreement, as amended from time to 
time in accordance with the terms hereof, in respect of all Rights held; 

(b) that, prior to the Separation Time, each Right will be transferable only together with, and 
will be transferred by a transfer of, the associated Common Share; 

(c) that after the Separation Time, the Rights Certificate will be transferable only upon 
registration of the transfer on the Rights Register as provided herein; 
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(d) that, prior to due presentment of a Rights Certificate (or, prior to the Separation Time, the 
associated Common Share certificate) for registration of transfer, the Company, the 
Rights Agent and any agent of the Company or the Rights Agent may deem and treat the 
person in whose name the Rights Certificate (or, prior to the Separation Time, the 
associated Common Share Certificate) is registered as the absolute owner thereof and of 
the Rights evidenced thereby (notwithstanding any notations of ownership or writing on 
such Rights Certificate or the associated Common Share certificate made by anyone other 
than the Company or the Rights Agent) for all purposes whatsoever, and neither the 
Company nor the Rights Agent shall be affected by any notice to the contrary; 

(e) that such holder of Rights has waived his, her or its right to receive any fractional Rights 
or any fractional shares upon exercise of a Right (except as provided herein); 

(f) that, subject to the provisions of Section 5.4 hereof, without the approval of any holder of 
Rights and upon the sole authority of the Board of Directors acting in good faith, this 
Agreement may be supplemented or amended from time to time pursuant to and as 
provided herein; and 

(g) that notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, neither the Company nor 
the Board of Directors nor the Rights Agent shall have any liability to any holder of a 
Right or any other Person as result of the inability of the Company, the Board of 
Directors or the Rights Agent to perform any of their obligations under this Agreement 
by reason of any preliminary or permanent injunction or other order, decree, notice of 
hearing or ruling issued by a court of competent jurisdiction or by a governmental, 
regulatory or administrative agency or commission, or any statute, rule, regulation, or 
executive order promulgated or enacted by any governmental authority, prohibiting or 
otherwise inhibiting or restraining performance of such obligation. 

2.11 Rights Certificate Holder not Deemed a Shareholder 

 No holder, as such, of any Rights or Rights Certificate shall be entitled to vote, receive dividends 
or be deemed for any purpose whatsoever the holder of any Common Share or any other share or security 
of the Company which may at any time be issuable on the exercise of the Rights represented thereby, nor 
shall anything contained herein or in any Rights Certificate be construed or deemed or confer upon the 
holder of any Right or Rights Certificate, as such, any of the rights, titles, benefits or privileges of a 
holder of Common Shares or any other shares or securities of the Company or any right to vote at any 
meeting of shareholders of the Company whether for the election of directors or otherwise or upon any 
matter submitted to holders of shares of the Company at any meeting thereof, or to give or withhold 
consent to any action of the Company, or to receive notice of any meeting or other action affecting any 
holder of Common Shares or any other shares or securities of the Company except as expressly provided 
herein, or to receive dividends, distributions or subscription rights, or otherwise, until the Right or Rights 
evidenced by Rights Certificates shall have been duly exercised in accordance with the terms and 
provisions hereof. 
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ARTICLE 3 
 

ADJUSTMENTS TO THE RIGHTS IN THE EVENT OF CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS 

3.1 Flip-in Event 

(a) Subject to subsections 3.1(b), 5.1(d), 5.1(e) and 5.1(f), if prior to the Expiration Time a 
Flip-in Event occurs, the Company shall take such action as shall be necessary to ensure 
and provide, within ten Business Days of such occurrence or such longer period as may 
be required to satisfy the requirements of the applicable securities acts or comparable 
legislation of each of the states of the United States so that, except as provided below, 
each Right shall thereafter constitute the right to purchase from the Company, upon 
payment of the Exercise Price and otherwise exercising such Right in accordance with 
the terms hereof, that number of Common Shares having an aggregate Market Price on 
the date of consummation or occurrence of such Flip-in Event equal to twice the Exercise 
Price for an amount in cash equal to the Exercise Price (such Right to be appropriately 
adjusted in a manner analogous to the applicable adjustment provided for in Section 2.3 
in the event that after the Stock Acquisition Date an event of a type analogous to any of 
the events described in Section 2.3 has occurred). 

(b) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, upon the occurrence of any 
Flip-in Event, any Rights that are or were Beneficially Owned on or after the earlier of 
the Separation Time and the Stock Acquisition Date by: 

(i) an Acquiring Person (or any Affiliate or Associate of an Acquiring Person or any 
Person acting jointly or in concert with an Acquiring Person or any Associate or 
Affiliate of an Acquiring Person); or 

(ii) a transferee of Rights, direct or indirect, of an Acquiring Person (or of any 
Affiliate or Associate of an Acquiring Person or of any Person acting jointly or in 
concert with an Acquiring Person or any Associate or Affiliate of an Acquiring 
Person) who becomes a transferee in a transfer that the Board of Directors has 
determined is part of a plan, arrangement or scheme of an Acquiring Person (or 
any Affiliate or Associate of an Acquiring Person or any Person acting jointly or 
in concert with an Acquiring Person or any Associate or Affiliate of an Acquiring 
Person), that has the purpose or effect of avoiding paragraph 3.1(b)(i); 

shall become null and void without any further action, and any holder of such Rights 
(including any transferee of, or other successor to, such Rights whether directly or 
indirectly) shall not have any right whatsoever to exercise such Rights under any 
provision of this Agreement and shall not have thereafter any right whatsoever with 
respect to such Rights, whether under any provision of this Agreement or otherwise. The 
holder of any Rights represented by a Rights Certificate which is submitted to the Rights 
Agent upon exercise or for registration of transfer or exchange which does not contain the 
necessary certifications set forth in the Rights Certificate establishing that such Rights are 
not void under this subsection 3.1(b) shall be deemed to be an Acquiring Person for the 
purposes of this subsection 3.1(b) and such Rights shall become null and void. 

(c) Any Rights Certificate that represents Rights Beneficially Owned by a Person described 
in either paragraph 3.1(b)(i) or (ii) or transferred to any Nominee of any such Person, and 
any Rights Certificate issued upon transfer, exchange, replacement or adjustment of any 
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other Rights Certificate referred to in this sentence, shall contain substantially the 
following legend: 

“The Rights represented by this Rights Certificate were Beneficially 
Owned by a Person who was an Acquiring Person or an Affiliate or an 
Associate of an Acquiring Person (as such terms are defined in the 
Rights Agreement) or a Person acting jointly or in concert with any of 
them. This Rights Certificate and the Rights represented hereby are void 
in the circumstances specified in subsection 3.1(b) of the Rights 
Agreement.” 

and may also contain, where and when required, a French language version of such 
legend; provided that the Rights Agent shall not be under any responsibility to ascertain 
the existence of facts that would require the imposition of such legend but shall be 
required to impose such legend only if instructed to do so in writing by the Company or if 
a holder fails to certify upon transfer or exchange in the space provided on the Rights 
Certificate that such holder is not a Person described in either paragraph 3.1(b)(i) or (ii). 

(d) From and after the Separation Time, the Company shall do all such acts and things as 
shall be necessary and within its power to ensure compliance with the provision of this 
Section 3.1, including without limitation, all such acts and things as may be required to 
satisfy the requirements of the Nevada Business Corporation Act, the 1933 Securities Act, 
the 1934 Exchange Act and any other applicable laws in respect of the issue of Common 
Shares upon the exercise of Rights in accordance with this Agreement. 

(e) If, upon the occurrence of a Flip-In Event, the aggregate number of Common Shares 
issuable upon the exercise of all Rights then outstanding would exceed the aggregate 
number of Common Shares that the Company is then authorized to issue pursuant to its 
constating documents, the number of Common Shares acquirable pursuant to each Right 
shall, notwithstanding subsection 3.1(a), be reduced pro rata to the extent necessary such 
that the aggregate number of Common Shares issuable upon the exercise of all 
outstanding Rights does not then exceed the aggregate number of Common Shares that 
the Company is then authorized to issue pursuant to its constating documents, provided 
that any such pro rata reduction will not affect the Exercise Price or any other term of 
this Agreement relating to the Rights. 

3.2 Fiduciary and other Statutory Duties of the Board of Directors of the Company 

 For clarification it is understood that nothing contained in this Article 3 shall be considered to 
affect the obligations of the Board of Directors to exercise its fiduciary and other statutory duties. Without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, nothing contained herein shall be construed to suggest or imply 
that the Board of Directors shall not be entitled to recommend that holders of the Voting Shares reject or 
accept any Take-over Bid or take any other action (including, without limitation, the commencement, 
prosecution, defense or settlement of any litigation and the submission of additional or alternative Take-
over Bids or other proposals to the shareholders of the Company with respect to any Take-over Bid or 
otherwise) that the Board of Directors believes is necessary or appropriate in the exercise of its fiduciary 
and other statutory duties. 
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ARTICLE 4 
 

THE RIGHTS AGENT 

4.1 General 

(a) The Company hereby appoints the Rights Agent to act as agent for the Company in 
accordance with the terms and conditions hereof, and the Rights Agent hereby accepts 
such appointment. The Company may from time to time appoint such co-Rights Agents 
(“Co-Rights Agents”) as it may deem necessary or desirable. In the event that the 
Company appoints one or more Co-Rights Agents, the respective duties of the Rights 
Agents and the Co-Rights Agents shall be as the Company may determine. The Company 
agrees to pay to the Rights Agent reasonable compensation for all services rendered by it 
hereunder and, from time to time, on demand of the Rights Agent, the reasonable 
expenses and counsel fees and other disbursements incurred by the Rights Agent in the 
administration and execution of this Agreement and the exercise and performance of its 
duties hereunder, including the reasonable fees and disbursements of any expert retained 
by the Rights Agent. The Company also agrees to indemnify the Rights Agent for, and to 
hold it harmless against, any loss, liability, costs, claims, actions, damages or expenses, 
incurred without negligence, bad faith or willful default on the part of the Rights Agent, 
for anything done or suffered or omitted to be done by the Rights Agent in connection 
with the acceptance, execution and administration of this Agreement and the performance 
of its duties hereunder, including the costs and expenses of defending against any claim 
of liability, which right to indemnification will survive the termination of this Agreement 
or the resignation of the Rights Agent. 

(b) The Rights Agent shall be protected and shall incur no liability for or in respect of any 
action taken, suffered or omitted to be done by it in connection with its acceptance, 
execution and administration of this Agreement in reliance upon any certificate for 
Voting Shares or Common Shares, or any Rights Certificate or certificate for other 
securities of the Company, instrument of assignment or transfer, power of attorney, 
endorsement, affidavit, letter, notice, direction, consent, certificate, statement, or other 
paper or document believed by it to be the genuine and to be signed, executed and, where 
necessary, verified or acknowledged, by the proper Person or Persons. 

(c) The Company shall inform the Rights Agent in a reasonably timely manner of events 
which may materially affect the administration of this Agreement by the Rights Agent. 

4.2 Merger, Amalgamation or Consolidation or Change of Name of Rights Agent 

(a) Any corporation into which the Rights Agent or any successor Rights Agent may be 
merged or amalgamated or with which it may be consolidated, or any corporation 
resulting from any merger, amalgamation, statutory arrangement or consolidation to 
which the Rights Agent or any successor Rights Agent is a party, or any corporation 
succeeding to the shareholder or stockholder services business of the Rights Agent or any 
successor Rights Agent, will be the successor to the Rights Agent under this Agreement 
without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of any of the 
parties hereto, provided that such corporation would be eligible for appointment as a 
successor Rights Agent under the provisions of Section 4.4. In case at the time each 
successor Rights Agent succeeds to the agency created by this Agreement any of the 
Rights Certificates have been countersigned but not delivered, any such successor Rights 
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Agent may adopt the countersignature of the predecessor Rights Agent and deliver such 
Rights Certificates so countersigned; and in case at that time any of the Rights 
Certificates have not been countersigned, any successor Rights Agent may countersign 
such Rights Certificates either in the name of the predecessor Rights Agent or in the 
name of the successor Rights Agent; and in all such cases such Rights Certificates will 
have the full force provided in the Rights Certificates and in this Agreement. 

(b) In case at any time the name of the Rights Agent is changed and at such time any of the 
Rights Certificates shall have been countersigned but not delivered, the Rights Agent 
may adopt the countersignature under its prior name and deliver Rights Certificates so 
countersigned; and in case at that time any of the Rights Certificates shall not have been 
countersigned, the Rights Agent may countersign such Rights Certificates either in its 
prior name or in its changed name; and in all such cases such Rights Certificates shall 
have the full force provided in the Rights Certificates and in this Agreement. 

4.3 Duties of Rights Agent 

 The Rights Agent undertakes the duties and obligations imposed by this Agreement upon the 
following terms and conditions, by all of which the Company and the holders of Rights Certificates, by 
their acceptance thereof, shall be bound: 

(a) the Rights Agent may consult with legal counsel (who may be legal counsel for the 
Company) and the opinion of such counsel will be full and complete authorization and 
protection to the Rights Agent as to any action taken, suffered or omitted to be done by it 
in good faith and in accordance with such opinion; the Rights Agent may also, with the 
approval of the Company (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld), consult with 
such other experts as the Rights Agent shall consider necessary or appropriate to properly 
carry out the duties and obligations imposed under this Agreement and the Rights Agent 
shall be entitled to rely in good faith on the advice of any such expert; 

(b) whenever in the performance of its duties under this Agreement the Rights Agent deems 
it necessary or desirable that any fact or matter be proved or established by the Company 
prior to taking or suffering any action hereunder, such fact or matter (unless other 
evidence in respect thereof be herein specifically prescribed) may be deemed to be 
conclusively proven and established by a certificate signed by a Person reasonably 
believed by the Rights Agent to be a director and/or senior officer of the Company and 
delivered to the Rights Agent; and such certificate will be full authorization to the Rights 
Agent for any action taken or suffered in good faith by it under the provisions of this 
Agreement in reliance upon such certificate; 

(c) the Rights Agent will be liable hereunder only for its own negligence, bad faith or willful 
misconduct; 

(d) the Rights Agent will not be liable for or by reason of any of the statements of fact or 
recitals contained in this Agreement or in the certificates for Voting Shares or Common 
Shares or the Rights Certificates (except its countersignature thereof) or be required to 
verify the same, but all such statements and recitals are and will be deemed to have been 
made by the Company only; 

(e) the Rights Agent will not be under any responsibility in respect of the validity of this 
Agreement or the authorization, execution and delivery hereof (except the due 
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authorization, execution and delivery hereof by the Rights Agent) or in respect of the 
validity or execution of any Common Share certificate or Rights Certificate (except its 
countersignature thereof); nor will it be responsible for any breach by the Company of 
any covenant or condition contained in this Agreement or in any Rights Certificate; nor 
will it be responsible for any change in the exercisability of the Rights (including the 
Rights becoming void pursuant to subsection 3.1(b)) or any adjustment required under 
the provisions of Section 2.3 or be responsible for the manner, method or amount of any 
such adjustment or the ascertaining of the existence of facts that would require any such 
adjustment (except with respect to the exercise of Rights after receipt of the certificate 
contemplated by Section 2.3 describing any such adjustment); nor will it by any act 
hereunder be deemed to make any representation or warranty as to the authorization of 
any Common shares to be issued pursuant to this Agreement or any Rights or as to 
whether any Common shares will, when issued, be duly and validly authorized, executed, 
issued and delivered and fully paid and non-assessable; 

(f) the Company agrees that it will perform, execute, acknowledge and deliver or cause to be 
performed, executed, acknowledged and delivered all such further and other acts, 
instruments and assurances as may reasonably be required by the Rights Agent for the 
carrying out or performing by the Rights Agent of the provisions of this Agreement; 

(g) the Rights Agent is hereby authorized and directed to accept written instructions with 
respect to the performance of its duties hereunder from any person believed by the Rights 
Agent to be a director and/or senior officer of the Company, and to apply to such 
individual for advice or instructions in connection with its duties, and it shall not be liable 
for any action taken or suffered by it in good faith in reliance upon instructions of any 
such individual; 

(h) subject to compliance with applicable laws, the Rights Agent and any shareholder or 
stockholder, director, officer or employee of the Rights Agent may buy, sell or deal in 
Common Shares, Rights or other securities of the Company or become pecuniarily 
interested in any transaction in which the Company may be interested, or contract with or 
lend money to the Company or otherwise act as fully and freely as though it were not 
Rights Agent under this Agreement. Nothing herein shall preclude the Rights Agent from 
acting in any other capacity for the Company or for any other legal entity; and 

(i) the Rights Agent may execute and exercise any of the rights or powers hereby vested in it 
or perform any duty hereunder either itself or by or through its attorneys or agents, and 
the Rights Agent will not be answerable or accountable for any act, default, neglect or 
misconduct of any such attorneys or agents or for any loss to the Company resulting from 
any such act, default, neglect or misconduct, provided reasonable care was exercised in 
the selection and continued employment thereof. 

4.4 Change of Rights Agent 

 The Rights Agent may resign and be discharged from its duties under this Agreement upon 90 
days’ notice (or such lesser notice as is acceptable to the Company) in writing delivered or mailed to the 
Company and to each transfer agent of Common Shares by registered or certified mail and to the holders 
of the Rights in accordance with Section 5.9. The Company may remove the Rights Agent upon thirty 
(30) days’ notice in writing, mailed to the Rights Agent and to each transfer agent of the Common Shares 
by registered or certified mail and to the holders of the Rights in accordance with Section 5.9. If the 
Rights Agent should resign or be removed or otherwise become incapable of acting, the Company will 
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appoint a successor to the Rights Agent. If the Company fails to make such appointment within a period 
of thirty (30) days after such removal or after it has been notified in writing of such resignation or 
incapacity by the resigning or incapacitated Rights Agent then the resigning Rights Agent or the holder of 
any Rights may apply to any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a new Rights Agent. 
Any successor Rights Agent, whether appointed by the Company or by such a court, shall be a 
corporation incorporated under the laws of n .  After appointment, the successor Rights Agent will be 
vested with the same powers, rights, duties and responsibilities as if it had been originally named as 
Rights Agent without further act or deed; but upon payment of its outstanding fees and expenses the 
predecessor Rights Agent shall deliver and transfer to the successor Rights Agent any property at the time 
held by it hereunder, and execute and deliver any further assurance, conveyance, act or deed necessary for 
that purpose. Not later than the effective date of any such appointment, the Company will file notice 
thereof in writing with the predecessor Rights Agent and each transfer agent of the Common Shares and 
give notice thereof to the holders of the Rights in accordance with Section 5.9. Failure to give any notice 
provided for in this Section 4.4, however, or any defect therein, shall not affect the legality or validity of 
the resignation or removal of the Rights Agent or the appointment of the successor Rights Agent, as the 
case may be. 

ARTICLE 5 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 

5.1 Redemption and Waiver 

(a) The Board of Directors acting in good faith may, with the prior consent of holders of 
Voting Shares or the holders of Rights given in accordance with subsection 5.1(j) or (k), 
as the case may be, at any time prior to the occurrence of a Flip-in Event as to which the 
application of Section 3.1 has not been waived pursuant to the provisions of this Section 
5.1, elect to redeem all but not less than all of the then outstanding Rights at a redemption 
price of $0.0001 per Right appropriately adjusted in a manner analogous to the applicable 
adjustment provided for in Section 2.3 if an event of the type analogous to any of the 
events described in Section 2.3 shall have occurred (such redemption price being herein 
referred to as the “Redemption Price”). 

(b) If the Board of Directors elects or is deemed to have elected to redeem the Rights, and, in 
circumstances where subsection 5.1(a) is applicable, such redemption is approved by the 
holders of Voting Shares or the holders of Rights in accordance with subsection 5.1(j) or 
(k), as the case may be, the right to exercise the Rights will thereupon, without further 
action and without notice, terminate and the only right thereafter of the holders of Rights 
shall be to receive the Redemption Price. 

(c) Within ten (10) days after the Board of Directors electing or having been deemed to have 
elected to redeem the Rights, or, if subsection 5.1(a) is applicable within ten (10) days 
after the holders of Voting Shares or the holders of Rights having approved a redemption 
of Rights in accordance with subsection 5.1(j) or (k), as the case may be, the Company 
shall give notice of redemption to the holders of the Rights in accordance with Section 
5.9. Each such notice of redemption will state the method by which the payment of the 
Redemption Price will be made. The Company may not redeem, acquire or purchase for 
value any Rights at any time in any manner other than that specifically set forth in this 
Section 5.1 or other than in connection with the purchase of Common Shares prior to the 
Separation Time. If the Redemption Price payable to any holder of Rights includes a 
fraction of a cent, such Redemption Price shall be rounded up to the nearest cent. 
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(d) The Board of Directors acting in good faith may, prior to the occurrence of a Flip-in 
Event as to which the application of Section 3.1 has not been waived pursuant to this 
Section 5.1, determine to waive the application of Section 3.1 to such particular Flip-in 
Event, provided that such Flip-in Event would occur by way of a Takeover Bid made by 
means of a takeover bid circular delivered to all holders of Voting Shares; further 
provided that if the Board of Directors waives the application of Section 3.1 to a such a 
Flip-in Event, the Board of Directors shall be deemed to have waived the application of 
Section 3.1 to any other Flip-in Event occurring by reason of any Takeover Bid made by 
means of a takeover bid circular to all holders of Voting Shares which is made prior to 
the expiry of any Takeover Bid in respect of which a waiver is, or is deemed to have 
been, granted under this subsection 5.1(d). 

(e) The Board of Directors acting in good faith may, with the prior consent of the holders of 
Voting Shares given in accordance with subsection 5.1(j), determine, at any time prior to 
the occurrence of a Flip-in Event as to which the application of Section 3.1 has not been 
waived pursuant to this Section 5.1, if such Flip-in Event would occur by reason of an 
acquisition of Voting Shares otherwise than pursuant to a Take-over Bid made by means 
of a Take-over Bid circular delivered to all holders of Voting Shares and otherwise than 
in the circumstances set forth in subsection 5.1(f), to waive the application of Section 3.1 
to such Flip-in Event. In the event that the Board of Directors proposes such a waiver, the 
Board of Directors shall extend the Separation Time to a date subsequent to and not more 
than ten Business Days following the meeting of shareholders called to approve such 
waiver. 

(f) The Board of Directors may waive the application of Section 3.1 in respect of the 
occurrence of any Flip-in Event if the Board of Directors has determined that a Person 
became an Acquiring Person by inadvertence and without any intention to become, or 
knowledge that it would become, an Acquiring Person under this Agreement and, in the 
event that such a waiver is granted by the Board of Directors, such Stock Acquisition 
Date shall be deemed not to have occurred. Any such waiver pursuant to this subsection 
5.1(f) must be on the condition that such Person, within ten (10) days after the foregoing 
determination by the Board of Directors or such earlier or later date as the Board of 
Directors may determine (the “Disposition Date”), has reduced its Beneficial ownership 
of Voting Shares such that the Person is no longer an Acquiring Person. If the Person 
remains an Acquiring Person at the close of business on the Disposition Date, the 
Disposition Date shall be deemed to be the date of occurrence of a further Stock 
Acquisition Date and Section 3.1 shall apply thereto. 

(g) If a Person acquires Voting Shares pursuant to a Permitted Bid, a Competing Permitted 
Bid or an Exempt Acquisition occurring under subsection 5.1(d), then the Board of 
Directors shall, immediately upon the consummation of such acquisition and without 
further formality, be deemed to have elected to redeem the Rights at the Redemption 
Price. 

(h) Where a Take-over bid that is not a Permitted Bid or Competing Permitted Bid expires, is 
withdrawn or otherwise terminated after the Separation Time has occurred and prior to 
the occurrence of a Flip-in Event, the Board of Directors may elect to redeem all the 
outstanding Rights at the Redemption Price. 

(i) Upon the Rights being redeemed pursuant to subsection 5.1(h), all the provisions of this 
Agreement shall continue to apply as if the Separation Time had not occurred and Rights 



35 
 

Certificates representing the number of Rights held by each holder of record of Common 
Shares as of the Separation Time had not been mailed to each such holder and for all 
purposes of this Agreement the Separation Time shall be deemed not to have occurred. 

(j) If a redemption of Rights pursuant to subsection 5.1(a) or a waiver of a Flip-in Event 
pursuant to subsection 5.1(e) is proposed at any time prior to the Separation Time, such 
redemption or waiver shall be submitted for approval to the holders of Voting Shares. 
Such approval shall be deemed to have been given if the redemption or waiver is 
approved by the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast by Independent 
Shareholders represented in person or by proxy at a meeting of such holders duly held in 
accordance with applicable laws and the Company’s Articles. 

(k) If a redemption of Rights pursuant to subsection 5.1(a) or a waiver of a Flip-in event 
pursuant to subsection 5.1(e) is proposed at any time after the Separation Time, such 
redemption or waiver shall be submitted for approval to the holders of Rights. Such 
approval shall be deemed to have been given if the redemption is approved by holders of 
Rights by a majority of the votes cast by the holders of Rights represented in person or by 
proxy at and entitled to vote at a meeting of such holders. For the purposes hereof, each 
outstanding Right (other than Rights which are Beneficially Owned by any Person 
referred to in clauses (i) to (v) inclusive of the definition of Independent Shareholders) 
shall be entitled to one vote, and the procedures for the calling, holding and conduct of 
the meeting shall be those, as nearly as may be, which are provided in the Company’s 
Articles and the Nevada Business Corporation Act with respect to meetings of 
shareholders of the Company. 

(l) The Company shall give prompt written notice to the Rights Agent of any waiver of the 
application of Section 3.1 made by the Board of Directors under this Section 5.1. 

5.2 Expiration 

 No Person shall have any rights whatsoever pursuant to or arising out of this Agreement or in 
respect of any Right after the Expiration Time, except the Rights Agent as specified in subsections 4.1(a) 
and (b). 

5.3 Issuance of New Rights Certificates 

 Notwithstanding any of the provisions of this Agreement or of the Rights to the contrary, the 
Company may, at its option, issue new Rights Certificates evidencing Rights in such form as may be 
approved by the Board of Directors to reflect any adjustment or change in the number or kind or class of 
shares purchasable upon exercise of Rights made in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. 

5.4 Supplements and Amendments 

(a) Without the approval of any holders of Voting Shares or Rights, the Company may make 
amendments to this Agreement to correct any clerical or typographical error or which are 
required to maintain the validity of the Agreement as a result of any change in any 
applicable legislation, regulatory requirements, regulations or rules thereunder. The 
Company may, prior to the date of the shareholders’ meeting referred to in Section 5.15, 
supplement or amend this Agreement without the approval of any holders of Rights or 
Voting Shares in order to make any changes which the Board of Directors acting in good 
faith may deem necessary or desirable. Notwithstanding anything in this Section 5.4 to 
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the contrary, no supplement or amendment shall be made to the provisions of Article 4 
except with the written concurrence of the Rights Agent to such change, supplement or 
amendment. 

(b) Subject to subsection 5.4(a), the Company may, with the prior consent of the holders of 
Voting Shares obtained as set forth below, at any time before the Separation Time, 
amend, vary or rescind any of the provisions of this Agreement and the Rights (whether 
or not such action would materially adversely affect the interests of the holders of Rights 
generally). Such consent shall be deemed to have been given if the action requiring such 
approval is approved by the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast by 
Independent Shareholders represented in person or by proxy at the Special Meeting. 

(c) The Company may, with the prior consent of the holders of Rights obtained as set forth 
below, at any time on or after the Separation Time amend, vary or rescind any of the 
provisions of this Agreement and the Rights (whether or not such action would materially 
adversely affect the interests of the holders of Rights generally), provided that no such 
amendment, variation or deletion shall be made to the provisions of Article 4 except with 
the written concurrence of the Rights Agent thereto. Such consent shall be deemed to 
have been given if such amendment, variation or deletion is authorized by the affirmative 
votes of the holders of Rights present or represented at and entitled to vote at a meeting 
of the holders and representing fifty percent (50%) plus one of the votes cast in respect 
thereof. 

(d) Any approval of the holders of Rights shall be deemed to have been given if the action 
requiring such approval is authorized by the affirmative votes of the holders of Rights 
present or represented at and entitled to vote at a meeting of the holders of Rights and 
representing a majority of the votes cast in respect thereof. For the purposes hereof, each 
outstanding Right (other than Rights which are void pursuant to the provisions hereof) 
shall be entitled to one vote, and the procedures for the calling, holding and conduct of 
the meeting shall be those, as nearly as may be, which are provided in the Company’s 
Articles and the Nevada Business Corporation Act with respect to meetings of 
shareholders of the Company. 

(e) Any amendments made by the Company to this Agreement pursuant to subsection 5.4(a) 
which are required to maintain the validity of this Agreement as a result of any change in 
any applicable legislation, regulation or rule thereunder shall: 

(i) if made before the Separation Time, be submitted to the shareholders of the 
Company at the next meeting of shareholders and the shareholders may, by the 
majority referred to in subsection 5.4(b) confirm or reject such amendment; 

(ii) if made after the Separation Time, be submitted to the holders of Rights at a 
meeting to be called for on a date not later than immediately following the next 
meeting of shareholders of the Company and the holders of Rights may, by 
resolution passed by the majority referred to in subsection 5.4(d) confirm or 
reject such amendment. 

Any such amendment shall be effective from the date of the resolution of the Board of Directors 
adopting such amendment, until it is confirmed or rejected or until it ceases to be effective (as 
described in the next sentence) and, where such amendment is confirmed, it continues in effect in 
the form so confirmed. If such amendment is rejected by the shareholders or the holders of Rights 
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or is not submitted to the shareholders or holders of Rights as required, then such amendment 
shall cease to be effective from and after the termination of the meeting at which it was rejected 
or to which it should have been but was not submitted or from and after the date of the meeting of 
holders of Rights that should have been but was not held, and no subsequent resolution of the 
Board of Directors to amend this Agreement to substantially the same effect shall be effective 
until confirmed by the shareholders or holders of Rights as the case may be. 

5.5 Fractional Rights and Fractional Shares 

(a) The Company shall not be required to issue fractions of Rights or to distribute Rights 
Certificates which evidence fractional Rights. In lieu of such fractional Rights, there shall 
be paid to the registered holders of the Rights Certificates with regard to which such 
fractional Rights would otherwise be issuable an amount in cash equal to the same 
fraction of the Market Price of a whole Right determined on the date on which such 
fractional Right would otherwise be issuable. 

(b) The Company shall not be required to issue fractions of Common Shares upon exercise of 
the Rights or to distribute certificates which evidence fractional Common Shares. 
Fractions of Common Shares may, at the election of the Company, be evidenced by scrip 
certificates or in lieu of issuing fractional Common Shares, the Company shall pay to the 
registered holders of Rights Certificates, at the time such Rights are exercised as herein 
provided, an amount in cash equal to the same fraction of the Market Price of one 
Common Share at the date of such exercise. 

5.6 Rights of Action 

 Subject to the terms of this Agreement, all rights of action in respect of this Agreement, other 
than rights of action vested solely in the Rights Agent, are vested in the respective registered holders of 
the Rights; and any registered holder of any Rights, without the consent of the Rights Agent or of the 
registered holder of any other Rights, may, on such holder’s own behalf and for such holder’s own benefit 
and the benefit of other holders of Rights, enforce, and may institute and maintain any suit, action or 
proceeding against the Company to enforce such holder’s right to exercise such holder’s Rights in the 
manner provided in such holder’s Rights Certificate and in this Agreement. Without limiting the 
foregoing or any remedies available to the holders of Rights, it is specifically acknowledged that the 
holders of Rights would not have an adequate remedy at law for any breach of this Agreement and will be 
entitled to specific performance of the obligations under, and injunctive relief against actual or threatened 
violations of the obligations of any person subject to, this Agreement. 

5.7 Regulatory Approvals 

 Any obligation of the Company or action or event contemplated by this Agreement shall be 
subject to the receipt of any requisite approval or consent from any governmental or regulatory authority, 
including but not limited to the approval of the n  [REGULATORY AUTHORITY].  Notwithstanding 
any provision of this Agreement, any amendment to this Agreement will be subject to the prior written 
consent of the n  [REGULATORY AUTHORITY].   

5.8 Unlawful Distributions 

 If in the opinion of the Board of Directors (who may rely upon the advice of counsel) any action 
or event contemplated by this Agreement would require compliance by the Company with the securities 
laws or comparable legislation of a jurisdiction outside Canada or the United States, the Board of 
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Directors acting in good faith shall take such actions as it may deem appropriate to ensure that such 
compliance is not required, including, without limitation, establishing procedures for the issuance to a 
Canadian or United States resident trustee of Rights or securities issuable on exercise of Rights, the 
holding thereof in trust for the Persons entitled thereto (but reserving to the trustee or to the trustee and 
the Company, as the Company may determine, absolute investment discretion with respect thereto) and 
the sale thereof and remittance of proceeds of such sale, if any, to the Persons entitled thereto. In no event 
shall the Company or the Rights Agent be required to issue or deliver Rights or securities issuable on 
exercise of Rights to Persons who are citizens, residents or nationals of any jurisdiction other than Canada 
or the United States, in which jurisdiction such issue or delivery would be unlawful without registration 
of the relevant Persons or securities for such purposes. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that 
the issuance or delivery of the Rights or securities issuable on exercise of Rights to Persons who are 
citizens, residents or nationals of any such jurisdiction in which such issue or delivery would be so 
unlawful, such Rights or securities shall be issued and delivered to such Persons to the extent the same 
may be so issued and delivered in reliance upon applicable exemptions from registration requirements in 
such jurisdictions. 

5.9 Notices 

 Any notice or demand authorized or required by this Agreement to be given or made by the 
Rights Agent or by the holder of any Rights to or on the Company shall be sufficiently given or made if 
delivered or sent by first-class mail, postage prepaid, or sent by facsimile or other form of recorded 
electronic communication, charges prepaid, addressed (until another address is filed in writing with the 
Rights Agent) as follows: 

Uranerz Energy Corporation   
Suite 1410-800 West Pender Street  
Vancouver, B.C. V6C 2V6 
 
Attention: President  
Facsimile: n 

Any such notice or demand shall be deemed to have been received if delivered, on the date of delivery, or 
if sent by prepaid first class mail, on the fifth (5th) Business Day after mailing thereof, except in the case 
of interruption of regular mail service, in which case such notice shall be delivered, and on the day of 
telegraphing, telecopying or sending the same by other means of recorded electronic communication 
(provided such sending is during the normal business hours of the addressee on a Business Day and, if 
not, on the first Business Day thereafter). 

Any notice or demand authorized or required by this Agreement to be given or made by the Company or 
by the holder of any Rights to or on the Rights Agent shall be sufficiently given or made if delivered or 
sent by first-class mail, postage prepaid, or sent by facsimile or other form of recorded electronic 
communication, charges prepaid, addressed (until another address is filed in writing with the Company) 
as follows: 

n [RIGHTS AGENT]  
n [ADDRESS OF RIGHTS AGENT]  
 
Attention: Manager, Client Services  
 
Facsimile: n 
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Any such notice or demand shall be deemed to have been received if delivered, on the date of delivery, or 
if sent by prepaid first class mail, on the fifth (5th) Business Day after mailing thereof, except in the case 
of interruption of regular mail service, in which case such notice shall be delivered, and on the day of 
telegraphing, telecopying or sending the same by other means of recorded electronic communication 
(provided such sending is during the normal business hours of the addressee on a Business Day and, if 
not, on the first Business Day thereafter). 

Any notice or demand authorized or required by this Agreement to be given or made by the Company or 
the Rights Agent to or on the holder of any Rights shall be sufficiently given or made if delivered or sent 
by first-class mail, postage prepaid, addressed to such holder at the address of such holder as it appears 
upon the register of the Rights Agent or, prior to the Separation Time, on the register of the Company for 
its Common Shares. Any notice which is mailed in the manner herein provided shall be deemed given, 
whether or not the holder receives the notice. In the event of any interruption of mail service, such notice 
required or permitted to be given hereunder will be deemed to be sufficiently given by advertisement of 
such notice in daily newspapers published in each of the cities of n . 

5.10 Costs of Enforcement 

 The Company agrees that if the Company fails to fulfill any of its obligations pursuant to this 
Agreement, then the Company will reimburse the holder of any Rights for the costs and expenses 
(including legal fees) incurred by such holder in actions to enforce his, her or its rights pursuant to this 
Agreement in any action, suit or proceeding in which a court of competent jurisdiction in a final non-
appealable judgment has rendered judgment in favor of the holder. 

5.11 Successors 

 All the covenants and provisions of this Agreement by or for the benefit of the Company or the 
Rights Agent shall bind and inure to the benefit of their respective successors and assigns hereunder. 

5.12 Benefits of this Agreement 

 Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to give to any Person other than the Company, the 
Rights Agent and the holders of the Rights any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under this 
Agreement. This Agreement shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Company, the Rights Agent 
and the holders of the Rights. 

5.13 Governing Law 

 This Agreement and each Right issued hereunder shall be deemed to be a contract made under the 
laws of n  and for all purposes shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of such 
province applicable to contracts to be made and performed entirely within such province. 

5.14 Severability 

 If any Section, subsection, paragraph, subparagraph or other provision hereof or the application 
hereof to any circumstances or any right hereunder shall, in any jurisdiction and to any extent, be invalid 
or unenforceable, such Section, subsection, paragraph, subparagraph or other provision or such right shall 
be ineffective only as to such jurisdiction and to the extent of such invalidity or unenforceability in such 
jurisdiction without invalidating or rendering unenforceable or ineffective the remaining Sections, 
subsections, paragraphs, subparagraphs and other provisions hereof or rights hereunder in such 
jurisdiction or the application of such Section, subsection, paragraph, subparagraph or other provision or 
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rights hereunder in any other jurisdiction or to circumstances other than those as to which it is specifically 
held invalid or unenforceable. 

5.15 Effective Date 

 This Agreement is effective and in full force and effect in accordance with its terms from the date 
hereof. If this Agreement and its continued existence are not confirmed by resolution passed by a majority 
of the votes cast by holders of Common Shares who vote in respect of confirmation of this Agreement 
(other than any holder who does not qualify as an Independent Shareholder, with respect to all Common 
Shares Beneficially Owned by such Person) at a meeting of shareholders to be held not later than the date 
(the “n AGM Date”) of the n annual general meeting of shareholders of the Company (which date shall 
be no later than n months from the date of this Agreement), then this Agreement and any then outstanding 
Rights shall terminate and be void and of no further force and effect on and from that date which is the 
earlier of (a) the date of such meeting and (b) the n AGM Date. 

5.16 Reconfirmation 

(a) Notwithstanding the confirmation of this Agreement and its continued existence pursuant 
to Section 5.15, this Agreement (as may be amended and restated) and its continued 
existence must be reconfirmed by a resolution passed by a majority of greater than fifty 
percent (50%) of the votes cast by all holders of Common Shares who vote in respect of 
such reconfirmation (other than any holder who does not qualify as an Independent 
Shareholder, with respect to all Common Shares Beneficially Owned by such Person) at 
the n AGM. If the Agreement and its continued existence are not so reconfirmed or are 
not presented for reconfirmation at the n AGM, this Agreement and all outstanding 
Rights shall terminate and be of no further force and effect on and from the close of the n 

AGM; provided that termination shall not occur if a Flip-In Event has occurred (other 
than a Flip-In Event in respect of which the application of section 3.1 has been waived 
pursuant to section 5.1) prior to the date upon which this Agreement would otherwise 
terminate pursuant to this subsection 5.16(a). 

(b) Notwithstanding the reconfirmation of this Agreement at the n AGM pursuant to 
subsection 5.16(a), this Agreement (as may be amended and restated) shall terminate on 
the earlier of the time at which the right to exercise Rights shall terminate pursuant to 
section 5.1 or the close of the n AGM; provided that termination shall not occur if a Flip-
In Event has occurred (other than a Flip-In Event in respect of which the application of 
section 3.1 has been waived pursuant to section 5.1) prior to the date upon which this 
Agreement would otherwise terminate pursuant to this subsection 5.16(b). 

5.17 Determinations and Actions by the Board of Directors 

 The Board of Directors shall have the exclusive power and authority to administer and amend this 
Agreement and to exercise all rights and powers specifically granted to the Board of Directors or the 
Company, or as may be necessary or advisable in the administration of this Agreement, including, 
without limitation, the right and power to: 

(a) interpret the provisions of this Agreement; and 

(b) make all determinations deemed necessary or advisable for the administration of this 
Agreement (including a determination to redeem or not to redeem the Rights or to amend 
the Agreement). 
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All actions, calculations and determinations (including, for purposes of Clause (ii) below, all omissions 
with respect to the foregoing) which are done or made by the Board of Directors in good faith, shall: (i) 
be final, conclusive and binding on the Company, the Rights Agent, the holders of the Rights and all other 
parties; and (ii) not subject the Board of Directors to any liability to the holders of the Rights. 

5.18 Time of the Essence 

 Time shall be of the essence in this Agreement.  

5.19 Execution in Counterparts 

 This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and each of such counterparts 
shall for all purposes be deemed to be an original, and all such counterparts shall together constitute one 
and the same instrument. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed as of the 
date first above written. 

URANERZ ENERGY 
CORPORATION 
 
 
Per:   
 
Per:   
 
 
n [RIGHTS AGENT] 
 
 
Per:   
 
Per:   



 

 

EXHIBIT A 
Form of Rights Certificate 

Certificate No.            
            Rights 

THE RIGHTS ARE SUBJECT TO TERMINATION ON THE TERMS SET FORTH IN 
THE SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN AGREEMENT. UNDER CERTAIN 
CIRCUMSTANCES (SPECIFIED IN SECTION 3.1(b) OF THE SHAREHOLDER 
RIGHTS PLAN AGREEMENT), RIGHTS BENEFICIALLY OWNED BY AN 
ACQUIRING PERSON OR TRANSFEREES OF AN ACQUIRING PERSON OR ITS 
AFFILIATES OR ASSOCIATES (AS SUCH TERMS ARE DEFINED IN THE 
RIGHTS AGREEMENT) OR ANY PERSON ACTING JOINTLY OR IN CONCERT 
WITH ANY OF THEM MAY BECOME VOID WITHOUT ANY FURTHER ACTION. 

Rights Certificate 

This certifies that __________________________________, or registered assigns, is the registered 
holder of the number of Rights set forth above, each of which entitles the registered holder thereof, 
subject to the terms, provisions and conditions of the Amended and Restated Shareholder Rights Plan 
Agreement dated as of n (the “Rights Agreement”) between Uranerz, a company incorporated under the 
Nevada Business Corporation Act  (the “Company”) and n a company incorporated under n, as rights 
agent (the “Rights Agent”) (which term shall include any successor Rights Agent under the Rights 
Agreement), to purchase from the Company at any time after the Separation Time (as such term is defined 
in the Rights Agreement) and prior to the Expiration Time (as such term is defined in the Rights 
Agreement), one fully paid common share of the Company (a “Common Share”) at the Exercise Price 
referred to below, upon presentation and surrender of this Rights Certificate together with the Form of 
Election to Exercise duly executed and submitted to the Rights Agent at its principal office in the city of 
n.   Until adjustment thereof in certain events as provided in the Rights Agreement, the Exercise Price is n. 

The Rights Certificate is subject to all of the terms, provisions and conditions of the Rights Agreement 
which terms, provisions and conditions are hereby incorporated herein by reference and made a part 
thereof and to which Rights Agreement reference is hereby made for a full description of the rights, 
limitations of rights, obligations, duties and immunities thereunder of the Rights Agent, the Company and 
the holders of the Rights Certificates. Copies of the Rights Agreement are on file at the principal office of 
the Company and are available upon written request. 

The Rights Certificate, with or without other Rights Certificates, upon surrender at any of the offices of 
the Rights Agent designated for such purpose, may be exchanged for another Rights Certificate or Rights 
Certificates of like tenor and the date evidencing an aggregate number of Rights equal to the aggregate 
number of Rights evidenced by the Rights Certificate or Rights Certificates surrendered. If this Rights 
Certificate shall be exercised in part, the registered holder shall be entitled to receive, upon surrender 
hereof, another Rights Certificate or Rights Certificates for the number of whole Rights now exercised. 
No fractional Common Shares will be issued upon the exercise of any Rights evidenced hereby, but in 
lieu thereof a cash payment will be made as provided in the Rights Agreement. 

Subject to the provisions of the Rights Agreement, the Rights evidenced by this Certificate may be 
redeemed by the Company at a redemption price of $0.0001 per Right, subject to adjustment in certain 
events, under certain circumstances at its option. 
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No holder of this Rights Certificate, as such, shall be entitled to vote or receive dividends or be deemed 
for any purpose the holder of Common Shares or of any other securities which may at any time be 
issuable upon the exercise hereof, nor shall anything contained in the Rights Agreement or herein be 
construed to confer upon the holder hereof, as such, any of the rights of a shareholder of the Company or 
any right to vote for the election of directors or upon any matter submitted to shareholders at any meeting 
thereof, or to give or withhold consent to any corporate action, or to receive notice of meetings or other 
actions affecting shareholders (except as provided in the Rights Agreement), or to receive dividends or 
subscription rights, or otherwise, until the Rights evidenced by this Rights Certificate shall have been 
exercised as provided in the Rights Agreement. 

The Rights Certificate shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose until it shall have been 
countersigned by the Rights Agent. 

WITNESS the facsimile signature of the proper officers of the Company and its corporate seal.  

 

DATED: __________________ URANERZ ENERGY CORPORATION 
 
 Per:   
 
 Per:   

Countersigned: 

n [RIGHTS AGENT] 
 
Per:   
 Authorized Signatory 



 

 

EXHIBIT B 

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT 

(To be executed by the registered holder if such holder desires to transfer the Rights Certificate) 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED ________________________________ hereby sells, assigns and transfers 
unto 

  
  
  

(please print name and address of transferee) 

the Rights represented by this Rights Certificate, together with all right, title and interest therein, and does 
hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint   
attorney, to transfer the within Rights Certificate on the books of the within-named Company, with full 
power of substitution. 

Date:     
  Signature 

Signature Guarantee:  (Signature must correspond to the name as written upon the face of the 
Rights Certificate, in every particular, without alteration or enlargement, 
or any change whatsoever). 

Signature must be guaranteed by a registered national securities exchange in the United States, a member 
firm of a stock exchange in Canada, a member of the Investment Dealers Association of Canada or 
National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., or a commercial bank or trust company having an office 
or correspondent in Canada or the United States. 

  
(To be completed by the assignor if true) 

The undersigned hereby represents, for the benefit of all holders of Rights and Common Shares, that the 
Rights evidenced by this Rights Certificate are not, and, to the knowledge of the undersigned, have never 
been, Beneficially Owned by an Acquiring Person or an Affiliate or Associate thereof or by any Person 
acting jointly or in concert therewith. Capitalized terms shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the 
Rights Agreement. 

 
 
   
Signature 
 
 
   
(please print name of signatory) 



 

 

(To be attached to each Rights Certificate) 
 

EXHIBIT C 

FORM OF ELECTION TO EXERCISE 

 
TO: 

The undersigned hereby irrevocably elects to exercise __________________________________  
whole Rights represented by the Rights Certificate to purchase the Common Shares issuable upon the 
exercise of such Rights and requests that certificates for such shares be issued in the name of: 

  
 
  
 
  

Address 

  
Social Insurance, Social Security or Other Taxpayer Identification Number 

If such number of Rights shall not be all the Rights evidenced by this Rights Certificate, a new Rights 
Certificate for the balance of such Rights shall be registered in the name of and delivered to: 

  
 
  
 
  

Address 

  
Social Insurance, Social Security or Other Taxpayer Identification Number 

 
Date:     
  Signature 
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Signature Guarantee:  (Signature must correspond to the name as written upon the face of the 
Rights Certificate, in every particular, without alteration or enlargement, 
or any change whatsoever). 

Signature must be guaranteed by a registered national securities exchange in the United States, a member 
firm of a stock exchange in Canada, a registered national securities exchange in the United States, a 
member of the Investment Dealers Association of Canada or National Association of Securities Dealers, 
Inc., or a commercial bank or trust company having an office or correspondent in Canada or the United 
States. 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
(To be completed by the exerciser if true) 

The undersigned hereby represents, for the benefit of all holders of Rights and Common Shares, that the 
Rights evidenced by this Rights Certificate are not, and, to the knowledge of the undersigned, have never 
been, Beneficially Owned by an Acquiring Person or an Affiliate or Associate thereof or by any Person 
acting jointly or in concert therewith. Capitalized terms shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the 
Rights Agreement. 

 
 
   
Signature 
 
 
   
(please print name of signatory) 

 

NOTICE 

In the event the Certificate set forth above in the applicable Forms of Assignment or Election is not 
completed, the Company will deem the Beneficial Owner of the Rights evidenced by this Rights 
Certificate to be an Acquiring Person or an Affiliate or Associate thereof and, in the case of an 
Assignment, will affix a legend to that effect on any Rights Certificates issued in exchange for this Rights 
Certificate. Capitalized terms shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Rights Agreement. 
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